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Final report of the Group of Experts on the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo 
 

 

 

 Summary 

 Despite a state of siege that has been in force since 11 months in the provinces 

of North Kivu and Ituri in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and despite military 

operations by the Armed Forces of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Forces 

armées de la République démocratique du Congo, FARDC), the Uganda People’s 

Defence Forces (UPDF) and the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission 

in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (MONUSCO), the security and 

humanitarian situation in the two provinces deteriorated.  

 In North Kivu, the armed group Allied Democratic Forces (ADF) increased its 

area of operations, further expanding to southern Ituri. ADF reinforced its regional 

and international network and reach, including through propaganda, which allowed 

for continued recruitment and funding. Communication l inks between ADF and 

Da’esh, also known as Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant (ISIL), strengthened, 

although the Group could not establish Da’esh direct support to and command and 

control over ADF. ADF techniques in the area of improvised explosive devic e 

evolved. ADF began to use improvised explosive devices in urban settings both in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo and in neighbouring countries.  

 The Mouvement du 23 mars (M23) re-emerged, and from November 2021 

onwards, well-equipped combatants led by “General” Sultani Makenga launched a 

series of deadly attacks on positions of FARDC and the Congolese Institute for Nature 

Conservation (ICCN), stole weaponry and occupied strategic locations where the 

borders between the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Rwanda and Uganda meet. 

M23 operations exacerbated the already strained regional dynamics.  

 The Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda-Forces combattantes 

abacunguzi (FDLR-FOCA) remained active in Virunga National Park, launched a new 

recruitment drive and consolidated its cooperation with local armed groups.  

 Criminal networks and some FARDC members continued to traffic in and profit 

from untagged coltan from mines in Masisi territory, and from tourmaline from the 

Rukaza mine, also in Masisi territory. Some of these mines were subject to armed 

attack and some of the minerals were smuggled into Rwanda for onward trade.  

 In Ituri, in Djugu and Mahagi territories, factions of the Coopérative pour le 

développement du Congo (CODECO) increased their attacks against FARDC, the 

armed group Zaïre and civilians. The Union des révolutionnaires pour la défense du 

peuple congolais/Coopérative pour le développement du Congo (URDPC/CODECO) 

attacked camps for internally displaced persons, killing women and children. 

CODECO combatants raped and gang-raped women and girls. CODECO factions 

continued to use children, including as combatants.  

 Zaïre became more visible, in particular through operations against CODECO 

factions, crimes against civilians and control of several areas, including mines, 

notably in Djugu territory. 

 Some FARDC members deployed during the state of siege forcibly displaced, 

raped and killed several civilians and destroyed and looted houses and health centres. 

Some also carried out indiscriminate aerial bombardments, damaging civilian houses 

and schools, and injuring and reportedly killing civilians.  
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 Gold mines, in particular at Mongbwalu, were controlled by CODECO factions 

and by Zaïre. Some FARDC members also taxed gold there. In Mambasa territory, the 

Mai-Mai Simba led by Mangaribi produced and traded gold, and some FARDC 

members taxed mines, including at Muchacha in the contested borderlands of the 

Okapi Wildlife Reserve. Almost all of Ituri’s gold was smuggled out of the country. 

 In South Kivu, the situation in the Hauts-Plateaux of Mwenga, Uvira and Fizi 

territories remained of significant concern, with continued cycles of retaliatory 

clashes between armed groups and attacks against civilians. Targeted attacks, in 

particular against the Banyamulenge community, displaced civilians. The crisis 

spilled over to other areas, such as in the Moyens-Plateaux, Fizi territory and the 

Ruzizi Plain. Most armed groups enjoyed significant local and diaspora support for 

their operations. 

 Members of the Burundi National Defence Force (Force de défence nationale, 

FDN) and of Imbonerakure conducted incursions into Fizi and Uvira territories, 

increasingly since December 2021. They were assisted by Congolese armed groups 

acting as scouts or joining operations against the Burundian armed group Résistance 

pour un État de droit (RED-Tabara). 

 Mai-Mai Yakutumba and its allies controlled part of the production and trade in 

gold originating from some mines around Misisi town.  

 Similarly, in Tanganyika province, Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale mined gold around 

Bendera and taxed artisanal miners. Some of this gold was fraudulently introduced 

into the legal supply chain and legally exported, while some was smuggled into 

neighbouring countries. 

 In Ituri, North Kivu and South Kivu, attacks against humanitarian personnel led 

to the suspension and sometimes closure of projects, thereby obstructing access to or 

the distribution of humanitarian assistance.  

 Bilateral military cooperation agreements were concluded be tween the 

Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the Governments of 

Burundi and Uganda. Uganda notified the Security Council Committee established 

pursuant to resolution 1533 (2004) concerning the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

of UPDF operations in North Kivu and Ituri only after those operations had been 

launched. Burundi did not notify the Committee of incursions by FDN and 

Imbonerakure into South Kivu. 

 Some military materiel was transferred to the Congolese defence and security 

forces without prior notification to the Committee. Banking documents referring to 

“the acquisition of agricultural goods” rather than to military equipment or training 

revealed several unnotified transfers and a system aimed at concealing those transfers 

because of a reported misinterpretation of the sanctions regime concerning the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo. 
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 I. Introduction 
 

 

1. The mandate of the Group of Experts on the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

was extended by Security Council resolution 2582 (2021) of 29 June 2021. After a 

hold put on all proposed candidates for membership of the Group from 12 July, the 

Secretary-General appointed the members of the Group on 2 December (see 

S/2021/1006). The Group thus started its investigations more than four months after 

its mandate had been extended.  

2. The final report of the Group is submitted pursuant to paragraph 6 of resolution 

2582 (2021). In accordance with paragraph 8 of resolution 2360 (2017), as reaffirmed 

in resolution 2582 (2021), the Group exchanged information with the panels of 

experts on Libya, Mali, Somalia and South Sudan.  

 

Cooperation with the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo 
 

3. The Group expresses its gratitude for the valuable support and collaboration 

provided by the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo (MONUSCO) during the reporting period.  

 

Compliance with the Group’s requests for information  
 

4. Following the appointment of its members, the Group met with governments 

officials, private sector actors and organizations of several countries. The Group 

addressed a total of 74 official communications to 54 Member States, international 

organizations and private entities. At the time of drafting the present report, the Group 

had received only 33 responses. 

5. The Group regrets the untimeliness and the low overall number of responses to 

its official requests for information from Member States, including from some States 

that are Committee members and States in the region, and notes that such responses 

are essential to its investigations.  

6. The Group undertook a three-day official visit to Rwanda and extends its thanks 

to the Government of Rwanda for its cooperation.  

7. The Group also undertook a three-day official visit to Uganda and extends its 

thanks to the Government of Uganda for its cooperation. The Group regrets, however, 

that the Ugandan authorities did not grant the Group access to key witnesses and/or 

information relevant to its investigations into regional support networks of the Allied 

Democratic Forces (ADF) and the 2021 bombings in Kampala. 

8. The Group sent requests to the Governments of Burundi and Kenya for official 

visits and regrets not having received substantive responses, although Kenya did grant 

visas to the members of the Group. 

 

Methodology 
 

9. The Group used the evidentiary standards recommended by the Informal 

Working Group of the Security Council on General Issues of Sanctions (see 

S/2006/997). It based its findings on documents and, wherever possible, on first-hand, 

on-site observations by the experts themselves.  

10. Given the nature of the conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, few 

documents provide definitive proof of arms transfers, recruitment, command 

responsibility for grave human rights abuses and the illegal exploitation of natural 

resources. The Group therefore relied on eyewitness testimony from members of local 

communities, and former and current combatants of armed groups. The Group also 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/1006
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2006/997
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considered expert testimony by government officials and military officers of countries 

in the Great Lakes region and other countries, as well as by United Nations sources. 

The Group corroborated information using at least three independent and reliable 

sources. 

11. The present report covers investigations conducted up to 15 April 2022. Owing 

to word count limitations, the Group placed certain details concerning its evidence in 

annex 1. 

 

Verdict in the case of the murders of members of the Group in March 2017 
 

12. On 29 January 2022, the military court for the former province of Kasai 

Occidental announced its verdict in the case of the murders of Zaida Catalán and 

Michael J. Sharp, some four and a half years after the beginning of the trial (see 

annex 2).  

13. The Group notes the verdict and the parties’ appeals. The Group is concerned, 

however, that of the 50 accused who were convicted, including Colonel Jean de Dieu 

Mambweni of the Armed Forces of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Forces 

armées de la République démocratique du Congo, FARDC), 22 are still at large. The 

Group is also concerned that not all perpetrators have been held accountable, 

including those who ordered the killings and those responsible for the disappearance 

of the four Congolese nationals accompanying the two members of the Group. The 

Group also regrets the imposition of the death penalty on 49 of the accused. The 

Group hopes that the Democratic Republic of the Congo will maintain its de facto 

moratorium on the death penalty and soon abolish it.  

 

 

 II. Lack of notifications and military cooperation agreements 
 

 

 A. Acquisition of military equipment labelled “agricultural goods”  
 

 

14. The Group reviewed information that showed that, until early 2022, military 

materiel was transferred and training was provided to the Congolese defence and 

security forces, either directly by foreign companies and foreign instructors or 

through companies registered in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and approved 

by the country’s Ministry of Defence as regulated suppliers of imported goods, 

without prior notification to the Committee (see annex 3).  

15. Between 2012 and 2018, the Banque centrale du Congo executed payments, in 

conjunction with correspondent banks, to several foreign companies. It did so on 

instructions from the Ministry of Finance, which acted as directed by the Ministry of 

Defence. The Ministry of Defence decided about the labelling of the requested 

payments.1 

16. While the payments were made for the acquisition of military equipment or the 

provision of training organized by foreign companies, several banking documents 

referred to “the acquisition of agricultural goods”, rather than to m ilitary equipment 

or training. Moreover, some of these deliveries of materiel and training provided to 

the Congolese defence and security forces were not notified to the Committee in 

advance, as required under paragraph 5 of resolution 1807 (2008), as renewed in 

paragraph 1 of resolution 2293 (2016) and paragraph 1 of resolution 2582 (2021) (see 

annex 4). 

__________________ 

 1 Sources: Banque centrale du Congo, financial institutions, banks, officers of the Armed Forces of 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Forces armées de la République démocratique du Congo, 

FARDC), and the Ministry of Defence. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1807(2008)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
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17. Four high-ranking FARDC officers and three financial institutions have stated 

that the practice of false labelling was initiated by General François Olenga, 2 former 

FARDC Inspector-General (2006–2012), former chief of staff ad interim of Land 

Forces (2012–2014) and former head of the Maison Militaire (2014–2018). The false 

labelling continued until at least 2019. According to the Banque centrale du Congo 

and several FARDC generals, as a result of the arms embargo regime, the country 

could not officially purchase military equipment. To circumvent that perceived 

prohibition, payments for arms were relabelled as payments for agricultural goods, 

thus leading to hidden arms purchases and document fraud.  

18. The Group notes that financial institutions in the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo, with a view to de-risking,3  have occasionally denied service to clients in 

connection with the purchase of military materiel.4 This interpretation of the sanctions 

regime is, however, incorrect, since under Security Council resolutions, the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo is allowed to officially buy or receive military 

equipment and military training, provided that the exporting State notifies the transfer 

or training to the Committee. These notifications should ensure that military 

equipment sent to the Democratic Republic of the Congo is delivered to the only 

authorized recipient, namely the Government, and not to an armed group or any other 

destabilizing force. Notifications also reinforce the importance of careful monitoring 

of equipment entering the country; monitoring remains an important tool to prevent 

diversion from national stockpiles to armed groups. 5 

 

 

 B. Military cooperation and joint military operation agreements 
 

 

19. In early 2021, the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

concluded bilateral military cooperation agreements with the Governments of 

Burundi and Uganda.6 At the time of drafting the present report, the Group had not 

obtained the details concerning the agreement concluded with Burundi (see also 

paras. 162–168). 

20. In mid-April 2021, a military cooperation agreement was signed between the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo and Uganda. The agreement was intended to 

defeat ADF and to secure rehabilitation works7 on the Kasindi-Beni-Butembo road 

and the Bunangana-Rutshuru-Goma road. 8  It included increased intelligence 

cooperation, air support and artillery fire from Ugandan territory, the establishment 

of a joint operations coordination centre, the building of a pilo ting station for 

surveillance drones at the border between the two countries and increased border 

__________________ 

 2 On 1 June 2017, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the 

Treasury sanctioned François Olenga. Contacted by the Group in April 2022, Olenga did not 

wish to answer any questions. 

 3 The Financial Action Task Force defines de-risking as “the phenomenon of financial institutions 

terminating or restricting business relationships with clients or categories of clients to avoid, 

rather than manage, risk”. 

 4 Sources: banks, financial institutions and high-ranking FARDC officers. 

 5 See S/2021/560, paras. 39–43, 93 and 143. 

 6 Sources: high-ranking FARDC officers and high-ranking officials in the Government of the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo. 

 7 The roadworks contract was awarded to Dott Services Limited,  a company that also established 

the Punia Kasese Mining S.A. joint venture with Sakima S.A. (see para. 179).  

 8 Sources: memorandum of understanding between the Democratic Republic of the Congo and 

Uganda, in possession of the Group; notes taken at the meeting of ministers of the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo and Uganda, held in Kampala on 27 January 2022.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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controls.9 It did not initially include the presence of Ugandan troops on the territory 

of the Democratic Republic of the Congo.10 

21. On 30 November 2021, air and artillery strikes against ADF were launched in 

anticipation of troops of the Uganda People’s Defence Forces (UPDF) entering the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo as part of Operation Shuja later the same day 

through border points at Busunga, Uganda, and Nobili, in Beni territory. 11  On 

23 December 2021, the Government of Uganda notified the Committee of the 

deployment of UPDF personnel and equipment to the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo, with the dates of departure and repatriation yet to be agreed by the two 

countries. On 27 January 2022, the Ministers of Defence of the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo and Uganda stated that the duration of the joint operations needed to be 

extended, given “the slow operational tempo occasioned by difficult terrain, poor 

conditions and logistical constraints”.12 

22. The Group recalls that, under paragraph 5 of resolution 1807 (2008), as renewed 

in paragraph 1 of resolution 2293 (2016) and paragraph 1 of resolution 2582 (2021), 

the provision of assistance that includes the involvement of foreign troops in military 

operations on the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo must be notified 

in advance to the Committee. 

 

 

 III. North Kivu  
 

 

 A. Allied Democratic Forces 
 

 

Territorial expansion in southern Ituri 
 

Increased presence and attacks in southern Ituri 
 

23. The sanctioned armed group ADF (CDe.001) started to expand its area of 

operations in southern Ituri in a more organized and sustained manner in early 2020, 13 

following the move of the Madina camp14 to the border between Beni and southern 

Irumu territories. Until that time, ADF temporary presence and incursions into 

southern Ituri had been driven mostly by resupply needs, as previously reported. 15 

24. Given the distance of Madina camp from supply sources,  the growing number 

of combatants and dependents since 2020, and the increasing military threat, the ADF 

leadership decided to establish an additional camp further north, in Irumu territory, 

Ituri. 16  That second camp, commonly referred to as “Machine” among ADF 

combatants, soon gained importance and was used to facilitate the resupply of Madina 

camp while serving as a base from which to attack civilians and FARDC in Kainama 

and prevent them from approaching Madina. It was led by Mzee Wa Kazi, alias 

__________________ 

 9 Sources: high-ranking FARDC officials and high-ranking officials in the Government of the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo; a document obtained by  the Group. 

 10 Ibid. 

 11 See spokesperson of the Ministry of Defence and Veteran Affairs of Uganda, Twitter, 

30 November 2021 (“This morning, we have launched joint air and artillery strikes against ADF 

camps with our Congolese allies”). Available at https://twitter.com/UPDFspokespersn/status/ 

1465604686191513600?s=20.  

 12 Source: notes taken at a ministerial meeting between the Democratic Republic of the Congo and 

Uganda held in Kampala on 27 January 2022. 

 13 Sources: Allied Democratic Forces (ADF) ex-combatants, researchers, and sources within 

FARDC and the United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo (MONUSCO). 

 14 See S/2021/560, para. 13. 

 15 See S/2019/974, para. 23; S/2020/482, para. 137; S/2021/560, para. 13. 

 16 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, and FARDC and MONUSCO sources.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1807(2008)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://twitter.com/UPDFspokespersn/status/1465604686191513600?s=20
https://twitter.com/UPDFspokespersn/status/1465604686191513600?s=20
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/974
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Lumisa,17 who was responsible for the ADF expansion in Ituri. He was supported by 

Mzee Mayor, alias Nassa,18 who led operations with mobile groups that established 

temporary camps near attack locations (see annex 5). 19 

25. From early 2020 onwards, the number of attacks in southern Ituri increased. A 

particular escalation was recorded starting in May 2021, which was marked by 

simultaneous attacks against Boga and Tshabi, where more than 50 civilians were 

killed in one day (see para. 32).20 Several ADF ex-combatants acknowledged their 

own involvement or the role of ADF in many of these attacks. As ADF progressed 

further north, ADF attacks against villages and convoys were also reported along the 

RN4 road, over a 70-km stretch between Luna and Komanda. ADF reached Komanda 

in September 2021, where they clashed with, notably, the Force patriotique et 

intégrationniste du Congo (FPIC). Since October 2021, multiple ADF attacks were 

recorded in southern Mambasa territory,21 an area where ADF had not traditionally 

been active before.22 

26. From December 2021 onwards, Operation Shuja, a joint operation by FARDC 

and UPDF that targeted notably ADF positions (see paras. 19–21), contributed further 

to ADF shifting its presence and area of operations, particularly within southern Ituri 

(see annex 6).23 As a result, ADF had to move its camps again and further scattered 

in southern Ituri, conducting diversion, reprisal and resupply attacks. While the 

location of ADF leadership was still unclear at the time of drafting the present report, 

several sources reported that locations for new ADF camps were being scouted in 

Mambasa territory.24 

27. ADF and Da’esh, also known as Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant (ISIL), 

communicated extensively about ADF expansion in southern Ituri (see annex 7). ADF 

published several videos of beheadings shot in Ituri, the first in June 2021, showing 

Salim Mohamed Rashid, a Kenyan national arrested by the Congolese authorities in 

January 2022 (see para. 36).25 

28. Starting mid-2021, ADF also launched attacks on the Beni-Butembo road, in 

Beni territory, as well as in Bashu chefferie, following FARDC and MONUSCO 

operations which targeted nearby camps in Mwalika led by Amigo and Abwakasi. 26 

Bashu chefferie, which had been relatively spared until then, was one of the 

southernmost points at which ADF attacks have been recorded. ADF was also active 

in Watalinga chefferie, including near the headquarters of Operations Shuja, and 

continued to conduct multiple attacks in the Rwenzori sector and around Mamove and 

Oicha towns, where they maintained camps.27 

__________________ 

 17 See S/2021/560, annex 4. 

 18 Ibid. 

 19 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, and FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 

 20 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, and FARDC, MONUSCO, civil society and 

diplomatic sources. 

 21 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, local authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO and civil 

society sources. 

 22 See S/2020/482, para. 139. 

 23 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, local authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO, civil 

society, Ugandan and diplomatic sources. 

 24 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, local authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO and civil 

society sources. 

 25 However, Salim told the Group that the video was filmed early 2021 during an attack in 

Mambelenga. 

 26 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, local authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO, civil 

society and diplomatic sources. 

 27 See S/2021/560, annex 3. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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29. Despite being dispersed, ADF was still resilient and able to conduct attacks, 

sometimes simultaneously, repeatedly and/or in rapid succession, with more than 

1,300 civilians killed since 2021, according to MONUSCO. This escalation in the 

number of attacks and killings of civilians was part of ADF reprisal tactics, which 

were also aimed at dissuading operations against ADF and at distracting FARDC, 

UPDF and/or MONUSCO troops from certain areas that ADF considered more vital, 

such as around main camps. 

 

Recruitment and instrumentalization of intercommunity tensions in southern Irumu 
 

30. The ADF expansion strategy in Ituri required an intensification of its 

recruitment, including in its new areas of operations. To that end, ADF 

instrumentalized existing conflicts between the native Nyali-Tshabi community and 

the migrant Hutu community, also referred to as Banyabwisha (see annex 8). ADF 

had used a similar recruitment strategy in the early 2000s, when it exploited tensions 

between the Vuba and Nande communities in Beni territory.  

31. While ADF had initially forged an alliance with Nyali-Tshabi leaders, in early 

2021, ADF started to recruit within the Hutu community, with the support of, notably, 

an individual referred to as Kamari, who became the leader of Hutu recruits in ADF 

camps (see annex 9).28 

32. ADF recruited and trained over 100 Hutus, 29  at the beginning mainly 

voluntarily, although some were possibly lured, forced and/or captured, especially 

around July 2021, when dissatisfied recruits started to escape. Hutu recruits were 

regularly used as combatants by ADF, including in the Boga and Tshabi attacks in 

May 2021.  

33. In July 2021, FARDC used many of the Hutu recruits who had escaped ADF 

camps, including children, as proxies against ADF.30 

 

Regional and international links: recruitment and financing  
 

34. ADF increased external propaganda, outreach and mobilization efforts, 

including through its allegiance to Da’esh, contributed to strengthening its networks 

and reach to recruit, fundraise and organize armed attacks beyond the borders of the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo (see paras. 55–57). The Group collected 

information about several individuals and/or cells responsible for recruitment and 

financing in Burundi, Kenya, Somalia, South Africa and the United Republic of 

Tanzania, some of them linked.31 

 

Recruitment 
 

35. ADF ex-combatants continued to report the presence of recruiters and focal 

points in the region, in particular along the Kenyan and Tanzanian coastlines and in 

Burundi.32  Recruiters facilitated recruitment and transport, including through false 

promises of work in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, generally in gold mines 

(see S/2021/560, para. 16 and annex 6). The same sources also reported recruitment 

__________________ 

 28 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, local sources, Hutu community representatives, researchers, and 

civil society, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources.  

 29 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, local authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO and civil 

society sources. 

 30 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, local sources and authorities, Hutu community representatives, 

researchers, and civil society, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources.  

 31 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, regional authorities, and FARDC, MONUSCO, 

diplomatic and local sources. 

 32 Ibid. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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by some Muslim clerics or followers at mosques and schools, including in Mombasa, 

Kenya, and Bujumbura, Burundi.  

36. Social media were used – Facebook, WhatsApp and Telegram – with online 

groups sharing radical propaganda and encouraging group members to join the jihad, 

including in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or in Mozambique. 33 Some online 

groups included individuals linked to Da’esh. ADF leaders Meddie Nkalubo 34 and 

Abwakasi35 played a key role in this online outreach.36 For instance, Salim Mohamed 

Rashid (see para. 27) and Hytham S.A. Alfar, a Jordanian arrested near Butembo i n 

September 2021, reported being in touch with Nkalubo and Abwakasi prior to their 

travels to ADF camps (see annex 10). Salim explained that he had decided to join 

ADF after failed attempts to join Da’esh in Mozambique, Somalia and the Syrian 

Arab Republic.  

37. This illustrates that ADF allegiance and projection of alignment with Da’esh, 37 

as well as Da’esh claims (see para. 45), increased the notoriety of ADF in radicalized 

circles. ADF capitalized on that notoriety to attract highly radicalized recruits and 

thus emerged as an option, like Da’esh in Libya, Mozambique, Somalia and the Syrian 

Arab Republic, for individuals eager to join Da’esh. Several recruits, including Salim 

and Hytham, were, however, disenchanted by the difficult living conditions and/or  

ideological divergences and soon left the ADF camps. 38 

 

Financing 
 

38. The Group has established that ADF received some financing from individuals 

based outside the Democratic Republic of the Congo through intermediaries inside 

the country and in Uganda. Individuals in South Africa and the United Kingdom of 

Great Britain and Northern Ireland sent funds using mobile money and international 

money transfers to ADF from at least 2018.39 

39. The Group has reviewed receipts of international money transfers showing that 

Waleed Ahmed Zein, listed as a specially designated global terrorist by the United 

States of America on 7 September 2018,40 transferred money on at least one occasion 

in 2018 to an individual in Uganda collaborating with Nkalubo. Individuals in 

Nkalubo’s network received over $50,000 from South Africa in mobile money 

transfers in 2019 and 2020. The Group has received information that some of the 

senders in South Africa had received funds from Abdirizak Mohamed Abdi Jimale, 

recently sentenced by a military court in Somalia for having financed Da’esh Somalia.  

40. Ghislaine Kavira Sikakulya, alias Shengazi41 or Shenga Yalala, a Congolese-

Ugandan national and senior ADF member arrested in October 2021 in Bunia, was in 

regular telephone contact with ADF leader and sanctioned individual Seka Baluku 

(CDi.036) and his deputy Lukwago Hood, alias Pierro (see S/2021/560, para. 14). 

Until recently, she received mobile money from an individual in London. 42  Since 

__________________ 

 33 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, regional authorities and FARDC, MONUSCO and 

diplomatic sources. 

 34 See S/2021/560, para. 23 and annexes 4, 14 and 20. 

 35 See S/2021/560, para. 25 and annexes 3, 4, 16 and 20. 

 36 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, regional authorities and FARDC, MONUSCO and 

diplomatic sources. 

 37 See S/2021/560, paras. 29–31 and annex 20. 

 38 Sources: ADF ex-combatants and FARDC sources. 

 39 Sources: ADF ex-combatants and documentary evidence. 

 40 See United States Department of the Treasury, “Treasury sanctions East African facilitator of 

intricate ISIS financial network”, available at https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-

releases/sm476.  

 41 See S/2015/19, para. 29. 

 42 Sources: ADF ex-combatants and FARDC sources. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm476
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/sm476
https://undocs.org/en/S/2015/19
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1996, Shengazi was pivotal in coordinating ADF in Uganda and the region, notably 

to ensure the arrival of new recruits.43 

41. Benjamin Kisokeranio, a close adviser to ADF founder and sanctioned 

individual Jamil Mukulu (CDi.015) (see S/2021/560, para. 15 and annex 5) and his 

second wife, Nahimana Amina, received funds from one individual in London by 

international money transfer between 2017 and 2019. 44 Kisokeranio reported that the 

individual in question had been sending funds to ADF through his relatives since at 

least 2010 (see S/2011/738, para. 61). Kisokeranio received this money after the split 

with the ADF main group.  

42. The Group reviewed money transfers sent from within the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo through Airtel Money to a SIM card belonging to an ADF combatant, a 

card that he lost during clashes with FARDC in October 2021. Just from July to 

mid-October 2021, more than $60,000 transited through the account associated with 

the SIM card. Money was sent to the account from three Congolese numbers; the 

funds were then disbursed to at least 40 other numbers. One of the three numbers was 

linked to the cell phone that triggered the Oicha explosion (see para. 53). Other 

numbers corresponded to ADF combatants and leadership, including Nkalubo and 

Abwakasi, who received over $6,000 and $4,000, respectively. One ADF collaborator, 

who was arrested for his involvement in this scheme, explained that he had been 

requested by ADF combatant Musa Kamusi (see annex 11) to help in the reactivation 

of the lost SIM card. Kamusi was working with Amigo to coordinate the network of 

ADF collaborators in Uganda and the region for the transportation of recruits and 

supplies.45 

 

Links with Da’esh 
 

43. The Group established that initial contacts between ADF and Da’esh occurred 

as early as 2017, notably through Meddie Nkalubo. 46  Moreover, Kisokeranio 

confirmed that Baluku’s initial pledge of allegiance dated from 2017 and that that had 

been the main reason that Kisokeranio had left ADF.47 

44. In March 2022, ADF renewed its allegiance following the death of Da’esh leader 

Abu Ibrahim Al-Qurashi one month earlier (see annex 12). 

45. Communication links between ADF and Da’esh continued to strengthen. 48 

Da’esh claims of attacks in the Democratic Republic of the Congo were more 

numerous and accurate, and were transmitted faster (see annex 13), even though 

Operation Shuja may have temporarily disrupted those communications. In addition, 

while ADF reduced the number of its publications through its official channels as 

compared to 2020,49 some of those publications were clearly intended to continue to 

project alignment with Da’esh (see annex 14).  

46. According to several sources, Da’esh provided ideological guidance, supported, 

coordinated and/or directed its affiliates,50 namely ADF in the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo and Ahl al-Sunna wal-Jama‘a in Mozambique (ASWJ), through its 

__________________ 

 43 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, leadership and collaborators, researchers, and FARDC, 

MONUSCO and diplomatic sources. 

 44 Both were arrested in South Kivu in January 2022. 

 45 See S/2021/560, annex 4. 

 46 Sources: ADF ex-combatants, researchers, diplomatic sources and regional authorities.  

 47 See S/2021/560, annex 20. The Group had raised the possibility that the first pledge of allegiance 

had dated from before July 2019. 

 48 See S/2021/560, para. 31 and annex 20. 

 49 See S/2021/560, annex 20. 

 50 Da’esh has referred to ADF and Ahl al-Sunna wal-Jama‘a in Mozambique as Islamic State 

Central Africa Province (ISCAP). 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2011/738
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Al-Karrar office in Puntland, Somalia,51 which is hosted by Da’esh Somalia.52 Both 

Da’esh Somalia and the Da’esh Al-Karrar office are headed by Yusuf Abulqadir 

Mumin. Also, in an audio recording circulated on ADF private propaganda channel in 

February 2022, Baluku claimed to be in contact with Da’esh in Somalia. In another 

recording, made in May 2021, Baluku mentioned Da’esh guidance on conquering and 

occupying new territories, which he claimed to have implemented.  

47. While it does not exclude links between ADF and the Da’esh Al-Karrar office 

or Da’esh Somalia, at the time of drafting the present report, the Group could not 

confirm such links. It could also not confirm direct Da’esh support to ADF, either 

financial, human or material, nor Da’esh command and control over ADF.  

 

ADF technical advancements in bomb-making and use of improvised explosive 

devices in urban settings in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Rwanda 

and Uganda 
 

Use of improvised explosive devices, including person-borne, in urban settings 
 

48. The increased use of improvised explosive devices by ADF, as reported 

previously (see S/2021/560, para. 19), reached an initial peak on 26 and 27 June 2021 

in Beni town, where three devices detonated in an urban setting. They directly 

targeted the civilian population. Three more devices exploded in urban areas in 

December 2021 and in January and February 2022 (see paras. 50–54). In addition, 

improvised explosive devices detonated or were discovered in rural a reas, with 

several such incidents involving the booby-trapping of bodies (see annex 15). 

49. The 26 June explosion occurred in Beni centre, next to a petrol station, where 

an improvised explosive device had been placed on a tanker truck transporting petrol . 

The explosion did not result in any casualties, even though the person who had 

installed the device had most likely wanted to trigger the explosion of the flammable 

liquid present on site. A second explosion occurred in the early morning hours on 

27 June inside the Assumptionist Catholic Church in Mulekera in Beni town, 

wounding two cleaners. No other civilians were present when the explosion occurred, 

which suggests an accidental and/or premature detonation. A third explosion occurred 

in the evening hours of the same day, near a food store and local bar, killing the carrier 

of the device, who was identified as Issa Mando, a former FARDC soldier who had 

joined ADF after his escape from Kangbayi prison in October 2020 (see annex 16). 53 

Several of the explosions’ effects, such as the types of injuries sustained54 and the 

limited number of victims, indicate that the person-borne device was activated 

prematurely. Da’esh has claimed responsibility for the second and third explosions 

(see annex 17).  

50. The use by ADF of improvised explosive devices in urban settings reached a 

new peak in Beni town in the night of 25 December 2021, when a strong explosion 

killed nine, including the bomb carrier, and wounded 18 in front of the Inbox bar, 

which was popular among the Beni elite and FARDC officers and was particularly 

crowded at that moment (see annex 18).  

51. The large explosive charge and the bomb carrier’s tactic – positioning himself 

in a popular and crowded place on Christmas Day – show that the attack was most 

__________________ 

 51 Office responsible to administrate Da’esh more distant provinces. 

 52 See S/2021/486, para. 66; S/2021/655, paras. 23 and 29. Sources: researchers, regional 

authorities. 

 53 Sources: FARDC, intelligence sources in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and two ADF 

ex-combatants. 

 54 Mando’s head and torso were not impacted, which suggests that he was not leaning over the 

improvised explosive device to activate it.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/486
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/655
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likely intended to inflict the maximum number of casualties on the civilian 

population, including Beni’s elite, on a date that is significant for the Christian 

community.  

52. On 10 January 2022, Da’esh claimed responsibility for the attack with an 

improvised explosive device and identified the bomb carrier as Bayan al -Uganda, a 

Ugandan national (see annex 19). One ADF ex-combatant told the Group that he had 

seen the carrier at the ADF camp known as “Machine” (see para. 24). Three other 

ADF ex-combatants, including Salim Mohamed Rashid (see paras. 27 and 36), as well 

as members of intelligence services, told the Group that Baluku had called on ADF 

combatants to volunteer as suicide bombers, and that in March 2021, three 

combatants, including Issa Mando, had answered that call. ADF made several other 

references to suicide attacks (see annex 20).  

 

Technical developments: radio- and/or timer-controlled improvised explosive devices 
 

53. Evidence recovered after two other detonations of improvised explosive devices 

at markets in Oicha and Beni, in January and February 2022, respectively (see 

annexes 21 and 22), 55  confirmed that the construction of such devices was not 

consistent with those previously documented in the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo (see annex 23). The evidence shows an evolution in ADF bomb-making 

techniques towards the use of cell phones integrated as an electronic time switch or 

as a radio-controlled switch, similar to those found in other countries, in particular 

Somalia, Afghanistan and Iraq.56 

54. The confirmed capacity of ADF to build and use radio- and timer-controlled 

devices demonstrates that it has considerably increased its technical know-how and 

skills. The threat posed by this type of device is significantly higher, especially 

because, unlike with traditional, victim-triggered systems, radio- and timer-controlled 

devices allow for very precise targeting. 

 

Attempted attack with an improvised explosive device in Rwanda linked to ADF  
 

55. On 1 October 2021, the Rwandan authorities announced the arrest of 13 

individuals who reportedly were part of an ADF plan to launch attacks with 

improvised explosive devices in Kigali. Various materials related to such devices 

were seized on the same occasion.  

56. The bombs were intended to detonate at the City Tower and the Nyabugogo 

petrol station in Kigali, although the initial intent, which was abandoned, had been to 

target the chiefs of the Rwandan army and police.57 On the basis of the accounts given 

by the suspects and the intelligence services, the Group confirmed that there were 

links between the bomb plot and ADF, including Meddie Nkalubo’s central role (see 

annex 24). 

 

Attacks with person-borne improvised explosive devices in Uganda 
 

57. Between August and November 2021, six attacks with improvised explosive 

devices occurred in Uganda and two others were thwarted in that country. Several of 

the attacks were claimed by Da’esh (see annex 25). According to the Ugandan 

authorities, several attackers, including suicide bombers, and individuals arrested in 

connection with the planning and/or financing of the attacks, were linked to ADF. In 

particular, the Government of Uganda reported that Nkalubo had sent instructions for 

__________________ 

 55 Da’esh did not claim these attacks. 

 56 Cell phones were modified with wires attached to the speaker or vibrator connectors so that the 

electric detonator is triggered when the phone rings or when the alarm goes off.  

 57 Source: three suspects held in Kigali prison.  



 
S/2022/479 

 

15/297 22-06591 

 

the construction of improvised explosive device through the social media application 

Telegram and coordinated the money transfers to pay operatives and logistics for the 

bombings (see annex 26).58 While the Group does not exclude that ADF was involved 

in these attacks, it could not confirm that that was the case or determine the precise 

nature of any ADF support or direction, since the Ugandan authorities declined to 

grant the Group access to key evidence59 or to persons detained in relation to the 

attacks. Also, the Group could not identify similarities in construction design between 

the improvised explosive devices used and/or seized in relation to the attacks in 

Uganda and those used in Beni and Oicha towns.  

 

 

 B. Resurgence of the Mouvement du 23 mars and regional dynamics  
 

 

Attacks by the Mouvement du 23 mars against FARDC and the Congolese 

Institute for Nature Conservation, and the occupation of strategic locations 
 

58. Following its defeat in 2013, the Mouvement du 23 mars (M23), a sanctioned 

entity (CDe.006), split into two factions: the Armée révolutionnaire du Congo (ARC), 

headed by Bertrand Bisimwa, and the Alliance pour le salut du peuple (ASP), headed 

by Jean-Marie Runiga. M23 ex-combatants retreated to camps in Uganda and Rwanda 

(see S/2012/843, paras. 3–5; S/2014/42, paras. 4–12; and S/2015/19, paras. 91–105). 

Few stayed in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. In December 2013, M23 signed 

an agreement with the Congolese authorities (see para. 69) by which M23 was 

dissolved as an armed group. The agreement defined the terms for demobilization, 

demilitarization and social reintegration, and for conditional amnesty.60 

59. In January 2017, however, M23/ARC began to rebuild when combatants led by 

sanctioned “General” Sultani Makenga (CDi.008) left Bihanga camp in Uganda to set 

up a base on Mount Sabinyo in Virunga National Park, Democratic Republic of the 

Congo.61 

60. M23/ARC remained dormant until early November 2021, when it launched a 

first series of attacks on FARDC and the Congolese Institute for Nature Conservation 

(ICCN) positions near the area where the borders between the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo, Rwanda and Uganda meet, killing guards of ICCN and FARDC soldiers 

and stealing weapons, uniforms, communications equipment and food supplies, 

thereby enhancing its military capability (see annex 27). These and subsequent 

M23/ARC attacks resulted in waves of civilians fleeing the area.  

61. After a one-month lull, M23/ARC launched new attacks against FARDC and 

positions of ICCN in Rutshuru in late December 2021 and again in late January 2022. 

The frequency, length and strength of M23/ARC attacks followed an upward curve, 

as did the number of FARDC casualties, indicating a higher degree of 

“professionalism”, active recruitment (see paras. 66 and 67) and resupply. For 

instance, starting in the night of 24 to 25 January 2022, an M23/ARC attack against 

FARDC in Nyesisi, Rutshuru territory, resulted in the killing of at least 40 FARDC 

members, including their commander (see annex 28).  On 28 March 2022, M23/ARC 

launched simultaneous attacks against Tshanzu, Gisiza, Ndiza and Runyoni (see 

annex 29). 

__________________ 

 58 Sources: Government of Uganda, intelligence sources and media articles. Meeting in Kampala 

held on 9 March 2022. See also S/2022/83, para. 17. 

 59 Evidence such as audio recordings, videos, messages, phone records, financial flow data and/or 

witness accounts. 

 60 In that context, see also the Peace, Security and Cooperation Framework for the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo and the Region, signed in Addis Ababa on 24 February 2013.  

 61 Sources: M23 ex-combatants, researchers, MONUSCO, FARDC and civil society sources. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2012/843
https://undocs.org/en/S/2014/42
https://undocs.org/en/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/en/S/2022/83
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62. Despite significant FARDC troop reinforcements in Rutshuru territory (notably 

from the Sokola 2 operational sector, at the expense of ADF-controlled areas, among 

others), the deployment by the Presidential Guard of multiple rocket launcher systems 

and the regular shelling of M23/ARC bases with rockets, M23/ARC continued to 

attack strategic locations, often successfully (see annex 30). 62 

63. On 29 March 2022, a MONUSCO helicopter that was on a reconnaissance 

mission around Tshanzu crashed. The eight peacekeepers on board were killed. 63 

Preliminary information indicated that the helicopter was hit by direct fire, causing 

its crash, and that the fire had originated from a hill under M23/ARC control (see 

annex 31). 

 

Leadership, bases, recruitment and weaponry 
 

64. The 2021 and 2022 attacks were launched under the overall military command 

of Makenga, with “Colonel” Yusuf Mboneza directing operations on the ground. 

Bisimwa, who was compelled by the Ugandan authorities to leave Kampala on 

5 January 2022,64 remained the M23/ARC political leader. On 25 March 2022, after 

several months of silence, he openly came out in support of the operations (see 

annex 32). 

65. M23/ARC was headquartered on Mount Sabinyo in the Democratic Republic of 

the Congo, where the borders between the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 

Rwanda and Uganda meet. This gave it a strategic advantage with regard to entry and 

exit routes. 65  Other M23/ARC camps were located on Mount Visoke in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo, near the border with Rwanda and a short distance 

from the border between Rwanda and Uganda (see annex 33).  

66. From November 2021, M23/ARC started to recruit in Bihanga camp, and from 

January 2022, in Masisi and Rutshuru territories and in Kitshanga, Democratic 

Republic of the Congo, as well as in Rwanda, to rapidly boost its troops. As a result, 

whereas the attacks between November 2021 and January 2022 had involved an 

estimated 100 to 200 combatants, at least 400 combatants were observed during the 

attack on Bunangana on 29 March 2022, with other combatants being observed close 

to Matebe and on the Rugari-Kibumba road that same day.66 

67. Three arrested M23/ARC combatants, all Banyamulenge who had sought refuge 

in Uganda and had been trying to return to Minembwe, South Kivu, when they were 

captured, said that they had been approached by M23/ARC collaborators in Kisoro, 

Uganda, in early March 2022 and had been guided to M23/ARC camps, where they 

had received military training from “Colonel” Kanyamibwa. 67 While the majority of 

the M23/ARC combatants in the camps had originated from Masisi, some were 

Banyamulenge, Lingala speakers and/or Rwandan nationals. 68 The armed forces and 

security forces of the Democratic Republic of the Congo reported the presence o f 

individuals wearing uniforms of the Rwanda Defence Force (RDF) in M23/ARC 

__________________ 

 62 FARDC managed to – often temporarily – recover several positions, sometimes with support 

from the Uganda People’s Defence Forces (UPDF). 

 63 See Security Council press release, “Security Council Press Statement on Crash of United 

Nations Organization Stabilization Mission Helicopter in Democratic Republic of Congo 

(29 March 2022)”, 1 April 2022, available at: https://www.un.org/press/en/2022/ 

sc14849.doc.htm. 

 64 Sources: intelligence services, researchers, and M23 leaders and collaborators.  

 65 Sources: Expanded Joint Verification Mechanism, FARDC and security services.  

 66 Sources: intelligence services, FARDC and security sources, and five M23/ARC ex-combatants. 

 67 Sources: five M23/ARC ex-combatants. 

 68 Sources: five M23/ARC ex-combatants, and FARDC and security sources. Four ex-combatants 

reported that Makenga had announced that he was cooperating with Michel Rukunda, alias 

Makanika, the military leader of Twirwaneho (see S/2021/560, para. 134). 

https://www.un.org/press/en/2022/%0bsc14849.doc.htm
https://www.un.org/press/en/2022/%0bsc14849.doc.htm
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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camps located in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, which was confirmed by 

aerial footage and photographic evidence. However, the Government of Rwanda 

categorically denied either active or passive RDF support to M23/ARC (see paras. 71 

and 72).69 

68. M23/ARC was well equipped with AK-type assault rifles and PKM machine 

guns, light machine guns, 12.7-mm heavy machine guns, rocket-propelled grenades, 

60-mm mortars and night-vision binoculars. Early in April 2022, M23/ARC seized 

artillery pieces from FARDC (see annex 34).  

 

Objective of the Mouvement du 23 mars, its claims and the regional dynamics  
 

69. Recent attacks by M23/ARC stemmed from, inter alia, a lack of progress in the 

implementation of the Nairobi Declarations signed on 12 December 2013. 

Confidential negotiations between the Government of the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo and a delegation of M23 that had started in September 2020 and continued for 

14 months, stalled.70 Six captured M23/ARC combatants stated that Makenga’s plan 

was to attack and occupy Bunangana, Rutshuru and Rumangabo towns, cut off the 

strategic Goma-Rutshuru road, and then take Goma, to force the Government to 

accept the demands of M23/ACR regarding amnesties, asset recovery, return to the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo, integration into FARDC and political positions 

(see annex 35).  

70. The M23/ARC spokesperson and political cadres at first denied the movement’s 

involvement in the November and December 2021 attacks and underlined that 

M23/ARC had pursued a constructive dialogue with President Tshisekedi since 2020. 

However, their stance radically changed in March 2022, when they repeatedly 

accused FARDC of attacking their positions on Mount Mikeno, Mount Karisimbi, 

Mount Visoke and Mount Sabinyo, and the Government of intentionally refusing to 

make peace and opting for war.71 M23/ARC then reserved the right to self-defence 

and announced that it would continue the struggle for rational change in the cou ntry 

(see annex 36). By mid-April 2022, M23/ARC announced two unilateral ceasefires 

(see annex 37), which nonetheless were ineffective.  

71. Regional dynamics, which were already strained owing to, inter alia, the joint 

FARDC-UPDF operation, Operation Shuja (see paras. 19–22), the road rehabilitation 

project undertaken by the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Uganda, and the 

statement made by President Kagame of Rwanda in February 2022 (see annex 38), 

were exacerbated by the re-emergence of M23/ARC. During meetings with the Group 

in January and March 2022, officials of the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

claimed that M23/ARC operated with the support of RDF special forces. In addition, 

on 28 March 2022, the spokesperson of the military governor of North Kivu publicly 

stated that, in the night of 27 to 28 February, M23, supported by RDF, had made 

incursions and attacked FARDC positions in Tshanzu and Runyoni. This was 

categorically refuted by both the Government of Rwanda and the M23/ARC 

spokesperson (see annex 39).  

72. The Group notes that, in his statement, the governor’s spokesperson mentions 

the capture of two alleged RDF soldiers to corroborate his claim. However, the two 

soldiers had been arrested well before the statement was made. One was captured b y 

the armed group Collectif des mouvements pour le changement (CMC) in January 

2022, while the other was arrested by FARDC, also in January 2022. Both were 

__________________ 

 69 Sources: meetings held by the Group with the Rwandan authorities in Kigali on 14 and 16 March 

2022, and communiqués issued by the Government of Rwanda.  

 70 Sources: M23 leaders and ex-combatants, and sources within the Government of the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo, MONUSCO and civil society.  

 71 Source: M23 communiqués. 
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interviewed by the Group in February 2022. After a verification mission in December 

2021, the Expanded Joint Verification Mechanism reported that it was still unclear 

whether the resurgence of the movement was the result of any foreign support. 72 

 

 

 C. Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda-Forces 

combattantes abacunguzi  
 

 

73. Despite being significantly weakened over the past decade, with some of its 

leaders killed and following various military operations,73 the Forces démocratiques de 

libération du Rwanda-Forces combattantes abacunguzi (FDLR-FOCA)74 continued to 

recruit and provide training to several local armed groups (see annex 40) .75 

74. Since 2020, the leadership and organizational structure of FDLR-FOCA did not 

change significantly. Sanctioned individual “Lieutenant-General” Gaston Iyamuremye, 

alias Rumuli or Victor Byiringiro (CDi.003), was appointed FDLR-FOCA president 

in replacement of sanctioned individual Ignace Murwanashyaka (CDi.016), who had 

died in Germany in 2019. “General” Pacifique Ntawunguka, alias Omega, also 

sanctioned (CDi.024), took over the leadership of the military structure after the death 

of Sylvestre Mudacumura, also sanctioned (CDi.012), assisted by “General” Jean-

Baptiste Gakwerere, alias Julius Mkobo, Sobo Stany or Kolomboka.  

 

 

 D. Armed involvement and smuggling in tantalum and tourmaline in 

Masisi territory  
 

 

75. Armed presence, armed attacks and illegal taxation and digging by some 

FARDC members continued at some coltan and tourmaline mines in Masisi territory 

during 2021 and early 2022. Coltan and tourmaline from some of these mines was 

trafficked by criminal networks of traders to Sake and Goma, from where it either 

entered legal supply chains or was smuggled out of the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo, as previously reported (see S/2021/560, paras. 57–71). Levels of cross-border 

coltan smuggling rose from October 2021 to at least March 2022.  

 

Armed presence in mines 
 

76. Ten eyewitnesses, including two FARDC members, described the presence of 

armed men and some FARDC members at the Rukaza/Luwowo mine at Rubaya, the 

primary coltan mining area in Masisi territory during 2021 (see annex 41; S/2021/560, 

paras. 62 and 63). 76  Some FARDC members dug or taxed tourmaline, notably at 

Rukaza, where members of the Coopérative des exploitants artisanaux miniers de 

Masisi (COOPERAMMA) were also digging. Robert Habinshuti Seninga, who is a 

former president of COOPERAMMA, a provincial parliamentarian and the head of 

the Provincial Assembly of North Kivu, denied any collusion between FARDC and 

COOPERAMMA members. The Group wrote to Better Mining, a responsible 

sourcing scheme, which covers Rukaza/Luwowo. Its reply is contained in annex 42.  

__________________ 

 72 Source: report of the Expanded Joint Verification Mechanism.  

 73 See S/2020/1283, paras. 37 and 38, and S/2019/469, paras. 63–65. 

 74 The Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda are a sanctioned entity (CDe.005).  

 75 Sources: Ex-combatants of the Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda-Forces 

combattantes abacunguzi (FDLR-FOCA), the Collectif des mouvements pour le changement 

(CMC)-Domi and the Alliance des patriotes pour un Congo libre et souverain (APCLS), leaders 

of CMC-Thadee, researchers and civil society sources. 

 76 Further sources: civil society and two private sector sources.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/469
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77. On 10 January 2022, armed men attacked a coltan mine near Shakubangwa, near 

Ngungu, and looted coltan worth $17,000 (see annex 43). 77  

 

Illicit trading 
 

78. Mining authorities and traders78 told the Group that from September 2021 to at 

least March 2022, illicit cross-border trading in untagged coltan 79  from mines in 

Masisi territory into Rwanda had increased. This was confirmed by the International 

Tin Association (ITA) (see annex 44). Four private sector sources described how the 

increased smuggling was due to, inter alia, the creation of a new joint venture, Congo 

Fair Mining, in December 2020 and changes in buying practices on the part of coltan 

trading houses in Goma (see annex 45).  

79. A criminal network of traders, including some COOPERAMMA members, with 

the support of Robert Habinshuti Seninga (see S/2021/560, para. 64),80  transported 

hundreds of kilograms of coltan from mines in Masisi territory to Goma, together with 

varying quantities of tourmaline from the Rukaza mine (see S/2021/560, para. 62). 

From Goma, the minerals were being smuggled into Rwanda for onward sale (see 

annex 46). This compromised the integrity of some coltan supply chains in Rwanda 

covered by the International Tin Supply Chain initiative (ITSCI) for responsible 

supply chains of ITA. Rwandan authorities told the Group that no smuggled minerals 

had been intercepted in Rwanda in 2020 or 2021. 

80. Congolese authorities took steps to intercept the illicit trading. In February 

2022, they apprehended several hundreds of thousands of dollars’ worth of untagged 

coltan intended for transport to Goma. One load was accompanied by an FARDC 

member (see annex 47).  

 

 

 IV. Ituri 
 

 

 A. Factions of the Coopérative pour le développement du Congo  
 

 

Increase of operations by factions of the of the Coopérative pour le 

développement du Congo since the state of siege was imposed 
 

81. The partial suspension of operations by factions of the Coopérative pour le 

développement du Congo (CODECO) following the signing of the unilateral ceasefire 

agreements in 2020 (see S/2021/560, para. 81) ended soon after the state of siege was 

imposed in May 2021.  

82. Combat occurred between FARDC and CODECO factions in several areas. At 

the same time, CODECO factions entered into cycles of retaliatory attacks against the 

Zaïre armed group, and increased attacks against civilians in Mahagi and Djugu 

territories (see paras. 87–96), which in turn triggered joint FARDC-MONUSCO 

military operations against the Union des révolutionnaires pour la défense du peuple 

congolais/Coopérative pour le développement du Congo (URDPC/CODECO) starting 

__________________ 

 77 Two civil society sources from Masisi described the armed attackers as “those led by Maachano” 

and two private sector actors said that the armed men were linked to “Shamamba in Rubaya” (see 

S/2021/560, paras. 61 and 62). 

 78 Also four private sector sources, a responsible sourcing scheme, a mining authority, civil society, 

three coltan transporters. See also S/2021/560, para. 74. 

 79 Coltan that is traded legally in Masisi territory usually carries a “tag”. 

 80 Sources: two smugglers working with Seninga, two private sector actors, five audio recordings, a 

Rubaya-based trader and a COOPERAMMA member. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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in December 2021.81 On 5 April 2022 a Nepalese peacekeeper was shot and killed 

during a joint FARDC-MONUSCO cordon-and-search operation in Bali village, in 

the URDPC/CODECO area of control.  

83. Little to no progress was made towards disarmament and demobilization, 

despite a visit of the coordinator of the Disarmament, Demobilization, Community 

Recovery and Stabilization Programme (P-DDRCS), Tommy Tambwe, to Bunia on 

28 December 2021 and the appointment in December 2021 of a task force led by 

Thomas Lubanga, a sanctioned individual (CDi.007). Rather, the URDPC/CODECO 

leadership, referring to previous processes during which it had submitted their 

demands, declined to meet with the task force until other armed groups, including 

Zaïre, would join the process. On 16 February 2022 CODECO factions abducted 

several task force members near Bambu. They regained their freedom on 4 and 

12 April 2022 (see annex 48).82 

 

Leadership, structure and recruitment  
 

84. The leadership and structure of the CODECO factions remained relatively 

unchanged (see annex 49 and S/2020/1283, annex 21). However, under the impulse 

of URDPC/CODECO, CODECO factions, or at least some of their combatants and 

leaders, started to regroup from approximately the end of 2021. 83 

85. One combatant formerly of the Force de défense contre la balkanization du 

Congo (FDBC) explained that he had joined URDPC/CODECO in March 2022 and 

was conducting outreach to persuade those who had not yet joined URDPC/CODECO 

to do so. The same combatant said, as did the URDPC/CODECO leadership, that 

“General” Kadogo, who had succeeded Bon Temple leader Tuwo after his killing in 

May 2021 by FDBC (see S/2021/560, annex 68),84 had joined URDPC/CODECO and 

was in charge of operations in the Nyangaray area (see also para. 127 regarding the 

relationship with FPIC).  

86. While some recruits joined voluntarily, in part in reaction to some crimes by 

some FARDC members against the Lendu population (see paras. 130–140 and 

S/2021/560, paras. 113–120), CODECO factions forcibly recruited Lendu men, 

forcing some to flee. URDPC/CODECO, with the assistance of some local chiefs, 

organized rotations of Lendu civilians forced to engage in combat and attack Hema 

villages.85 

 

Crimes against civilians and use of children  
 

Attacks against camps for internally displaced persons by Union des révolutionnaires 

pour la défense du peuple congolais/Coopérative pour le développement du Congo – 

URDPC/CODECO 
 

87. From mid-November 2021 to early February 2022, CODECO factions 

conducted a series of deadly attacks against camps for internally displaced persons in 

__________________ 

 81 Sources: leadership of the Union des révolutionnaires pour la défense du peuple 

congolais/Coopérative pour le développement du Congo (URDPC/CODECO), and civil society, 

FARDC, National Intelligence Agency (Agence nationale de renseignements – ANR) and 

MONUSCO sources. 

 82 Sources: task force members, URDPC/CODECO leadership, and civil society, ANR and 

MONUSCO sources. 

 83 Sources: URDPC/CODECO leadership and ex-combatants, one ex-combatant of the Force de 

défense contre la balkanization du Congo (FDBC), local authorities and civil society sources.  

 84 Sources: URDPC/CODECO leadership, one local authority, and civil society, ANR and 

MONUSCO sources. 

 85 Sources: three Lendu civilians. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Bahema Nord and Bahema Badjere chefferies in the midst of rising tensions between 

CODECO factions and Zaïre from October 2021 onwards (see annex 50).  

88. URDPC/CODECO attacked the Tsuya camp for internally displaced persons 

near the Catholic mission in Drodro on 21 November 2021 and the Jangi -Ivo camp 

for internally displaced persons close to Drodro centre on 28 November 2021 (see 

annex 51).86 The camps sheltered about 15,000 persons in total, almost all members 

of the Hema community.87 In Tsuya camp, 32 internally displaced persons were killed, 

of whom 11 were women, 11 were children and 11 were elderly (see annex 52). 

Twenty-four internally displaced persons were killed in Jangi-Ivo camp.88 

89. The attacks triggered the immediate mass displacement of internally displaced 

persons living in Drodro and of the population of nearby villages to the Rhoe camp 

for internally displaced persons adjacent to the MONUSCO military base. This 

increased numbers of internally displaced persons from about 21,000 in October 2021 

to about 65,000 at their peak (see annex 53).89 

90. On the evening of 1 February 2022, URDPC/CODECO attacked Plaine Savo 

camp for internally displaced persons in Bule, which sheltered around 24,000 persons, 

almost all of them Hema. 90  Sixty-two were killed, including 17 women and 19 

children (see annex 54). One woman had her genitals mutilated.91 At least 38 were 

wounded, including 21 severely, of whom 17 children. Many shelters were destroyed 

by the attackers, who checked whether people were inside (see annex 55). 92 

91. In both Drodro and Plaine Savo, URDPC/CODECO combatants killed and 

injured the internally displaced persons with gunshots and/or machetes. They also 

showed signs of a certain level of planning and military tactics. They were identifiable 

by specific clothing.93 In addition, during the 21 November attack on Drodro, they 

simultaneously attacked neighbouring villages.94  

92. In Plaine Savo, the combatants had torches tied to their weapons and used 

spoken codes to distinguish themselves from the camp’s Hema displaced persons. 

They shot at those who fled or who were unable to give the agreed code. 95  Six 

internally displaced persons heard the combatants say that they had come to execute 

them. One heard them say that they were looking for weapons.  

93. According to several sources,96 the attacks against Plaine Savo and Drodro were 

reprisals against Zaïre operations and looting of Lendu fields by Hema civilians 

and/or Zaïre combatants, and had been motivated by suspicions that Zaïre combatants 

lived in the camps for internally displaced persons and/or that they had hidden 

__________________ 

 86 Sources: URDPC/CODECO leadership, six internally displaced persons, one researcher, sources 

within civil society, ANR, MONUSCO and FARDC, and video recordings. 

 87 Sources: one internally displaced person, and civil society and MONUSCO sources.  

 88 Sources: seven internally displaced persons, sources within MONUSCO, civil society and ANR, 

and video recordings. 

 89  Sources: civil society and MONUSCO sources, six internally displaced persons and video 

recordings. 

 90  Sources: URDPC/CODECO leadership, 13 internally displaced persons, one researcher, onelocal 

authority, and civil society, MONUSCO, ANR and FARDC sources.  

 91  Sources: three internally displaced persons, civil society and MONUSCO sources.  

 92  Sources: 13 internally displaced persons, onelocal authority, sources within MONUSCO and 

ANR, civil society sources, photographs and video recordings.   

 93  In Savo, eight internally displaced persons saw attackers wearing white headbands. In Drodro, 

four internally displaced persons saw attackers wearing red tops and parts of mosquito nets tied 

around their heads and/or arms. 

 94  Sources: two internally displaced persons, civil society sources and MONUSCO sources. 

 95  Sources: 11 internally displaced persons, oneFARDC source.  

 96  Sources: URDPC/CODECO leadership, civil society, sources within FARDC and MONUSCO, 

one video consulted by the Group. 
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weapons there. The URDPC/CODECO leadership stated that Zaïre presence in the 

camps had motivated the attacks.  

 

Continuous conflict-related sexual violence  
 

94. Acts of conflict-related violence by CODECO combatants, including 

URDPC/CODECO, remained widespread throughout 2021 and 2022, but were still 

largely carried out with impunity (see S/2021/560, paras. 84–86). Women and girls of 

all ethnicities carrying out their daily subsistence activities were repeatedly raped or 

gang-raped. Rape and gang rape also occurred during attacks and was used as a means 

of reprisal (see annex 56 for details of additional rape cases). 97 

95. For instance, in February 2022, in fields in Biba, near Nizi, one URDPC/ 

CODECO or FDBC combatant raped a 12-year-old girl from the Mambisa 

community, while two others gang-raped another girl aged 16. Their leader then 

questioned the girls about the Zaïre armed group and later used them in negotiations 

in an attempt to secure the release of a Lendu businessman abducted by Zaïre. 98 

96. In May 2021, in Londoni, near Libi, during a raid in which URDPC/CODECO 

combatants killed a Lendu man for failing to support the armed group, the combatants 

gang-raped two Lendu women. In January 2022, two URDPC/CODECO combatants 

raped the wife of a civil society actor in the Walendu-Tatsi sector who was 

unsupportive of URDPC/CODECO. 

 

  Continuous crimes against members of the Lendu community  
 

97. CODECO factions continued to repress uncooperative Lendu civilians, 

including local leaders (see S/2019/974, para. 92), by killing (see para. 96) or 

mistreating them, and by beating and/or detaining those refusing or unable to pay 

taxes (see para. 111).99 

98. For example, on 16 January 2022, URDPC/CODECO combatants arrested a 

civil society actor in the Walendu-Tatsi sector, fired the weapon that they had placed 

on the top of his head and beat him, accusing him of betraying a URDPC/CODECO 

spiritual leader whom FARDC had arrested that same day.  

 

  Use of children 
 

99. CODECO factions continued to use children from the age of 10, including as 

combatants and to guard URDPC/CODECO and FDBC checkpoints. Some carried 

bladed weapons and bayonets (see S/2020/1283, para. 50). 100  URDPC/CODECO 

leadership denied making any use of children.  

100. The acts detailed in this section and those committed against mine site workers 

as described in paragraph 115 are sanctionable pursuant to paragraphs 7 (d) and/or (e) 

of resolution 2293 (2016), as renewed in resolution 2582 (2021). 

 

 

 B. Zaïre  
 

 

101. Despite maintaining a low public profile and secrecy over its organization and 

structure (see S/2021/560, para. 108) and despite differences by areas of operations, 

the armed group Zaïre, also known as the Front populaire d’autodéfense en Ituri 

__________________ 

 97  Sources: nine rape victims, one local chief, and civil society, ANR and MONUSCO sources.  

 98 Sources: two rape victims, one local chief and one civil society source.  

 99 Sources: three rape victims, civil society, ANR and MONUSCO sources.  

 100 Sources: one local chief, two rape victims, one researcher, one civil society source and 

MONUSCO sources. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/974
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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(FPAC), became more visible from October 2021 onwards, in particular through 

operations against CODECO factions, crimes against civilians and control of several 

areas, notably in Djugu territory.  

 

  Leadership, operations and weaponry  
 

102. “General” Zawadi Vajeru remained the overall leader of Zaïre (see S/2021/560, 

para. 109). He coordinated the armed group with “General” Logo Marine Mugenyi, 

in charge of operations, and Babala Fidele Castro Ngabu, youth leader in Iga-Barrière. 

Castro, arrested in December 2021 by the Congolese authorities but released in 

January 2022 following pressure from high-profile representatives of the Hema 

community, went to the Mongbwalu area. Babale Ngadjole, alias Pharaon, and 

Fabrice Maki Jawyambe led Zaïre in Lodjo and Pluto, respectively (see annex 57). 101 

103. Zaïre leaders, including Marine and Castro, coordinated operations through 

several village chiefs and youth leaders.102 Both Marine and Castro regularly toured 

areas under Zaïre control to galvanize support, motivate combatants and organize 

money-raising schemes prior to operations (see para. 113). Zaïre ex-combatants 

explained that ex-combatants of the Union des patriotes congolais (UPC) active in the 

second Congo wars had joined Zaïre since at least 2021. Zaïre established a training 

centre in Pilipili in November 2021.103 

104. From at least October 2021 onwards, Zaïre has been launching operations 

against CODECO factions.104 Seven Zaïre ex-combatants highlighted that some of 

those operations were conducted jointly with some FARDC members. 105  They 

explained that, while former UPC combatants brought out hidden weapons and 

ammunition, Zaïre also received material from some FARDC members. Some Zaïre 

roadblocks were just 200 to 300 meters from FARDC checkpoints, as observed by the 

Group in Maze village on 12 March 2022.106 

 

  Crimes against civilians  
 

105. Zaïre targeted Lendu community members. In particular in the mining area 

around Mongbwalu, and under Pharaon’s orders, Zaïre hunted down Lendus, killing 

them in retaliation for crimes by CODECO factions and causing many to leave the 

area. 107  Zaïre continued to check people for their ethnicity at roadblocks (see 

S/2021/560, para. 109), killing those identified as Lendus. 108  For example, in 

February 2022, Zaïre killed a Lendu businessman at Kpata Kpata, near Nizi. 109 The 

Group could not, however, establish the exact scale of the killings, as it could not 

access the area for security and logistical reasons. Furthermore, armed Zaïre 

combatants, shooting, chanted that Lendu should leave Mongbwalu when 

demonstrating in the town on 16 February 2022 (see annex 58 and para. 120).110 

__________________ 

 101 Sources: Zaïre ex-combatants, state and local authorities, and civil society, ANR and MONUSCO 

sources. 

 102 Sources: three middle-ranking Zaïre leaders, researchers, two witnesses, and civil society and 

FARDC sources. 

 103 Sources: five ex-combatants and one ANR source. 

 104 Sources: civil society and MONUSCO sources.  

 105 This has also been confirmed by one state agent and by civil society, FARDC and MONUSCO 

sources. 

 106 Also confirmed by one resident of Dala, civil society, ANR and MONUSCO sources. 

 107 Sources: six civil society sources, sources within FARDC, ANR and MONUSCO, two local 

authorities, one State official, one researcher, and one resident of Mongbwalu.  

 108 Sources: one resident of Dala, and ANR and civil society sources. 

 109 Sources: two witnesses, one local chief, and civil society sources.  

 110 Source: video recording in possession of the Group, one state authority, and civil society sources.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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106. Zaïre also committed crimes against civilians in its own communities who had 

failed to comply with Zaïre’s rules. For example, failure to perform weekly 

compulsory community work (salongo) was punished in Pluto by a fine, jail and/or 

whippings, the number of which increased by 100 strokes every day. At least one Alur 

man died because of such whipping in February 2022. In March 2022, Zaïre decided 

that whippings would be commensurate to the “offences”. 111  Those suspected of 

simply speaking about Zaïre received threats of retaliation, and journalists were 

prohibited from going to Zaïre areas of operations. 112 

 

 

 C. Coopérative pour le développement du Congo factions’ and Zaïre’s 

financing and gold  
 

 

107. Gold remained a significant source of financing for both CODECO factions and 

Zaïre during the reporting period (see S/2021/560, paras. 95 and 111).  

108. The URDPC/CODECO leadership confirmed that maintaining control of gold 

mines was a priority.113 Zaïre also prioritized taking control of new gold mines, in 

particular around Mongbwalu.114 Zaïre and CODECO factions conducted tit-for-tat 

attacks on gold mines and gold trading hubs in each other’s areas of operations, 

particularly in late 2021 and early 2022 in Djugu territory.  

109. URDPC/CODECO and FDBC generated funds during 2021 and 2022 by digging 

for gold, as well as by attacking and looting at gold mines and gold trading hubs and 

taking gold miners hostage.115 Zaïre combatants also dug for gold, attacked, and in 

some cases established control of, gold mines and trading hubs in areas previously 

occupied by CODECO factions, and vice versa.  

110. For example, Zaïre looted gold during a 4 December 2021 attack to take control 

of Lodjo, a gold mining and trading town. When CODECO factions retaliated on 

22 and 23 December, attacking the Lodjo, Matoro and Andisa mines, they also looted 

gold and burned down houses.  

111. Both sides continued to tax civilians to generate funds (see annex 59 and para. 118; 

S/2021/560, paras. 82 and 97, and annexes 64, 75 and 76).116 

 

  Zaïre  
 

112. Zaïre leaders and ex-combatants informed the Group that gold mining, including 

by Zaïre combatants, at Pilipili, Pluto, Lodjo and Dala and surrounding mines, 

provided resources to the group during the reporting period. 117 The Group notes that 

gold worth hundreds of thousands of dollars is produced and traded annually in these 

gold-rich parts of Djugu territory.118 

113. Some Zaïre leaders received a percentage from gold production. One 

ex-combatant contributed 15 per cent of his weekly gold production to the group. 

Failure to pay could result in punishment (see para. 106). Pharaon patrolled gold 

__________________ 

 111 Sources: civil society sources, two state authorities. 

 112 Source: two state authorities, civil society and MONUSCO sources.  

 113 Source: interview with an URDCP/CODECO leader.  

 114 Sources: two mining authorities, two local residents, and one ex-combatant. 

 115 Sources: two mining authorities, one ANR source, three businesspeople, one CODECO 

ex-combatant, documents reviewed by the Group. 

 116 Sources: two ex-combatants and one current combatant, three inhabitants of gold mining areas 

controlled by CODECO factions, and MONUSCO sources.  

 117 Sources: two Zaïre leaders and two ex-combatants. 

 118 Based on an average price of $60 per kg and an extremely conservative production estimate of 

10 kg monthly for mines in northern Djugu territory, where Zaïre operated.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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mines and collected gold himself.119 From at least November 2021 to at least January 

2022, Zaïre local leaders Wawa120 and Chief Unyagi Ndikpa received a percentage of 

the gold produced at a semi-industrial mining site on the Shari River, Ndikpa 

groupement, east of Mongbwalu. The gold was handed over by the Coopérative 

Minière des Orpailleurs de l’Ituri (COMOI), a Congolese cooperative working with 

a semi-industrial mining company, that dug earth, crushed rocks and dredged the 

Shari River to extract gold. FARDC members guarded the site. Neither COMOI nor 

the semi-industrial company declared any gold production in Djugu territory for 2021 

(see annex 60), according to official statistics reviewed by the Group.  

 

  Factions of the Coopérative pour le développement du Congo  
 

114. In addition to the findings laid out in the Mongbwalu case study (see paras. 116–123), 

the Group observed that CODECO factions targeted gold traders and gold miners to 

generate revenues.  

115. For example, in January 2022 a mine site owner at Mbau, approximately 20 km 

south of Mongbwalu, was forced to hand over 2 grams of gold to URDPC/CODECO 

combatants under the threat of being killed. In March 2022, at Nderembi, Irumu 

territory, 17 km north-west of Bunia, armed elements described as “FPIC-CODECO” 

attacked a civilian vehicle accompanied by a member of FARDC that was being used 

to transport gold. An unknown quantity of gold was stolen. A Chinese national 

travelling with the gold was shot dead and another injured. 121 On 24 November 2021, 

URDPC/CODECO stole gold during an attack on a gold mining site near Damblo, 

10 km east of Mongbwalu. The combatants took hostage eight Chinese nationals 

working with the Congolese cooperative SOCOMIDI. Two others were killed, 

alongside one FARDC member who was guarding their site. URDPC/CODECO 

demanded a ransom for the hostages’ release (see annex 61).122 Gold traders were also 

targeted during 2021 and 2022, particularly in Djugu territory. In February 2021, a 

gold seller near Mongbwalu was forced to hand over $500 to CODECO combatants 

who threatened to take him hostage if he did not comply.  

 

  Mongbwalu case study 
 

116. From late 2021 to March 2022, URDPC/CODECO, Bon Temple and Zaïre 

combatants increased control of and dug at gold mines around Mongbwalu, the most 

significant gold producing and trading hub in Djugu territory (see S/2021/560, 

paras. 95–99).  

117. During this period, attacks on civilians and FARDC positions intensified, as did 

clashes at Mongbwalu between CODECO factions and Zaïre. The aim, in part, was to 

gain control over economic hotspots.123 

118. As in other places in Djugu territory, Zaïre and CODECO factions independently  

taxed and pillaged gold traders and businesspeople at Mongbwalu, as well as civilians 

(see annex 62). As at March 2022, mines in and around Mongbwalu were divided into 

two rough zones of control in the town’s vicinity (see annex 63).  

__________________ 

 119 Source: local civil society. 

 120 Wawa dispossessed people of land to make way for the gold production. 

 121 Military regulations prohibit FARDC from engaging in such activities unless specifically 

authorized. A senior FARDC officer confirmed that in this case, FARDC members had not 

received authorization. Sources: one civilian wounded during the attack, one FARDC 

commander, two local sources, and morgue records.  

 122 Sources: three civil society and two private sector sources, two senior FARDC leaders, one 

URDPC/CODECO leader, and one mining authority.  

 123 Sources: five local residents, three authorities, photographs and videos reviewed by the Group, 

two official documents, two civil society documents, and FARDC and MONUSCO sources.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560


S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 26/297 

 

119. During clashes at Mongbwalu and its surrounding mining hubs on 3 December 

2021, URDPC/CODECO combatants attacked Mongbwalu commune, killed civilians,  

looted gold-buying houses and reinforced their presence at the Saio quarter, a mining 

hub (see S/2021/560, annex 64).  

120. On 4 December 2021, Zaïre reciprocated and entered Pluto, an important gold 

trading hub 7 km north of Mongbwalu, establishing a strong presence there (see 

S/2021/560, annex 76).124 The action included setting up a strategic base at the hotel 

of a local gold trader. Zaïre members dug for gold at Pluto mines, which was sold in 

Bunia. 125  In addition, some Zaïre combatants who had violently demonstrated in 

Mongbwalu town on 16 December 2021 (see para. 105) reportedly remained in the 

town, including at certain mines.126 

121. Gold from Mongbwalu was purchased by local buyers, including by the 

Coopérative minière Ndele et frères (COMINDEV), owned by Ndele Bachebandey, 

as previously reported (see S/2021/560, para. 98 and annex 77), and sold 

clandestinely to traders in Bunia, Butembo and Uganda. 127 The Group tried to contact 

Ndele Bachebandey, who did not respond. The officially declared gold production in 

Mongbwalu for 2021 was 406.28 grams, compared with undeclared production of up 

to 120 grams weekly at just one of the more than 40 mines in Mongbwalu. 

122. As previously reported (see S/2021/560, annex 75), members of FARDC and 

the Congolese National Police deployed at Mongbwalu also engaged in illegal gold 

mining and taxation of diggers, alongside combatants of armed groups.  

123. Since at least December 2021, members of the 13011th and 13012th battalions 

of the 1301st FARDC regiment under the command of Colonel Charles Muhinda 

Santos received 30 to 50 per cent of the gold mined by artisanal diggers at some mines 

on the PE5105 mining concession. The FARDC members were stationed around the 

mining concession (see annex 64). Colonel Santos told the Group that there were no 

FARDC members in the mines in Mongbwalu and that FARDC did not receive any 

gold from mining there. 

 

 

 D. Force patriotique et intégrationniste du Congo 
 

 

124. FPIC, also known as Chini ya Kilima, remained one of the most active armed 

groups in Irumu territory (see S/2021/560, paras. 101–106). Intermittent clashes with 

FARDC and Zaïre continued to have an adverse impact on civilians. 128  

 

  Leadership structure and areas of operations 
 

125. During the reporting period, “General” Songambele Selyabo was the overall 

leader and chief of staff of FPIC. He coordinated activities with his deputy, “General” 

Kaleb Bale. “Colonel” Nzete oversaw logistics, in particular weapons and 

ammunition, and served as the FPIC financier, while “General” Billy served as 

operational commander.129 “General” Kakishe commanded Walu, Mwenga and Kunda 

__________________ 

 124 Sources: two Mongbwalu residents, civil society, an authority.  

 125 Sources: an ex-combatant, a trader from Pluto, a resident.  

 126 Sources: three eyewitnesses, an authority, a source within FARDC, and video footage reviewed 

and authenticated by the Group. 

 127 Sources: two gold traders, one mining authority and one civil society source.  

 128 Sources: 12 FPIC ex-combatants, threeFPIC leaders, fivecivil society sources, three MONUSCO 

sources, and court files. 

 129 “General” Billy replaced “General” Gilbert Forabo Munzabo, who was killed in February 2022 

when FPIC clashed with FARDC in Sililo, near Marabo (sources: three FPIC leaders, six 

ex-combatants, and MONUSCO and civil society sources).  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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sectors and “General” Dacha commanded Komanda, Marabo and Nyankunde sectors, 

including Kindia and Lingabo up to the outskirts of Bunia town. 130 

126. FPIC headquarters were in Nyankunde, where the bulk of the leadership and 

combatants were gathered. Three leaders claimed that FPIC comprised close to 4,500 

combatants, which the Group could not confirm. Five ex-combatants and one local 

chief explained that often, young Bira men aged between 20 and 35 were forc ed to 

join FPIC. Those who resisted were mistreated or killed. FPIC continued to use 

children as young as 13 to 15 years (see S/2021/560, para. 103).131 

 

  Alliance and arms supply 
 

127. Three FPIC leaders told the Group that since mid-2021, FPIC had an alliance 

with URDPC/CODECO and FDBC that was designed to avoid attacking each other 

and share resources including weapons and ammunition. According to the three FPIC 

leaders and to information obtained from FARDC, “General” Kadogo served as the 

intermediary for transfers of weapons and ammunition between the armed groups (see 

para. 85). For example, in July 2021, “General” Kadogo provided FPIC leaders with 

three PKM machine guns, 30 AK-type assault rifles and 2,700 rounds of ammunition 

at FPIC headquarters in Nyankunde. 132  URDPC/CODECO leadership denied the 

alliance, although it acknowledged that an alliance had existed during Tuwo’s time 

and that discussions were ongoing.  

128. In addition, while most of the weapons in possession of FPIC originated from 

the Congo wars in the 2000s, FPIC leaders and ex-combatants, as well as several 

FARDC officers, reported that some FARDC members had provided FPIC with 

weapons and ammunition, including during 2021.  

129. During 2021, FPIC began to use gold mines for self-financing either by mining 

gold directly or by taking contributions from diggers (see also S/2021/560, annex 80). 

FPIC leaders explained that they controlled most of the mines around Nyankunde and 

that diggers contributed 30 per cent of their gold to FPIC. In addition, taxes were 

levied on all activities except schools. The accrued resources served to buy weapons 

and ammunition and to pay the leadership $300 per person per month and combatants 

$50 to $100 per person per month.133  

 

 

 E. Crimes against civilians by some members of the Armed Forces of 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo deployed in Djugu territory 

during the state of siege  
 

 

130. Some FARDC members deployed in Djugu territory during the state of siege 

committed crimes against civilians, including against Lendu civilians, whom some 

continued to systematically equate with CODECO, as previously reported (see 

S/2021/560, paras. 113–120, S/2020/1283, para. 51, and S/2019/974, paras. 93–100). 

 

  Killing and forced displacement of Lendu civilians, looting of Lendu villages 

and indiscriminate aerial bombardments 
 

131. During the state of siege, some FARDC members, including from the 

111th commando battalion deployed in Libi and from the 32062nd “leopard” battalion 

deployed in Bambu and Kobu, forcibly displaced the civilian population from these 

__________________ 

 130 Sources: three FPIC leaders, nine ex-combatants, FARDC officers, civil society, researchers.  

 131 Sources: five FPIC ex-combatants. 

 132 Sources: three FPIC leaders, six ex-combatants, FARDC officers, researchers, and civil society.  

 133 Sources: 12 ex-combatants, two  researchers, three civil society sources, and MONUSCO 

sources. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2019/974
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Lendu villages and others around. They also killed several civilians,134 and destroyed 

and/or looted civilian houses and health centres, as previously observed in other areas 

in Djugu territory (see annex 65, and S/2021/560, paras. 116 and 118).135 

132. Some FARDC members also engaged in indiscriminate aerial bombardments in 

the gold mining area west of Djugu territory, including in and/or around Bambu, Petsi, 

Kobu, Mongbwalu, Nyangaray and Dhembu, and in the Walendu-Pitsi sector, 

including in Ndr’li. The bombardments resulted in damage to civilian houses and 

schools, civilian injury136 and, reportedly, several civilian deaths.137 

133. For example, on or around 31 July 2021, FARDC Mi-24 attack helicopters 

dropped bombs on Bambu, one of which damaged the Catholic mission school in 

which FARDC had instructed the population of Bambu to shelter a few days prior 

(see annex 66).138 On 15 January 2022, bombs hit another school in Petsi, injuring at 

least two children. 139  On 11 January 2022, FARDC helicopters dropped C-8KO 

rockets in and around Ndr’li village, but left nearby URDPC/CODECO headquarters 

in Ndalo untouched (see annex 67).140 A high-ranking FARDC officer explained that 

targets had been carefully identified, although errors or collateral damag e did occur, 

particularly where CODECO combatants were next to civilian buildings.  

 

  Conflict-related sexual violence 
 

134. During the reporting period, the number of rapes committed by some FARDC 

members remained high throughout Djugu territory (see S/2021/560, para. 114),141 as 

exemplified by the cases referred to in paragraphs 135–139 below and in annex 68.  

135. Some FARDC members deployed during the state of siege, including from the 

312th voltigeurs battalion, under the command of Colonel Joseph Nganzole Olikwa, 

alias Tipi Ziro Ziro (see S/2021/560, paras. 35 and 97), raped and gang-raped at least 

10 women 142  in and around Lopa between June and December 2021. 143  All rape 

victims interviewed by the Group, one local chief and one civil society actor knew of 

other women or girls raped around the same time and location by some FARDC 

members, including from the 312th voltigeurs battalion. 

136. For instance, in November or December 2021, several members of the 

312th voltigeurs battalion requested money from two of the victims interviewed by 

the Group, at a checkpoint beside their camp in Kpadole before gang-raping one 

__________________ 

 134 The Group welcomes the opening of the trial concerning the June 2020 killings i n 

Gudjo/Ngaludza before the Ituri Military Court on 22 March 2022 (see S/2020/1283, para. 51). 

 135 Sources: witnesses/victims, state and local authorities, civil society, ANR and MONUSCO 

sources, photographs and documentary evidence. 

 136 Sources: witnesses, local and state authorities, URDPC/CODECO leadership, one researcher, 

sources within ANR, civil society and MONUSCO, photographs and a video recording.  

 137 Sources: civil society and MONUSCO sources, and photographs. The Group also received 

information about friendly fire hitting FARDC members on the ground.  

 138 Sources: three local authorities, two civil society sources, photographs and a video recording.  

 139 Sources: one eyewitness, local and state authorities, civil society, and sources within ANR and 

MONUSCO. See also the statement issued by the United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) on 

20 January 2022 entitled “UNICEF deplores the attack on a school and health centre in Djugu, 

Ituri province”. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/press-releases/unicef-deplores-

attack-school-and-health-centre-djugu-ituri-province.  

 140 Sources: two civil society sources, one researcher, URDPC/CODECO leadership, and 

photographs. 

 141 Sources: 22 rape victims, three witnesses, local authorities, civil society, and ANR and 

MONUSCO sources. 

 142 The rape victims were Hema, Lendu, Ndo Okebo and Mambisa, and had been carrying out daily 

subsistence activities. 

 143 Sources: 10 rape victims, three witnesses, two local chiefs, six civil  society sources, and ANR 

and MONUSCO sources. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/press-releases/unicef-deplores-attack-school-and-health-centre-djugu-ituri-province
https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/press-releases/unicef-deplores-attack-school-and-health-centre-djugu-ituri-province
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inside the camp and raping the other near the camp, while their husbands were held 

at gunpoint.  

137. When confronted by local authorities about the high number of rapes since the 

troop deployment in the area, Colonel Tipi Ziro Ziro requested that, for any rape case, 

the victim’s medical file and the full identity of the perpetrator or perpetrators be 

provided, although most victims have no knowledge of the identity of the person or 

persons who raped them. Colonel Tipi Ziro Ziro added that his troops were “tempted” 

since they had no women with them, and that the population therefore had to be 

careful, but he also spoke to his troops. Two FARDC members caught in the act were 

reportedly arrested. 144  During a meeting with the Group, Colonel Tipi Ziro Ziro 

challenged the dates of his deployment in Lopa and affirmed he would not tolerate 

any rape by his troops.  

138. Some FARDC members, including members of the 111th Commando Battalion 

deployed during the state of siege, raped and gang-raped at least seven Lendu women 

and one 15-year-old Lendu girl in and around Libi between May and October 2021. 145 

The perpetrators told three victims that they had raped them because their husbands 

and/or brothers belonged to CODECO factions and had killed FARDC members. 146 

139. On 4 August 2021, three members of the 111th commando battalion raped one 

woman and gang-raped two. They killed one of the women as she fled after the act. 

FARDC conducted investigations and arrested the perpetrators in this and one other 

case. However, it is unclear if any prosecution was in itiated in these cases or in the 

cases mentioned in paragraphs 135 to 137. 

140. The acts in this section are sanctionable under paragraph 7 (e) of resolution 2293 

(2016), as renewed in resolution 2582 (2021). 

 

 

 F. Mai-Mai armed groups and some members of the Armed Forces 

of the Democratic Republic of the Congo at gold mines in 

Mambasa territory 
 

 

141. The Group found that gold produced in and around the Okapi Wildlife Reserve 

in Mambasa territory (see S/2021/560, annex 91, and S/2016/1102, paras. 69–72) had 

benefitted Mai-Mai groups and some FARDC members. The gold was smuggled out 

of the country through criminal networks or, in one case, exported legally to Uganda, 

during 2021. 

142. Mai-Mai groups, including the Mai-Mai Simba, led by Mangaribi, (see 

S/2016/466, footnote 23), dug at and levied taxes at gold mines in Okapi Reserve and 

throughout the Reserve’s contested borderlands (see annex 69). Since at least 2017, a 

criminal network composed of some members of the FARDC 311th voltigeurs 

battalion, 31st brigade, 147  commanded by Colonel David Mushaila Kapelo and 

assisted by Captain John Chiza, taxed miners, dug gold and guarded semi-industrial 

miners 148  at mining sites in the same area (see S/2021/560, annex 91, and 

S/2016/1102, paras. 69–72). See annex 70 for Colonel Kapelo and Captain Chiza’s 

responses. 

__________________ 

 144 Sources: two local authorities and three civil society sources.  

 145 Sources: seven rape victims, two witnesses, one local authority, three civil society sources, ANR 

and MONUSCO sources, and photographs. 

 146 Further sources: within MONUSCO. 

 147 The 31st brigade was previously commanded by Brigadier-General Muhindo Akili Mundos, a 

sanctioned individual (CDi.032) (see S/2016/1102, para. 70, and S/2016/466, paras. 198–204). 

 148 Military regulations prohibit FARDC from engaging in such activities, see Law No. 024/2002 of 

18 November 2002 concerning the Military Penal Code, article 78.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/1102
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/466
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/1102
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/1102
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/466
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143. In particular, on the way to the Muchacha gold mine, in the contested 

borderlands of Okapi Reserve, a barrier at Penge operated by some FARDC members 

generated more than $1,000 daily for some FARDC members at the site (see annex  71 

for map and detail).  

144. Some FARDC members managed the mining sites like “fiefdoms”, according to 

State authorities, physically harmed diggers and, along with ICCN ecoguards, 

forcibly expelled artisanal diggers from gold mines (see annex 72). Local people 

noted that semi-industrial miners continued to work, however, while forced evictions 

increased levels of local banditry and the risk that miners who had been forced out 

would join armed groups.149 

145. Some FARDC members also taxed diggers and guarded mines on the concession 

belonging to MCC Resources, within which the Muchacha gold mine is located and 

where, during 2021, Kimia Mining Investment Sarl,150 registered in the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo, was among the active mining companies (see annex 73 for a 

response from KGOR Sarl, a holding company representing Kimia).  

146. Gold mines in Enjewa groupement, within which Muchacha is also located, were 

also controlled by the Mai-Mai Simba, led by Mangaribi, in October and November 

2021. During the same period, the Mai-Mai Simba Mangaribi also controlled the 

groupements of Badumbisa and Basiri in Bombo chefferie, which Mai-Mai 

combatants emptied of their population in order to dig for gold (see annex 74).  

147. The Mai-Mai and some FARDC members present in the area’s gold mines 

regularly prevented State authorities from accessing mines during 2021 and 2022. 

Therefore, large volumes of gold produced at Muchacha and in its surroundings went 

undeclared (see annex 75). This caused the Congolese State significant losses 151 and 

jeopardized efforts to ensure the traceability of gold in line with guidance issued by 

the International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR) and Congolese law. 

148. Following a seizure by the Congolese authorities (see annex 76), Kimia 

officially exported 32 kg of gold from Muchacha to the Simba Gold Refinery in 

Uganda in November 2021, using ICGLR certificates (see also para. 174).  

149. The Group welcomes the use of ICGLR certificates for gold exports, but notes 

that the gold was produced by Kimia in an area where a Mai-Mai group levied taxes 

and produced gold, and where some FARDC members were illegally involved in  gold 

mining and taxation.  

150. The Group requested Simba Gold Refinery to provide a copy of its supply chain 

due diligence for gold purchased from the Democratic Republic of the Congo for 

2021. The Gold Refiners, Exporters and Dealers Association Uganda Limited,152 of 

which Simba Gold Refinery is a member, told the Group that its members had supply 

chain policies and procedures, used know-your-customer checks and could not deal 

with individuals blacklisted by the Government of Uganda.  

__________________ 

 149 Sources: civil society, and State and local authorities.  

 150 See S/2021/560, para. 126 and annex 91, and S/2016/1102, paras. 73–76. Kimia holds a share of 

80 per cent in MCC Resources. 

 151 Sources: five State authorities, two actors in the private sector, and two civil society 

representatives. 

 152 The Gold Refiners, Exporters and Dealers Association Uganda Limited was incorporated on 

15 October 2021. Its members are Aurnish Trading Limited, Bullion Refinery Limited, Metal 

Testing and Smelting Company Limited, Simba Gold Refinery Limited, and African Gold 

Refinery Limited. African Gold Refinery (AGR) and its ultimate beneficial owner, Alain Goetz, 

were sanctioned on 17 March 2022 by the United States of America. See press release of the 

United States Department of the Treasury of 17 March 2022 entitled “Treasury sanctions Alain 

Goetz and a network of companies involved in the illicit gold trade” .Aavailable at: 

https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy0664.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2016/1102
https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy0664
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151. “Mineral imports (excluding petroleum)” into Uganda from the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo dropped significantly in July 2021, and gold exports out of 

Uganda ceased until December 2021 following the introduction of new gold export 

taxes by that country’s Government (see annex 77).  

 

 

 V. South Kivu  
 

 

 A. Conflict in the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux of Mwenga, Fizi and 

Uvira territories 
 

 

152. In the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux of Mwenga, Fizi and Uvira territories, Mai -

Mai armed groups coalitions, on one side, and Twirwaneho and Gumino armed groups 

on the other continued to engage in rounds of tit-for-tat attacks and to target the 

opposing communities, killing civilians, looting cattle and destroying property, 

further reinforcing the ethnicization of territory and the radicalization of opinions (see 

S/2021/560, paras. 132 and 146).153 

 

  Twirwaneho 
 

153. From August 2021 onwards, FARDC launched operations against Twirwaneho, 154 

sometimes with the support of Mai-Mai.155 This considerably weakened the group, 

which lost several positions and withdrew mainly around Bijabo. 156 

154. However, at the end of 2021, Twirwaneho increased its attacks on FARDC and 

regained some positions. 157  The group captured weapons during those attacks, in 

particular in late December 2021 in Kamombo, when it beheaded and dismembered 

an FARDC officer, Colonel Yaoundé Kyembe Melchior of the 121st battalion. 158 

155. Among several FARDC deserters to join Twirwaneho159 in 2021 and 2022, the 

most notable was Colonel Joseph Mitabo160 (see annex 78, and S/2021/560, para. 135, 

and annexes 95 and 104).  

156. Several sources reported propaganda sessions and forced recruitment led by, 

among others, FARDC deserter Colonel Charles Sematama. 161 Banyamulenge village 

leaders were urged to provide recruits to reinforce Twirwaneho troops. 162 Those who 

opposed were threatened and sometimes killed. At least three Banyamulenge 

including local authorities around Minembwe, were killed from September 2021 

onwards. The leader of the camp for Banyamulenge internally displaced persons in 

Mikenge was abducted in October 2021.163 This illustrates some of the tensions within 

the Banyamulenge community, as Twirwaneho considered those killed to be Gumino 

supporters (see S/2021/560, para. 133) and/or as not supporting the majority’s view 
__________________ 

 153 Sources: leaders and combatants of armed groups, researchers, local authorities, civil society, 

and sources within FARDC and MONUSCO. 

 154 See S/2021/560, paras. 133–135. 

 155 Sources: leadership and combatants of Mai-Mai, Twirwaneho and Gumino, as well as local 

authorities, researchers, civil society, and sources within FARDC and MONUSCO.  

 156 Sources: civil society and sources within FARDC and MONUSCO.  

 157 Sources: civil society, researchers and local sources.  

 158 Sources: civil society, researchers, sources within FARDC and MONUSCO and local sources.  

 159 Sources: individuals close to Twirwaneho, civil society, researchers, sources within FARDC and 

MONUSCO, and local sources. 

 160 See S/2009/603, paras. 55 and 374–376. 

 161 See S/2021/560, para. 142. 

 162 Sources: individuals close to Twirwaneho, as well as civil society, researchers, sources within 

FARDC and MONUSCO, and local sources. 

 163 Sources: individuals close to Twirwaneho, as well as civil society, researchers, sources within 

FARDC and MONUSCO, local sources and local authorities.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2009/603
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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to consider Minembwe as an autonomous commune.164 Infighting within Twirwaneho 

was also reported, as illustrated by the recent departure of “Colonel” Gakunzi, 165 who 

likely sided with Gumino.166 

157. Twirwaneho conducted attacks against civilians, such as in Mikenge village on 

14 and 15 November 2021, killing at least six civilians, namely a pregnant woman 

and five children.167 This triggered a retaliatory Mai-Mai attack against the nearby 

Banyamulenge camp for internally displaced persons. 168 

 

  Mai-Mai coalitions 
 

158. The most active Mai-Mai groups in the Hauts Plateaux remained the Mai-Mai 

Yakutumba and its Coalition nationale du peuple pour la souveraineté du Congo 

(CNPSC), Forces armées “Biloze Bishambuke” (FABB) and Forces des patriotes pour  

la défense du Congo (FPDC)-Mouvement de libération, commonly known as Mai-

Mai Ebuela, working together in an ad hoc coalition established in 2020. 169 

159. The Mai-Mai coalition continued to engage in clashes with Twirwaneho and 

Gumino, attacking Banyamulenge civilians, including, during cattle rustling, herders. 

During the second half of 2021, Mai-Mai attacks, led by CNPSC and FABB in 

particular, increased further south, into the Moyens Plateaux near Baraka. 170  In 

particular, in October 2021, the Mai-Mai coalition launched attacks on several 

villages around Bibokoboko, which was one of the last areas where communities were 

still living together, killing about 30 Banyamulenge civilians, including women and 

children, and causing mass displacement (see also para. 200). The Mai-Mai coalition 

also killed two Banyamulenge members of FARDC, including Major Kaminzobe, 

who was extracted from an FARDC convoy, lynched and burned in December 2021 

near Lweba, Fizi territory.171 

160. These attacks contributed to another cycle of retaliation and to the crisis spilling 

over, given that soon afterwards, Twirwaneho also moved into the area.  

161. Since March 2021, attacks against Banyamulenge villages also increased further 

north, in the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux of Uvira, particu larly around Kahololo and 

Rurambo, areas that had been relatively spared previously. 172  The attacks were 

conducted mainly by FABB, Mai-Mai Ilunga, Mai-Mai Kashumba and Mai-Mai 

Mushombe,173 sometimes operating jointly with Résistance pour un État de droit au 

Burundi (RED Tabara) (see para. 167). As a result, the area around Kahololo almost 

emptied of its population, 174  with fewer than 100 Banyamulenge remaining under 

MONUSCO protection.  

 

 

__________________ 

 164 See S/2021/560, para. 154 and annex 113. 

 165 See S/2021/560, annex 95. 

 166 Sources: civil society, researchers and local sources.  

 167 Sources: civil society, researchers, sources within FARDC and MONUSCO, and local sources.  

 168 Ibid. 

 169 See S/2021/560, paras. 127–130, 138–155 and annexes 98–108. 

 170 Sources: leadership of Mai-Mai groups and Gumino, as well as researchers, local authorities, 

civil society, and sources within FARDC and MONUSCO.  

 171 Ibid. 

 172 Ibid. 

 173 Mushombe was killed in January 2022. 

 174 Sources: civil society, researchers, FARDC, MONUSCO, and local authorities.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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 B. Incursions into the Democratic Republic of the Congo by members 

of the Burundi National Defence Force and Imbonerakure  
 

 

  Incursions into the Democratic Republic of the Congo by the Burundi National 

Defence Force and Imbonerakure members to attack RED Tabara  
 

162. Members of the Burundi National Defence Force (Force de défence nationale, 

FDN) and Imbonerakure continued to conduct incursions into Fizi and Uvira 

territories (see S/2020/1283, paras. 76–79), with a more permanent and significant 

presence from December 2021 onwards. FDN and Imbonerakure launched targeted 

operations against RED Tabara to prevent RED Tabara from conducting operations in 

Burundi.175 From December 2021 onwards, most armed clashes took place in Uvira 

territory, around Sange, where FDN established temporary positions and transit bases, 

including in Kabere, Mubere and Rukobero, west of Sange (see annex 79). 176 

163. FDN conducted incursions through the Ruzizi plain or across Lake Tanganyika, 

departing from the coastal town of Rumonge, Burundi. FDN and Imbonerakure were 

also regularly observed crossing the Ruzizi River when heading towards Bwegera and 

further south towards Sange and surroundings, in Uvira territory. For example, in the 

night of 2 to 3 March 2022, hundreds of members of FDN and Imbonerakure crossed 

the Ruzizi River in the vicinity of Rwenena. Early in the morning of 3 March, they 

were observed alongside Mai-Mai Kijangala combatants in Kabere (see annex 80 for 

a list of incursions).177 

164. FDN and Imbonerakure were assisted by Congolese armed groups that acted as 

scouts or joined in attacks against RED Tabara. Those groups, including Gumino, 

FPDC, Mai-Mai Kijangala and Mai-Mai Buhirwa, received material support from 

some FDN officers on several occasions for this collaboration. 178 

165. Since at least 2020, Gumino was in contact with some Burundian officials to 

prepare operations. 179  An FPDC leader reported, and other sources confirmed, 180 

FPDC being present in Bujumbura in 2020 at several coordination meetings, at which 

FPDC was requested to provide support in neutralizing RED Tabara. In early 2021, 

FPDC, Gumino and FDN conducted joint operations in the Democratic Republic of 

the Congo.181 While FPDC soon ceased to collaborate, the Group established that, at 

the time of drafting the present report, Gumino was still conducting joint operations 

with FDN and Imbonerakure.182  

166. Mai-Mai Kijangala and Mai-Mai Buhirwa were mainly used as scouts to 

facilitate entry into and orientation in the area for FDN and Imbonerakure. Mai-Mai 

Kijangala also occasionally participated in operations against RED Tabara. 183 FDN 

General Marius Ngendabanka and Colonel Niyonzima, alias Kazungu (see S/2015/19, 

__________________ 

 175 Sources: Mai-Mai, RED Tabara and Twirwaneho leadership and (ex-) combatants, FARDC 

sources, local sources, researchers, civil society. 

 176 Sources: Mai-Mai leadership and (ex-) combatants, civil society, researchers, and MONUSCO 

sources. 

 177 Sources: Local sources, civil society, FARDC, MONUSCO, and researchers.  

 178 Sources: Mai-Mai and Twirwaneho leadership and combatants, one Imbonerakure source, local 

sources and FARDC sources. 

 179 Sources: Forces des patriotes pour la défense du Congo (FPDC) and Twirwaneho leadership, 

local sources and MONUSCO sources.  

 180 Sources: researchers, armed group combatants and leadership, civil society and MONUSCO 

sources, photographic evidence. 

 181 Ibid. 

 182 Sources: Mai-Mai and Twirwaneho leadership, civil society, researchers, local sources, and 

sources within FARDC and MONUSCO. 

 183 Sources: Mai-Mai leadership and (ex-) combatants, civil society, researchers, MONUSCO 

sources, and photographic evidence. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2015/19
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para. 89, and footnote 20), were the main contact points for both Gumino and Mai -

Mai Kijangala.184 Several sources reported that from March 2022 onwards, Mai-Mai 

Kashumba and Mai-Mai Mushombe switched sides and started to collaborate with 

FDN and Imbonerakure.185 

167. At the time of drafting the present report, RED Tabara, which also operated 

alongside Mai-Mai groups when it clashed with FDN, Imbonerakure and their allies, 

had been pushed back towards Mwenga territory and Kipupu, Maniema Province, 

where it tried to reorganize (see annex 81). 

168. At the time of drafting the present report, the Government of the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo had not officially communicated about or reacted to FDN and  

Imbonerakure cross-border movements and operations (see also paras. 19 and 22). 

FARDC officers, however, complained about the lack of official notification or clear 

instructions from their superior officers regarding the FDN presence in their area of 

operations.186 The Government of Burundi, in response to a letter from the Group, 

rejected the allegations of an Imbonerakure and FDN presence on Congolese soil and 

emphasized that FDN rather defended the territorial integrity, independence and 

sovereignty of Burundi strictly within the country’s borders. The Group contacted 

both Governments and noted, inter alia, that these unnotified incursions constitute a 

violation of the sanctions regime under Security Council resolution 1807 (2008), 

paragraph 1, as renewed in paragraph 1 of resolution 2293 (2016) and paragraph 1 of 

resolution 2582 (2021). 

 

 

 C. Local and international support to armed groups operating in the 

Moyens and Hauts Plateaux of Mwenga, Fizi and Uvira territories 
 

 

169. In 2020 and 2021, Mai-Mai coalition group members, including FABB, Mai-

Mai Ebuela and Mai-Mai Yakutumba, as well as Twirwaneho and Gumino, received 

substantial financial support for their operations from outside the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo. Some also enjoyed well-organized local support from their 

communities within the country (see annex 82).  

 

 

 D. Armed groups’ involvement with gold  
 

 

170. In Fizi territory, Mai-Mai Yakutumba and CNPSC members (see para. 158 and 

S/2021/560, para. 139) worked alongside criminal networks of unregistered traders 

and profited from the illicit exploitation of, trade in and taxation o f gold during the 

reporting period. 

171. Mai-Mai Yakutumba controlled the Makungu, Kuwa and Mitondo gold mines 

located around Misisi town (see S/2021/560, para. 165). In December 2021, the armed 

group forced government authorities out of Mitondo mine and appointed a parallel 

administration to govern the mine.187 Mai-Mai Yakutumba combatants mined there 

and levied a weekly tax on the 120 to 150 diggers at the site, who produced between 

1 gram and 2 grams of gold per week each. 

172. Mai-Mai Yakutumba also controlled activities in other mines surrounding 

Mitondo with CNPSC members who controlled routes leading to mine sites in the 

Hauts Plateaux, including the Misisi-Uvira road. They also controlled large parts of 

__________________ 

 184 Sources: Twirwaneho and FPDC leadership, and local sources. 

 185 Sources: Mai-Mai leadership, FARDC and researchers.  

 186 Sources: FARDC officers, United Nations documents, researchers and civil society. 

 187 Sources: two local civil society actors, a Misisi-based assayer, South Kivu mining authorities.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1807(2008)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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the Misisi-Baraka road (see para. 159),188 which was used by smugglers working with 

them to transport gold from mines in and around Misisi (see S/2021/560, para. 165 

and annex 121).  

173. In addition, the three active mining cooperatives in Misisi, which bought from 

the mines controlled by Mai-Mai Yakutumba and its allies, continued to transport 

semi-processed gold from Misisi to Baraka, then Uvira and onwards to Bukavu (see 

S/2021/560, para. 169) but did not declare it to authorities. These cooperatives were 

the Coopérative minière de traitement des déchets (COMITRAID), Coopérative 

minière de Kimbi (COOMIKI) and Coopérative d’exploitation minière et de 

recyclage des régions aurifères (CEMIRERA). 

174. Upon arrival in Uvira and Baraka, some of the smuggled gold entered legal 

supply chains. This was done in two ways: through official declarations to the Service 

d’assistance et d’encadrement de l’exploitation minière artisanale et à petite échelle 

(SAEMAPE),189 by acquisition of a legal receipt for gold purchases (see annex 83), 

or through direct sale by smugglers190 to registered gold-buying houses in Baraka, 

Uvira and Bukavu, the latter of which were able to export the gold legally using 

ICGLR certificates (see S/2021/560, paras. 166–168).  

175. Although mines in and around Misisi produced an estimated 55 to 60 kg of gold 

annually,191 the majority of the gold was smuggled out of the Democratic Republic of 

the Congo through, among others, Bujumbura and Kigoma, United Republic of 

Tanzania.192 

176. Considering this situation, in August 2021, SAEMAPE undertook a risk analysis 

of the mining sector in Fizi, and found significant involvement of armed groups, 

criminal networks and FARDC. It also found that children were present at mine sites 

and that women were mining while pregnant (see annex 84). As part of reforms 

undertaken in the aftermath of the analysis, in November 2021, SAEMAPE introduced 

a new record-keeping system for the mining cooperatives in Misisi. Nonetheless, 

SAEMAPE recorded only 5.1 kg of gold produced between November 2021 and April 

2022 for Misisi cooperatives, the reason being that most of the gold was still being 

smuggled. 

177. In 2021, official gold exports for the whole of South Kivu were only 30.23 kg, 

which were exported to companies in Burundi, Rwanda and the United Arab Emirates 

(see annex 85). 

178. In the light of these supply chain challenges, the Group is of the view that Congo 

Gold Raffinerie (see S/2021/560, annex 125, and S/2020/482, para. 89), which 

planned to open in 2022 and buy gold from South Kivu, must undertake rigorous 

supply chain due diligence to ensure that it does not buy, refine or trade in gold that 

finances armed groups and/or criminal networks operating in South Kivu. Congo 

Gold Raffinerie informed the Group that it would source from “green” gold mines 

only,193 of which there were fewer than 30 in South Kivu at the time of drafting the 

present report (see annex 86).  

__________________ 

 188 Sources: one ANR source, three Uvira-based gold smugglers and one local resident.  

 189 See https://saemape.cd/. 

 190 Some of the smugglers were unregistered traders who had not renewed their annual membership.  

 191 Sources: South Kivu mining authorities, an official of the Direction générale des douanes et des 

accises, and one trader based in Misisi. 

 192 Sources: three gold smugglers based in Uvira, one ANR source, two customs officials, a Misisi -

Baraka gold transporter, one Tanzanian gold buyer and two Burundian gold buyers in Uvira.  

 193 “Green” mines are mines that have been checked by designated teams, in a process called 

“validation” (see S/2020/482, paras. 94 and 95). 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://saemape.cd/
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
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179. Dragline Sarl is a new joint venture between SAKIMA SA (registered in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo) and Dither Limited (registered in Rwanda). 

Dragline was created and registered in the Democratic Republic of the Congo on 

12 November 2021. Dragline has committed to setting up a refinery for “noble 

metals” that could help to establish more transparent gold supply chains.194 The Group 

contacted SAKIMA SA and Macefield Ventures Limited, the sole shareholder of 

Dither Limited, to request information on Dragline’s planned supply chain due 

diligence and use of ICGLR certificates. However,  Macefield responded that the 

project was on hold because the Government of the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo had recalled and cancelled the mining concessions covered by the joint venture 

(see annex 87). 

 

 

 VI. Tanganyika  
 

 

 A. Gold 
 

 

180. Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale and its allies, including Perci Moto Moto, Mai-Mai 

Kabeke, Mouvement 42, Mai-Mai Kisanola, Mai-Mai Cœur de lion and Mai-Mai 

Fimbo na Fimbo controlled at least six gold mines in Nyunzu territory and at least six 

in Kalemie territory (see annex 88), as previously reported (see S/2021/560, 

paras. 156–158).195 

181. The presence of Mai-Mai groups and criminal networks, including smugglers 

working with armed groups, 196  prevented the Congolese mining authorities from 

monitoring the supply chain197 from January 2019 onwards.198 The armed groups sold 

the gold to informal dealers in Kalemie through smugglers. 199 

182. By the end of 2021, the fact that armed groups controlled mine sites and that 

buying houses had lost their markets to smugglers had contributed to the closure of 

all but one buying house in Kalemie registered in the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo, namely Densahal Sarl.  

183. The last official gold export from Tanganyika was in January 2021, when 

Densahal exported 1,099.600 grams of gold worth $64,341 to AU Jewellery LLC in 

Dubai, United Arab Emirates (see annex 89).200 However, SAEMAPE records showed 

that official gold production in Kalemie territory was 3,016.2 grams for 2019 and 

zero grams for 2020 and 2021 (see annex 90).  

184. Densahal confirmed that the exported gold, sourced in December 2020 from 

Maibaridi sector, Kalemie territory, was its sole export to AU Jewellery (see annex 91).  

Although Maibaridi was a validated site at the time, Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale has taxed 

artisanal miners there since September 2020.201 Also, in the official declaration form 

__________________ 

 194 Dragline Sarl intends to mine and refine gold, among other minerals, including from South Kivu, 

according to documents reviewed by the Group. 

 195 Sources: mining police, ANR and civil society in Kalemie and Nyunzu territories.  
196 They included unregistered traders acting as middlemen for armed groups.  

 197 See Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ministry of Mines and Ministry of Finance, Manuel des 

procédures de traçabilité des produits miniers : de l’extraction à l’exportation – deuxième 

édition, April 2014. Available at: www.leganet.cd/Legislation/Droit%20economique/ 

Code%20Minier/Manueldesprocedures2014.pdf.  

 198 Sources: two Congolese mining officials, three unregistered traders, one mineral fraud officer.  

 199 Sources: mining police, ANR and civil society in Kalemie and Nyunzu territories. 

 200 Sources: export documentation and Tanganyika mining authorities. AU Jewellery LLC did not 

respond to the Group’s inquiry about the gold.  

 201 Sources: two Bendera-based traders, a mining police officer, and two mining officials in 

Kalemie. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.leganet.cd/Legislation/Droit%20economique/Code%20Minier/Manueldesprocedures2014.pdf
http://www.leganet.cd/Legislation/Droit%20economique/Code%20Minier/Manueldesprocedures2014.pdf
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it completed for the sourcing and sale of the gold, Densahal failed to state the name 

and location of the mine site. Densahal stated that its 2021 due diligence report had 

yet to be finalized. 

185. The Group’s investigations showed that four former Densahal traders bought 

gold from agents of Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale and its allies in Bendera town, Kalemie 

territory. After Densahal’s closure, all traders sold to clandestine buyers in Kalem ie 

and sometimes travelled to Uvira to sell to buyers from Burundi and the United 

Republic of Tanzania, as those paid in cash and offered higher prices. The four former 

Densahal traders stated that they saw no need to renew their annual subscription fee 

because they could still sell to smugglers.202 

186. The gold was smuggled out of the Democratic Republic of the Congo on private 

and public boats by the following routes: from the port of Kalemie to the ports of 

Kalundu, Kivovo and Kasenga/Olga House ports in Uvira, and from there onwards to 

Bujumbura and to Kigoma, United Republic of Tanzania. 203 The ports of Kalundu, 

Kivovo and Kasenga lacked basic anti-smuggling measures, as previously reported 

(see S/2021/560, paras. 174 and 175 and annex 129).  

187. Two Uvira-based gold smugglers sold gold to Emmanuel Samuel Imana, a 

Bujumbura-based gold trader mentioned in a previous report (see S/2020/482, 

para. 82). According to their statements, Imana had not asked for the origin of the 

gold. Both smugglers travelled to Kalemie or Misisi to buy gold, whenever there was 

a delay in the gold supply to Uvira.204 

188. In June 2021, in an effort to clean up the gold supply chain and combat the 

smuggling of gold from artisanal mining, SAEMAPE initiated a pilot project led by 

the Coopérative minière pour le développement intégral au Congo (CMDIC) at 

Mulolwa gold mine, Kalemie territory. However, the project was halted and moved 

to Toya, Moba territory (see annex 92), owing to attacks by Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale and 

its allies, which looted gold from artisanal miners and threatened government 

officials. 

 

 

 B. Coal 
 

 

189. In addition, Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale and its allies (see para. 180) have controlled 

coal mine sites in Nyunzu and Kalemie territories since January 2019. In particular, 

Mai-Mai Fimbo na Fimbo controlled abandoned artisanal coal mine sites in the 

villages of Mulange and Kabimba, south-west and north-west of Kalemie town.205 

190. Mai-Mai Fimbo na Fimbo controlled the two villages since a January 2019 

attack in which the armed group killed and displaced civilians, particularly in 

Mulange. It has since taxed varying quantities of coal from artisanal miners’ weekly 

production.206 

191. On 26 August 2020, the Tanganyika provincial mining authorities issued an 

export document to Ngandu Mining Sarlu, a company registered in the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo. According to the document, in January 2021, Ngandu 

exported 300 tons of coal to Bujumbura, as a sample (see annex 93). For that reason, 

__________________ 

 202 Sources: five unregistered traders and two mining officials.  

 203 Sources: one member of the mining police, one staff member of the National Commission on 

Mining Fraud (Commission nationale de lutte contre la fraude minière , CNLFM), and two 

artisanal miners in Bendera. 

 204 Two boat agents based at Kalundu Port confirmed that gold buyers travelled from Uvira to 

Bujumbura and Kigoma using their vessels.  

 205 Sources: three civil society members, and sources within MONUSCO, FARDC and ANR.  

 206 Coal is a vital to the processing of cement, as it is used in certain types of furnaces.  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
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the value of that shipment went undeclared. The coal had been mined at Kabimba. 

Ngandu informed the Group that the presence of armed groups did not hinder its 

activities, but that after the shipment to Bujumbura, Ngandu had halted operations 

pending further resources for investment. The Group wrote to the Burundian 

authorities to enquire about the coal but received no response.  

 

 

 VII. Attacks against humanitarian personnel in Ituri, 
North Kivu and South Kivu 
 

 

192. The Democratic Republic of the Congo remained one of the most dangerous 

countries for humanitarian actors during the reporting period. From January to 

October 2021, 260 security incidents directly affected humanitarian personnel and 

goods. Seven humanitarian personnel were killed, 26 injured and 23 kidnapped, with 

Ituri and North Kivu being the most affected areas. 207 Attacks against humanitarian 

personnel led to the suspension and sometimes closure of projects, thereby 

obstructing access to or the distribution of humanitarian assistance, a sanctionable act 

under paragraph 7 (f) of resolution 2293 (2016), as renewed in resolution 2582 (2021). 

193. Attacks against humanitarian personnel, a sanctionable act under paragraph 3 of 

resolution 2582 (2021), were variously motivated, including by a lack of local 

acceptance of humanitarian organizations, perceived bias, a desire to prevent the 

community perceived as the “enemy” from receiving assistance, financial gain, and a 

mistaken identification of humanitarian personnel with MONUSCO. As a result, the 

perpetrators had various profiles. The cases below exemplify some of the most serious 

attacks against humanitarian personnel perpetrated in 2021 and 2022.  

 

  Ituri 
 

194. On 28 October 2021, armed men, some wearing military fatigues, ambushed two 

vehicles clearly identified as belonging to Médecins sans frontières (MSF) in Boku, 

near Bambu, Djugu territory, and shot at the vehicles with the clear intent to kill. Two 

MSF personnel were seriously injured.208 The Group collected evidence indicating that 

the perpetrators belonged either to FARDC or to CODECO factions. The Group could 

not determine the identity of the perpetrators more precisely at the time of drafting the 

present report (see annex 94). The attack led to the closure of the MSF project, which 

was one of the few humanitarian projects in the area (see annex 95).209  

 

  North Kivu 
 

195. The area north of Goma was marked by a series of kidnappings or attempted 

kidnappings of humanitarian personnel following the attack on the World Food 

Programme (WFP) on 22 February 2021, in which the Ambassador of Italy, his 

bodyguard and one WFP member of staff were killed (see S/2021/560, paras. 75 

and 76). Kidnappers targeted expatriate personnel for lucrative purposes, within an 

__________________ 

 207 See Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and others, Aperçu des besoins 

humanitaires: République Démocratique du Congo – cycle de programme humanitaire 2022 , p. 9 

Available at: https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/files/  

documents/files/hno_2022_drc_20211224vf.pdf.   

 208 See Médecins sans frontières, “RDC: insécurité et impunité obligent MSF à fermer des projets 

essentiels à Nizi et Bambu”, 22 March 2022. Available at: https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-

insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu.   

 209 Sources: local authorities and residents, one researcher, civil soc iety and sources within the 

United Nations, ANR and FARDC. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/files/documents/files/hno_2022_drc_20211224vf.pdf
https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.humanitarianresponse.info/files/documents/files/hno_2022_drc_20211224vf.pdf
https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
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overall context of high numbers of kidnappings among the Congolese civilian 

population, including businessmen and children.210 

196. Six kidnappings or attempted kidnappings occurred on the Goma-Sake-Kingi 

and Goma-Kibumba-Rutshuru roads (see annex 96). Kidnappers carrying AK-type 

assault rifles, machetes and, in one case, a rocket-propelled grenade, operated in small 

groups of up to eight elements and used watchmen to monitor their targets’ 

movements. They systematically shot at vehicles that did not stop when ambushed . 

They also organized hostage-related logistics for the length of most detentions and, 

in some cases, used techniques showing military training. 211 

197. Evidence collected by the Group indicates the involvement of several criminal 

networks comprising, inter alia, former members armed groups. Several sources cited 

Ikiguhaye Mutaka, alias Aspirant, as being involved in the attack on WFP of 

22 February 2021 and in at least two other attacks. Aspirant is a reported ex-M23 

combatant who had already been convicted in 2015 for an attack against MSF. 212 

Bahati Antoine Kiboko, a reported ex-M23 combatant and a member of Aspirant’s 

group, was mentioned as being involved in two attacks targeted at humanitarian 

personnel.213  

198. Hostages were often taken to Virunga National Park during their detention. 

Several sources pointed out that it was impossible for anyone to operate in the Park 

without at least the tacit consent of FDLR-FOCA or some of its members, as the Park 

was controlled by that armed group (see paras. 73 and 74). 214  Sources further 

highlighted that all attacks occurred within a few hundred meters from FARDC 

positions.215  

199. All sources pointed to the impunity enjoyed by most of these criminal networks, 

although Congolese authorities did arrest several suspects, including Bahati, early in 

2022. 

 

  South Kivu 
 

200. In the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux, several attacks were aimed at preventing the 

“enemy” community from receiving assistance. For instance, on 24 November 2021, 

a WFP convoy was prevented from reaching the Banyamulenge population in 

Bibokoboko and forced to return to Baraka on the pretext that it was taking weapons 

to Twirwaneho. On 1 December, around the same area, a private truck also 

transporting food for Banyamulenge in Bibokoboko, was destroyed and four persons 

were killed (see also para. 159).216 

 

 

__________________ 

 210 Sources: civil society and United Nations sources, and one researcher.  

 211 Sources: one witness, one researcher, one local chief, civil society, and United Nations sources.  

 212 Sources: two witnesses, civil society, sources within ANR and the United Nations, one 

researcher. 

 213 Sources: three witnesses, civil society, sources within ANR, United Nations sources, one 

researcher, and video footage. Bahati was arrested in connection with the attack on World Food 

Programme (WFP) of 22 February, but some of the information suggests that he may have been 

detained on the day of the attack. 

 214 Sources: civil society, diplomatic and United Nations sources, one local chief, one researcher.  

 215 Sources: civil society, diplomatic and United Nation sources, CMC ex-combatant, one local 

chief. 

 216 Sources: civil society and United Nations sources.  
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 VIII. Recommendations 
 

 

201. The Group makes the recommendations set out below. 

 

  Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo  
 

202. The Group recommends that the Government of the Democratic Republic of the 

Congo:  

 (a) Implement the 2013 Nairobi Declarations or enter into a new phase of 

negotiations with M23 (see paras. 58 and 69);  

 (b) Strengthen the awareness and response capacities of FARDC, local 

populations and stakeholders with regard to the use of improvised explosive devices, 

including with support from the international community, as appropriate (see 

paras. 48–54);  

 (c) Conduct an audit of registered gold cooperatives in Baraka and gold 

buying houses in Uvira and Bukavu to ensure that the production and trading 

processes are legal and in line with the ICGLR Regional Certification Mechanism 

(see paras. 173, 174, 176 and 183);  

 (d) Introduce gold traceability in line with the ICGLR Regional Certification 

Mechanism at gold mines in Mambasa territory, including Muchacha (see paras. 147 

and 148);  

 (e) Take urgent action to prevent and condemn incitement to, and acts of, 

discrimination, hostility and violence in the Hauts and Moyens Plateaux of Mwenga, 

Uvira and Fizi territories, and in Irumu and Djugu territories (see paras. 30, 32, 87 –93, 

95, 105, 130–133, 138, 139, 152, 159 and 200);  

 (f) Initiate, coordinate and/or support mediation efforts, including with 

MONUSCO and relevant stakeholders’ support, as appropriate, to diffuse 

intercommunity tensions in the Hauts and Moyens Plateaux of Mwenga, Uvira and 

Fizi territories, and in Irumu and Djugu territories (see paras. 30,  32, 87–93, 95, 105, 

152, 159 and 200);  

 (g) Investigate and prosecute, as appropriate, in proceedings that fully 

guarantee fair trial rights: 

 (i) Individuals involved in the illegal trade in and smuggling of gold from 

Misisi, Fizi territory, and Bendera, Kalemie territory (see paras. 170–176 and 

180–187);  

 (ii) Criminal networks of some FARDC members present and involved at 

Muchacha gold mine in Mambasa territory (see paras. 143–147);  

 (iii) Individuals, including FARDC members, responsible for serious violations 

of human rights law and/or international humanitarian law, including conflict -

related sexual violence and use of children, in Djugu territory and in the Hauts 

and Moyens Plateaux of Mwenga, Uvira and Fizi territories (see paras. 87–100, 

105, 106, 130–139, 152 and 156–161);  

 (iv) Individuals responsible for attacks against humanitarian personnel (see 

paras. 192–200). 
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  Security Council 
 

203. The Group recommends that the Security Council:  

 (a) Urge, including in its next resolution on the sanctions regime concerning 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo, neighbouring States to comply with the 

obligation to notify the Committee in advance, any deployment of troops in the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo, including when such deployment follows  the 

conclusion of military cooperation agreements (see paras. 19–22 and 162–168); 

 (b) Request Member States to publish, on a yearly basis, complete production 

statistics, and complete and disaggregated statistics, on the import and export of 

natural resources, including gold, coltan and tourmaline (see paras. 75, 78, 79, 121 

and 147).  

 

  Security Council Committee established pursuant to resolution 1533 (2004) 

concerning the Democratic Republic of the Congo 
 

204. The Group recommends that the Security Council Committee established 

pursuant to resolution 1533 (2004) concerning the Democratic Republic of the Congo: 

 (a) Request the Secretariat to draft an implementation assistance notice for 

banks and financial institutions on the modalities and implications of measures 

regarding arms imposed by paragraph 5 of Security Council resolution 1807 (2008), 

as renewed in paragraph 1 of resolution 2293 (2016) and paragraph 1 of resolution 

2582 (2021) (see paras. 15–18);  

 (b) Urge all Member States, including ICGLR members, and regional and 

subregional organizations, to enhance information-sharing and joint action to 

investigate and combat regional criminal networks involved in the illegal exploitation 

of and trade in natural resources, including gold (see paras. 75, 78, 79, 121 and 147).  

 

  Governments of neighbouring States  
 

205. The Group recommends that Governments of States neighbouring the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo, including Rwanda and Uganda, prevent the cross-

border movement, and the recruitment in their respective territories, of M23 

combatants (see paras. 59 and 64–67). 

 

  Governments of States in the region  
 

206. The Group recommends that Governments of countries in the region:  

 (a) Reiterate the terms of the Peace, Security and Cooperation Framework for 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the Region signed in Addis Ababa in 2013 

and adopt concrete measures to reinforce cooperation to address the threats posed by 

M23 and other armed groups to regional peace, stability and security (see para. 58);  

 (b) Reinforce intelligence, law enforcement and judicial cooperation in order 

to identify and dismantle transnational networks and activities related to ADF, 

including recruitment, financing and attacks with improvised explosive devices (see 

paras. 35–42 and 48–57); 

 (c) Strengthen border security and allocate the resources necessary to prevent 

the passage of ADF recruits (see paras. 34–37). 

 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1533(2004)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1533(2004)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/1807(2008)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2582(2021)
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  United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic 

of the Congo 
 

207. The Group recommends that MONUSCO: 

 (a) Deploy troops and conduct patrols, in addition to ongoing deployment, to 

specific areas in the Hauts and Moyens Plateaux, particularly in Uvira and Fizi 

territories, to protect civilians (see paras. 152–161); 

 (b) Deploy a mission to document serious human rights law and/or 

international humanitarian law violations in the mining zones around Mongbwalu, 

Djugu territory (see paras. 105, 106 and 117–120). 

  



 
S/2022/479 

 

43/297 22-06591 

 

Annex/Annexe 1:  

Sources in support of each section of the report 

Sources à l’appui de chaque section du rapport 

 

Lack of notifications and military cooperation agreements 

The findings in this section are based on documentary evidence and/or photographic evidence provided by financial 

institutions, private banks, enterprises, private entities, NGOs, Member States, intelligence services, civil society 

members and researchers. The Group also conducted over 28 interviews with DRC armed and security forces officers, 

FARDC Generals, the DRC Ministry of Defence, the DRC Military House (“Maison Militaire”), MONUSCO, 

financial institutions, banks and intelligence services sources, researchers and diplomatic sources in the DRC and 

Uganda.  

Allied Democratic Forces 

The findings in this section are based on over 75 interviews with ex-combatants, former abductees, victims, 

witnesses, military and police officers, local authorities, civil society sources, researchers, United Nations sources, 

intelligence and diplomatic sources in the DRC, Uganda, Kenya and Rwanda. The Group also reviewed documentary 

and photographic evidence, and reviewed information and audios shared on social media, such as Facebook, 

WhatsApp and Telegram.  

Resurgence of the Movement du M23 and regional dynamics 

The findings in this section are based on over 59 interviews with M23 ex-combatants and combatants, M23 leaders, 

CMC leaders, civil society sources, local authorities, FARDC officers, ICCN, DRC and foreign Government 

officials, and MONUSCO sources. The Group also reviewed documentary and photographic evidence and aerial 

footage about the regrouping and rearmament of, and attacks launched by, M23/ARC.  

Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda-Forces combattantes abacunguzi 

The findings in this section are based on over 25 interviews including Member States, intelligence services, FDLR 

ex-combatants, CMC leaders, CMC ex-combatants, APCLS ex-combatants, FARDC officers, traditional leaders, 

local authorities, civil society, researchers and MONUSCO sources.  

Armed involvement and smuggling in tantalum and tourmaline in Masisi territory 

The findings in this section are based on over 26 interviews with mining, local and state authorities, mineral traders, 

smugglers, members of the private sector, witnesses, FARDC and police officers, ANR and CNLFM officials, civil 

society sources, researchers, United Nations and diplomatic sources in the DRC and Rwanda. The Group also 

reviewed documentary, video and photographic evidence, public and non-public mining statistics, and reviewed 

information and audios shared on WhatsApp. 

Factions of the Coopérative pour le développement du Congo - CODECO 

The findings in this section are based on over 105 interviews including CODECO leaders and ex-combatants, victims, 

witnesses, researchers, FARDC officers, local and state authorities, civil society, ANR and United Nations sources. 

The Group also reviewed documentary evidence, including 35 court case files of suspected or convicted CODECO 

combatants, photographic and audio evidence, and video footage.   

Zaïre 

The findings in this section are based on over 69 interviews with Zaïre leaders and ex-combatants, CODECO leaders 

and ex-combatants, witnesses, victims, local and state authorities, FARDC officers, researchers, civil society, ANR 

and MONUSCO sources. The Group also reviewed documentary evidence, including 15 court case files of suspected 

Zaïre combatants, photographic and audio evidence and video footage. 
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Coopérative pour le développement du Congo – CODECO factions’ and Zaïre’s financing and gold 

The findings in this section are based on over 42 interviews with mining, local and state authorities, mineral traders, 

members of the private sector, mining cooperatives, CODECO and Zaïre ex-combatants, witnesses, military officers, 

civil society sources, researchers, international organisations, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources in the DRC and 

Rwanda. The Group also reviewed documentary, video and photographic evidence, public and non-public mining 

statistics, and reviewed information and audios shared on WhatsApp. 

Force patriotique et intégrationniste du Congo 

The findings in this section are based on over 30 interviews with FPIC leaders and ex-combatants, local authorities, 

FARDC officers, researchers, MONUSCO and civil society sources. The Group also reviewed over 20 court case 

files of suspected FPIC combatants. 

Crimes against civilians by some members of the Armed Forces of the Democratic Republic of the Congo deployed 

in Djugu territory during the state of siege 

The findings in this section are based on over 82 interviews with victims, witnesses, local and state authorities, civil 

society, ANR, FARDC and United Nations sources, CODECO leaders and ex-combatants. The Group also reviewed 

documentary, photographic, audio and video evidence. 

Mai-Mai armed groups and some members of the Armed Forces of the Republic Democratic of the Congo at 

gold mines in Mambasa territory 

The findings in this section are based on over 65 interviews with mining, local and state authorities, gold diggers, 

wood cutters, mineral traders, members of the private sector, mining cooperatives, witnesses, military officers, civil 

society sources, researchers, international organisations, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources in the DRC and in 

Uganda. The Group also reviewed documentary, video and photographic evidence, public and non-public mining 

statistics, and reviewed information and audios shared on WhatsApp. 

Conflict in the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux of Mwenga, Fizi and Uvira territories, incursions into the 

Democratic Republic of the Congo by members of the Burundi National Defence Force and Imbonerakure, 

and local and international support to armed groups operating in the Moyens and Hauts Plateaux 

The findings in these sections are based on on over 61 interviews with local, political and state authorities, Biloze 

Bishambuke, FDBC, Gumino, Makanika and Mai-Mai leaders and/or combatants, members of the Banyamulenge, 

Bafuliiru, Bembe and Rega, communities, members of the private sector, witnesses, military officers, civil society 

sources, researchers, United Nations and diplomatic sources in the DRC. The Group also reviewed documentary, 

video and photographic evidence, company databases and documents, and reviewed information and audios shared 

on Facebook and WhatsApp. 

Armed groups’ involvement with gold 

The findings in this section are based on over 38 interviews with local, political and state authorities, members of the 

private sector, witnesses, military officers, civil society sources, researchers, gold smugglers, assayers, truck 

transporters, United Nations and diplomatic sources in the DRC and Rwanda. The Group also reviewed documentary, 

video and photographic evidence, company databases and documents, and reviewed information and audios shared 

on Facebook and WhatsApp. 

Tanganyika 

The findings in this section are based on over 27 interviews with the mining authorities, police officers, civil society 

sources, negociants, CNLFM officials, artisanal miners, gold smugglers, and United Nations sources. The Group also 

reviewed documentary, video and photographic evidence, company databases and documents, and reviewed 

information and audio files shared on Whatsapp. 
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Attacks against humanitarian personnel in Ituri, North Kivu and South Kivu 

The findings in this section are based on over 52 interviews with victims, witnesses, researchers, local and state 

authorities, ANR, FARDC, civil society, diplomatic and United Nations sources. The Group also reviewed 

documentary, photographic, audio and video evidence. 

 

 

Manquement à l’obligation de notification et accords de coopération militaire 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur des preuves documentaires et photographiques fournies par des 

institutions financières, des banques privées, des entreprises, des entités privées, des ONG, des États membres, des 

services de renseignement, des membres de la société civile et des chercheurs. Le Groupe a aussi conduit 28 

interviews avec des officiers des forces armées et de sécurité de la RDC, des généraux des FARDC, des sources du 

Ministère de la Défense, de la Maison Militaire de la RDC, de la MONUSCO, d’institutions financières, des banques 

et des services de renseignement, des chercheurs, et des sources diplomatiques de la RDC et de l’Ouganda. 

Forces démocratiques alliées (Allied Democratic Forces) 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 75 interviews avec des anciens combattants, des personnes 

ayant été enlevées, des victimes, des témoins, des officiers de l’armée et de la police, des autorités locales, des sources 

de la société civile, des chercheurs, des sources des Nations unies, et des sources des renseignements et diplomatiques 

de la DRC, de l’Ouganda, du Kenya et du Rwanda. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et 

photographiques, des informations et des enregistrements audios partagés sur les médias sociaux, comme Facebook, 

WhatsApp et Telegram. 

Résurgence du Mouvement du 23 mars et dynamiques régionales 

Les conclusions de cette section sur basées sur plus de 59 interviews avec des combattants et des anciens combattants 

du M23, des dirigeants du M23, des sources de la société civile, des autorités locales, des officiers des FARDC, et 

des sources de l’ICCN, du Gouvernement de la RDC et de Gouvernements étrangers, et de la MONUSCO. Le Groupe 

a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques et des images aériennes du regroupement, du réarmement 

et des attaques lancées par le M23/ARC.  

Forces démocratiques de libération du Rwanda-Forces combattantes abacunguzi 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 25 interviews, y compris des États membres, des services de 

renseignement, des anciens combattants des FDLR, des dirigeants du CMC, des anciens combattants du CMC, des 

anciens combattants de l’APCLS, des officiers des FARDC, des autorités coutumières et locales, des acteurs de la 

société civile, des chercheurs et des sources de la MONUSCO. 

Implication d’éléments armés et contrebande de tantale et tourmaline dans le territoire de Masisi 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 26 interviews avec des autorités minières, locales et étatiques, 

des négociants de minéraux, des membres du secteur privé, des témoins, des officiers des FARDC et de la police, 

des agents de l’ANR et de la CNLFM, des sources de la société civile, des chercheurs, des sources des Nations unies 

et diplomatiques de la RDC et du Rwanda. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, 

des vidéos, des statistiques minières publiques et non-publiques, et des informations et des enregistrements audios 

partagés sur WhatsApp. 

Factions de la Coopérative pour le développement du Congo – CODECO 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 105 interviews, y compris avec des dirigeants et des anciens 

combattants de CODECO, des victimes, des témoins, des chercheurs, des officiers des FARDC, les autorités locales 

et étatiques, et des sources de le société civile, de l’ANR et des Nations unies. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves 

documentaires, y compris 35 dossiers judiciaires de personnes suspectées d’être ou condamnées comme combattants 

de CODECO, des preuves photographiques, des vidéos et des séquences vidéo. 
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Zaïre 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 69 interviews avec des dirigeants et des anciens combattants 

de Zaïre, des dirigeants et des anciens combattants de CODECO, des témoins, des victimes, des autorités locales et 

étatiques, des officiers des FARDC, des chercheurs, et des sources de la société civile, de l’ANR et de la MONUSCO. 

Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires, y compris 15 dossiers judiciaires de personnes suspectées d’être 

ou condamnées comme combattants de Zaïre, des preuves photographiques, des enregistrements audios et des 

séquences vidéo. 

Factions de la Coopérative pour le développement du Congo – CODECO et Zaïre : or et financement 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 42 interviews avec des autorités minières, locales et étatiques, 

des négociants de minéraux, des membres du secteur privé, des coopératives minières, des anciens combattants de 

CODECO et de Zaïre, des témoins, des officiers de l’armée, ces sources de la société civile, des chercheurs, des 

sources d’organisations internationales et de la MONUSCO et des sources diplomatiques de la RDC et du Rwanda. 

Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, des vidéos, des statistiques minières publiques 

et non-publiques, et des informations et des enregistrements audios partagés sur WhatsApp. 

Force patriotique et intégrationniste du Congo 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 30 interviews avec des dirigeants et des anciens combattants 

de FPIC, des autorités locales, des officiers des FARDC, des chercheurs, et des sources de la société civile et de la 

MONUSCO. Le Groupe a aussi revu plus de 20 dossiers judiciaires de personnes suspectées d’être des combattants 

de FPIC. 

Crimes contre des civils commis par certains membres des Forces armées de la République du Congo déployés 

dans le territoire de Djugu pendant l’état de siège 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 82 interviews avec des victimes, des témoins, des autorités 

locales ou étatiques, et des sources de la société civile, de l’ANR, des FARDC et des Nations unies, et des dirigeants 

et des anciens combattants de CODECO. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, des 

enregistrements audios et des vidéos. 

Présence de groupes armés Maï-Maï et de certains membres des Forces armées de la République démocratique 

du Congo dans les mines d’or du territoire de Mambasa  

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 65 interviews avec des autorités minières, locales et étatiques, 

des creuseurs d’or, des bucherons, des négociants de minéraux, des membres du secteur privé, des coopératives 

minières, des témoins, des officiers militaires, des sources de la société civile, des chercheurs, des organisations 

internationales, des sources de la MONUSCO et des sources diplomatiques de la RDC et de l’Ouganda. Le Groupe 

a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, des vidéos, des statistiques minières publiques et non-

publiques, et des informations et audios partagés sur WhatsApp. 

Conflit dans les Moyens and Hauts-Plateaux des territoires de Mwenga, de Fizi et d’Uvira, incursions en 

République démocratique du Congo de membres de la Force nationale de Défense du Burundi et des 

Imbonerakure, et soutien local et international aux groupés armés opérant dans les Moyens and Hauts-

Plateaux de Mwenga, de Fizi et d’Uvira 

Les conclusions de ces sections sont basées sur plus de 61 interviews avec des autorités locales, politiques et étatiques, 

des dirigeants et/ou des combattants de Biloze Bishambuke, FDBC, Gumino, Makanika et Mai-Mai, de membres des 

communautés Banyamulenge, Bafuliiru, Bembe et Rega, des membres du secteur privé, des témoins, des officiers 

militaires, des sources de la société civile, des chercheurs, des sources des Nations unies et des sources diplomatiques 

de la RDC. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, des vidéos, des données et 

documents de sociétés, et des informations et des enregistrements audios partagés sur Facebook et WhatsApp. 
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Implication de groupes armés dans l’exploitation de l’or  

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 38 interviews avec des autorités locales, politiques et 

étatiques, des membres du secteur privé, des témoins, des officiers militaires, des sources de la société civile, des 

chercheurs, des contrebandiers d’or, des essayeurs, des transporteurs par camion, des sources des Nations unies et 

des sources de la RDC et de l’Ouganda. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et photographiques, des 

vidéos, des données et documents de sociétés, et des informations et des enregistrements audios partagés sur 

Facebook et WhatsApp. 

Tanganyika 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 27 interviews avec des autorités minières, des officiers de 

police, des sources de la société civile, des négociants, des officiels de la CNLFM, des mineurs artisanaux, des 

contrebandiers d’or, et des sources des Nations unies. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et 

photographiques, des vidéos, des données et documents de sociétés, et des informations et des enregistrements audios 

partagés sur WhatsApp. 

Attaques contre du personnel humanitaire en Ituri, au Nord-Kivu et au Sud-Kivu 

Les conclusions de cette section sont basées sur plus de 52 interviews avec des victimes, des témoins, des chercheurs, 

des autorités locales et étatiques, et des sources de l’ANR, des FARDC et de la société civile, des sources 

diplomatiques et des sources des Nations unies. Le Groupe a aussi revu des preuves documentaires et 

photographiques, des vidéos et des enregistrements audios. 
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Annex/Annexe 2: 

Additional information on the verdict in the case of the murders of Zaida Catalán and Michael J. Sharp 

Informations supplémentaires sur le verdict dans l’affaire des meurtres de Zaida Catalán et Michael J. Sharp 

In its 29 January 2022 verdict, the military court for the former province of Kasai Occidental convicted FARDC 

Colonel Jean de Dieu Mambweni for disobeying a standing order and failing to provide assistance to persons in 

danger and sentenced him to 10 years of imprisonment. The court also convicted 48 of the 54 accused, in person or 

in absentia, for criminal association - i.e. for belonging to the Kamuina Nsapu militia - 49 for the war crime of murder, 

28 for the war crime of mutilation, 48 for their participation in the activities of a terrorist group, and 45 for their 

participation in an insurrectional movement. The court sentenced 49 to death. Two other accused were acquitted and 

two underage accused referred to the juvenile court.  

 

Dans son verdict du 29 janvier 2022, la Cour militaire de la province de l’Ex-Kasaï Occidental a condamné le Colonel 

des FARDC Jean de Dieu Mambweni pour désobéissance aux ordres et non-assistance à personne en danger. Elle l’a 

condamné à 10 ans d’emprisonnement. Parmi les 54 accusés, la Cour en a aussi condamné 48, en personne ou par 

défaut, pour association criminelle – c’est-à-dire pour leur appartenance à la milice Kamuina Nsapu – 49 pour le 

crime de guerre de meurtre, 28 pour le crime de guerre de mutilation, 48 pour participation aux activités d’un groupe 

terroriste, et 45 pour participation à un mouvement insurrectionnel. La Cour a condamné 49 personnes à la peine de 

mort. Deux autres ont été acquittées et deux accusés mineurs ont été renvoyés à la cour des mineurs. 
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Annex/Annexe 3:  

Information on some transferred military materiel and training provided to the Congolese defence and 

security forces without prior notification to the Committee 

Informations sur certains matériels militaires transférés et sur des formations fournies aux forces de défense 

et de sécurité congolaises sans notification préalable au Comité 

•  Training provided to the DRC defence and security forces:  

 

1. Following a request for information, the Republic of Belarus informed the Group that during the 

period 2013-2016, the State-owned Foreign Trade Unitary Enterprise, Belspetsvneshtechnica, 

fulfilled a contract for a value of US$ 18,196,875 with the DRC Ministry of Defence to provide 

services for the training of pilots and technical staff of the DRC airforce. Training was supplied for 

pilots of Yak-52, L-39, Su-25 and AN-26 aircraft, and Mi-17 and Mi-24 helicopters, and technicians 

were trained to work on radio electronic and aviation equipment.  

 

Whereas shipments of military equipment supplied by Belspetsvneshtechnica were notified in advance 

to the Committee, the Republic of Belarus informed the Group that the Committee was not provided 

with notification with regards to the training, “as the training took place in Belarus” and since “no 

Belarusian specialists (…) were dispatched to the Democratic Republic of the Congo”.  

 

The Belarussian authorities requested clarification from the Group on the need for appropriate 

notifications in the event that representatives of the DRC receive services, advice or training related 

to military activities in Belarus. 

 

The Group thanks the Belarussian authorities for their reply and the information provided, and notes 

that pursuant to paragraph 5 of resolution 1807 (2008), as renewed by paragraphs 1 of resolutions 

2293 (2016) and 2582 (2021), all States shall notify in advance to the Committee any provision of 

assistance, advice or training related to military activities. Pursuant to paragraph 11 (b) of the 

Committee Guidelines,1 Member States have to notify to the Committee “prior to the commencement 

of military training of DRC military personnel”, thus also when this training takes place outside the 

DRC territory. 

 

2. The Group documented that several foreign consultancy firms, foreign NGOs and Governments have 

not only provided training, but also lethal and non-lethal equipment, to the ICCN eco-guards, without 

this training and/or assistance being notified to the Committee by the concerned States. The Group 

has contacted the concerned entities and States and will provide the information in due course.  

 

•  Non-lethal military material provided to the Congolese defence and security forces: 

 

1. The Group documented contracts concluded between the DRC Government and DRC national 

companies with regard to the supply of non-lethal military equipment. The equipment was imported 

from abroad without notification to the Committee.  

 

For example, in 2016, FLEX sarl (Kinshasa) concluded a contract for the total amount of US$ 

3,927,000.00 for 3,000 electrical anti-riot shields coming from South Africa. In 2020, a sample of the 

materiel, imported by FLEX sarl, arrived to Ndjili Airport, Kinshasa. Following a request for 

information, FLEX sarl provided all details of the shipment and informed the Group it was unaware 

that transfers of non-lethal equipment should be notified to the Committee by South Africa. It stated 

that it remained at the entire disposal of the Group for further information. 

 

The Group also documented that DRC enterprises JOGRASI (Kinshasa) and OSIRIS (Kinshasa) 

imported non-lethal equipment delivered to the DRC defence and security forces without these transfers 

__________________ 

1 Guidelines of the Committee for the conduct of its work as adopted by the Committee on 6 August 2010.  

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N08/288/63/PDF/N0828863.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N16/190/72/PDF/N1619072.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/sites/www.un.org.securitycouncil/files/1533_committee_guidelines.pdf
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being notified to the Committee by the concerned States. The Group did not receive any reply to its 

request for information from either company. 

 

2. Several foreign enterprises transferred non-lethal military equipment to the DRC. 

For example, following the signing of two contracts, in 2017 for the amount of US$ 2,097,000.00 and 

in 2021 for the amount of US$ 3,002,125.83 between Condor Non-lethal Technologies (CONDOR), a 

defense and security industry company based in Brazil, and the DRC Military House of the Ministry 

of Defense (Maison Militaire), non-lethal equipment, including rubber projectiles, tear gas explosive 

projectiles, tear gas charges, explosive grenades seven bang, non-lethal ammunition launchers, indoor 

stun grenades and tear gas solution, were transferred to the DRC (to Boma port and Ndjili airport) 

without notification by the Government of Brazil to the Committee. Following a request for 

information, CONDOR provided all details of the shipments and stressed its availability to provide 

any further clarification to better understand the export process to the DRC.  

The Group also received information regarding the supply by KATMERCILER, a Turkish enterprise, 

of vehicles to the DRC Ministry of Defence. The Group sought clarification as to the precise type of 

vehicles provided, but did not receive any reply to its request for information from either 

KATMERCILER or the Government of Turkey. 

Note: the information provided in this annex is illustrative and non-exhaustive. 

• Formation dispensée aux forces de défense et de sécurité de la RDC : 

1. À la suite d'une demande d'information, la République du Bélarus a informé le Groupe qu'au cours de 

la période 2013-2016, l'entreprise publique (State-owned Foreign Trade Unitary Enterprise) 

Belspetsvneshtechnica a exécuté un contrat d'une valeur de 18 196 875 dollars américains avec le 

Ministère de la Défense de la RDC pour fournir des services de formation des pilotes et du personnel 

technique de l'armée de l'air de la RDC. Une formation a été fournie aux pilotes d'avions Yak-52, L-

39, Su-25 et AN-26, et d'hélicoptères Mi-17 et Mi-24, et des techniciens ont été formés pour travailler 

sur des équipements radio-électroniques et aéronautiques.  

Alors que les expéditions de matériel militaire fourni par Belspetsvneshtechnica ont été notifiées à 

l'avance au Comité, la République du Bélarus a informé le Groupe que le Comité n'a pas reçu de 

notification concernant la formation « étant donné que la formation a eu lieu en Bélarus » et 

qu' « aucun spécialiste bélarussien … n'avait été envoyé en République démocratique du Congo ». 

Les autorités bélarussiennes ont demandé des éclaircissements au Groupe sur la nécessité de procéder 

à des notifications dans le cas où des représentants de la RDC recevraient des services, des conseils 

ou une formation en rapport avec des activités militaires en Bélarus. 

Le Groupe remercie les autorités bélarussiennes pour leur réponse et les informations fournies, et note 

que conformément au paragraphe 5 de la résolution 1807 (2008), tel que renouvelé par les paragraphes 

1 des résolutions 2293 (2016) et 2582 (2021), tous les États doivent notifier à l'avance au Comité toute 

fourniture d’assistance ou de services de conseil ou de formation ayant un rapport avec la conduite 

d’activités militaires. Conformément au paragraphe 11 (b) des Directives du Comité, les États 

membres doivent notifier au Comité « avant le début de la formation du personnel militaire de la 

RDC »2, donc également lorsque cette formation a lieu en dehors du territoire de la RDC. 

2. Le Groupe a établi que plusieurs sociétés de consultance étrangères, des ONG étrangères et des 

gouvernements ont non seulement fourni une formation, mais aussi des équipements létaux et non 

létaux, aux éco-gardes de l'ICCN, sans que cette formation et/ou cette assistance ne soient notifiées 

__________________ 

2 Directives régissant la conduit des travaux du Comité telles qu’adoptées par le Comité le 6 août 2010 . 

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N08/288/64/PDF/N0828864.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N16/190/72/PDF/N1619072.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/sites/www.un.org.securitycouncil/files/SC_document_files/1533_committee_guidelines_f.pdf
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au Comité par les États concernés. Le Groupe a pris contact avec les entités et les États concernés et 

fournira les informations en temps voulu. 

•  Matériel militaire non létal fourni aux forces de défense et de sécurité congolaises : 

1. Le Groupe a documenté l’existence de contrats conclus entre le gouvernement de la RDC et des 

entreprises nationales de la RDC concernant la fourniture d'équipements militaires non létaux. Ce 

matériel a été importé de l'étranger sans notification au Comité. 

Par exemple, en 2016, FLEX sarl (Kinshasa) a conclu un contrat d'un montant total de 3 927 000,00 

dollars américains pour 3 000 boucliers électriques anti-émeutes provenant d'Afrique du Sud. En 2020, 

un échantillon du matériel, importé par FLEX sarl, est arrivé à l'aéroport de Ndjili, Kinshasa. Suite à 

une demande d'information, FLEX sarl a fourni tous les détails de l'envoi et a informé le Groupe qu'elle 

ignorait que les transferts d'équipements non létaux devaient être notifiés au Comité par l'Afrique du 

Sud. Elle a déclaré qu'elle restait à l'entière disposition du Groupe pour de plus amples informations. 

Le Groupe a également documenté que les entreprises congolaises JOGRASI (Kinshasa) et OSIRIS 

(Kinshasa) ont importé des équipements non létaux livrés aux forces de défense et de sécurité de la 

RDC sans que ces transferts soient notifiés au Comité par les États concernés. Le Groupe n'a reçu 

aucune réponse à sa demande d'informations de la part de ces deux sociétés. 

2. Plusieurs entreprises étrangères ont transféré des équipements militaires non létaux à la RDC. 

Par exemple, suite à la signature de deux contrats, en 2017 pour un montant de 2 097 000,00 dollars 

américains et en 2021 pour un montant de 3 002 125,83 dollars américains entre Condor Non-lethal 

Technologies (CONDOR), une entreprise de l'industrie de la défense et de la sécurité basée au Brésil 

et la Maison Militaire du Ministère de la Défense de la RDC, des équipements non létaux, notamment 

des projectiles en caoutchouc, des projectiles explosifs à gaz lacrymogène, des charges de gaz 

lacrymogène, des grenades explosives « seven bang », des lanceurs de munitions non létales, des 

grenades assourdissantes et une solution de gaz lacrymogène, ont été transférés en RDC (au port de 

Boma et à l'aéroport de Ndjili) sans que le Gouvernement brésilien n'en ait informé le Comité. Suite à 

une demande d'information, CONDOR a fourni tous les détails des expéditions et a souligné sa 

disponibilité à fournir toute clarification supplémentaire afin de mieux comprendre le processus 

d'exportation vers la RDC. 

Le Groupe a également reçu des informations concernant la fourniture par KATMERCILER, une 

entreprise turque, de véhicules au Ministère de la Défense de la RDC. Le Groupe a cherché à obtenir 

des éclaircissements sur le type précis de véhicules fournis, mais n'a reçu aucune réponse à sa demande 

d'information, ni de la part de KATMERCILER ni du Gouvernement turc. 

Note : les informations fournies dans cette annexe sont illustratives et non exhaustives. 
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Annex/Annexe 4:  

Acquisition of military equipment labelled as “agricultural goods” 

Acquisition d'équipements militaires qualifiés de « produits agricoles » 

 

•  Information regarding payments to Ukroboronservice 

On 3 September 2018, Ukroboronservice, a Ukrainian State-run company, concluded a foreign trade contract with 

the DRC Ministry of Defense for the supply of military and dual use goods to the DRC, which was notified by 

Ukraine. Spare parts for automobile, armoured and artillery equipment were shipped in August 2019 and received 

by representatives of the DRC Ministry of Defence, the contracting party and end user, as confirmed by 

Ukroboronservice. Ukroboronservice informed the Group that it did not supply the DRC with military and dual-use 

goods under the guise of agricultural products. DRC banking documents, however, referred to the contract as 

“acquisition of agricultural equipment”.  

The following table, based on information received by the Group, shows the date of the request for payment sent to 

the Banque Centrale du Congo (BCC), the amount to be paid by BCC to Ukroboronservice, and the labelling of the 

requested payment: 

 

Date Amount Labelling of the requested payment  

(translation from French) 

24 June 2018 US$ 1,246,886.00 Acquisition of agricultural equipment 

 

•  Information regarding payments to Netwest Finance S.A. 

 

Between October 2012 and February 2015, Netwest Finance S.A., a company located in Belize, received the total 

amount of US$ 29,249,379.30 sent from an account at the Banque Centrale du Congo (BCC) to a bank account at a 

Congolese commercial bank3. While the payments related to contracts regarding military equipment purchased by 

the DRC Ministry of Defence, nine out of twelve transactions were labelled as “agricultural equipment”, as detailed 

in the table below.  

The Group notes that in several notifications submitted to the Committee by the Republic of Serbia regarding the 

export by the Serbian company “Mile Dragic Production Ltd” of military equipment to the DRC for the use of the 

DRC armed forces, the company Netwest Finance S.A. is referred to as either the “customer which shall deliver the 

goods to the end user”, as “the exporter” or as the intermediary supplier. The Group sent an official correspondence 

to the Director of Netwest Finance S.A., Aleksandar Vasic, but did not receive a reply to its information requests by 

time of drafting this report. 

  

__________________ 

3 The name of the Congolese bank has been omitted for source protection.  
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The following table, based on information received by the Group, shows the dates of the requests for payment sent 

to the BCC, the amounts to be paid by BCC to Netwest Finance, and the labelling of the requested payments: 

Date Amount Labelling of the requested payment (translation from French) 

31 October 2012 US$ 290,000.00 Payment in favour of Netwest Finance relating to the acquisition of 

agricultural equipment (first tranche) 

8 March 2013 US$ 1,662,000.00 Payment acquisitions of agricultural equipment 

3 September 2013 US$ 7,100,099.30 Payment of first tranche of the invoice relating to the acquisition of 

agricultural equipment 

7 November 2013 US$ 1,428,000.00 Payment of second tranche relating to the acquisition of agricultural 

equipment 

12 November 2013 US$ 3,000,000.00 Acquisition of agricultural equipment 

18 March 2014 US$ 3,000,000.00 Payment of a tranche of the invoice relating to the acquisition of 

agricultural equipment 

20 June 2014 US$ 3,000,000.00 Payment of a tranche of the invoice relating to the acquisition of 

agricultural equipment 

27 June 2014 US$ 3,500,000.00 Deposit contract no. 2//Let.CAB/MINFIN 

13 August 2014 US$ 1,800.000.99 Acquisition of agricultural equipment 

11 September 2014 US$ 270,280.00 Acquisition of spare parts 

26 February 2015 US$ 3,700,000.00 Payment transportation costs agricultural equipment 

27 February 2015 US$ 490,000.00 Covering urgent needs for Ministry of Defence and ex-combatants 

 $ 29,249,379.30 

(TOTAL) 

 

 

•  Information regarding payments to Mosston Engineering Ltd 

 

In March 2014, Mosston Engineering Ltd, a company registered in the Republic of Seychelles, received the total 

amount of US$ 2,700,000.00 from the DRC Government. While the banking documents referred to agricultural 

goods, the company supplied military materiel to FARDC. On 13 June, 20 June and 5 September 2014, Armenia 

submitted a notification on behalf of Mosston Engineering regarding the transfer of S-8KOM rockets to the DRC. 

The following table, based on information received by the Group, shows the dates of the requests for one specific 

payment sent to the BCC, the amounts to be paid by BCC to Mosston Engineering Ltd, and the labelling of the 

requested payments: 

Date Amount Labelling of the requested payment (translation from French) 

18 March 2014 US$ 2,700,000.00 Acquisition of agricultural equipment 

The Group notes that Mosston Engineering’s owner, Davit Galstyan, faces criminal charges in Armenia related to fraudulent 

weapons deals.  

Note: the information provided in this annex is illustrative and non-exhaustive. 
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• Informations concernant les paiements à Ukroboronservice 

 

Le 3 septembre 2018, Ukroboronservice, une entreprise publique ukrainienne, a conclu un contrat de commerce 

extérieur avec le Ministère de la Défense de la RDC pour la fourniture de biens militaires et à double usage à la RDC, 

qui a été notifié au Comité par l'Ukraine. Des pièces de rechange pour des équipements automobiles, blindés et 

d'artillerie ont été expédiées en août 2019 et reçues par des représentants du Ministère de la Défense de la RDC, la 

partie contractante et l'utilisateur final, comme l'a confirmé Ukroboronservice. Ukroboronservice a informé le Groupe 

qu'elle ne fournissait pas à la RDC de biens militaires et à double usage sous le couvert de produits agricoles. Toutefois, 

les documents bancaires de la RDC faisaient référence au contrat en tant qu’ « acquisition d'équipements agricoles ». 

Le tableau suivant, basé sur les informations reçues par le Groupe, montre la date de la demande de paiement envoyée 

à la Banque Centrale du Congo (BCC), le montant à payer par la BCC à Ukroboronservice, et la qualification donnée 

au paiement demandé : 

 

Date Montant (dollars 

américains) 

 

Qualification du paiement 

 

24 juin 2018  1 246 886,00  Acquisition d’équipements agricoles  

 

• Informations concernant les paiements à Netwest Finance S.A. 

 

Entre octobre 2012 et février 2015, Netwest Finance S.A., une société basée à Belize, a reçu le montant total de 

2924379,30 dollars américains envoyé depuis un compte à la Banque Centrale du Congo (BCC) vers un compte 

bancaire d'une banque commercial congolaise4. Alors que les paiements concernaient des contrats relatifs à des 

équipements militaires achetés par le ministère de la défense de la RDC, neuf des douze transactions étaient qualifiées 

comme « équipement agricole », comme le montre le tableau ci-dessous. 

 

Le Groupe note que dans plusieurs notifications soumises au Comité par la République de Serbie concernant 

l'exportation par la société serbe « Mile Dragic Production Ltd » de matériel militaire vers la RDC pour les forces 

armées de la RDC, la société Netwest Finance S.A. est désignée comme le « client qui doit livrer les marchandises à 

l'utilisateur final », comme « l'exportateur » ou comme le fournisseur intermédiaire. Le Groupe a envoyé une 

correspondance officielle au directeur de Netwest Finance S.A., Aleksandar Vasic, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse à 

ses demandes d'information au moment de la rédaction du présent rapport. 

 

Le tableau suivant, basé sur les informations reçues par le Groupe, montre les dates des demandes de paiement envoyées 

à la BCC, les montants à payer par la BCC à Netwest Finance, et la qualification donnée au paiement demandé : 

 

Date Montant (dollars 

américains) 

Qualification du paiement 

31 octobre 2012 290 000,00 Paiement en faveur de Netwest Finance relatif à l’acquisition 

d’équipements agricoles (première tranche) 

8 mars 2013 1 662 000,00 Paiement pour l’acquisition d’équipements agricoles 

3 septembre 2013 7 100 099,30 Paiement de la première tranche de la facture relative à l’acquisition 

d’équipements agricoles 

__________________ 

4 Le nom de la banque congolaise a été omis pour garantir la protection des sources.  
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7 novembre 2013 1 428 000,00 Paiement de la deuxième tranche de la facture à l’acquisition 

d’équipements agricoles 

12 novembre 2013 3 000 000,00 Acquisition d’équipements agricoles 

18 mars 2014 3 000 000,00 Paiement d’une tranche de la facture relative à l’acquisition 

d’équipements agricoles 

20 juin 2014  3 000 000,00 Paiement d’une tranche de la facture relative à l’acquisition 

d’équipements agricoles 

27 juin 2014 3 500 000,00 Acompte contrat no. 2//Let.CAB/MINFIN 

13 août 2014 1 800 000,99 Acquisition d’équipements agricoles 

11 septembre 2014 270 280,00 Acquisition de pièces détachées 

26 février 2015 3 700 000,00 Paiement des frais de transport des équipements agricoles 

27 février 2015 490 000,00 Couvrant des besoins urgents du Ministère de la Défense et des ex-

combattants   

 29 249 379,30 

(TOTAL) 

 

 

• Informations concernant les paiements à Mosston Engineering Ltd 

 

En mars 2014, Mosston Engineering Ltd, une société enregistrée dans la République des Seychelles, a reçu le montant 

total de 2 700 000,00 dollars américains du Gouvernement de la RDC. Alors que les documents bancaires faisaient 

référence à des produits agricoles, la société a fourni du matériel militaire aux FARDC. Les 13 juin, 20 juin et 5 

septembre 2014, l'Arménie a soumis une notification au nom de Mosston Engineering concernant le transfert de 

roquettes S-8KOM vers la RDC. 

 

Le tableau suivant, basé sur les informations reçues par le Groupe, montre les dates des demandes d'un paiement 

spécifique envoyées à la BCC, les montants à payer par la BCC à Mosston Engineering Ltd, et la qualification des 

paiements demandés: 

 

Date Montant (dollars 

américains) 

Qualification du paiement 

18 mars 2014 2 700 000,00 Acquisition d’équipements agricoles 

 

Le Groupe note que le propriétaire de Mosston Engineering, Davit Galstyan, fait l'objet de poursuites pénales en 

Arménie en rapport avec des contrats d'armement frauduleux. 

 

Note : les informations fournies dans cette annexe sont illustratives et non exhaustives. 



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 56/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 5: 

 

Pictures of identified ADF leaders involved in the expansion in south Ituri 

Photographies des dirigeants ADF identifiés comme impliqués dans l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri  

 

Photograph of Mzee Wa Kazi alias Lumisa or Lumwisa 

Photographie de Mzee Wa Kazi alias Lumisa ou Lumwisa 

 

 

 

In charge of Machine camp and main ADF commander responsible for the expansion in south Ituri  

Responsable du camp Machine et commandant principal des ADF responsable de l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri 

 

Photograph of Suleiman Zakaria alias Bonge La Chuma 

Photographie de Suleiman Zakaria alias Bonge La Chuma 

 

 
 

Supported Mzee Mayor in the recruitment of Hutus 

Appui de Mzee Mayor dans le recrutement des Hutus 
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Photograph of Boaz 

 

Photographie de Boaz 

 
 

ADF military commander supporting Mzee Mayor in operations during the expansion in south Ituri 

Commandant militaire des ADF soutenant Mzee Mayor dans les opérations lors de l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri 

 

 

Photographs from the Group’s archives and provided by security sources 

Photographies issues des archives du Groupe et fournies par des sources sécuritaires 



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 58/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 6: 

Map of ADF areas of operations 

Carte des zones d’opérations des ADF 

 

Red: attacks along RN4 (Luna-Komanda) 

Purple: attacks around Boga-Tchabi 

Green: attacks in Mambasa territory (mainly along Biakato-Mangina road) 

Blue: attacks around Mamove 

Orange: attacks along Beni-Butembo road 

Pink: attacks in Bashu chefferie 

Light green: attacks in Rwenzori sector 

Yellow: attacks in Watalinga chefferie 

Rouge : attaques le long de la RN4 (Luna-Komanda)  

Violet : attaques autour de Boga-Tchabi  

Vert : attaques dans le territoire de Mambasa (principalement le long de la route Biakato-Mangina)  

Bleu : attaques autour de Mamove  

Orange : attaques le long de la route Beni-Butembo  

Rose : attaques dans la chefferie de Bashu  

Vert clair : attaques dans le secteur de Rwenzori  

Jaune : attaques dans la chefferie de Watalinga  

 

Map provided to the Group by MONUSCO and annotated by the Group 

Carte fournie au Groupe par la MONUSCO et annotée par le Groupe  
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Annex/Annexe 7: 

ADF and Da’esh communication on the expansion in south Ituri  

Communication des ADF et de Daech sur l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri 

 

As mentioned in para. 27, Da’esh and ADF extensively communicated about the expansion in south Ituri, which 

illustrates the importance they both wanted to give to this new area of operations. 

ADF communication on the expansion in south Ituri  

The expansion in south Ituri prominently featured in ADF’s communications in their own radio channels as well as 

in photographs and videos privately circulated by its combatants (see annex 14 for more explanations on this 

phenomenon).  

The most noticeable were four beheading videos, all filmed in Ituri. Three were published in June 2021 and the fourth 

in August 2021, although some were most probably filmed before. Overall, these videos show more than 40 

executions of civilians and one FARDC member. Two of the videos feature Kenyan nationals as perpetrators, 

including Salim Mohamed Rashid (see annex 10). In the videos, Da’esh is referred to openly or through one of its 

slogans with some ADF combatants shouting “Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah)” and others responding by 

“Baqiya”. As mentioned in para. 45 and annex 14, this is clearly intended to project alignment with Da’esh and to 

encourage recruitment for external audiences. 

 The first video was released on 5 June 2021. Salim Mohamed Rashid, wearing a FARDC uniform, is seen beheading 

an FARDC soldier together with other combatants, including a child who is most probably younger than 10 years 

old carrying a machete. At the end of the video, the child is seen hitting the body of the FARDC soldier with his 

machete. Boaz,5 an important ADF commander who was particularly active in the expansion in south Ituri, was also 

recognized by several ADF ex-combatants. Salim Mohamed Rashid told the Group that the video was shot around 

February 2021 in Mambelenga, which was confirmed by two other ADF ex-combatants. He explained that he had 

become inspired to carry out the beheading from the many Da’esh videos he had seen, and that although he 

volunteered to do the beheading, he knew it was part of ADF’s strategy to attract international recruits, especially 

given his lighter appearance and his ability to speak both Arabic and English. In the video, Salim Mohamed Rashid 

proclaimed that the Islamic State had come to slaughter the infidels, also referring to “America”, “Kenya” and Felix 

“Tshisekedi”. He also declared that ADF had pledged allegiance to Da’esh leader and that they shall obey Da’esh’s 

leader.   

The other three videos show mass beheadings, including two videos with a dozen civilian men, tied up. Only one 

video shows a woman. The ADF combatants speaking in the videos notably mention the victims’ refusal to convert 

to Islam as a justification for the beheadings. According to an ADF ex-combatant, Boaz’s voice is also heard in one 

of the videos, and some of his men were recognized as having carried out the beheadings, which probably took place 

in June 2021 close to Machine camp. In the same video, a source identified Issa Mando, the ADF combatant who 

was killed during the June 2021 bombing in Beni (see para. 52). Among the three videos, children are present amongst 

ADF combatants and one woman is present in one video.  

Of interest as well are four videos released in August 2021 by ADF showing Hutu men encouraging other Hutus, 

including from Masisi and Rutshuru territories, to join ADF to unite forces and protect themselves. Interestingly, the 

videos, which were clearly part of ADF’s recruitment strategy of the Hutus in Ituri (see annex 8 below), were 

published at a time when most Hutu recruits had started fleeing ADF camps. They were probably filmed before their 

publication, as confirmed by an ADF ex-combatant who was present when at least one video was recorded.  

Da’esh communication on the expansion in south Ituri  

While in 2019 and 2020, out of more than 100 Da’esh communications claiming responsibility on behalf of the 

Islamic State Central Africa Province (ISCAP), only two were about attacks in Ituri, whereas in 2021, approximately 

50 focused on ADF activities in Ituri, including four videos and sets of over 120 pictures. As such, Da’esh’s media 

content related to ADF in 2021 and 2022 prominently featured Ituri (see annex 13 below on more information about 

__________________ 

5 See S/2021/560, annex 4.  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Da’esh communications) as the majority of the pictures and videos were taken in Ituri. This also shows the proactivity 

of ADF combatants in the area to showcase their progression, as well as possibly a better access to internet network.  

The pictures and videos mainly showed ADF attacks and allowed the Group to confirm or identify the presence of 

certain ADF commanders and combatants who participated in the expansion into south Ituri, such as Boaz but also 

Mzee Mayor, who is called over the radio by his nickname “Sebagara” by a combatant in one video. The pictures 

and videos also showed ADF combatants stopping to pray during an attack in Ofai in June 2021, as well as several 

FARDC members captured by ADF near their barracks.  

Of note is a picture published by Da’esh in August 2021 of an ADF combatant among a crowd of civilians, with the 

caption “Islamic State fighters call the Christians in the village of Mapipa to join Islam”. The ADF combatant was 

recognized by two ADF ex-combatants.  

 

 

Comme mentionné au paragraphe 27, Daech et les ADF ont largement communiqué sur l'expansion dans le sud de 

l'Ituri, ce qui illustre l'importance qu'ils souhaitaient tous deux accorder à cette nouvelle zone d'opérations.  

Communication des ADF sur l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri 

L'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri a occupé une place prépondérante dans les communications des ADF sur leurs 

propres chaînes de radio ainsi que dans les photographies et vidéos diffusées en privé par ses combattants (voir 

l'annexe 14 pour plus d'explications sur ce phénomène).  

Les plus remarquables sont quatre vidéos de décapitation, toutes filmées en Ituri. Trois ont été publiées en juin 2021 

et la quatrième en août 2021, bien que certaines des vidéos aient très probablement été filmés auparavant. Au total, 

ces vidéos montrent l’exécution de plus de 40 civils et d’un membre des FARDC. Deux des vidéos présentent des 

ressortissants kenyans, dont Salim Mohamed Rashid, comme auteurs (voir annexe 10). Dans les vidéos, Daech est 

mentionné ouvertement ou à travers l'un de ses slogans, certains combattants des ADF criant "Dawlah al Islam 

(Dawlah islamiyyah)" et d'autres répondant par "Baqiya". Comme mentionné au paragraphe 45 et à l’annexe 14, ces 

références visent clairement à projeter un alignement avec Daech et à encourager le recrutement auprès de publics 

externes.  

La première vidéo a été diffusée le 5 juin 2021. On y voit Salim Mohamed Rashid, vêtu d'un uniforme des FARDC, 

en train de décapiter un soldat des FARDC avec d'autres combattants, dont un enfant, très probablement de moins de 

10 ans, portant une machette. À la fin de la vidéo, on voit l'enfant frapper le corps du soldat FARDC avec sa machette. 

Boaz
6
, un important commandant des ADF, qui a été particulièrement actif dans l'expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri, a 

également été reconnu par plusieurs ex-combattants des ADF. Salim Mohamed Rashid a déclaré au Groupe que la 

vidéo avait été tournée vers février 2021 à Mambelenga, ce qui a été confirmé par deux autres ex-combattants des 

ADF. Il a expliqué que pour exécuter la décapitation il s’était inspiré des nombreuses vidéos de Daech qu'il avait 

vues, et que même s’il s'était porté volontaire pour l’exécuter, il savait que cela faisait partie de la stratégie des ADF 

pour attirer des recrues internationales, surtout compte tenu de son teint clair et de sa capacité à parler à la fois en 

arabe et en anglais. Dans la vidéo, Salim Mohamed Rashid a proclamé que l'État islamique était venu pour tuer les 

infidèles, faisant également référence à « l'Amérique », au « Kenya » et à Félix « Tshisekedi ». Il a également déclaré 

que les ADF avaient prêté allégeance au chef de Daech et qu'ils obéiraient au chef de Daech.  

Les trois autres vidéos montrent des décapitations de masse, dont deux vidéos présentant la décapitation d’une dizaine 

d'hommes civils, ligotés. Une seule vidéo montre une femme. Les combattants ADF s’exprimant dans ces vidéos 

évoquent notamment le refus des victimes de se convertir à l’islam comme justification des décapitations. Selon un 

ex-combattant ADF, on entend également la voix de Boaz dans l'une des vidéos, et certains de ses hommes ont été 

reconnus comme ayant exécuté les décapitations, qui ont probablement eu lieu en juin 2021 près du camp Machine. 

Dans la même vidéo, une source a identifié Issa Mando, le combattant ADF qui est mort lors de l'attentat à la bombe 

de juin 2021 à Beni (voir par. 52). Parmi les trois vidéos, des enfants sont présents parmi les combattants ADF et une 

femme est présente dans une vidéo.  

__________________ 

6 Voir S/2021/560, annexe 4. 

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement


 
S/2022/479 

 

61/297 22-06591 

 

Il convient également de noter quatre vidéos publiées en août 2021 par les ADF montrant des hommes hutus 

encourageant d'autres Hutus, notamment des territoires de Masisi et de Rutshuru, à rejoindre les ADF pour unir leurs 

forces et se protéger. Fait intéressant, ces vidéos, qui faisaient clairement partie de la stratégie de recrutement des 

Hutus en Ituri par les ADF (voir annexe 8 ci-dessous), ont été publiées à un moment où la plupart des recrues hutues 

avaient commencé à fuir les camps des ADF. Elles ont probablement été filmées avant leur publication, comme l'a 

confirmé un ex-combattant des ADF qui était présent lorsqu'au moins une des vidéos a été filmée. 

Daech communication sur l’expansion en Ituri 

Alors qu'en 2019 et 2020, sur plus de 100 communications de Daech revendiquant la responsabilité au nom de l'État 

islamique de la province d'Afrique centrale (ISCAP), seules deux concernaient des attaques en Ituri. Par contre, en 

2021, environ 50 portaient sur les activités des ADF en Ituri, y compris quatre vidéos et des ensembles de plus de 

120 photographies. Ainsi, le contenu médiatique de Daech lié aux ADF en 2021 et 2022 a mis en évidence l'Ituri 

(voir l'annexe 13 ci-dessous pour plus d'informations sur les communications de Daech) car la majorité des 

photographies et des vidéos ont été prises en Ituri. Cela montre également que les combattants ADF dans la zone ont 

été proactifs à mettre en valeur leur progression, ainsi que sans doute un meilleur accès au réseau internet. 

Les photographies et vidéos montraient principalement des attaques des ADF et ont permis au Groupe de confirmer 

ou d'identifier la présence de certains commandants et combattants des ADF qui ont participé à l'expansion dans le 

sud de l'Ituri, comme Boaz mais aussi Mzee Mayor, qui est appelé à la radio par son surnom « Sebagara », par un 

combattant, dans une vidéo. Les photographies et vidéos montraient également des combattants des ADF s'arrêtant 

pour prier lors d'une attaque à Ofai en juin 2021, ainsi que plusieurs membres des FARDC capturés par les ADF près 

de leur caserne. 

Il convient de noter une photographie publiée par Daech en août 2021 d'un combattant ADF parmi une foule de civils, 

avec la légende « Les combattants de l'État islamique appellent les chrétiens du village de Mapipa à rejoindre 

l'islam ». Le combattant ADF a été reconnu par deux ex-combattants ADF. 
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Screenshots of beheading videos published by ADF in June and August 2021 

Captures d'écran de vidéos de décapitation publiées par les ADF en juin et en août 2021 

 

 

Screenshot of first beheading video, released on 5 June 2021 by ADF 

On the left, ADF commander identified as Boaz and, in the middle, talking, Salim Mohamed Rashid. 

 

Capture d'écran de la première vidéo de décapitation, publiée le 5 juin 2021 par les ADF  

À gauche, commandant ADF identifié comme étant Boaz et, au milieu, Salim Mohamed Rashid. 

 

Video provided to the Group by civilian and security sources 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources civiles et sécuritaires 
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Screenshot of the third beheading video released by ADF on 26 June 2021. The man in the middle speaking was identified 

by two ADF ex-combatants as Osama, a Kenyan national, reportedly since dead.  

Capture d'écran de la troisième vidéo de décapitation publiée par les ADF le 26 juin 2021. L'homme parlant au 

milieu a été identifié par deux ex-combattants des ADF comme étant Oussama, un ressortissant kenyan, qui serait 

mort depuis.  

Video provided to the Group by civilian and security sources 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources civiles et sécuritaires 

 

 

Screenshot of the fourth beheading video released by ADF in August 2021.  

Capture d'écran de la quatrième vidéo de décapitation publiée par les ADF en août 2021. 

Video provided to the Group by Bridgeway Foundation 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par Bridgeway Foundation 
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Screenshot of one of the recruitment videos showing Hutu men encouraging other Hutus to join the ADF  

Capture d'écran d'une des vidéos de recrutement montrant des hommes Hutu encourageant d'autres 

Hutus à rejoindre les ADF 

 

 

Video provided to the Group by security sources 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 
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Photograph of ADF combatants praying during or after an attack in Ofai in June 2021 

Photographie de combattants ADF priant pendant ou après une attaque à Ofai en juin 2021 

 

Video provided to the Group by security sources 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 
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Photograph and statement released by Da’esh in August 2021 showing an ADF combatant sensitizing civilians 

around Mapipa, Ituri 

Photographie et déclaration publiées par Daech en août 2021 montrant un combattant ADF 

sensibilisant des civils près de Mapipa, Ituri 

 
Provided to the Group by security forces 

Fournie au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 
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Annex/Annexe 8:  

Recruitment and instrumentalization of inter-community tensions in southern Ituri 

Recrutement et instrumentalisation des tensions intercommunautaires dans le sud de l'Ituri  

As mentioned in para. 30, as part of its expansion in south Ituri, ADF manipulated existing inter-community tensions 

between members of the native communities in the area, notably the Nyali-Tchabi, and members of the Hutu 

community. According to an ADF ex-combatant who witnessed several conversations between Baluku and Mzee 

Mayor, since the beginning of the expansion in south Ituri, ADF had a clear strategy to instrumentalize these tensions 

to build alliances and conduct recruitment campaigns locally.  

According to this ADF ex-combatant, ADF organized an attack against the Hutus with the intention that the Nyali-

Tchabi, with whom they were already in contact, would be blamed for the attack, and then to approach the Hutus. 

The ADF ex-combatant who was present during the attack explained that assailants included ADF combatants, 

including Nyali recruits and scouts as well as timber harvesters (also known as “bombers”). This was confirmed by 

other ex-ADF combatants from the Hutu community who were subsequently recruited. They recognized in ADF 

camps some of these “bombers” present during attacks and/or were told by other ADF combatants that they had been 

involved in the attacks. The main attack took place on 8 September 2020 in Payi Payi.7  Following the attack, Mzee 

Mayor and Bonge la Chuma8 met with Hutu leaders to offer them protection in exchange for collaboration and 

recruits. This same ADF ex-combatant was also present when the first batch of recruits were brought early 2021 by 

Kamari, a Hutu who became the main recruiter and leader of the Hutus recruits in ADF camps (see annex 9).9  

According to several ADF ex-combatants, Hutu recruits were dispersed in several ADF camps or groups, but most 

were used in ADF attacks in the area, in particular in the simultaneous attacks in Boga and Tchabi during the night 

of 30 and 31 May 2021.10 More than 80 persons were killed during these attacks and the following attack during the 

week of 31 May 2021 in the same area. The victims were mostly members of the Hema and Nyali-Tchabi 

communities, including some prominent local members who were specifically targeted.11  

The recruitment of Hutu youth and their participation in attacks reinforced inter-community tensions, revived anti-

Hutu discourse and resulted in acts of inter-community violence, such as on 1 July 2021, when at least 11 Hutus, 

including children, were lynched to death by a mob in Komanda.12  According to two ADF ex-combatants, this 

prompted a retaliatory ADF attack in Komanda in September 2021 (see annex 13 on more information regarding 

Komanda attacks). Further, following the 30-31 May attacks, FRPI deployed combatants in the area, particularly in 

Bukiringi, on the pretext of fighting ADF and protecting their own community. They prevented Hutu IDPs from 

passing through the roadblocks they had erected.13 

This recruitment campaign was confirmed by several videos and propaganda material published by ADF in their 

internal channels as well as privately by ADF combatants (see annex 13). Kamari was notably seen in a video, dressed 

in a FARDC uniform and wearing a scarf around his head, addressing a crowd to encourage recruitments. Other 

videos featured Hutu recruits explaining the reasons for joining the ADF and encouraging others to join. One video, 

secretly filmed by a Hutu in a crowd near Boga in June 2021, also showed ADF combatants parading and singing 

before an attack, encouraging Hutus to join. An ADF ex-combatant told the Group that he was one of the combatants 

seen in the video carrying an Da’esh flag, and that 15 new recruits had joined ADF afterwards. Other ADF ex-

combatants, including Hutu recruits, also recognized the location of the video and several individuals in the crowd. 

__________________ 

7 See S/2020/1283, paras. 63-66. 
8 See S/2021/560, annex 20. See also annex 5 above.  
9 ADF ex-combatants, researchers, FARDC and MONUSCO sources.  
10 ADF ex-combatants, representatives of the Nyali-Tchabi community, researchers, religious, humanitarian, FARDC and 

MONUSCO sources. 
11 Idem.  
12 ADF ex-combatants, representatives of the Nyali-Tchabi and Hutu communities, FARDC, MONUSCO and local sources.   
13 Civil society, religious, FARDC and UN sources. One of these sources told the Group that he witnessed, in Bukiringi, a 

roadblock maned by an FRPI unit of about 30 armed combatants carrying AK-type assault rifles and commanded by two 

FRPI “colonels”. The source saw FRPI combatants checking the IDPs’ identity.  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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Many Hutu recruits were also recognized by ADF ex-combatants in a series of pictures of ADF combatants posing 

in their camps with weapons, received by the Group. 

Comme mentionné au paragraphe 30, dans le cadre de son expansion dans le sud de l'Ituri, l es ADF ont 

manipulé les tensions intercommunautaires existantes entre les membres des communautés autochtones de 

la région, notamment les Nyali-Tchabi, et les membres de la communauté Hutu. Selon un ex-combattant 

ADF qui a été témoin de plusieurs conversations entre Baluku et Mzee Mayor, depuis le début de l'expansion 

dans le sud de l'Ituri, les ADF avaient une stratégie claire pour instrumentaliser ces tensions afin de construire 

des alliances et mener des campagnes de recrutement localement.  

Selon cet ex-combattant, les ADF ont organisé une attaque contre les Hutus afin que les Nyali-Tchabi, avec 

qui ils étaient déjà en contact, soient accusés pour l'attaque, et que les ADF puissent ensuite se rapprocher des 

Hutus. L'ex-combattant ADF qui était présent lors de l'attaque a expliqué que les assaillants comprenaient 

des combattants ADF, y compris des recrues et des éclaireurs Nyali ainsi que des bûcherons (également 

appelés « bombers »). Cela a été confirmé par d'autres ex-combattants ADF de la communauté Hutu qui ont 

ensuite été recrutés. Ils ont en effet reconnu dans les camps ADF certains de ces « bomb ers » présents lors 

des attaques et/ou d'autres combattants ADF leur ont expliqué qu'ils avaient été impliqués dans les attaques. 

L'attaque principale a eu lieu le 8 septembre 2020 à Payi Payi 14. Après l'attaque, Mzee Mayor et Bonge la 

Chuma15 ont rencontré des dirigeants Hutus pour leur offrir une protection en échange d’une collaboration 

et de recrues. Ce même ex-combattant ADF était également présent lorsque le premier lot de recrues a été 

amené début 2021 par Kamari, un Hutu qui est devenu le principal recruteur et chef des recrues Hutu dans 

les camps ADF (voir annexe 9)16.  

Selon plusieurs ex-combattants ADF, les recrues Hutu étaient dispersées dans plusieurs camps ou groupes 

ADF, mais la plupart ont été utilisées lors des attaques ADF dans la zone, notamment lors des attaques 

simultanées à Boga et Tchabi dans la nuit du 30 au 31 mai 2021 17. Plus de 80 personnes ont été tuées lors de 

ces attaques et les suivantes qui ont eu lieu au cours de la semaine du 31 mai 2021 dans la même zone. Les 

victimes étaient pour la plupart des membres des communautés Hema et Nyali -Tchabi, y compris certains 

membres éminents de la localité qui ont été spécifiquement ciblés18.  

Le recrutement de jeunes Hutu et leur participation à des attaques ont renforcé les tensions 

intercommunautaires, ravivé les discours anti-Hutus et entraîné des actes de violence intercommunautaire, 

comme le 1er juillet 2021, lorsqu'au moins 11 Hutus, dont des enfants, ont été lynchés à mort par une foule à 

Komanda19. Selon deux ex-combattants des ADF, cela a provoqué une attaque de représailles des ADF à 

Komanda en septembre 2021 (voir l'annexe 13 pour plus d'informations sur les attaques de Komanda). De 

plus, suite aux attaques des 30 et 31 mai, les FRPI ont déployé des combattants dans la  zone, notamment à 

Bukiringi, sous prétexte de combattre les ADF et de protéger leur propre communauté. Ils ont empêché les 

déplacés Hutu de franchir les barrages routiers qu'ils avaient érigés 20.  

Cette campagne de recrutement a été confirmée par plusieurs vidéos et matériels de propagande publiés par 

les ADF dans leurs canaux internes ainsi qu'en privé par des combattants ADF (voir annexe 13). Kamari a 

notamment été vu dans une vidéo, vêtu d'un uniforme des FARDC et portant un foulard autour de la tête, 

s'adressant à une foule pour encourager les recrutements. D'autres vidéos présentaient des recrues Hutu 

expliquant les raisons de leur adhésion aux ADF et encourageant les autres à les rejoindre. Une vidéo, 

secrètement filmée par un Hutu dans une foule près de Boga en juin 2021, montrait également des 

__________________ 

14 Voir S/2020/1283, par. 63-66. 
15 Voir S/2021/560, annexe 20. Voir également, annexe 5 ci-dessus. 
16 Ex-combattants ADF, chercheurs, sources FARDC et MONUSCO. 
17 Ex-combattants ADF, représentants de la communauté Nyali-Tchabi, chercheurs, religieux, humanitaires, FARDC et sources 

MONUSCO. 
18 Idem. 
19 Ex-combattants ADF, représentants de la communauté Nyali-Tchabi et Hutu, FARDC et sources locales et de la MONUSCO.  
20 Sources de la société civile, sources religieuses, des FARDC et des Nations unies. L'une de ces sources a déclaré au Groupe a voir 

été témoin, à Bukiringi, d'un barrage tenu par une unité FRPI d'environ 30 combattants armés portant des fusils d'assaut de type 

AK et commandés par deux « colonels » FRPI. La source a vu des combattants FRPI vérifier l'identité des personnes déplacées.  

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/4042672.21689224.html
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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combattants des ADF défilant et chantant avant une attaque, encourageant les Hutus à les rejoindre. Un ex -

combattant des ADF a déclaré au Groupe qu'il était l'un des combattants vus dans la vidéo portant un dra peau 

de Daech et que 15 nouvelles recrues avaient rejoint les ADF par la suite. D'autres ex -combattants des ADF, 

dont des recrues Hutu, ont également reconnu l'emplacement de la vidéo et plusieurs individus dans la foule. 

De nombreuses recrues Hutu ont également été reconnues par des ex-combattants ADF sur une série de 

photographies reçues par le Groupe montrant des combattants ADF posant dans leurs camps avec des armes.  

 

Screenshot of the June 2021 video near Boga  

Capture d’écran de la vidéo de juin 2021 près de Boga 

 

 

Video provided to the Group by security sources 

Vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 
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Annex/Annexe 9: 

ADF’s main recruiter for Hutus in Ituri 

Le principal recruteur des Hutus pour les ADF en Ituri 

 

At least ten ADF ex-combatants interviewed by the Group referred to a certain “Kamari” (full name Kamari 

Sengihuva Pasi, also known as Tiger in ADF camps) as the main recruiter of Hutus for ADF in the first half of 2021. 

While many recruitments were voluntary, some ADF ex-combatants explained having been lured or even captured 

by Kamari.  

  

According to one ADF ex-combatant who was present during the negotiations with some Hutu leaders, Kamari had 

initially been designated to bring the recruits to ADF camps, but then started taking a more prominent role within the 

camps as the leader of the Hutu recruits. This was confirmed by several Hutu recruits and another ADF ex-combatant. 

An ADF ex-combatant also told the Group that Kamari was paid at first by ADF for his services, but after a few 

months they stopped paying and told him he had to do it for the cause. This triggered Kamari’s decision to leave 

ADF in July 2021. Kamari was followed by many of the Hutu recruits who were also deeply dissatisfied with their 

situation within ADF, according to ADF ex-combatants and local sources.  

 

According to several sources, Kamari and other Hutu ex-combatants were then used by FARDC as proxies to fight 

ADF around Boga-Tchabi (see para. 33).  

 

 

Au moins dix ex-combattants ADF interviewés par le Groupe ont cité un certain « Kamari » (nom complet 

Kamari Sengihuva Pasi, également connu sous le nom de Tiger dans les camps ADF) comme le principal 

recruteur de Hutus pour les ADF au cours du premier semestre 2021. Bien que de nombreux recrutements 

étaient volontaires, certains ex-combattants ADF ont expliqué avoir été leurrés, voire capturés par Kamari.  

 

Selon un ex-combattant des ADF qui était présent lors des négociations avec certains dirigeants Hutu, Kamari 

avait initialement été désigné pour amener les recrues dans les camps des ADF, mais a ensuite commencé à 

jouer un rôle plus important au sein des camps en tant que chef des recrues Hutu. Cela a été confirmé par 

plusieurs recrues Hutu et un autre ex-combattant des ADF. Un ex-combattant des ADF a également déclaré 

au Groupe que Kamari avait d'abord été payé par les ADF pour ses services, mais qu’après quelques mois, 

ils ont cessé de le payer et lui ont dit qu'il devait le faire pour la cause. Cela a déclenché la décision de 

Kamari de quitter les ADF en juillet 2021. Kamari a été suivi par une grande partie des recrues Hutu qui étaient 

également profondément mécontentes de leur situation au sein des ADF, selon des ex-combattants des ADF 

et des sources locales.  

 

Selon plusieurs sources, Kamari et d'autres ex-combattants Hutu ont ensuite été utilisés par les FARDC 

comme supplétifs pour combattre les ADF autour de Boga-Tchabi (voir par. 33). 
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First photograph, Kamari during a recruitment session for ADF before his escape.  

Second photograph, Kamari on the day of his surrender to FARDC on 16 July 2021 near Boga. 

 

Première photographie, Kamari lors d'une session de recrutement pour les ADF avant son évasion.  

Deuxième photographie, Kamari le jour de sa reddition aux FARDC le 16 juillet 2021 près de Boga. 

 

 

     
 

Provided to the Group by several sources 

 

Fournies au Groupe par plusieurs sources 
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ADF ex-combatants from the Hutu community on the day of their surrender on 16 July 2021 near Boga 

Ex-combattants des ADF de la communauté Hutu le jour de leur reddition le 16 juillet 2021 près de Boga 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Provided to the Group by several sources 

 

Fournies au Groupe par plusieurs sources 
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Annex/Annexe 10: 

Background information on Hytham S.A. Alfar and Salim Mohamed Rashid 

Informations générales sur Hytham S.A. Alfar et Salim Mohamed Rashid  

 

Hytham S.A. Alfar 

 

In September 2021, Hytham S. A. Alfar, a Jordanian national, was arrested near Butembo, Beni territory, after he 

had left the ADF camp of Mwalika. He is the first Middle Eastern national whose presence was confirmed by the 

Group in ADF camps.  

 

The Group interviewed him in January and February 2022, reviewed the documentation he was carrying at the time 

of his arrest and conducted further investigations into his background and presence in the DRC. 

  

Hytham S. A. Alfar told the Group that he extensively travelled in the past years, including to Australia where he 

lived for several years before being expelled for refusing to testify in court. He also travelled to Kosovo where he 

also lived for about a year, as well as to Brunei, Indonesia, Malaysia, Saudi Arabia, Tanzania and Turkey.21 The 

Group received information that he was in contact with Da’esh operatives in several of these countries but could not 

confirm it. Stamps from his passport notably show that for one of his trips to Turkey in March 2020, there are no exit 

stamps, raising questions as to how and when he left the country. The following stamp on his passport is from July 

2020 when he entered Kosovo, thus more than three months after he entered Turkey. In addition, Hytham S. A. Alfar 

shortly prior to his arrest had conducted internet searches on his phone to buy flights to travel to Libya.  

 

During his interview with the Group, Hytham S. A. Alfar admitted that he had been in contact with Da’esh individuals 

through social media, although he denied being a Da’esh member. He reported that he was contacted by a person on 

one of the social media groups used by Da’esh members in July 2021, when he was traveling in Tanzania, more 

precisely in the Lindi region, known to be a transit point for combatants trying to join ASWJ in Mozambique. Hytham 

S. A. Alfar further explained that this individual, whose identity is still unknown, encouraged him to travel to the 

DRC and support ADF through a sophisticated financial scheme involving gold and cryptocurrency, as well as 

businessmen and intermediaries in Europe, Asia and South Africa. However, at time of drafting, the Group could not 

confirm the veracity of the information provided by Hytham S. A. Alfar. Moreover, the technical details provided by 

Hytham S. A. Alfar regarding cryptocurrency and the extraction and selling of the gold were in large part inaccurate. 

While Hytham S. A. Alfar admitted that he saw in ADF and Da’esh, and this trip to ADF camps particularly, as a 

business opportunity and lucrative partnership, the Group could not establish the reasons for Hytham S. A. Alfar’s 

travel to ADF camps and the nature of his activities during the few weeks he spent with ADF.  

 

Nonetheless, Hytham S. A. Alfar appeared in a picture inside an ADF camp carrying a weapon. In addition, the 

Group was able to confirm that Hytham S. A. Alfar arrived in the ADF camp led by Abwkasi22 at the end of August 

2021,23 shortly after his arrival in the DRC through Kalemie, Tanganyika province, on 14 August 2021, Goma and 

Butembo. The Group also confirmed that Hytham S. A. Alfar was put in contact with Abwakasi by the person who 

had contacted him on social media, and they were thus communicating by telephone at least since his arrival in the 

DRC, but possibly already since Tanzania. The Group also confirmed that Meddie Nkalubo’s nickname on social 

media was found in the phone of Hytham S. A. Alfar.  

 

Hytham S. A. Alfar. also told the Group that he was dissatisfied with the living conditions in the camp and he had 

asked to leave the camp shortly after his arrival. This was confirmed by several ADF ex-combatants. 

  

__________________ 

21 The Group wrote to Australia, Kenya, Malaysia, Tanzania and Turkey to request further information.   
22 See S/2021/560, para. 25 and annexes 3, 4, 16 and 20. 
23 Hytham S. A. Alfar, two ex-ADF combatants, researchers, FARDC, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources.  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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En septembre 2021, Hytham S. A. Alfar, un ressortissant jordanien, a été arrêté près de Butembo, territoire 

de Beni, après avoir quitté le camp ADF de Mwalika. Il est le premie r ressortissant du Moyen-Orient dont 

la présence a été confirmée par le Groupe dans les camps des ADF.  

 

Le Groupe l'a interviewé en janvier et en février 2022, a examiné les documents qu'il portait au moment de 

son arrestation et a mené des enquêtes plus approfondies sur ses antécédents et sa présence en RDC.  

 

Hytham S. A. Alfar a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait beaucoup voyagé ces dernières années, notamment en 

Australie où il a vécu plusieurs années avant d'être expulsé pour avoir refusé de témoigner devant un tribunal. 

Il s'est également rendu au Kosovo où il a également vécu pendant environ un an, ainsi qu' à Brunei, en 

Indonésie, en Malaisie, en Arabie saoudite, en Tanzanie et en Turquie24. Le Groupe a reçu des informations 

selon lesquelles il était en contact avec des membres de Daech dans plusieurs de ces pays, mais n'a pas pu 

le confirmer. Son passeport montre notamment que pour l'un de ses voyages en Turquie en mars 2020, il 

existe un tampon d’entrée, mais pas de tampon de sortie, soulevant ainsi la question de savoir comment et quand 

il a quitté le pays. Le tampon suivant sur son passeport date de juillet 2020 lorsqu'il est entré au Kos ovo, 

donc plus de trois mois après son entrée en Turquie. De plus, Hytham S.A. Alfar avait fait des recherches sur 

Internet sur son téléphone, peu avant son arrestation, pour acheter des vols pour se rendre en Libye.  

 

Au cours de son entretien avec le Groupe, Hytham S. A. Alfar a reconnu avoir été en contact avec des 

individus de Daech par le biais des médias sociaux, bien qu'il ait nié être membre de Daech. Il a rapporté 

avoir été contacté par une personne par le biais de médias sociaux dans un des groupes utilisés par les 

membres de Daech en juillet 2021, alors qu'il voyageait en Tanzanie, plus précisément dans la région de 

Lindi, connue pour être un point de transit pour les combattants tentant de rejoindre l'ASWJ au Mozambique. 

Hytham S.A. Alfar a en outre expliqué que cet individu, dont l'identité est encore inconnue, l'a encouragé à 

se rendre en RDC et à soutenir les ADF à travers un stratagème financier sophistiqué impliquant de l'or et 

de la crypto-monnaie, ainsi que des hommes d'affaires et des intermédiaires en Europe, en Asie et en Afrique 

du Sud. Cependant, au moment de la rédaction du rapport, le Groupe n'avait pas pu confirmer la véracité des 

informations fournies par Hytham S. A. Alfar. De plus, les détails techniques fournis par Hytham S. A. A lfar 

concernant la crypto-monnaie et l'extraction et la vente de l'or étaient en grande partie inexacts. Alors que 

Hytham S. A. Alfar a admis qu'il voyait dans les ADF et Daech, et ce voyage dans les camps des ADF en 

particulier, une opportunité commerciale et un partenariat lucratif, le Groupe n'a pas pu établir les raisons 

du voyage de Hytham S. A. Alfar dans les camps des ADF et la nature de ses activités pendant les quelques 

semaines qu'il a passées avec les ADF.  

 

Néanmoins, Hytham S. A. Alfar est apparu sur une photo à l'intérieur d'un camp ADF portant une arme. Par 

ailleurs, le Groupe a pu confirmer que Hytham S. A. Alfar est arrivé dans le camp ADF dirigé par Abwkasi 25 

fin août 202126, peu après son arrivée en RDC via Kalemie, province du Tanganyika,  le 14 août 2021, puis 

par Goma et Butembo. Le Groupe a également confirmé que Hytham S. A. Alfar avait été mis en contact 

avec Abwakasi par la personne qui l'avait contacté sur les réseaux sociaux, et qu'ils communiquaient donc 

par téléphone au moins depuis son arrivée en RDC, mais peut-être déjà depuis la Tanzanie. Le Groupe a 

également confirmé que le surnom de Meddie Nkalubo sur les réseaux sociaux avait été retrouvé dans le 

téléphone de Hytham S. A. Alfar.  

 

Hytham S. A. Alfar. a également déclaré au Groupe qu'il n'était pas satisfait des conditions de vie dans le 

camp et qu'il avait demandé à quitter le camp peu après son arrivée. Cela a été confirmé par plusieurs ex -

combattants des ADF. 

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid 

 

In January 2022, Salim Mohamed Rashid, a Kenyan national who joined ADF camps in December 2020, was arrested 

near Mamove, Beni territory, by the DRC authorities.  He told the Group that he had arrived in the DRC with two or 

possibly three other Kenyan nationals who were looking to join the “true Islam”. They traveled through Uganda and 

__________________ 

24 Le Groupe a écrit à l'Australie, au Kenya, à la Malaisie, à la Tanzanie et à la Turquie pour demander des informations 

complémentaires. 
25 Voir S/2021/560 par. 25 et annexes 3, 4, 16 et 20. 
26 Hytham S. A. Alfar, deux ex-combattants ADF, chercheurs, FARDC, et sources de la MONUSCO et diplomatiques. 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Bunia, in Ituri, stopping in several transit houses, before reaching ADF camps near Mamove. This information was 

confirmed by DRC and foreign authorities.  

 

Prior to his arrival in the DRC, Salim Mohamed Rashid had been in touch with Da’esh recruiters and had tried to 

join them twice: the first time in 2016 when he had tried to travel from Turkey to Syria, but he was arrested and 

deported back to Kenya by the Turkish authorities, and a second time in 2019 when he had tried to reach Sudan. He 

was arrested at Mombasa airport as he was about to travel. Salim Mohamed Rashid admitted that after these failed 

attempts, he was still considering several options to join Da’esh, including by joining ASWJ in Mozambique, but 

then decided to go to the DRC, which he considered as the most feasible alternative. 

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid stated that one of his travel companions, Mahmoud Salim Mohamed, whom he met in prison 

in Kenya in 2017 after being deported from Turkey, was directly in touch with Meddie Nkalubo27 to organize their 

arrival in ADF camps from Kenya. As mentioned in para. 36, Meddie Nkalubo was particularly active recently on 

regional financial and recruitment activities for ADF, along with Abwakasi.28 

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid was identified in the ADF’s first-released beheading video published in June 2021, in which 

he beheaded an FARDC member while referring to the Islamic State (see annex 7). He also mentioned having 

participated in at least two attacks in southern Irumu, Ituri.  

 

However, according to Salim Mohamed Rashid, he and several other recruits, including his travel companions, were 

disappointed upon arrival in ADF camps, given the difficult conditions and due to some ideological divergence they 

had with ADF. Salim Mohamed Rashid further explained that when he expressed concerns about the latter, including 

directly to Musa Baluku, the ADF leadership ordered that he be imprisoned for several months. The Group was able 

to confirm this information with another ADF ex-combatant who saw him in an ADF “jail” in a camp near Mamove. 

He then fled the ADF camp in January 2022 after being released from prison and was arrested by the DRC authorities 

a few days later.  

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid  

 

En janvier 2022, Salim Mohamed Rashid, un ressortissant kenyan qui avait rejoint les camps des ADF en décembre 

2020, a été arrêté près de Mamove, territoire de Beni, par les autorités de la RDC. Il a dit au Groupe qu'il était arrivé 

en RDC avec deux ou peut-être trois autres ressortissants kenyans qui cherchaient à rejoindre le « vrai Islam ». Ils 

ont voyagé via l'Ouganda et Bunia, en Ituri, s'arrêtant dans plusieurs maisons de transit, avant de rejoindre les camps 

des ADF près de Mamove. Cette information a été confirmée par les autorités de la RDC et des autorités étrangères.  

 

Avant son arrivée en RDC, Salim Mohamed Rashid avait été en contact avec des recruteurs de Daech et avait tenté 

de les rejoindre à deux reprises : la première fois en 2016 lorsqu'il avait tenté de se rendre en Syrie depuis la Turquie, 

mais il avait été arrêté et expulsé vers le Kenya par les autorités turques, et une seconde fois en 2019 lorsqu'il tentait 

de rejoindre le Soudan. Il avait alors été arrêté à l'aéroport de Mombasa quand il s'apprêtait à voyager. Salim 

Mohamed Rashid a admis qu'après ces tentatives infructueuses, il envisageait encore plusieurs options pour rejoindre 

Daech, notamment en rejoignant l'ASWJ au Mozambique, mais il a ensuite décidé de se rendre en RDC, qu'il 

considérait comme l'alternative la plus faisable.  

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid a déclaré que l'un de ses compagnons de voyage, Mahmoud Salim Mohamed, qu'il avait 

rencontré en prison au Kenya en 2017 après avoir été expulsé de Turquie, était directement en contact avec Meddie 

Nkalubo29 pour organiser leur arrivée dans les camps des ADF depuis le Kenya. Comme mentionné au paragraphe 

36, Meddie Nkalubo a récemment été particulièrement actif concernant les activités régionales de financement et de 

recrutement des ADF, tout comme Abwakasi30. 

 

Salim Mohamed Rashid a été identifié dans la première vidéo de décapitation des ADF publiée en juin 2021, dans 

laquelle il a décapité un membre des FARDC en faisant référence à l'État islamique (voir annexe 7). Il a également 

mentionné avoir participé à au moins deux attaques dans le sud de l'Irumu, en Ituri.  

__________________ 

27  See S/2021/560, para. 23 and annexes 4, 14 and 20. 
28 ADF ex-combatants, FARDC, researchers, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources.  
29 Voir S/2021/560, par. 23 et annexes 4, 14 et 20. 
30 Ex-combattants ADF, FARDC, chercheurs et sources de la MONUSCO et diplomatiques. 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Cependant, selon Salim Mohamed Rashid, lui et plusieurs autres recrues, y compris ses compagnons de voyage, ont 

été déçus à leur arrivée dans les camps des ADF, compte tenu des conditions difficiles et en raison de certaines 

divergences idéologiques qu'ils avaient avec les ADF. Salim Mohamed Rashid a en outre expliqué que lorsqu'il a fait 

part de ses inquiétudes concernant ses divergences idéologiques, y compris directement à Musa Baluku, le 

commandement des ADF a ordonné qu'il soit emprisonné pendant plusieurs mois. Le Groupe a pu confirmer cette 

information auprès d'un autre ex-combattant ADF qui l'avait vu dans une « prison » ADF dans un camp près de 

Mamove. Il a ensuite fui le camp des ADF en janvier 2022 après avoir été libéré de prison et a été arrêté par les 

autorités de la RDC quelques jours plus tard. 

 

 

Copy of Hytham S.A. Alfar’s passport and entry visa stamp in the DRC on 14 August 2021 

Copie du passeport de Hytham S.A. Alfar et tampon de son visa d'entrée en RDC du 14 août 2021 

 

 
 

Provided to the Group by security sources 

Fourni au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 
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Photographs of Hytham S.A. Alfar in an ADF camp and shortly after his arrest on 18 September 2021 

Photographies de Hytham S.A. Alfar dans un camp des ADF et peu après son arrestation le 18 septembre 2021 

 

     
 

Provided to the Group by civilian and security sources 

Fourni au Groupe par des sources civiles et sécuritaires 
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Copy of Salim Mohamed Rashid’s Kenyan identity card 

Copie de la carte d’identité kenyane de Salim Mohamed Rashid 

 

 
 

Provided to the Group by security sources 

 

Fourni au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires 

Screenshot of the video published by ADF in June 2021 featuring Salim Mohamed Rashid (man in the middle 

with a machete)  

 

Capture d'écran de la vidéo publiée par ADF en juin 2021 montrant Salim Mohamed Rashid (homme au 

milieu avec une machette) 

 

 
 

Provided to the Group by civilian and security sources 

Fourni au Groupe par des sources civiles et sécuritaires 
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Annex/Annexe 11: 

Background and picture of Musa Kamusi  

Éléments de contexte et photographie de Musa Kamusi 

Musa Kamusi was arrested for being an ADF collaborator in Kasindi in January 2020. According to ADF ex-

combatants, FARDC members, researchers and MONUSCO sources, after his escape from Kangbayi prison in 

October 2020,31 Musa Kamusi assisted Amigo in the management of collaborator networks especially along Beni-

Kasindi. According to the same sources, he was also involved in the assassinations of and threats to several imams 

in Beni territory mid-2021.  

 

 

Musa Kamusi avait été arrêté en janvier 2020 en tant que collaborateur des ADF à Kasindi. Selon des ex-combattants 

des ADF, des membres des FARDC, des chercheurs et des sources de la MONUSCO, après son évasion de la prison 

de Kangbayi en octobre 202032 , Musa Kamusi a assisté Amigo dans la gestion des réseaux de collaborateurs 

notamment dans la zone de Beni-Kasindi. Selon les mêmes sources, il a également été impliqué dans les assassinats 

et les menaces à l’encontre de plusieurs imams dans le territoire de Beni mi-2021. 

 

 

 

 
 

Picture provided to the Group by security forces 

 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par des forces sécuritaires  

__________________ 

31 See S/2021/560, para. 28 and annex 19. 
32 Voir S/2021/560, par. 28 et annexe 19. 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Annex/Annexe 12: 

ADF’s repledge of allegiance 

Renouvellement du serment d’allégeance des ADF 

 

Following the death of Da’esh leader Abu Ibrahim Al-Qurayshi on 3 February 2022, ADF renewed its pledge of 

allegiance (bay’ah) to Da’esh’s new leader, Abu al-Hassan al-Hashimi al-Qurayshi, in March 2022. While the exact 

date of the pledge is unknown, but probably around 10 March, Da’esh first released pictures of the pledge renewal 

on 17 March 2022. The photoset was released by Da’esh together with the repledge of allegiance of ASWJ in 

Mozambique. On 1 April 2022, Da’esh then released an eight-minute video - from which Da’esh had extracted the 

pictures of two armed groups’ bay’ah, a few days before. The video however mainly features ADF.  

The video is a compilation of clips and pictures. Notably, Musa Baluku,33 wearing a scarf around his head, is seen in 

the middle of combatants pledging allegiance. At least two ADF camps are also featured, including Mwalika. ASWJ’s 

military leader, Ibn Omar, also appears among his combatants in a camp in Mozambique.  

The Group notes that on 8 February 2022, in an audio recording of a preaching by Musa Baluku circulated on ADF 

media channels, Musa Baluku had already named Abu al-Hassan al-Hashimi al-Qurayshi as the new Da’esh leader, 

more than a month before he was officially publicly named by Da’esh.34 

 

Après la mort du chef de Daech, Abu Ibrahim Al-Qurayshi le 3 février 2022, les ADF ont renouvelé leur serment 

d'allégeance (bay'ah) au nouveau chef de Daech, Abu al-Hassan al-Hashimi al-Qurayshi, en mars 2022. Bien que la 

date du serment soit inconnue, mais probablement vers le 10 mars, Daech a publié pour la première fois des 

photographies du renouvellement du serment d’allégeance le 17 mars 2022. La série de photos a été publiée par 

Daech avec le renouvellement du serment d’allégeance de l'ASWJ au Mozambique. Le 1er avril 2022, Daech a ensuite 

diffusé une vidéo de huit minutes - dont Daech avait extrait les images de la bay'ah de deux groupes armés publiés 

quelques jours auparavant. La vidéo montre cependant principalement les ADF.  

La vidéo est une compilation de clips et d'images. On y voit notamment Musa Baluku35, portant un foulard autour de 

la tête, au milieu de combattants prêtant allégeance. Au moins deux camps ADF y sont également présentés, dont 

celui de Mwalika. Le chef militaire d'ASWJ, Ibn Omar, y figure également parmi ses propres combattants dans un 

camp au Mozambique.  

Le Groupe note que le 8 février 2022, dans un enregistrement audio d'un sermon de Musa Baluku diffusé sur les 

chaînes médiatiques des ADF, Musa Baluku avait déjà fait référence à Abu al-Hassan al-Hashimi al-Qurayshi comme 

nouveau chef de Daech, plus d'un mois avnt qu’il ne soit officiellement nommé publiquement par Daech36. 

  

__________________ 

33 Identity confirmed by two ADF ex-combatants.  
34 Audio provided to the Group by Bridgeway Foundation.  
35 Identité confirmée par deux ex-combattants ADF. 
36 Audio fourni au Groupe par la Fondation Bridgeway. 
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Picture of ADF leader Musa Baluku’s repledge of allegiance 

Photographie du leader des ADF Musa Baluku lors du renouvellement du serment d’allégeance 

 

Picture of ASWJ leader Ibn Omar’s repledge of allegiance 

Photographie du leader ASWJ, Ibn Omar, lors du renouvellement du serment d’allégeance 

 

Provided to the Group by Bridgeway Foundation 

Fournis au Groupe par Bridgeway Foundation 
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Annex/Annexe 13: 

Analysis of recent Da’esh claims  

Analyse des récentes revendications de Daech 

Da’esh communications claiming responsibility on behalf of ISCAP for activities and attacks attributed to ADF 

became more numerous, timely and accurate since 2021. 37   This can notably indicate a strengthening of 

communication links between ADF and Da’esh, both eager to communicate about ADF activities and “successes”, 

which at the same time reinforces the impression of Da’esh’s strong foothold in Africa.   

The number of Da’esh communications, including pictures and videos, sharply increased since 2021, with more 

published claims in 2021 than in 2019 and 2020 altogether. Between 2019 and 2020, Da’esh issued over 110 

communications, while in 2021 and until 30 March 2022, Da’esh released about 170 communications relating to over 

150 incidents.  

In addition, while Da’esh had only released around 35 photos and two videos (including the pledge of allegiance) in 

2019 and in 2020, Da’esh published over 300 pictures and five videos in 2021 and 2022. As mentioned in annex 7, 

the majority of the pictures related to Ituri attacks around RN4 national road and Boga-Tchabi. In addition, more than 

90 pictures featured activities in unidentified camps, some of which showing Musa Baluku. 38  In addition to 

showcasing attacks, in 2021, Da’esh communications also largely displayed ADF members’ life in the camps, in 

particular around important Muslim holidays (see below), to promote ADF lifestyle, devotion to Islam and alignment 

with Da’esh. As mentioned in paras. 36-37, this propaganda aimed at encouraging recruitment among 

jihadist/radicalized circles, for recruits to believe that if they join ADF they would join true Islam and/or Da’esh. In 

the same vein, the pictures released for Eid al-Fitr in May 2021 and Eid al-Adha in July 2021, as well as the pictures 

and video of repledge in March 2022, were part of more global Da’esh media campaigns with other of its affiliates. 

Da’esh communications were also timelier than in 2020, as some of the claims were issued within hours of the 

beginning of the attacks, even before any local reports from civil society, FARDC, MONUSCO and/or the media.  

Finally, Da’esh communications in 2021 were more accurate than in 2019 and 2020, for which only 59% 

corresponded to confirmed incidents on the ground.39 In 2021, around 70% of their communications corresponded 

to actual incidents. Although inconsistencies still existed, particularly regarding locations and number and/or nature 

of casualties of attacks on the ground, some of the claims and especially the accompanying pictures often provided 

more details than found publicly. In some cases, this allowed to confirm that ADF had indeed conducted the attack, 

such as for a series of ADF attacks in Komanda and Makayanga in September 2021, which initially raised questions 

given contradictory reporting. Originally, FARDC had claimed that FPIC and ADF were allies but that only FPIC 

conducted the attacks. FPIC quickly denied the alliance and specified that on the contrary, they had intervened and 

clashed with ADF only after ADF had already attacked the area and FARDC had fled. In parallel, Da’esh claimed 

the attacks and also released pictures of ADF combatants on site,40 as well as of several dead men whom they referred 

to as “infidel Christian militia”, possibly FPIC combatants. ADF also released a video containing footage of the 

attack in Komanda.  

In December 2021 and beginning of 2022, the number of claims temporarily decreased, were delayed and/or 

presented more inconsistencies. For example, Da’esh only claimed the bombing attack of 25 December in Beni on 

10 January 2022. These disruptions might have been caused by the launch of FARDC-UPDF Shuja operations 

triggering ADF combatants to be more scattered and on the move.  

 

__________________ 

37 Analysis based on information provided by ADF ex-combatants, FARDC, MONUSCO and Bridgeway Foundation.  
38 Although his face was blurred or either covered, several ex-combatants recognised Baluku or confirmed their own presence 

during these events. 
39 See S/2020/1283, paras. 15-17 and annex 3. 
40 One of the ADF combatants was recognized by several ADF ex-combatants as Hamza, a young ADF commander. In 

addition, geolocation of several pictures was confirmed by MONUSCO.  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Les communications de Daech revendiquant au nom de l'ISCAP des activités et des attaques attribuées aux ADF sont 

devenues plus nombreuses, plus rapides et plus précises depuis 2021 41 . Cela peut notamment indiquer un 

renforcement des liens de communication entre les ADF et Daech, tous deux désireux de communiquer sur les 

activités et les « succès » des ADF, renforçant en même temps l'impression d'un fort ancrage de Daech en Afrique.  

In addition, while Daech had only released around 35 photos and two videos (including the pledge of allegiance) in 

2019 and in 2020, Daech published over 300 pictures and five videos in 2021 and 2022. As mentioned in annex 7, 

the majority of the pictures related to Ituri attacks around RN4 national road and Boga-Tchabi. In addition, more than 

90 pictures featured activities in unidentified camps, some of which showing Musa Baluku. 42  In addition to 

showcasing attacks, in 2021, Daech communications also largely displayed ADF members’ life in the camps, in 

particular around important Muslim holidays (see below), to promote ADF lifestyle, devotion to Islam and alignment 

with Daech. As mentioned in paras. 36-37, this propaganda aimed at encouraging recruitment among 

jihadist/radicalized circles, for recruits to believe that if they join ADF they would join true Islam and/or Daech. In 

the same vein, the pictures released for Eid al-Fitr in May 2021 and Eid al-Adha in July 2021, as well as the pictures 

and video of repledge in March 2022, were part of more global Daech media campaigns with other of its affiliates. 

Le nombre de communications de Daech, y compris des photographies et des vidéos, a fortement augmenté depuis 

2021, avec plus de revendications publiées en 2021 qu'en 2019 et 2020 combinées. Entre 2019 et 2020, Daech avait 

publié plus de 110 communications, tandis qu'en 2021 et jusqu'au 30 mars 2022, Daech a publié environ 170 

communications concernant plus de 150 incidents.  

En outre, alors que Daech n'avait publié qu'environ 35 photographies et deux vidéos (y compris le serment 

d'allégeance) en 2019 et en 2020, Daech a publié plus de 300 photographies et cinq vidéos en 2021 et 2022. Comme 

mentionné à l'annexe 7, la majorité des images sont liées aux attaques en Ituri autour de la route nationale RN4 et de 

Boga-Tchabi. En outre, plus de 90 photographies présentaient des activités dans des camps non identifiés, dont 

certaines montrant Musa Baluku43. En plus de montrer des attaques, en 2021, les communications de Daech ont 

également largement diffusé la vie des membres des ADF dans les camps, en particulier autour d'importantes fêtes 

musulmanes (voir ci-dessous), pour promouvoir le mode de vie des ADF, la dévotion à l'Islam et l'alignement avec 

l'EIIL. Comme mentionné aux paragraphes 36-37, cette propagande visait à encourager le recrutement dans les 

cercles djihadistes/radicalisés, pour que les recrues aient l’impression qu’en rejoignant les ADF, elles rejoindraient 

le véritable Islam et/ou Daech. Dans le même esprit, les photographies publiées pour l'Aïd al-Fitr en mai 2021 et 

l'Aïd al-Adha en juillet 2021, ainsi que les photographies et la vidéo de renouvellement de serment en mars 2022, 

faisaient partie de campagnes médiatiques plus globales de Daech avec d'autres de ses affiliés.  

La publication des communications de Daech a également été plus rapide qu'en 2020, certaines des revendications 

ayant été publiées quelques heures après le début des attaques, avant même tout rapport local de la société civile, des 

FARDC, de la MONUSCO et/ou des médias.  

Enfin, les communications de l'EIIL en 2021 ont été plus précises qu'en 2019 et 2020, pour lesquelles seulement 59 

% correspondaient à des incidents confirmés sur le terrain44. En 2021, environ 70 % de leurs communications 

correspondaient à des incidents réels. Bien que des incohérences ont persisté, en particulier concernant les lieux et le 

nombre et/ou la nature des victimes des attaques sur le terrain, certaines des revendications et en particulier les images 

qui les accompagnaient fournissaient souvent plus de détails que les informations disponibles publiquement. Dans 

certains cas, cela a permis de confirmer que les ADF avaient bien mené l'attaque, comme pour une série d'attaques 

des ADF à Komanda et Makayanga en septembre 2021, qui ont initialement soulevé des questions compte tenu de 

rapports contradictoires. À l'origine, les FARDC avaient affirmé que FPIC et les ADF étaient alliés mais que seul 

FPIC avait mené les attaques. FPIC a rapidement démenti l'alliance et a précisé qu'au contraire, ils n'étaient intervenus 

et n'avaient affronté les ADF qu'après que les ADF aient déjà attaqué la zone et que les FARDC aient fui. En parallèle, 

__________________ 

41 Analyse basée sur les informations fournies par des ex-combattants des ADF, les FARDC, la MONUSCO et Bridgeway Foundation.  
42 Although his face was blurred or either covered, several ex-combatants recognised Baluku or confirmed their own presence 

during these events. 
43  Bien que son visage soit flouté ou couvert, plusieurs ex-combattants ont reconnu Baluku ou ont confirmé leur propre 

présence lors de ces événements. 
44 Voir S/2020/1283, par. 15-17 et annexe 3. 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Daech a revendiqué les attaques et a également publié des photographies de combattants des ADF sur place45, ainsi 

que de plusieurs hommes morts qu'ils ont qualifiés de « milices chrétiennes infidèles », peut-être des combattants 

FPIC. Les ADF ont également publié une vidéo contenant des images de l'attaque à Komanda.  

En décembre 2021 et début 2022, le nombre de revendications a temporairement diminué, a été retardé et/ou a 

présenté plus d'incohérences. Par exemple, Daech n'a revendiqué l'attentat à la bombe du 25 décembre à Beni que le 

10 janvier 2022. Ces perturbations pourraient avoir été causées par le lancement des opérations Shuja des FARDC 

et des UPDF qui ont poussé les combattants ADF à être plus dispersés et en fuite. 

 

Pictures of Eid al-Fitr in May 2021 published by Da’esh 

Photographies de l’Aïd al-Fitr en mai 2021 publiées par Daech 

 

 

Musa Baluku preaching 

Prêche de Musa Baluku 

  

__________________ 

45 L'un des combattants ADF a été reconnu par plusieurs ex-combattants ADF comme étant Hamza, un jeune commandant 

ADF. De plus, la géolocalisation de plusieurs photographies a été confirmée par la MONUSCO.  
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ADF combatants sharing a meal 

Des combattants ADF partageant un repas 
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Picture of Eid al-Adha in July 2021 published by Da’esh 

Photographie de l’Aïd al-Adha en juillet 2021 publiée par Daech 

 

 

Video and photograph published by ADF and Da’esh on Komanda – Makayanga attacks in September 2021 

Vidéo et photographie publiées par les ADF et Daech sur les attaques de Komanda – Makayanga en septembre 2021 

 

Screenshot of a video published by ADF of Komanda’s attack in September 2021 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo publiée par les ADF sur l’attaque de Komanda en septembre 2021 
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Picture of Makayanga’s attack in September 2021 published by Da’esh. ADF commander Hamza was identified by 

ADF ex-combatants. 

Photographie de l'attaque de Makayanga en septembre 2021 publiée par Daech. Le commandant ADF Hamza a été 

identifié par des ex-combattants ADF. 

 

Video and pictures in this annex provided to the Group by security sources and Bridgeway Foundation 

Vidéo et photographies de cette annexe fournies au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires et Bridgeway Foundation 
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Annex/Annexe 14: 

ADF communication trying to project alignment with Da’esh 

Communication des ADF essayant de projeter un alignement avec Daech 

 

While in 2020, ADF released dozens of media outputs through its internal social media channels on Facebook, 

WhatsApp, Telegram, YouTube and on its own TV channel Mujahedeen TV (see S/2021/560, annex 20), in 2021 

ADF shut down its TV channel and reduced its number of publications. As in parallel, Da’esh sharply increased its 

communications, based on material sent by ADF, which could indicate an intent to centralise propaganda and 

communication related to ADF through Da’esh.   

In addition, the media directly released by ADF and/or sent to Da’esh for publication continued to try to project 

alignment with Da’esh, such as the beheading videos containing references to Da’esh by combatants featured in some 

of the videos (see annex 7), as well as the use of Da’esh logos or flags and of black kanzus by ADF combatants often 

seen in Da’esh propaganda (see below).  

It is worth noting however that in 2021, many pictures and some videos were sent privately by ADF combatants 

among themselves and their relatives, which were then circulated more widely. The Group received over 50 media 

outputs mainly featuring ADF combatants posing for the camera in their camps (see below) and of ADF attacks. This 

is in line with the trend that started around 2016 (see S/2021/560, para. 29 and annex 20), in which combatants had 

more freedom to own phones and film themselves. In some videos, several combatants are seen filming with their 

phones while conducting the attack. Several ex-combatants confirmed that this was intended for propaganda 

purposes, mainly for recruitment but also to instill terror among the population. According to two ADF ex-

combatants, during preaching Baluku encouraged combatants to take pictures and send them to their relatives.  

 

Alors qu'en 2020, les ADF ont publié des dizaines de produits médiatiques via leurs canaux de médias sociaux 

internes sur Facebook, WhatsApp, Telegram, YouTube et sur leur propre chaîne de télévision Mujahedeen TV (voir 

S/2021/560, annexe 20), en 2021, les ADF ont fermé leur chaîne de télévision et réduit le nombre de leurs 

publications. En parallèle, Daech a fortement augmenté ses communications sur la base de matériels envoyés par les 

ADF. Ceci pourrait indiquer une intention de centraliser la propagande et la communication concernant les ADF via 

Daech.  

En outre, les produits diffusés directement par les ADF et/ou envoyés à Daech pour publication ont continué à essayer 

de projeter un alignement sur Daech, comme certaines des vidéos de décapitation contenant des références à Daech 

par des combattants (voir annexe 7), ainsi que l'utilisation des logos ou des drapeaux de Daech mais aussi de kanzus 

noirs par les combattants ADF, souvent vus dans la propagande de Daech (voir ci-dessous).  

Il est à noter cependant qu'en 2021, de nombreuses photographies et quelques vidéos ont été envoyées en privé par 

les combattants ADF entre eux et à leurs proches, qui ont ensuite été diffusées plus largement. Le Groupe a reçu plus 

de 50 produits médiatiques mettant principalement en scène des combattants des ADF posant pour la caméra dans 

leurs camps (voir ci-dessous) et des attaques des ADF. Cela correspond à la tendance qui avait commencé vers 2016 

(voir S/2021/560, par. 29 et annexe 20), laissant aux combattants plus de liberté pour posséder des téléphones et se 

filmer. Dans certaines vidéos, on voit plusieurs combattants en train de filmer avec leurs téléphones tout en menant 

l'attaque. Plusieurs ex-combattants ont confirmé que cela était destiné à des fins de propagande, principalement pour 

le recrutement mais aussi pour semer la terreur parmi la population. Selon deux ex-combattants des ADF, lors de 

prêches, Baluku a encouragé les combattants à prendre des photographies et à les envoyer à leurs proches. 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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Pictures published by Da’esh in November 2021 and January 2022 

Photographies publiées par Daech en novembre 2021 et en janvier 2022 

ADF combatants posing in kanzus after an attack in Kakuka (Da’esh claim) in November 2021. The combatant in 

the middle holds a decapitated head (redacted). 

Des combattants ADF posant en kanzus après une attaque à Kakuka (revendication de Daech) en novembre 2021. 

Le combattant au milieu tient une tête décapitée (caviardée). 

  

Photographies publiées par Daech en novembre 2021 et en janvier 2022 
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ADF combatants during a military training. Picture published by Da’esh in January 2022. 

Combattants ADF lors d'un entraînement militaire. Photographie publiée par Daech en janvier 2022. 

 

Provided to the Group by security sources and Bridgeway Foundation 

Fournies au Groupe par des sources sécuritaires et Bridgeway Foundation 
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Examples of photographs of ADF combatants circulated privately 

Exemples de photographies de combattants ADF circulant de manière privée  

 

ADF combatant identified as Hamza  

Combattant ADF identifié comme Hamza 

 

ADF combatant identified by Mohamed Salim Rashid as the one filming the beheading video in which he appeared 

Combattant des ADF identifié par Mohamed Salim Rashid comme celui ayant filmé la vidéo de décapitation dans 

laquelle il est apparu 
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Photographs provided to the Group by ADF ex-combatants 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par des ex-combattants ADF 
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Annex/Annexe 15:  

IED blasts and discoveries in rural areas and booby-trapping of bodies 

Explosions et découvertes d’engins explosifs improvisés dans les zones rurales et piégeage de corps 

 

Improvised explosive devices (IEDs) continued to be laid in agricultural land in ADF operational zones, in particular 

to prevent civilians from approaching ADF camps, to force farmers and local communities to leave the contaminated 

area and/or to prevent farmers from harvesting (see S/2021/560, para. 21 and annex 12). IED threat in both rural and 

urban areas increased in ADF operational zones. MONUSCO documented a total of 29 IED victims (injured and 

killed) in 2021 compared with 39 IED victims (injured and killed) during the first three months of 2022.46  

MONUSCO also documented several cases of bodies of civilians being rigged with an IED (see S/2021/560, para. 

22 and annex 13). For example, on 6 February 2022 at Mukoko, Beni territory, a civilian on a motorcycle was shot 

in the head and his body was then booby-trapped with a rather rudimentary IED (small explosive charge, clothespin 

that served as a switch and 9V battery), as shown on the pictures below.47 

 

Des engins explosifs improvisés (EEI) ont continué à être posés sur des terres agricoles dans les zones opérationnelles 

des ADF, notamment pour empêcher les civils de s'approcher des camps des ADF, pour forcer les agriculteurs et les 

communautés locales à quitter la zone contaminée et/ou pour empêcher les agriculteurs de récolter (voir S/2021/560, 

par. 21 et annexe 12). La menace des engins explosifs improvisés dans les zones rurales et urbaines a augmenté dans 

les zones d'opération des ADF. La MONUSCO a recensé un total de 29 victimes d'engins explosifs improvisés 

(blessés et tués) en 2021, contre 39 victimes (blessés et tués) au cours des trois premiers mois de 202248.    

La MONUSCO a également documenté plusieurs cas de corps de civils piégés avec un EEI (voir S/2021/560, par. 

22 et annexe 13). Par exemple, le 6 février 2022 à Mukoko, dans le territoire de Beni, un civil à moto a reçu une balle 

dans la tête, puis son corps a été piégé avec un EEI assez rudimentaire (petite charge explosive, épingle à linge servant 

d'interrupteur et pile 9V), comme le montrent les photographies ci-dessous49. 

 

  

__________________ 

46 MONUSCO document, researchers and civil society sources. 
47 MONUSCO, FARDC and civil society sources. 
48 Document de la MONUSCO, chercheurs et sources de la société civile. 
49 MONUSCO, FARDC et sources de la société civile. 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Photographs provided to the Group by MONUSCO 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par la MONUSCO 
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Annex/Annexe 16:  

Use of IEDs and person-borne IEDs (PBIED)50 in Beni town late June 2021 

Utilisation d’engins explosifs improvisés et d’engins explosifs improvisés portés par une personne (PBIED)51 

dans la ville de Beni fin juin 2021 

 

Additional elements regarding the 26 June 2021 explosion of an IED placed on a tanker truck in Cité belge quarter, 

Beni town 

The following IED fragments were collected at the explosion site: pieces of an aluminum container, pieces of AK-

type assault rifles, metallic pipes and radio antennas.52  

Even though victim-operated triggering systems were still the most common IED firing system used by ADF during 

the reporting period, eyewitness accounts and the circumstances of this explosion seem to exclude that the IED was 

victim-operated (see also S/2021/560, para. 21). Rather, while the collected evidence was insufficient to draw solid 

conclusions regarding the precise firing system, it seemed possible that the IED explosion was activated by the ADF 

triggerman via a radio-controlled device or that a timer was used.53 

Da’esh did not claim this unsuccessful blast. 

Additional elements regarding the 27 June 2021 explosion in the Assumptionist Catholic Church in Mulekera, Beni 

town 

The following IED fragments were collected at the explosion site: pieces of an aluminum container, several types of 

batteries and components of a portable radio.54  

According to the Group’s information, none of the cleaners who were in the church when the IED exploded handled 

the device, which makes it unlikely that the explosion was accidentally triggered by them. 

Even though the collected evidence was also insufficient to draw solid conclusions regarding the precise firing 

system, it seemed possible that the IED explosion was activated by the ADF triggerman via a radio-controlled device 

or that a timer was used.55 

Additional elements regarding the 27 June 2021 explosion killing the IED installer 

In its claim (see annex 17), Da’esh named the killed ADF combatant as “Abu Khadija”. However, three ADF ex-

combatants and FARDC sources identified the IED installer as “Issa Mando”, a former FARDC soldier, who had 

volunteered to become a suicide bomber.56  

 

  

__________________ 

50 An IED worn, carried, or housed by a person, either willingly or unwillingly (UNM AS IED Lexicon). 
51 Un EEI porté, transporté ou gardé par une personne, de gré ou de force (UNMAS Lexique EEI).  
52 MONUSCO and UNMAS, ACOLAM, photographs obtained from FARDC and eyewitnesses.  
53 Idem. 
54 Idem. 
55 Idem. 
56 See also S/2021/560, para. 22 where the Group stated the following: “One detained ex-combatant described future ADF 

plans to acquire suicide-bombing technology (…)”.  

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
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Photograph of Issa Mando provided to the Group by an FARDC source 

 

The collected evidence was insufficient to draw definitive conclusions regarding the precise firing system used to 

activate the IED. As such, several hypotheses exist concerning the type of switch used in the IED construction: (1) 

radio-controlled suicide belt; (2) accidental pre-detonation of an explosive belt or small charge; or (3) accidental pre-

detonation of a radio-controlled IED.57 

The pre-detonation of the explosive charge or suicide belt could be due to, inter alia, (1) mishandling of a manual 

switch; (2) radio-controlled activation by a third-party; (3) accidental activation caused by the VHF radio carried by 

the bomber; or (4) programming error of a timer.58 

 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'explosion, le 26 juin 2021, d'un engin explosif improvisé placé sur un camion-

citerne dans le quartier de la Cité belge, à Beni 

Les fragments d'engins explosifs improvisés suivants ont été collectés sur le site de l'explosion : morceaux d'un 

conteneur en aluminium, morceaux de fusils d'assaut de type AK, tuyaux métalliques et antennes radio59. 

Même si les systèmes de déclenchement actionnés par la victime étaient encore le système de mise à feu de l'EEI le 

plus couramment utilisé par les ADF pendant la période considérée, les récits des témoins oculaires et les 

circonstances de cette explosion semblent exclure que l'EEI ait été actionné par la victime (voir également 

S/2021/560, par. 21). Au contraire, bien que les preuves recueillies soient insuffisantes pour tirer des conclusions 

solides concernant le système de mise à feu précis, il semble possible que l'explosion de l'EEI ait été activée par le 

poseur de l’EEI des ADF via un dispositif radiocommandé ou qu'une minuterie ait été utilisée60.  

Daech n'a pas revendiqué cette explosion infructueuse. 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'explosion du 27 juin 2021 dans l'église catholique assomptionniste de 

Mulekera, ville de Beni 

Les fragments d'engin explosif improvisé suivants ont été recueillis sur le lieu de l'explosion : des morceaux d'un 

conteneur en aluminium, plusieurs types de piles et des composants d'une radio portable61. 

Selon les informations du Groupe, aucun des nettoyeurs qui se trouvaient dans l'église au moment de l'explosion n'a 

manipulé l'engin, ce qui rend peu probable qu’ils aient déclenché accidentellement l'explosion62. 

__________________ 

57 Gregory Robin, Technical Advisor, UNOPS Peace and Security Cluster (New York). 
58 Idem. 
59 MONUSCO et UNMAS, ACOLAM, photographies reçues des FARDC et témoins oculaires. 
60 Idem. 
61 Idem. 
62 Idem. 

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
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Bien que les preuves recueillies soient également insuffisantes pour tirer des conclusions solides concernant le 

système de mise à feu préalable, il semble possible que l'explosion de l'EEI ait été activée par le poseur de l’EEI des 

ADF par le biais d'un dispositif radiocommandé ou qu'une minuterie ait été utilisée. 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'explosion du 27 juin 2021 qui a tué le poseur de l'EEI 

Dans sa revendication (voir annexe 17), Daech a nommé le combattant ADF tué comme étant « Abu Khadija ». 

Cependant, trois ex-combattants des ADF et des sources des FARDC ont identifié le poseur de l’EEI comme étant 

« Issa Mando », un ancien soldat des FARDC, qui s'était porté volontaire pour devenir kamikaze63. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographie de Issa Mando fournie au Group par une source des FARDC 

 

Les éléments de preuve recueillis étaient insuffisants pour tirer des conclusions définitives concernant le système de 

mise à feu précis utilisé pour activer l'EEI. Il existe, par contre, plusieurs hypothèses concernant le type de 

déclencheur utilisé dans la construction de l'EEI : (1) une ceinture d’explosifs radiocommandée ; (2) la pré-détonation 

accidentelle d'une ceinture d’explosifs ou d'une petite charge ; ou (3) la pré-détonation accidentelle d'un EEI 

radiocommandé64.  

La pré-détonation de la charge explosive ou de la ceinture d’explosifs peut être due, entre autres, (1) à une mauvaise 

manipulation d’un déclencheur manuel ; (2) à une activation radiocommandée par un tiers ; (3) à une activation 

accidentelle causée par la radio VHF portée par le poseur de bombe ; ou (4) à une erreur de programmation d'une 

minuterie65. 

  

__________________ 

63 Voir également S/2021/560, par. 22 où le Groupe a souligné qu’ « un ex-combattant détenu avait décrit les plans des ADF 

d’acquérir la technologie des attaques suicide dans le futur (…)  ». 
64 Gregory Robin, Conseiller technique, UNOPS Cluster Paix et Sécurité (New York).  
65 Idem. 

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
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Annex/Annexe 17:  

Da’esh claims of responsibility for the late June 2021 IED attacks in Beni town 

Revendications par Daech de la responsabilité des attentats à la bombe artisanale de fin juin 2021 dans la ville 

de Beni 

 

Da’esh claim of responsibility for the 27 June 2021 attack against a church in Beni town that same day 

Revendication par Daech de la responsabilité de l’attentat du 27 juin 2021 contre une église dans le ville de Beni 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“By the blessing of God, one of our squads was able to blast an IED inside a Christian church in Butsili 

neighborhood in Beni city. Two were killed and many were injured and the church was damaged, and thanks to 

God.”  

« Par la bénédiction de Dieu, une de nos escouades a pu faire sauter un engin explosif improvisé à l'intérieur d'une 

église chrétienne dans le quartier de Butsili dans la ville de Beni. Deux personnes ont été tuées et de nombreuses 

autres blessées et l'église a été endommagée, et ce grâce à Dieu. » 
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Da’esh claim of responsibility for the third IED attack two days after that attack, on 29 June 2021 

Revendication par Daech de la responsabilité pour le troisième attentat à la bombe artisanale deux jours plus tard, 

le 29 juin 2021 

 

“By the blessings of God, one of our martyr knights, our brother Abu Khadija may his soul be accepted by God, 

was able to explode a suicide belt to a Christians gathering close to a bar inside Mabakanga town in Beni city, 

which aimed to harm a number of them and to cause material damage to the place.” 

 

« Par la bénédiction de Dieu, un de nos chevaliers martyrs, notre frère Abu Khadija que son âme soit acceptée par Dieu, a 

pu faire exploser une ceinture de suicide à un rassemblement de chrétiens près d'un bar à Mabakanga dans la ville de Beni, 

ce qui visait à blesser nombres d'entre eux et à causer des dommages matériels à ce lieu. » 

 

Claims published by Da’esh and provided to the Group by security sources 

Translations by the Group 

Revendications publiées par Daech et fournies au Groupe par des sources de sécurité 

Traductions par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 18:  

Additional elements regarding the person-born IED (PBIED) attack in Beni town on 25 December 2021 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'attentat à l'engin explosif improvisé porté par une personne (PBIED) 

dans la ville de Beni le 25 décembre 2021 

 

Several MONUSCO and FARDC reports stated that the bomb carrier first attempted to enter the Ishango bar which 

was nearby and known to be frequented by staff of international NGOs and MONUSCO and Beni elites. However, 

this could not be confirmed by Ishango bar’s security guards and personnel present that night and interviewed by the 

Group.  

Among those killed were the bomb carrier, an FARDC captain and three children. 

The following IED fragments were collected at the explosion site: 5mm iron balls that increased the lethal blast 

effect, two 9V batteries, traces of commercial and military explosives, soldered and glued connections of wires and 

batteries, and a 12-litre leather bag containing the IED and that was carried by the bomber. An estimated 5kg of 

explosive material was used.66 

The evidence collected at the scene did not allow to draw solid conclusions on the precise construction of the IED. 

Still, according to IED expert assessments, “this IED, if we compare with any other IED found in the North Kivu/Ituri 

region in the last three years, was well built with soldering of metal wire components, use of hot glue to keep 

components stable, and a particularly strong HME possibly mixed with RDX based military explosives which would 

have served as a booster”.67 

The Group reviewed videos and pictures of the explosion itself and its aftermath, which show a powerful blast as 

well as chaos and fear among the customers of the bar Inbox and adjacent bars. 

 

Selon plusieurs rapports de la MONUSCO et des FARDC, le porteur de la bombe a d'abord tenté d'entrer dans le bar 

Ishango, situé à proximité et connu pour être fréquenté par le personnel des ONG internationales et de la MONUSCO 

et par les élites de Beni. Cependant, ceci n'a pas pu être confirmé par les gardes de sécurité et le personnel du bar 

Ishango présents cette nuit-là et interrogés par le Groupe. 

Parmi les personnes tuées figurent le porteur de la bombe, un capitaine des FARDC et trois enfants. 

Les fragments d'engin explosif improvisé suivants ont été collectés sur le site de l'explosion : des billes de fer de 5 

mm qui ont amplifié l'effet de la bombe, deux piles de 9V, des traces d'explosifs commerciaux et militaires, des 

connexions soudées et collées de fils et de piles, et un sac en cuir de 12 litres contenant l'EEI et qui était porté par le 

poseur de bombe. La quantité de matière explosive utilisée est estimée à 5 kg68. 

Les preuves recueillies sur les lieux n'ont pas permis de tirer des conclusions solides sur la construction précise de 

l'engin explosif improvisé. Néanmoins, selon les évaluations des experts en EEI, « cet engin, si on le compare à tous 

les autres engins explosifs improvisés trouvés dans la région du Nord-Kivu/Ituri au cours des trois dernières années, 

a été bien construit avec des composants en fil métallique soudés, en utilisant de la colle chaude pour maintenir les 

composants stables, et un HME particulièrement puissant, probablement mélangé à des explosifs militaires à base de 

RDX qui auraient servi d’amplificateur » 69. 

Le Groupe a examiné les vidéos et les photographies de l'explosion elle-même et de ses suites, qui montrent une 

explosion puissante ainsi que le chaos et la peur parmi les clients du bar Inbox et des bars adjacents. 

__________________ 

66 MONUSCO, FARDC and intelligence sources. 
67 MONUSCO report. Confirmed by FARDC and intelligence sources.  
68 MONUSCO, FARDC et sources des renseignements.  
69 Rapport de la MONUSCO, confirmé par des sources des FARDC et des renseignements.  
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Photographs of the terrace of Inbox bar immediately after the explosion  

Received from a civilian in Beni on 25 December 2021 

 

Photographies de la terrasse du bar Inbox immédiatement après l’explosion 

Reçues d’un civil à Béni le 25 décembre 2021 
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Annex/Annexe 19:  

Da’esh claim of the 25 December 2021 explosion in Beni town published on 10 January 2022 on the website of 

Amaq 

Revendication par Daech de l’explosion du 25 décembre 2021 dans la ville de Beni publiée le 10 janvier 2022 

sur le site web d’Amaq 

 

 

"Murder and Injury of 27 Christians, Including Officers and Two Government Officials, During Martyrdom in Congo 

City of Beni" (article title) 

“Congo - Beni - Amaq Agency: Around 27 Christians were killed and injured, including officers and two government 

officials, when an explosion hit a bar for them in the town of Beni, in eastern Congo. 

Security sources told Amaq News Agency that an ISIS fighter managed to reach a bar for Christians on Saturday, 25 

December, in central Beni at the height of the celebration of their annual festivities. 

The sources revealed that the martyr "Bayan al-Uganda," after arriving at the scene, detonated his explosive belt 

among the Christians, killing 7 people, including officers, and injuring about 20 others, including two Congolese 

government officials.” 
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« Meurtres et blessures de 27 chrétiens, dont des officiers et deux fonctionnaires du gouvernement, lors du martyre 

dans la ville congolaise de Beni » (titre de l'article) 

« Congo - Beni - Agence Amaq : Environ 27 chrétiens ont été tués et blessés, dont des officiers et deux fonctionnaires 

du gouvernement, lorsqu'une explosion a touché un bar qui leur était destiné dans la ville de Beni, dans l'est du 

Congo.  

Des sources de sécurité ont déclaré à l'agence de presse Amaq qu'un combattant de l’EIIL avait réussi à atteindre un 

bar pour chrétiens, samedi 25 décembre, dans le centre de Beni, en pleine célébration de leurs festivités annuelles.  

Les sources ont révélé que le martyr « Bayan al-Ouganda », après être arrivé sur les lieux, a fait exploser sa ceinture 

d’explosifs parmi les chrétiens, tuant 7 personnes, dont des officiers, et en blessant une vingtaine d'autres, dont deux 

fonctionnaires du gouvernement congolais. » 

 

Photograph and claim published on AMAQ News Agency 

Translation by the Group 

 

Photographie et revendication publiées sur le site AMAQ 

Traduction par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 20:  

Call for suicide attacks and volunteers 

Appel aux attentats suicide et aux volontaires 

 

Three ADF ex-combatants, including Salim Mohamed Rachid (see para. 52), and intelligence services told the Group 

that Baluku had called ADF combatants to volunteer to become suicide bombers, and that in March 2021 three 

combatants - Issa Mando, Hassani and Abdou Salam - had volunteered.  

In its June 2021 report (see S/2021/560, para. 22) the Group stated that “one detained ex-combatant described future 

ADF plans to acquire suicide-bombing technology (…)”, plans which now seem to be confirmed. 

ADF made several references to suicide bombers during the reporting period. In an audio released on 1 December 

2021, ADF commander Bonge la Chuma (see S/2021/560, annexes 4, 9 and 20) asked if “[we are] really ready to 

fight and blow up ourselves against UPDF?”.70  

In another audio released in 2021, ADF preacher Abu Qatadah Al Muhajir said that Sheikh Abubakr Al-Baghdad 

“had a suicide vest and belt which he used to blow himself with the infidels that had entered the premise where he 

was. This is called an explosive belt which a leader wears all the time for self-destruction and defence. This is worn 

by every commander of all the Jihadists, it is tied around the waist all the time. They will soon get all of you those 

suicide belts which you will be required to wear because as a leader, we cannot accept our secrets to be known by 

infidels if you were arrested. It is better for infidels to find your dead body other than finding you alive! (…) Pray 

Allah makes it possible for you to die with a suicide vest that blows hundreds of infidels (…) Even today, the current 

leader of Muslims has a suicide explosive vest or belt. Why? Because it is compulsory for all Islamic leaders to adorn 

it daily. This is exactly so even with our leader, SHEIKH MUSA MUHSIN BALUKU. He has to put on his suicide 

vest or belt on a daily basis as a defensive mechanism against being arrested and subsequently tortured by infidels. 

Never!”.71 

According to intelligence sources, the photograph shows military training of ADF combatants, including the 

December 2012 suicide bomber “Bayan al-Uganda”, in one of the ADF camps.  

 

Trois ex-combattants des ADF, dont Salim Mohamed Rachid (voir par. 52), et les services de renseignement, ont 

déclaré au Groupe que Baluku avait appelé les combattants des ADF à se porter volontaires pour devenir des 

kamikazes, et qu'en mars 2021, trois combattants - Issa Mando, Hassani et Abdou Salam - s'étaient portés volontaires. 

Dans son rapport de juin 2021 (voir S/2021/560, par. 22), le Groupe avait souligné qu'un « ex-combattant détenu a 

décrit les plans des ADF pour acquérir la technologie des attentats suicide dans le futur (…) », plans qui semblent 

maintenant confirmés. 

Les ADF ont fait plusieurs références aux kamikazes au cours de la période considérée. Dans un enregistrement audio 

publié le 1er décembre 2021, le commandant des ADF Bonge la Chuma (voir S/2021/560, annexes 4, 9 et 20) a 

demandé si « [nous sommes] vraiment prêts à nous battre et à nous faire exploser contre l'UPDF ? »72. 

Dans un autre enregistrement audio publié en 2021, le prêcheur ADF Abu Qatadah Al Muhajir a déclaré que le cheikh 

Abubakr Al-Baghdad « avait une veste et une ceinture de suicide qu'il utilisait pour se faire exploser avec les infidèles 

qui étaient entrés dans le lieu où il se trouvait. C'est ce qu'on appelle une ceinture d’explosifs qu'un chef porte en 

permanence pour s'auto-détruire et se défendre. Elle est portée par tous les commandants de tous les djihadistes, elle 

est attachée autour de la taille en permanence. Ils vont bientôt vous donner à tous ces ceintures de suicide que vous 

devrez porter parce qu'en tant que leader, nous ne pouvons pas accepter que nos secrets soient connus des infidèles 

__________________ 

70 Audio and translation obtained from MONUSCO and intelligence services. 
71 Audio sent on a Telegram group reportedly in January 2021 and received by the Group from/ translated by Bridgeway. 
72 Audio et traduction obtenus auprès de la MONUSCO et des services de renseignement. 

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
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si vous étiez arrêtés. Il est préférable pour les infidèles de trouver votre cadavre plutôt que de vous trouver vivant ! 

(...) Priez Allah qu'il vous soit possible de mourir avec une veste de suicide qui explose des centaines d'infidèles (...) 

Même aujourd'hui, le leader actuel des musulmans a une veste ou une ceinture d’explosifs de suicide. Pourquoi ? 

Parce qu'il est obligatoire pour tous les leaders islamiques de s’en parer quotidiennement. C'est exactement pareil 

même pour notre leader, le SHEIKH MUSA MUHSIN BALUKU. Il doit revêtir sa veste ou sa ceinture de suicide 

tous les jours comme mécanisme de défense contre l'arrestation et la torture par les infidèles. Jamais ! »73. 

Selon des sources de renseignement, la photographie montre un entraînement militaire de combattants des ADF, dont 

le kamikaze de décembre 2012 appelé « Bayan al-Uganda », dans l'un des camps des ADF. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Brother Bayan al-Uganda may Allah have his soul during his training in the Da’esh camps.” 

« Frère Bayan al-Ouganda, qu'Allah ait son âme pendant son entraînement dans les camps de Daech. » 

 

Photograph and claim received by the Group from Bridgeway Foundation 

Photographie et revendication reçues par le Groupe de la Fondation Bridgeway 

__________________ 

73 Audio envoyé sur un groupe Telegram, probablement en janvier 2021, et reçu par le Groupe de et traduit par la Fondation 

Bridgeway. 
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Annex/Annexe 21:  

Additional elements regarding the 5 January 2022 explosion at Oïcha 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'explosion du 5 janvier 2022 à Oïcha 

On 5 January 2022, an IED exploded at the Oïcha market. Given the lack of serious damage at the site, it is likely 

that only a small explosive charge was used.74 According to several eyewitnesses, the bag with the IED inside was 

left on the scene by a man just a few minutes before the explosion. Once the scene had been secured and the IED 

fragments had been collected, FARDC officials and IED experts informed the Group that the construction of this 

IED was not consistent with that of IEDs previously documented in the DRC. 

The following IED fragments were collected at the explosion site: a cell phone with one SIM card, ball bearings 

mixed with nails, electric wires and a 9V battery. 

 

Le 5 janvier 2022, une bombe artisanale a explosé au marché d'Oïcha. Compte tenu de l'absence de dégâts importants 

sur le site, il est probable que seule une petite charge explosive a été utilisée75. Selon plusieurs témoins oculaires, le 

sac contenant l'engin explosif improvisé avait été laissé sur les lieux par un homme seulement quelques minutes avant 

l'explosion. Une fois que la scène a été sécurisée et que les fragments de l'engin ont été collectés, les responsables 

des FARDC et des experts en engins explosifs improvisés ont informé le Groupe que la construction de cet engin 

explosif improvisé ne correspondait pas à celle des engins explosifs improvisés précédemment documentés en RDC. 

Les fragments d'engins explosifs improvisés suivants ont été collectés sur le site de l'explosion : un téléphone portable 

avec une carte SIM, des roulements à billes mélangés à des clous, des fils électriques et une pile de 9V. 

 

First photograph received from a civilian and security forces  

and second photograph taken by the Group in Beni in January 2022 

Première photographie reçue d'un civil et des forces de sécurité  

et deuxième photographie prise par le Groupe à Beni en janvier 2022 

__________________ 

74 The explosion was further mitigated by a bag of corn next to the bag that contained the IED.  
75 L'explosion a été atténuée par la présence d'un sac de maïs à côté du sac qui contenait l'engin explosif improvisé.  
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Annex/Annexe 22:  

Additional elements regarding the 5 February 2022 explosion at the Mayangose market in Beni town, IED 

technical advancement and information on the individuals reportedly laying the bombs 

Éléments supplémentaires concernant l'explosion du 5 février 2022 au marché de Mayangose dans la ville de 

Beni, l’avancement technique des engins explosifs improvisés et les individus qui auraient posé les bombes 

On 1 February 2022, the Embassy of the United States of America in Kinshasa advised that “terrorist attacks are 

planned in Beni town in the near future”.76 Four days later, on 5 February 2022, an IED exploded at the Mayangose 

market in Beni town, close to the headquarters of the Congolese National Police (PNC), injuring at least seven 

civilians. 

The evidence - in particular the IED fragments, the small quantity of explosives and the positioning of the bag 

containing the IED at the market on a busy market day – shows that this IED construction and the bomb carrier’s 

operating procedures were very similar to the IED explosion in Oïcha one month earlier (see annex 21). 

IED specialists who investigated the two scenes (Oïcha and Beni) assess that civilian customers and merchants were 

probably the main targets of both explosions. At the same time, it is possible that the perpetrators also used these 

attacks to, first, test their newly acquired technological IED, and second, to observe the first responders’ behaviours, 

tactics, techniques and procedures, and assess the feasibility and impact of a possible secondary attack.  In other 

words, the first explosion could possibly serve as a trap to attract people, including national and international security 

personnel, and target them through a second explosion. 

 

Le 1er février 2022, l'ambassade des États-Unis d'Amérique à Kinshasa a signalé que des attaques terroristes étaient 

planifiées dans la ville de Beni dans un avenir proche77.  Quatre jours plus tard, le 5 février 2022, un engin explosif 

improvisé a explosé au marché Mayangose de la ville de Beni, à proximité du siège de la Police nationale congolaise 

(PNC), blessant au moins sept civils. 

Les preuves - en particulier les fragments de l'engin, la petite quantité d'explosifs et le positionnement du sac 

contenant l'engin sur le marché un jour de grande affluence - montrent que la construction de cet engin et les 

procédures opérationnelles du porteur de la bombe étaient très similaires à l'explosion de la bombe à Oïcha un mois 

auparavant (voir annexe 21). 

Les spécialistes des engins explosifs improvisés qui ont enquêté sur les deux scènes (Oïcha et Beni) estiment que les 

clients et les marchands civils étaient probablement les cibles principales des deux explosions. Dans le même temps, 

il est possible que les auteurs aient également utilisé ces attaques pour, premièrement, tester leur nouvelle technologie 

d'engins explosifs improvisés, et deuxièmement, pour observer les comportements, tactiques, techniques et 

procédures des premiers intervenants, et évaluer la faisabilité et l'impact d'une éventuelle attaque secondaire.  En 

d'autres termes, la première explosion pourrait potentiellement servir de piège pour attirer les gens, y compris le 

personnel de sécurité national et international, et ainsi les cibler lors d’une seconde explosion. 

  

__________________ 

76 See https://cd.usembassy.gov/security-alert-u-s-embassy-kinshasa-drc-15/ (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
77 Voir https://cd.usembassy.gov/security-alert-u-s-embassy-kinshasa-drc-15/ (consulté le 20 avril 2022). 

https://cd.usembassy.gov/security-alert-u-s-embassy-kinshasa-drc-15/
https://cd.usembassy.gov/security-alert-u-s-embassy-kinshasa-drc-15/
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Photograph (with annotations) of the incident location at the Mayangose market in Beni on 5 February 2022  

provided to the Group by MONUSCO 

Photographie (avec annotations) du lieu de l'incident au marché de Mayangose à Beni le 5 février 2022 fournie au 

Groupe par la MONUSCO 

 

The following IED fragments were collected at the explosion site: a cell phone, a SIM card and a complete electrical 

circuit, including SCR Thyristor and 9V battery, a small number of ball bearings mixed with nails and bolts used as 

shrapnel to increase the lethal blast effect. Given the good condition of the recovered material and the relatively 

limited seriousness of the civilians’ injuries, it appears that only a small amount of explosive material was used. The 

following scheme represents the electrical circuit used in the IED which exploded in Beni town on 5 February 2022: 

Les fragments d'engins explosifs improvisés suivants ont été recueillis sur le site de l'explosion : un téléphone 

portable, une carte SIM et un circuit électrique complet, comprenant un thyristor SCR et une batterie de 9V, un petit 

nombre de roulements à billes mélangés à des clous et des boulons utilisés comme pour augmenter l'effet de souffle 

mortel. Étant donné le bon état du matériel récupéré et la gravité relativement limitée des blessures des civils, il 

semble que seule une petite quantité de matériel explosif ait été utilisée. Le schéma ci-dessus représente le circuit 

électrique utilisé dans l'EEI qui a explosé dans la ville de Beni le 5 février 2022. 
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Scheme provided to the Group by MONUSCO 

Schéma fourni au Groupe par la MONUSCO 

 

Additional technical investigations are needed to confirm whether the cellphones were used as a time switch or a 

radiofrequency receiver. It is clear, however, that the modifications made to the cellphones allowed for both uses.. 

Two ADF ex-combatants reported to the Group that “Hassani” and “Abdousalam” planted the IEDs on the markets 

in Oïcha and Beni. According to information provided by the ex-combatants, confirmed by FARDC sources, 

“Abdousalam”, a former policeman, joined ADF after his escape from Kangbayi prison in October 2020, where he 

had been radicalized by ADF detainees. According to ADF ex-combatants and FARDC sources, “Abdousalam” was 

also involved in the assassination of several imams in Beni territory mid-2021. 

 

Des investigations techniques supplémentaires sont nécessaires pour confirmer si les téléphones portables ont été 

utilisés comme déclencheur à retardement (minuterie) ou comme récepteur de radiofréquences. Il est clair, cependant, 

que les modifications apportées aux téléphones cellulaires ont permis les deux utilisations. 

Deux ex-combattants des ADF ont dit au Groupe que « Hassani » et « Abdousalam » ont posé les engins explosifs 

improvisés sur les marchés d'Oïcha et de Beni. Selon les informations fournies par les ex-combattants, confirmées 

par des sources des FARDC, « Abdousalam », un ancien policier, a rejoint les ADF après son évasion de la prison 

de Kangbayi en octobre 2020, où il s’était radicalisé auprès de détenus des ADF. Selon des ex-combattants des ADF 

et des sources des FARDC, « Abdousalam » a également été impliqué dans l'assassinat de plusieurs imams dans le 

territoire de Beni mi-2021. 
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Photograph of “Abdousalam” provided to the Group by an ADF ex-combatant 

Photographie de « Abdousalam » fournie au Groupe par un ex-combattant ADF 
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Annex/Annexe 23:  

IED components recovered in Mabondo, Rwenzori, on 26 September 2021 

Composants d’engin explosif improvisé retrouvés à Mabondo, Rwenzori, le 26 septembre 2021 

 

On 28 September 2021, the Group received pictures of what could be another radio-controlled or time IED using a 

modified cell phone in Mabondo, Beni territory, on 26 September 2021. This could, however, not be physically 

confirmed as the Group did not have access to the IED fragments. 

 

Le 28 septembre 2021, le Groupe a reçu des photographies de ce qui pourrait être un autre engin explosif improvisé 

(EEI) radiocommandé ou utilisant une minuterie. L’EEI comprenant un téléphone portable modifié aurait été 

documenté à Mabondo, dans le territoire de Beni, le 26 septembre 2021. Cela n'a toutefois pas pu être confirmé 

physiquement, le Groupe n'ayant pas eu accès aux fragments de l'engin. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Picture provided by a civilian source in Beni 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par une source civile à Beni 

  



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 112/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 24:  

Additional information on the attempted IED attack in Rwanda 

Informations additionnelles sur la tentative d’attentat à l’engin explosif improvisé au Rwanda 

 

Thirteen individuals – 12 men and 1 woman – were arrested in August and September 2021 by the Rwandan 

authorities in relation to the attempted IED attack in Rwanda. Their arrest was made public on 1 October 2021. The 

Rwandan authorities informed the Group that three of those arrested were released due to lack of sufficient evidence 

regarding their role in the bomb plot.78 

Ismael Nyionshuti, a Rwandan national who was recruited by Meddie Nkalubo79 via his relative, Abdullaziz, who 

had joined Nkalubo’s camp in the DRC in March 2021, was central in organizing the attacks.80 Nkalubo also sent a 

collaborator, Omar Farouk alias Adamu Nyange, to Rwanda to prepare the attacks jointly with Nyionshuti. Under 

instructions from Farouk and Nkalubo, who had explained their plan to avenge the Rwandan military operation 

against ASWJ in Cabo Delgado in Mozambique (see below and S/2021/560, annex 20),81 Nyionshuti recruited 

several friends. Rwandan national Anicet Iratudeba was responsible for building the IEDs once Farouk would obtain 

the components. Iratudeba stated that Farouk sent him three IED construction instruction videos, reportedly recorded 

and sent by Nkalubo, albeit which the Rwandan authorities did not give access to the Group. Iratudeba explained that 

the instructions were to build IEDs with integrated cell phones to be used as a radio-controlled switch, which could 

indicate that ADF had mastered this more advanced construction technique already in August 2021 (see paras. 53-

54). The Group could neither confirm the origin of the seized IED components nor their having been provided through 

ADF channels. 

The IED materials reportedly seized included nails, wires, phones, detonating cords, time fuse, explosives (TNT) and 

videos. The Rwandan authorities informed the Group that they had also recovered three telephones and three SIM 

cards.82 

The Rwandan authorities further informed the Group that the explosive material came from the DRC, and that the 

individual who had brought the material was still at large.83 The Group could not confirm this information as it was 

not granted access to the IED components. 

 

Treize personnes - 12 hommes et 1 femme - ont été arrêtées en août et septembre 2021 par les autorités rwandaises 

dans le cadre d’une tentative d'attentat à l’EEI au Rwanda. Leur arrestation a été rendue publique le 1er octobre 2021. 

Les autorités rwandaises ont informé le Groupe que trois des personnes arrêtées ont été libérées en raison de l'absence 

de preuves suffisantes concernant leur rôle dans le projet d'attentat à la bombe84. 

Ismael Nyionshuti, un ressortissant rwandais, a joué un rôle central dans l'organisation des attentats85. Nyionshuti 

avait été recruté par Meddie Nkalubo 86 par l'intermédiaire d’un membre de sa famille, Abdullaziz, qui avait rejoint 

le camp de Nkalubo en RDC en mars 2021. Nkalubo avait également envoyé un collaborateur, Omar Farouk alias 

Adamu Nyange, au Rwanda pour préparer les attaques conjointement avec Nyionshuti. Sur les instructions de Farouk 

et de Nkalubo, qui avaient justifié leur plan comme une vengeance contre l'opération militaire rwandaise contre 

ASWJ à Cabo Del-gado au Mozambique (voir ci-dessous et S/2021/560, annexe 20) 87, Nyionshuti a recruté plusieurs 

__________________ 

78 Meeting in Kigali, 14 March 2022. 
79 Who introduced himself as “Salahuddin”. 
80 Three suspects in Kigali prison.  

81 Three suspects in Kigali prison, Rwandan Government, intelligence sources.   
82 Meeting in Kigali, 14 March 2022. Document provided by Rwandan authorities.  
83 Meeting in Kigali, 14 March 2022.  
84 Réunion à Kigali le 14 mars 2022. 
85 Trois suspects à la prison de Kigali.  

86 Il s’est introduit en tant que « Salahuddin ». 
87 Trois suspects à la prison de Kigali, le Gouvernement du Rwanda et services de renseignement.   

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/1749778.98597717.html
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amis. Anicet Iratudeba, de nationalité rwandaise, était chargé de construire les EEI une fois que Farouk se serait 

procuré les composants. Iratudeba a déclaré que Farouk lui avait envoyé trois vidéos d'instructions sur la construction 

d'EEI, qui auraient été enregistrées et envoyées par Nkalubo, mais auxquelles les autorités rwandaises n'ont pas donné 

accès au Groupe. Iratudeba a expliqué que les instructions consistaient à construire des engins explosifs improvisés 

avec des téléphones portables intégrés qui serviraient de déclencheur radiocommandé, ce qui pourrait indiquer que 

les ADF maîtrisaient déjà cette technique de construction plus avancée dès août 2021 (voir par. 53-54). Le Groupe 

n'a pu confirmer l'origine des composants des engins explosifs improvisés saisis ni le fait qu'ils aient été fournis par 

les canaux des ADF. 

Les engins explosifs improvisés qui auraient été saisis comprendraient des clous, des fils, des téléphones, des 

cordeaux détonants, des mèches lentes, des explosifs (TNT) et des vidéos. Les autorités rwandaises ont informé le 

Groupe qu'elles avaient également récupéré trois téléphones et trois cartes SIM88. 

Les autorités rwandaises ont également informé le Groupe que le matériel explosif provenait de la RDC et que 

l'individu qui l'avait apporté était toujours en fuite89. Le Groupe n'a pas pu confirmer cette information car il n'a pas 

eu accès aux composants de l'engin explosif improvisé. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

88 Réunion à Kigali du 14 March 2022. Document fourni par les autorités rwandaises.  
89 Réunion à Kigali du 14 March 2022. 
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Pictures of the suspects and seized material published on social media and in the press 

Photographies des suspects et du matériel saisi publiées sur les médias sociaux et dans la presse 

 

 

Propaganda calling to take revenge from the Rwandan troops in Mozambique 

Propagande appelant à se venger des troupes rwandaises au Mozambique 

The Rwandan authorities stated that ADF “attempted to carry out attacks in Kigali, Rwanda, to revenge Rwanda’s 

deployment in Mozambique”.90 One month before the arrest of the 13 individuals in Rwanda (see para. 55 and above), 

diplomatic and intelligence had informed the Group of the risks of an attack by ADF in Rwanda linked to the engagement 

of Rwandese troops in Mozambique.  

Intelligence and open sources cited a campaign against Rwanda, launched by supporters of Da’esh on social media, linked 

to the presence of Rwandan troops in Mozambique and fighting against the Mozambican wing of ISCAP.91 

Les autorités rwandaises ont déclaré que les ADF avaient tenté de mener des attaques à Kigali, au Rwanda, pour se venger 

du déploiement du Rwanda au Mozambique92. Un mois avant l'arrestation des 13 individus au Rwanda (voir paragraphe 55 

et ci-dessus), des sources diplomatiques et des renseignements avaient informé le Groupe des risques d'une attaque des ADF 

au Rwanda liée à l'engagement des troupes rwandaises au Mozambique. 

Des services de renseignement et les sources en libre accès ont fait état d'une campagne contre le Rwanda, lancée par des 

partisans de Daech sur les médias sociaux, liée à la présence de troupes rwandaises au Mozambique et aux combats contre 

la branche mozambicaine de l'ISCAP93. 

  

__________________ 

90 Meeting in Kigali, 14 March 2022.  
91 Intelligence and diplomatic sources of several Member States and Bridgeway.   
92 Réunion à Kigali du 14 mars 2022. 
93 Sources des renseignements et diplomatiques de plusieurs États membres et Bridgeway.   
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Tweets dated August 2021 (last accessed on 2 April 2022)94 

Tweet publié en août 2021 (dernière consultation le 2 avril 2022)95 

__________________ 

94 https://mobile.twitter.com/minalami/status/1426071453611479043 (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
95 https://mobile.twitter.com/minalami/status/1426071453611479043 (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  

https://mobile.twitter.com/minalami/status/1426071453611479043
https://mobile.twitter.com/minalami/status/1426071453611479043
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Annex/Annexe 25:  

Additional information on person-born IED (PBIED) attacks and attacks in Uganda, some claimed by Da’esh 

Informations supplémentaires sur les attaques par des engins explosifs improvisés portés par des personnes 

(PBIED) et les attaques en Ouganda, dont certaines ont été revendiquées par Daech 

 

Facts and figures on reported attacks in Uganda between August and November 2021:96 

27 August 2021: Reported thwarted IED attack (1) at the funeral of Major General Paul Lokesh, UPF deputy chief, 

in Pader. Reported seizure of IED components and suicide vest. Arrest of a suspect identified as Katumba Abdul 

alias Ben.97  

8 October 2021: IED attack (2) against a police station in the Kawempe division of Kampala. The attack was claimed 

by ISCAP/Da’esh. 

23 October 2021: Deadly IED attack (3) against a pork restaurant in the Kawempe division of Kampala. The attack 

was claimed by ISCAP/Da’esh. 

25 October 2021: Deadly IED attack (4) in a Swift Safaris Limited bus in Lungala, Mpigi district. Identification of 

the IED carrier, killed by the detonation, as Isaac Matovu alias Muzafala. According to the Ugandan authorities, 

Muzafala was affiliated with ADF.  

Following the 23 and 25 October 2021 attacks, three Ugandan nationals - Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende and 

Aisha Katushabe - affiliated with ADF according to the Ugandan authorities and President Museveni, were arrested. 

According to the Ugandan authorities, they had received US$ 114,000 from ADF to pay operatives and agents in 

Uganda for carrying out the attack.98 

16 November 2021: Three deadly and almost simultaneous PBIED attacks (5, 6, 7) were carried out near the central 

police headquarters and at the Parliamentary district in Kampala. The first suicide bomber was identified by Ugandan 

authorities as Mansoor Uthmand alias Abu Sabir al Ugandan. The second suicide bomber was identified as Abdallah 

Wanjusi alias Abu Shaheed al Ugandan. The third suicide bomber was identified as Muzafari Matovu alias 

Abdulrahman al Ugandan. A fourth suicide bomber (8), identified as Mozey by the Ugandan authorities, was killed. 

The attacks were claimed by ISCAP/Da’esh. Almost immediately after the attack, Ugandan police shot five suspects, 

including Sheikh Muhammed Kirevu alias Abbas Kirevu, reportedly responsible for recruiting ADF combatants. At 

least 21 suspects were arrested, according to the Ugandan authorities. 

Faits et chiffres sur les attaques signalées en Ouganda entre août et novembre 202199 : 

27 août 2021: On a signalé un attentat à la bombe artisanale qui a été déjoué (1) lors des funérailles du Major Paul 

Lokesh, chef adjoint de l'UPF, à Pader. Saisie déclarée de composants d'un engin explosif improvisé et d'une veste 

de suicide. Arrestation d'un suspect identifié comme étant Katumba Abdul alias Ben100.  

8 octobre 2021: Attaque à l'engin explosif improvisé (2) contre un poste de police dans la division de Kawempe à 

Kampala. L'attaque a été revendiqué par ISCAP/Daech. 

23 octobre 2021 : Attaque meurtrière à l'engin explosif improvisé (3) contre un restaurant servant du porc dans la 

division Kawempe de Kampala. L'attaque a été revendiquée par ISCAP/Daech. 

  

__________________ 

96 Ugandan authorities, intelligence sources, researchers, confidential documents and press articles.  
97 See also Suspected terrorist targeted local politician, says Police | Monitor (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
98 See also S/2022/82, para. 17.  
99 Autorités ougandaises, service de renseignement, chercheurs, documents confidentiels et articles de presse.  
100 Voir également Suspected terrorist targeted local politician, says Police | Monitor  (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022). 

https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/suspected-terrorist-targeted-local-politician-says-police-3575480
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/416/14/PDF/N2141614.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/news/national/suspected-terrorist-targeted-local-politician-says-police-3575480
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25 octobre 2021 : Attaque meurtrière à l'engin explosif improvisé (4) dans un bus de Swift Safaris Limited à Lungala, 

district de Mpigi. Identification du porteur de l'engin explosif improvisé, tué par la détonation, comme étant Isaac 

Matovu alias Muzafala. Selon les autorités ougandaises, Muzafala était affilié aux ADF. 

Après les attaques des 23 et 25 octobre 2021, trois ressortissants ougandais - Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende 

et Aisha Katushabe - affiliés aux ADF selon les autorités ougandaises et le Président Museveni, ont été arrêtés. Selon 

les autorités ougandaises, elles avaient reçu 114 000 dollars américains des ADF pour payer des personnes et des 

agents en Ouganda afin de mener à bien l'attaque101. 

16 novembre 2021 : Trois attentats meurtriers et quasi-simultanés avec des EEI portés par des personnes (PBIED) 

(5, 6, 7) ont été perpétrées près du siège central de la police et dans le quartier parlementaire de Kampala. Le premier 

kamikaze a été identifié par les autorités ougandaises comme étant Mansoor Uthmand alias Abu Sabir al Ugandan. 

Le deuxième kamikaze a été identifié comme étant Abdallah Wanjusi alias Abu Shaheed al Ugandan. Le troisième 

kamikaze a été identifié comme étant Muzafari Matovu alias Abdulrahman al Ugandan. Un quatrième kamikaze (8), 

identifié comme Mozey par les autorités ougandaises, a été tué. Les attentats ont été revendiquées par ISCAP/Daech. 

Presque immédiatement après les attentats, la police ougandaise a abattu cinq suspects, dont Sheikh Muhammed 

Kirevu alias Abbas Kirevu, qui aurait été un responsable du recrutement des combattants des ADF. Au moins 21 

suspects ont été arrêtés, selon les autorités ougandaises. 

  

__________________ 

101 Voir également S/2022/82, par. 17.  

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/416/14/PDF/N2141614.pdf?OpenElement
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Annex/Annexe 26:  

Additional information on reported links between the attacks in Uganda and ADF 

Informations supplémentaires sur les liens déclarés entre les attaques en Ouganda et les ADF 

 

Reported financial flows 

The Ugandan authorities reported ADF financing and financial flows in support of the attacks, which could however 

not be verified by the Group. In particular, the Ugandan authorities reported that: 

- The three individuals arrested in October 2021, Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende and Aisha 

Katushabe (see annex 25), financed ADF for a total amount of US$ 506,000.00; 

 

- Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende and Aisha Katushabe distributed a total amount of US$ 

114,000 before the attacks. 

Flux financiers déclarés 

Les autorités ougandaises ont fait état de financements et de flux financiers des ADF à l'appui des attaques, qui n'ont 

toutefois pas pu être vérifiés par le Groupe. En particulier, les autorités ougandaises ont rapporté que : 

- Les trois individus arrêtés en octobre 2021, Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende et Aisha Katushabe 

(voir annexe 25), auraient financé les ADF pour un montant total de 506 000,00 dollars américains ; 

- Abdulrahman Waibi, Sanyu Nakitende et Aisha Katushabe auraient distribué un montant total de 114 

000 dollars américains avant les attaques. 
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Ugandan Police Force’s press releases and Ugandan press articles referring to the link between the IED 

attacks in Uganda and ADF 

Communiqués de presse des forces de police ougandaises et articles de presse ougandais faisant référence au 

lien entre les attaques à l'engin explosif improvisé en Ouganda et les ADF 
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Press release provided to the Group by intelligence sources 

Communiqué de presse fourni au Groupe par des sources des renseignements 
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Ugandan press articles collected by the Group 

Articles de presse ougandais collectés par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 27: 

M23/ARC attacks in November 2021 

Attaques du M23/ARC en novembre 2021 

 

List of M23/ARC attacks in November 2021 

Based on information provided by MONUSCO, FARDC and ICCN sources, DRC officials, civil society sources, 

and an EVJM report,102 the Group documented the following non-exhaustive list of M23/ARC attacks and stolen 

weaponry and goods. This list also comprises some FARDC operations in response to M23/ARC attacks. 

According to the information available at the time of drafting, the M23/ARC did not directly target the civilian 

population and clashed with FARDC and ICCN mainly. Still, civilians have been killed, during these clashes, 

including from stray bullets, and the attacks resulted in massive displacements of the civilian population. M23/ARC 

also looted civilian houses.  

• 7 and 8 November 2021: M23/ARC attacked FARDC at Tchanzu, Runyoni, Gisiza and Nyarubara villages.  

 One or two FARDC members were killed and several wounded. 

              One PKM, one RPG and eight AK-type assault rifles were taken from FARDC. 

• 20 November 2021: M23/ARC attacked ICCN at Bukima (see communiqué below) 

 One ICCN eco-guard was killed.  

Three AK-type assault rifles, 32 chargers, seven radios, 44 uniforms and boots, cameras and phones 

were taken from FARDC. 

• Night of 21-22 November 2021: M23/ARC attacked FARDC (3416th Regiment) at Ngugo, Rugari 

groupement, Rutshuru territory. 

 Two FARDC members were wounded.  

 Two RPGs, one PKM, and 250 rounds of ammunition were taken from FARDC. 

• 23 November 2021: M23/ARC attacked FARDC again, at Ngugo. 

 Three FARDC members were wounded. 

• 24 November 2021: FARDC attacked M23/ARC on Mount Sabinyo and Mount Visoke. 

 

Attaques du M23/ARC en novembre 2021 

Sur la base des informations fournies par des sources de la MONUSCO, des FARDC et de l'ICCN, des officiels de 

la RDC, des sources de la société civile et un rapport du MCVE103, le Groupe a établi une liste non exhaustive 

d'attaques du M23/ARC et d'armes et de biens volés. Cette liste comprend également certaines opérations des 

FARDC en réponse aux attaques du M23/ARC.  

__________________ 

102 EVJM report on the mission in the DRC, Ugandan and Rwanda to verify attacks by ex-M23 combatants on FARDC positions 

in Tshanzu, Runyoni and Camp Commando in Rutshuru territory (2021) . 
103 Rapport du Mécanisme conjoint de vérification élargi (MCVE) sur la mission en RDC, Ouganda et Rwanda afin de vérifier 

les attaques par des combattants ex-M23 sur des positions FARDC à Tshanzu, Runyoni et Camp Commando dans le territoire 

du Rutshuru (2021). 
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Selon les informations disponibles au moment de la rédaction du présent rapport, le M23/ARC n'a pas directement 

ciblé la population civile et est principalement rentré en conflit avec les FARDC et l'ICCN. Néanmoins, des civils 

ont été tués au cours de ces affrontements, notamment par des balles perdues, et les attaques ont entraîné des 

déplacements massifs de la population civile. Le M23/ARC a également pillé des maisons civiles. 

 

• 7 et 8 novembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC dans les villages de Tchanzu, Runyoni, 

Gisiza et Nyarubara.  

  Un ou deux membres des FARDC ont été tués et plusieurs blessés. 

               Un PKM, un RPG et huit fusils d'assaut de type AK ont été pris aux FARDC. 

• 20 novembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué l'ICCN à Bukima (voir communiqué ci-dessous). 

      Un éco-garde de l'ICCN a été tué.  

Trois fusils d'assaut de type AK, 32 chargeurs, sept radios, 44 uniformes et bottes, des appareils 

photo et des téléphones ont été pris aux FARDC. 

• Nuit du 21 au 22 novembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC (3416ème régiment) à Ngugo, 

groupement de Rugari, territoire de Rutshuru. 

      Deux membres des FARDC ont été blessés.  

  Deux RPG, un PKM et 250 munitions ont été pris aux FARDC. 

• 23 novembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a de nouveau attaqué les FARDC à Ngugo. 

     Trois membres des FARDC ont été blessés. 

• 24 novembre 2021 : Les FARDC ont attaqué le M23/ARC sur le Mont Sabinyo et le Mont Visoke. 
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Map indicating the locations of M23/ARC attacks and presence in November 2021  

Carte indiquant les lieux des attaques et de la présence du M23/ARC en novembre 2021 

 

 

Map provided to the Group by MONUSCO  

Carte fournie au Groupe par la MONUSCO  
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ICCN press Statement on the 20 November 2021 attack on an ICCN patrol in Virunga National Park 

Communiqué de presse de l'ICCN sur l'attaque du 20 novembre 2021 contre une patrouille de l'ICCN dans le 

Parc national des Virunga 
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Annex/Annexe 28:  

M23/ARC attack on 24-25 January 2022 

Attaque du M23/ARC les 24-25 janvier 2022 

 

During the night of 24-25 January 2022, M23/ARC launched attacks on the FARDC camp in Nyesisi and 

surroundings. The attacks lasted four days. According to MONUSCO, FARDC and ICCN sources, between 

40 and 49 FARDC members, including the FARDC commander of the 34163 rd Battallion, Colonel Ndume 

Baganyigabo, were killed, while five to ten FARDC members were injured.  

 

According to several reports, at least 32 AK-type assault rifles, two machine guns PKM, one Motorola radio, 

three boxes of ammunition for (PKM), two boxes of ammunition for AK-type assault rifles, one RPG and 

FARDC uniforms were taken from FARDC during that attack.  

 

 

Dans la nuit du 24 au 25 janvier 2022, le M23/ARC a lancé des attaques contre le camp des FARDC de 

Nyesisi et ses environs. Les attaques ont duré quatre jours. Selon des sources de la MONUSCO, des FARDC 

et de l'ICCN, entre 40 et 49 membres des FARDC, dont le commandant du 34163ième bataillon des FARDC, 

le Colonel Ndume Baganyigabo, ont été tués, tandis que cinq à dix membres des FARDC ont été blessés.  

Selon plusieurs rapports, au moins 32 fusils d'assaut de type AK, deux mitrailleuses PKM, une radio 

Motorola, trois boites de munitions pour mitrailleuses PKM, deux boîtes de munitions pour fusils d'assaut 

de type AK, un RPG et des uniformes des FARDC ont été pris aux FARDC lors de cette attaque .  
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Annex/Annexe 29:  

M23/ARC attacks from December 2021 to mid-April 2022 

Attaques du M23/ARC de décembre 2021 à mi-avril 2022 

 

Based on information provided by MONUSCO, FARDC, ICCN, DRC officials, civil society and media sources, the 

Group documented the following non-exhaustive list of M23/ARC attacks and stolen weaponry and goods. Some of 

the figures regarding the stolen materiel and casualties are estimates. This list also comprises some FARDC 

operations in response of M23/ARC attacks. 

According to the information available at time of drafting, the Group notes that, similarly to November 2021, 

M23/ARC did not directly target the civilian population during its attacks. Still, civilians have been killed, amongst 

others from stray bullets, during clashes with FARDC and the attacks resulted in massive displacements of the 

civilian population. M23/ARC have also looted civilian houses.  

 

• 20 and 21 December 2021: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Tchanzu and Runyonyi villages. 

 Six FARDC members were killed and several wounded. 

 Six AK-type assault rifles and one PKM were taken from FARDC and one FARDC camp burned. 

• 22 and 23 December 2021: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Bukima. 

 Between two and 14 FARDC members were killed and 15 FARDC wounded.  

 AK-type assault rifles, PKM, radios, food supplies were taken from FARDC. 

• 24 and 25 January 2022: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Nyesisi, Kanombe, Ngugo and Bukima villages. 

 Between 40-49 FARDC members were killed and between five and ten FARDC were wounded.  

32 AK-type assault rifles, two PKM, two AK-type assault rifles ammunition boxes, three PKM 

ammunition boxes, one RGP and uniforms were stolen from FARDC. 

• 26 January 2022: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Nyesisi. 

• 27 January 2022: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Ndiza, Mount Ngugo, Nyesisi and Bukima. 

• 28 January 2022: FARDC attacked M23 in Tchanzu and Ndiza, Nyesisi and Mount Ngugo. 

  One FARDC was killed and one FARDC wounded. 

 15 M23/ARC combatants were killed and three AK-type assault rifles were recovered from M23/ARC. 

• 30 January 2022: FARDC attacked M23/ARC on Mount Mushahe. 

• 5 February 2022: FARDC attacked M23/ARC in Tchanzu and Ndiza. 

• 19 February 2022: M23/ARC attacked FARDC at Ndiza hill, Virunga National Park. 

• 21 February 2022: FARDC shelled the area around Mount Sabinyio.  

 Three M23/ARC combatants were killed.  

• 19 March 2022: FARDC shelled M23/ARC positions around Mount Sabinyo. 

• 28 and 29 March 2022: M23/ARC attacked FARDC in Tchanzu, Gisiza, Ndiza, Runyoni, Tchengerero, 

Kabindi and Bunagana villages.  
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Several FARDC members and seven civilians were killed and several FARDC members and several 

civilians wounded. 

• 30 March 2022: M23/ARC withdrew to newly captured strongholds near Tchanzu, Ddiza, Runyonyi, 

Kinyamahura and Bugusa.  

• 6 April 2022: M23/ARC attacked Tchanzu, Runyoni, Bugusa, Tchengerero and Kabindi. 

 Several FARDC members killed 

• 8 April 2022: M23/ARC attacked and then occupied Bugusa. M23/ARC cut the Burayi-Bunagana 

national road at the level of Tchengerero.  

 

Sur la base des informations fournies par la MONUSCO, les FARDC, l'ICCN, les officiels de la RDC, la société 

civile et les médias, le Groupe a établi la liste non exhaustive suivante des attaques du M23/ARC et des armes et 

biens volés. Certains des chiffres concernant le matériel volé et les victimes sont des estimations. Cette liste comprend 

également certaines opérations des FARDC en réponse aux attaques du M23/ARC. 

Sur la base des informations disponibles au moment de la rédaction de ce rapport, le Groupe note que, comme en 

novembre 2021, le M23/ARC n'a pas directement visé la population civile lors de ses attaques. Néanmoins, des civils 

ont été tués, entre autres par des balles perdues, lors des affrontements avec les FARDC et les attaques ont entraîné 

des déplacements massifs de la population civile. Le M23/ARC a également pillé des maisons civiles. 

 

• 20 et 21 décembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC dans les villages de Tchanzu et Runyonyi. 

 Six membres des FARDC ont été tués et plusieurs blessés. 

 Six fusils d'assaut de type AK et un PKM ont été pris aux FARDC et un camp des FARDC a été incendié. 

• 22 et 23 décembre 2021 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC à Bukima. 

 Entre 2 et 14 membres des FARDC ont été tués et 15 blessés.  

 Des fusils d'assaut de type AK, des PKM, des radios, des vivres ont été pris aux FARDC. 

• 24 et 25 janvier 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC dans les villages de Nyesisi, Kanombe, Ngugo et 

       Bukima. 

  Entre 40 et 49 membres des FARDC ont été tués et entre cinq et dix membres des FARDC ont été blessés.  

32 fusils d'assaut de type AK, deux PKM, deux caisses de munitions de fusils d'assaut de type AK, trois 

caisses de munitions de PKM, un RGP et des uniformes ont été volés aux FARDC. 

• 26 janvier 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC à Nyesisi. 

• 27 janvier 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC à Ndiza, Mount Ngugo, Nyesisi et Bukima. 

• 28 janvier 2022 : Les FARDC ont attaqué le M23 à Tchanzu et à Ndiza, Nyesisi et Mount Ngugo. 

 Un FARDC a été tué et un blessé. 

 15 combattants du M23/ARC ont été tués et trois fusils d'assaut de type AK ont été récupérés auprès du 

M23/ARC. 

• 30 janvier 2022 : Les FARDC ont attaqué le M23/ARC au Mont Mushahe. 

• 5 février 2022 : Les FARDC ont attaqué le M23/ARC à Tchanzu et Ndiza. 
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• 19 février 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC sur la colline de Ndiza, dans le Parc national du 

Virunga. 

• 21 février 2022 : Les FARDC ont bombardé la zone autour du Mont Sabinyio.  

 Trois combattants du M23/ARC sont tués. 

• 19 mars 2022 : Les FARDC ont bombardé les positions du M23/ARC autour du Mont Sabinyo. 

• 28 et 29 mars 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué les FARDC dans les villages de Tshanzu, Gisiza, Ndiza, 

Runyoni, Tchengerero, Kabindi et Bunagana. 

Plusieurs membres des FARDC et sept civils ont été tués et plusieurs membres des FARDC et plusieurs 

civils ont été blessés. 

• 30 mars 2022 : Le M23/ARC s’est retiré vers des bastions nouvellement capturés près de Tshanzu, 

Ndiza, Runyoni, Kinyamahura et Bugusa. 

• 6 avril 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué Tchanzu, Runyoni, Bugusa, Tchengerero et Kabindi. 

Plusieurs membres des FARDC tués. 

• 8 avril 2022 : Le M23/ARC a attaqué puis occupé Bugusa. Le M23/ARC a coupé la route nationale 

entre Burayi-Bunagana  au niveau de Tchengerero. 
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Annex/Annexe 30:  

Map with several strategic locations and areas attacked and/or controlled by M23/ARC late March – early 

April 2022 

Carte avec plusieurs emplacements stratégiques et zones attaquées et/ou contrôlées par le M23/ARC fin mars 

- début avril 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On 9 April 2022, FARDC, civil society, security and intelligence sources reported that M23/ARC controlled all 

localities of Jomba groupement in Rutshuru territory, a geographical area along the border with Uganda, except for 

three localities, i.e. Bunagana, Kibanda and Rangira (see also annex 29). The Rutshuru-Bunagana national road 

(RN2) was cut off at Tchengerero for two days. 

Several days earlier, M23/ARC had launched an assault on other localities (see annex 29) including on the strategic 

border town Bunagana on 28-29 March 2022. FARDC subsequently recovered control of Bunagana with UPDF 

support. 

Sources: MONUSCO, FARDC, ICCN, DRC officials, civil society, photographs and videos. 

 

Le 9 avril 2022, les FARDC, la société civile, les services de sécurité et les services de renseignement ont rapporté 

que le M23/ARC contrôlait toutes les localités du groupement de Jomba dans le territoire de Rutshuru, une zone 

géographique située le long de la frontière avec l'Ouganda, à l'exception de trois localités, à savoir Bunagana, Kibanda 

et Rangira (voir également annexe 29). La route nationale (RN2) Rutshuru-Bunagana a été coupée au niveau de 

Tchengerero pendant deux jours. 
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Plusieurs jours auparavant, le M23/ARC avait lancé un assaut sur d'autres localités (voir annexe 29), notamment sur 

la ville frontalière stratégique de Bunagana les 28 et 29 mars 2022. Les FARDC ont ensuite repris le contrôle de 

Bunagana avec le soutien de l'UPDF. 

Sources : MONUSCO, FARDC, ICCN, officiels de la RDC, société civile, photographies et vidéos. 
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Annex/Annexe 31:  

MONUSCO helicopter crash on 29 March 2022 

Crash d'un hélicoptère de la MONUSCO le 29 mars 2022 

 

MONUSCO tweet announcing that it had lost contact with one of its helicopters, including a map indicating the 

location of helicopter crash. 

 

Tweet de la MONUSCO annonçant qu'elle a perdu le contact avec l'un de ses hélicoptères, incluant une carte 

indiquant le lieu du crash de l'hélicoptère. 
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FARDC and M23/ARC communiqués accusing each other of shooting down the MONUSCO helicopter, 

provided to the Group by FARDC and M23/ARC sources 

Communiqués des FARDC et du M23/ARC s'accusant mutuellement d'avoir abattu l'hélicoptère de la 

MONUSCO, fournis au Groupe par des sources des FARDC et du M23/ARC 
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Statement of 29 March 2022 attributable to the Spokesperson for the Secretary-General on the Democratic 

Republic of the Congo, published on MONUSCO website (and UN website -  

https://www.un.org/press/en/2022/sgsm21213.doc.htm (last consulted on 20 April 2021)) 

Déclaration du 29 mars 2022 attribuable au porte-parole du Secrétaire général sur la République 

démocratique du Congo, publiée sur le site de la MONUSCO (et sur le site de l'ONU - 

https://www.un.org/press/fr/2022/sgsm21213.doc.htm (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2021)) 

 

“The Secretary-General is deeply saddened to confirm that eight peacekeepers who were on board a Puma helicopter 

that crashed earlier today in North Kivu have died. Their bodies were recovered during a search and rescue operation 

launched by MONUSCO.  

 The helicopter, operated by the Pakistani contingent, was on a reconnaissance mission in the area of Tshanzu, where 

there have been clashes between the M23 group and the Armed Forces of the Democratic Republic of the Congo 

(FARDC) in recent days. An investigation is underway.  

The Secretary-General expresses his sincere condolences to the bereaved families and to the Governments of 

Pakistan, the Russian Federation and the Republic of Serbia, whose troops were among the casualties.  

The Secretary-General is deeply concerned by the resurgence of M23 activities in the tri-border area around Rwanda-

DRC-Uganda as well as the ongoing impact of violence involving armed groups on civilians.   

The Secretary-General reiterates the United Nations’ commitment to support the Congolese Government and people 

in their efforts to bring peace and stability in the eastern provinces of the country.”  

Stéphane Dujarric, Spokesman for the Secretary-General  

New York, 29 March 2022 

 

 

« Le Secrétaire général est profondément attristé de confirmer que les huit Casques bleus qui se trouvaient à bord 

d’un hélicoptère Puma qui s’est écrasé plus tôt dans la journée au Nord-Kivu sont morts.  Leurs corps ont été 

retrouvés lors d’une opération de recherche et de sauvetage lancée par la MONUSCO.  

L’hélicoptère, opéré par le contingent pakistanais, était en mission de reconnaissance dans la zone de Tshanzu, où 

des affrontements ont eu lieu ces derniers jours entre le M23 et les Forces armées de la République démocratique du 

Congo (FARDC).  Une enquête est en cours.   

Le Secrétaire général exprime ses sincères condoléances aux familles endeuillées et aux Gouvernements du Pakistan, 

de la Fédération de Russie et de la République de Serbie dont les troupes figurent parmi les victimes.  

Le Secrétaire général est profondément préoccupé par la résurgence des activités du M23 dans la zone tri-frontalière 

entre le Rwanda, la RDC et l’Ouganda, ainsi que par l’impact de la violence des groupes armés sur les populations 

civiles.  

Le Secrétaire général réitère l’engagement des Nations Unies à soutenir le Gouvernement et le peuple congolais dans 

leurs efforts pour ramener la paix et la stabilité dans les provinces orientales du pays. »  

Stéphane Dujarric, Porte-parole du Secrétaire général  

New York, 29 mars 2022 

  

https://www.un.org/press/en/2022/sgsm21213.doc.htm
https://www.un.org/press/fr/2022/sgsm21213.doc.htm
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Annex/Annexe 32:  

Tweet of Bertrand Bisimwa, President of M23/ARC, of 25 March 2022 

Tweet de Bertrand Bisimwa, Président du M23/ARC, du 25 mars 2022 

 

On 25 March 2022, Bertrand Bisimwa tweeted that “We did everything to avoid a new war in this country, but the Congolese 

Government made its choice”: 

Le 25 mars 2022, Bertand Bisimwa a posté un tweet disant : « Nous avons tout fait pour éviter une nouvelle guerre dans ce 

pays. Cependant le gouvernement congolais a fait ses choix. » 

 

 

Tweet last consulted on 24 April 2022104 

Tweet consulté le 24 avril 2022 pour la dernière fois105 

  

__________________ 

104 Bertrand Bisimwa on Twitter: "Nous avons tout fait pour éviter une nouvelle guerre dans ce pays. Cependant le gouvernement 

congolais a fait ses choix. https://t.co/LoKwZYSaPM" / Twitter  
105 Bertrand Bisimwa on Twitter: "Nous avons tout fait pour éviter une nouvelle guerre dans ce pays. Cependant le gouvernement 

congolais a fait ses choix. https://t.co/LoKwZYSaPM" / Twitter  

https://twitter.com/bbisimwa/status/1507470433213460481?cxt=HHwWgsC9keiXzuspAAAA
https://twitter.com/bbisimwa/status/1507470433213460481?cxt=HHwWgsC9keiXzuspAAAA
https://twitter.com/bbisimwa/status/1507470433213460481?cxt=HHwWgsC9keiXzuspAAAA
https://twitter.com/bbisimwa/status/1507470433213460481?cxt=HHwWgsC9keiXzuspAAAA
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Annex/Annexe 33:  

Maps indicating the two main M23/ARC camps and geographical context 

Cartes indiquant les deux principaux camps du M23/ARC ainsi que le contexte géographique 

 

Triangle 1 (above on the right): West Sabinyo Mount (1°22.689’S/29°33.894’E): M23 headquarters 

Triangle 2 (below above Visoke): Visoke Mount (1°25.999’S/29°29.737’E): second main M23 camp 

 

Triangle 1 (au-dessus, à droite) : Ouest du Mont Sabinyo (1°22.689’S/29°33.894’E) : quartier-général du M23 

Triangle 2 (en dessous, au niveau de Visoke) : Mont Visoke (1°25.999’S/29°29.737’E) : deuxième camp principal du M23  
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M23/ARC also claimed to have positions in Mikeno, Karisimbi and Sarambwe. 

 

Sources: EVJM report of 6 December 2021 on the mission in the DRC, Ugandan and Rwanda to verify attacks by ex-M23 

combatants on FARDC positions in Tshanzu, Runyoni and Camp Commando in Rutshuru territory, FARDC, security forces, 

MONUSCO, M23 sources, intelligence sources, civil society. 

 

M23/ARC a également revendiqué avoir des positions à Mikeno, Karisimbi et Sarambwe. 

Sources : rapport du MCVE du 6 décembre 2021 sur la mission en RDC, Ouganda et Rwanda pour vérifier des attaques des 

combattants du ex-M23 sur des positions des FARDC à Tshanzu, Runyoni et Camp Commando dans le territoire de 

Rutshuru, FARDC, forces de sécurité, MONUSCO, sources du M23, des renseignements et de la société civile. 

The 6 December 2021 EVJM report mentions that several likely M23/ARC camps/observation posts were observed along 

the Rwanda and Uganda border: 

Le rapport du MCVE du 6 décembre 2021 mentionne que plusieurs camps/postes d'observation probables du M23/ARC ont 

été observés le long de la frontière entre le Rwanda et l'Ouganda : 
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Map from the EVJM report of 6 December 2021 on the mission in the DRC, Ugandan and Rwanda to verify attacks by ex-

M23 combatants on FARDC positions in Tshanzu, Runyoni and Camp Commando in Rutshuru territory 

 

Carte extraite du rapport du MCVE du 6 décembre 2021 sur la mission en RDC, en Ouganda et au Rwanda pour vérifier les 

attaques des combattants du ex-M23 sur les positions des FARDC à Tshanzu, Runyoni et Camp Commando dans le territoire 

de Rutshuru 
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Annex/Annexe 34:  

Some examples of M23/ARC weaponry - 107mm rockets and PKM machine guns - and M23/ARC combatants in 

military fatigues shown on M23/ARC video communication of 10 April 2022 

Quelques exemples de l’armement du M23/ARC - roquettes de 107 mm et mitrailleuses PKM - et des combattants 

du M23/ARC en treillis militaire observés sur une vidéo de communication du M23/ARC du 10 avril 2022 
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Screenshots of M23/ARC videos provided to Group by civil society sources 

Captures d’écran de vidéos du M23/ARC fournies au Groupe par des sources de la société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 35:  

M23 delegation and Nairobi Agreements 

Délégation du M23 et Accords de Nairobi 

 

The recent attacks of the M23/ARC stemmed from, inter alia, a lack of progress in the implementation of the Nairobi 

Agreements signed on 12 December 2013. Fourteen-month confidential negotiations between the DRC Government and an 

M23 delegation, had started in September 2020, but stalled. 

The M23 delegation was comprised of Benjamin Mbonimpa, Laurens Kanyuka and Castro Mbera. 

The Nairobi Agreement does not refer to integration into FARDC or political positions that could be obtained by M23 ex-

combatants. In addition, on 27 September 2013, the DRC published a communiqué listing commanders and other men 

belonging or associated to the M23 who can never be integrated into the FARDC. Ex-FARDC and Colonel Makenga Sultani 

figures on this list.  

 

Les attaques récentes du M23/ARC ont résulté, entre autres, d'un manque de progrès dans la mise en œuvre des Accords de 

Nairobi signés le 12 décembre 2013. Des négociations confidentielles entre le Gouvernement de la RDC et une délégation 

du M23 avaient commencé en septembre 2020 et avaient duré 14 mois, mais se trouvaient au point mort. 

La délégation du M23 était composée de Benjamin Mbonimpa, Laurens Kanyuka et Castro Mbera. 

Les Accords de Nairobi ne faisaient pas référence à l'intégration dans les FARDC ou aux postes politiques qui pourraient 

être obtenus par les ex-combattants du M23. Par ailleurs, le 27 septembre 2013, la RDC a publié un communiqué listant les 

commandants et autres hommes appartenant ou associés au M23 qui ne pourront jamais être intégrés dans les FARDC. Des 

ex-FARDC et le Colonel Makenga Sultani figurent sur cette liste. 
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Excerpt from the Declaration on the commitments of the 23 March Movement at the conclusion of the Kampala Dialogue 

(excerpts of the 12 December 2012 “Nairobi Agreement”): 

Extrait de la Déclaration sur les engagements du Mouvement du 23 mars à l'issue du Dialogue de Kampala (extraits des « 

Accords de Nairobi » du 12 décembre 2012) : 
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Annex/Annexe 36:  

M23 initial denial of involvement in the November 2021 attacks and subsequent communications accusing FARDC 

of attacking M23 and opting for war 

Démenti initial sur l'implication du M23 dans les attaques de novembre 2021 et communications ultérieures accusant 

les FARDC d'avoir attaqué le M23 et d'avoir opté pour la guerre 

 

On 8 November 2021, in an official communiqué, M23 stated that it was engaged in negotiations with the DRC Government, 

that the M23 delegation had fruitful discussions with President Tshisekedi’s administration, and that it was therefore not 

engaged in armed confrontations whatsoever in Rutshuru territory. 

 

Le 8 novembre 2021, dans un communiqué officiel, le M23 a déclaré qu'il était engagé dans des négociations avec le 

Gouvernement de la RDC, que la délégation du M23 avait eu des discussions fructueuses avec l'administration du Président 

Tshisekedi, et qu'il n'était donc pas engagé dans des affrontements armés dans le territoire de Rutshuru. 
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In late March 2022, M23/ARC published several videos and communiqués accusing FARDC of attacking M23/ARC 

positions and stating that the DRC Government had opted for war. For example, in a recorded video statement of 19 March 

2022,106  M23/ARC stated that the “FARDC increasingly attacked their positions of Mikeno, Karisimbi, Visoke and 

Sabinyo” and that “the regime intentionally refuses to make peace”.  

 

Fin mars 2022, le M23/ARC a publié plusieurs vidéos et communiqués accusant les FARDC d'attaquer des positions du 

M23/ARC et déclarant que le Gouvernement de la RDC avait opté pour la guerre. Par exemple, dans une déclaration vidéo 

enregistrée du 19 mars 2022107, le M23/ARC a déclaré que « les FARDC ont de plus en plus attaqué leurs positions de 

Mikeno, Karisimbi, Visoke et Sabinyo » et que « le régime refuse intentionnellement de faire la paix ». 

 

 

Screenshot of the video of M23/ARC spokesperson reading the 19 March 2022 communiqué, provided to the Group by 

civil society sources. 

Capture d'écran de la vidéo du porte-parole du M23/ARC lisant le communiqué du 19 mars 2022, vidéo fournie au Groupe 

par des sources de la société civile. 

 

  

__________________ 

106 M23/ARC communiqué No. 003/22. 
107 Communiqué du M23/ARC N° 003/22. 
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In a communiqué of 25 March 2022, M23/ARC stated that “the violence currently imposed on us by the FARDC in 

Rutshuru territory is a deliberate choice of the DRC Government to wage war”. 

 

Dans un communiqué du 25 mars 2022, le M23/ARC a déclaré que « la violence que nous imposent actuellement les 

FARDC dans le territoire de Rutshuru est un choix délibéré du Gouvernement de la RDC de faire la guerre». 

 

 

Screenshot of an excerpt of the 25 March 2022 M23 communiqué, provided to the Group by civil society sources 

Capture d'écran d'un extrait du communiqué du M23 du 25 mars 2022, document fourni au Groupe par des sources de la 

société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 37:  

M23 unilateral cease-fire declaration of 1 April 2022 

Déclaration unilatérale de cessez-le-feu du M23 du 1er avril 2022 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by civil society sources 

Document fourni au Groupe par des sources de la société civile  
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Annex/Annexe 38:  

Remarks of Rwandan President Kagame during the swearing in ceremony of new ministers on 8 February 2022 

Allocution du Président rwandais Kagame lors de la cérémonie de prestation de serment de nouveaux ministres le 8 

février 2022 

 

The remarks of Rwanda President Kagame can be viewed via the following link: 

Swearing-in Ceremony of new Government Officials | Remarks by President Kagame. - YouTube (last consulted on 22 

April 2022) 

 

L’allocution du Président rwandais Kagame peut être vue avec le lien suivant : Swearing-in Ceremony of new Government 

Officials | Remarks by President Kagame. - YouTube (dernière consultation le 22 avril 2022) 

 

  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UzZ4s_L1EXQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UzZ4s_L1EXQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UzZ4s_L1EXQ
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Annex/Annexe 39: 

North Kivu Military Governor’s spokesperson’s statement of 28 March 2022 and replies by Rwandan Government 

and M23/ARC 

Déclaration du porte-parole du Gouverneur militaire du Nord-Kivu du 28 mars 2022 et réponses du 

Gouvernement rwandais et du M23/ARC 

 

Excerpts of FARDC communication provided to the Group by FARDC sources: 

Extraits de la communication des FARDC fournie au Groupe par des sources des FARDC : 
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Communiqué of Rwandan Governor of Western Province of 28 March 2022, provided to the Group by FARDC sources 

Communiqué du Gouverneur de la province occidentale du Rwanda du 28 mars 2022, fourni au Groupe par des sources 

des FARDC 

 

RÉPUBLIQUE DU RWANDA 

PROVINCE DE L'OUEST 

 

Karongi Pension Plaza, 1 et 4e étage Courriel : westernprovince@westernprovince.gov.rw B.P 62 KIBUYE 

 

Communiqué 

 

Nous avons été mis au courant d'un communiqué et de reportages médiatiques émanant du porte-parole du gouverneur du 

Nord-Kivu, qui, au nom des FARDC accuse les Forces rwandaises de défense de soutenir les éléments armés qui ont attaqué 

les FARDC dans les régions de Tshanzu et Runyoni (RDC), 

Nous voudrions réfuter catégoriquement les accusations sans fondement et déclarer que RDF n'est en aucun cas impliqué 

dans les activités belligérantes à travers la RDC. 

Le communiqué et les reportages des médias du porte-parole du gouverneur du Nord-Kivu allèguent que deux individus, 

prétendument membres des RDF, ont été capturés. Nous voudrions contester ces fausses allégations. Les deux noms ont été 

mentionnés par la délégation congolaise de l'armée et du renseignement lors de la réunion bilatérale RDC-Rwanda des 

équipes conjointes de renseignement tenue le 25 février 2022 à Kigali. 

Les équipes de renseignement n'ont pas été autorisées par la suite à interroger ces personnes pour une évaluation conjointe 

comme c'est la pratique. 

Le RDF ne compte aucun membre aux noms présentés dans le communiqué précité. Il s'agit d'une tentative de manipulation 

de l'opinion en présentant deux individus arrêtés dans des circonstances obscures il y a plus d'un mois, comme des éléments 

capturés lors des combats du 28 mars 2022. 

La RDC et le Rwanda disposent de mécanismes de vérification dans le cadre de la CIRGL et au niveau bilatéral pour vérifier 

ces allégations, et la RDC aurait dû les activer si elle avait agi de bonne foi. Nous appelons EJVM et JIT à enquêter sur ces 

accusations absurdes contre RDF. 

Le GoR a toujours offert sa coopération pour le rapatriement des ex-combattants congolais, qui furent désarmés et cantonnés. 

Le GoR ne devrait pas assumer la responsabilité de l'échec du GoRDC à conclure le processus harmonieusement. 

Fait à Karongi - le 28 mars 2022 

François HABITEGEKO Le Gouverneur de la Province de l'Ouest*** 
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On 29 March 2022, M23/ARC refuted allegations of cooperation with Rwanda or any other neighbouring State in a video 

recording.  

 

Le 29 mars 2022, le M23/ARC a réfuté les allégations de coopération avec le Rwanda ou tout autre État voisin dans un 

enregistrement vidéo. 

 

 

 

Screenshot of the video provided to the Group by FARDC sources on 29 March 2022 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo fournie au Groupe par des sources des FARDC du 29 mars 2022 
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Annex/Annexe 40: 

FDLR-FOCA leadership 

Commandement des FDLR-FOCA 

 

In addition to the top leadership detailed in para. 73, Curé Ngoma, based in Muchababwe near Bukombo,108 oversaw 

FDLR/FOCA political affairs. “General” Hakizimana Apollinaire, alias Amikwe Lepic or Poète, based in FDLR/FOCA’s 

base known as Mozambique next to Kibirizi served as “Defense commissioner.” “Lieutenant-Colonel” Aimé Gustave 

Omega, located in Birambizo, was the head of intelligence.  

According to two ex-FDLR combatants, three civil society sources and two researchers, “Colonel” Ruvugayimikore 

Protogène, alias Ruhinda, and his deputy known as “Silencieux”, led the FOCA command special unit known as Commando 

de recherche et d’action en profondeur (CRAP). “Colonel” Ruhinda also oversaw the training of FDLR-FOCA combatants 

(see S/2018/531, para. 16) 

 

En plus des informations sur la structure du haut-commandement détaillée dans le paragraphe 73, Curé Ngoma, basé à 

Muchababwe près de Bukombo 109 , était chargé des affaires politiques des FDLR/FOCA. « Général » Hakizimana 

Appolinaire, alias Amikwe Lepic ou Poète, basé au camp des FDLR/FOCA connu sous le nom de Mozambique près de 

Kibirizi était le « commissaire chargé de la défense ». « Lieutenant-Colonel » Aimé Gustave Omega, basé á Birambizo, était 

le chef des renseignements. 

Selon les témoignages de deux anciens combattants des FDLR, de trois sources de la société civile et de deux chercheurs, 

le « Colonel » Ruvugayimikore Protogène, alias Ruhinda, et son adjoint, le dénommé « Silencieux », dirigeaient l’unité 

spéciale appelée Commando de recherche et d’action en profondeur (CRAP). « Colonel » Ruhinda assurait également la 

formation des combattants des FDLR-FOCA (voir S/2018/531, par. 16) 

 

__________________ 

108 All locations in this annex are in Rutshuru territory. 
109 Tous les lieux dans cette annexe sont dans le territoire de Rutshuru.  

https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/3479877.11429596.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/3479877.11429596.html
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Annex/Annexe 41: 

Some FARDC members digging for coltan and tourmaline at mines in Rubaya 

Certains membres des FARDC creusant pour trouver du coltan et de la tourmaline dans les mines de Rubaya 

 

In addition to four private sector members who described the involvement of some FARDC members in coltan taxation and 

trading at mines on the PE4731 concession during 2021, the Group also reviewed and corroborated seven audio messages 

and reviewed video footage of some FARDC members digging tourmaline in mines, notably at Rukaza mine, on PE4731 in 

Rubaya. 

The Group found that, amongst the FARDC members who were present, between at least April and September 2021, some 

members of the 3412th Brigade were present at Rubaya as part of “Special Forces”, as described for example by two FARDC 

members in the transcript below, although the 3412th Brigade had its base at Ishasha, near the Ugandan border. 

The Group provides below excerpts of transcripts from four of the audios about tourmaline. 

 

 

En plus des quatre membres du secteur privé qui ont décrit l'implication de certains membres des FARDC dans la taxation 

et le commerce de coltan dans les mines de la concession PE4731 au cours de l'année 2021, le Groupe a également examiné 

et corroboré sept messages audio et examiné des séquences vidéo de certains membres des FARDC creusant de la tourmaline 

dans des mines, notamment dans la mine de Rukaza, sur la concession PE4731 à Rubaya. 

Le Groupe a constaté que parmi les membres des FARDC qui étaient présents, il y avait certains membres de la 3412 ième 

brigade à Rubaya en tant que « Forces spéciales » entre avril et septembre 2021 au moins, comme l’ont décrit par exemple 

deux membres des FARDC dans la transcription de l’enregistrement audio ci-dessous, et ce bien que la 3412ième brigade ait 

sa base à Ishasha, près de la frontière ougandaise. 

Le Groupe fournit ci-dessous des extraits de transcriptions de quatre de ces enregistrements audios sur la tourmaline. 

 

1. Conversation between a security guard A and a mineral trader B at Rukaza, July 2021 

 

A: Oh, I'm a security guard 

B: Okay, you're a security guard!  

A: Yes 

B: We extract the tourmaline with them.  

A: [with] those soldiers?  

B: Yes 

A: Which regiment are they in?   

B: I don't know but their colonel is Rusimbi  

A: What is the link between them and Colonel Zaïre?  

B: I don't know. We don't ask them about that.  

[......]  



 
S/2022/479 

 

157/297 22-06591 

 

A: What agreements did COOPERAMMA and the FARDC have so that they could exploit the site every Saturday 

and Sunday? 

B: They were digging alone.  

A: Okay 

B: That's how the system then changed, and we had suggested that they work with them. 

A: Ok 

B: …that's how you will get the minerals… we agreed… even this gentleman here, we work together. 

[…] 

   

A: How do they sell their minerals?  

B: They sell all the minerals together 

A: And you?  

B: And we also divide the minerals into two parts  

A: So you share with COOPERAMMA  

B: Yes 

 

1. Conversation entre un agent de sécurité A et un négociant en minéraux B à Rukaza, juillet 2021 

 

A : Oh, je suis un agent de sécurité. 

B : D'accord, vous êtes un agent de sécurité !  

A : Oui 

B : Nous extrayons la tourmaline avec eux.  

A : [avec] ces soldats ?  

B : Oui 

A : De quel régiment font-ils partie ?   

B : Je ne sais pas mais leur colonel est Rusimbi.  

A : Quel est le lien entre eux et le Colonel Zaïre ?  

B : Je ne sais pas. Nous ne leur posons pas de questions à ce sujet.  

[...]  

A : Quels accords avaient COOPERAMMA et les FARDC pour qu'ils puissent exploiter le site tous les samedis et 

dimanches ? 

B : Ils creusaient seuls.  

A : D'accord 
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B : C'est comme ça que le système a changé ensuite et nous leur avions proposé de travailler avec eux. 

A : Ok 

B : ...c'est comme ça que vous obtiendrez les minéraux... on s'est mis d'accord... même ce monsieur-là, on travaille 

ensemble. 

[...] 

A : Comment vendent-ils leurs minéraux ?  

B : Ils vendent tous les minéraux ensemble 

A : Et vous ?  

B : Et nous aussi on divise les minéraux en deux parts.  

A : Donc vous partagez avec COOPERAMMA.  

B : Oui 

 

 

2. Conversation between an FARDC member B of 3412th regiment and a mineral trader A at Rukaza, June 2021 

 

A: Where do they come from?  

B: The Mai-Mai are in this area…?  

A: Maybe they are Nyatura militia? 

B: They are all Mai-Mai.  

B: They are not seen during the day  

A: It's only at night?  

B: Exactly  

B: We were here in Rukaza and the major's wife was sick and so she sent me to take medicine. 

A: You were here in Rukaza! 

A: What's it like at the mine site? 

B: It's ok 

A: Are you the one who was on guard duty today?  

B: No, there are others and the Major is there. 

A: Who worked the night shift?  

B: It was S4 who worked during the night. 

A: Have you already found the diggers who will work today? 

B: During the night? 

A: Yes 
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[....] 

A: That digger over there…? 

B: Yes, he is the brother of the Major. 

B: He is the one who is here. If you can contact him, you can work without any problem.  

[…] 

B: We will leave here on Monday  

A: You will leave here on Monday! 

B: Yes, on Monday morning 

A: So we have to start work on Friday night. 

B: Our soldiers came yesterday. Today they have to spend all day and all night here. And tomorrow, the same thing 

to leave on Monday morning 

[….] 

A: Monday, very early morning! 

B: Yes 

B: We are working  

A: You work with them… What will be the next step where you sell the ores, once we find them? 

B: The officers are in charge of selling the minerals, it does not concern us. 

A: Who sells these minerals? 

B: The Major 

A: What Major? 

[...] 

B: But in order to approach him properly, I'll give you the Lieutenant's number 

A: Which Lieutenant? 

B: Lieutenant Claude 

A: Why don't we contact your regimental commander? 

B: Let him recommend someone. 

A: How will you find our regimental commander?  

B: He is in Kahunga 

A: Where is that? 

B: Kahunga 

A: Where is Kahunga?  

B: Kahunga on the way to Mabenga-Beni.  

[…] 
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A: Ok 

B: That's where he is and the other one is in Kinshasa.  

A: This is the number of the regiment?  

B: 3413 

A: 13? 

B: Yes 

A: And to whom does the 3412th regiment belong? 

B: The 3412th regiment belongs to Colonel Zaire and is located in Nyamilima 

A: Doesn't he have any elements here? 

B: That's us 

A: Is that you? 

B: Yes 

A: And so it is your regiment that is deployed on the border with Uganda? 

B: Oh yes 

A: Is it possible to contact him so that he can be recommended by saying, I have a soldier who is here and he wanted 

me to be recommended as a taker of the minerals from here? 

[…] 

B: All this must be told to our Lieutenant, because he was the leader, he had left to go to Kinshasa.  

A: So he had left his interim?  

B: Yes. 

 

2. Conversation entre un membre B des FARDC du 3412ième régiment et un négociant en minerais A à Rukaza, juin 

2021 

 

A : D'où viennent-ils ?  

B : Les Maï-Maï sont dans cette zone... ?  

A : Ce sont peut-être des miliciens de Nyatura ? 

B : Ce sont tous des Maï-Maï.  

B : On ne les voit pas pendant la journée. 

A : C'est seulement la nuit ?  

B : Exactement.  

B : Nous étions ici à Rukaza et la femme du Major était malade et elle m'a envoyé prendre des médicaments. 

A : Vous étiez ici à Rukaza ! 
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A : Comment est-ce que cela se passe sur le site de la mine ? 

B : C'est bien. 

A : C'est vous qui étiez de garde aujourd'hui ?  

B : Non, il y en a d'autres et le Major est là. 

A : Qui a travaillé dans l'équipe de nuit ?  

B : C'est S4 qui a travaillé pendant la nuit. 

A : Avez-vous déjà trouvé les creuseurs qui vont travailler aujourd'hui ? 

B : Pendant la nuit ? 

A : Oui 

[....] 

A : Ce creuseur là-bas... ? 

B : Oui, c'est le frère du Major. 

B : C'est lui qui est ici. Si vous pouvez le contacter, vous pouvez travailler sans problème.  

[...] 

B : Nous partirons d'ici lundi.  

A : Vous partirez d'ici lundi ! 

B : Oui, lundi matin. 

A : Donc nous devons commencer à travailler le vendredi soir. 

B : Nos soldats sont arrivés hier. Aujourd'hui ils doivent passer toute la journée et toute la nuit ici. Et demain, même 

chose pour partir le lundi matin. 

[....] 

A : Lundi, très tôt le matin ! 

B : Oui 

B : Nous travaillons  

A : Vous travaillez avec eux... Quelle sera l'étape suivante où vous vendrez les minerais, une fois que nous les 

aurons trouvés ? 

B : Les officiers sont en charge de la vente des minerais, cela ne nous concerne pas. 

A : Qui vend ces minerais ? 

B : Le Major 

A : Quel Major ? 

[...] 

B : Mais pour pouvoir l'approcher correctement, je vais vous donner le numéro du Lieutenant. 

A : Quel Lieutenant ? 
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B : Le Lieutenant Claude 

A : Pourquoi ne pas contacter votre commandant de régiment ? 

B : Laissons-le recommander quelqu'un. 

A : Comment allez-vous trouver notre commandant de régiment ?  

B : Il est à Kahunga. 

A : Où est-ce que c'est ? 

B : Kahunga 

A : Où est Kahunga ?  

B : Kahunga sur la route de Mabenga-Beni.  

[...] 

A : Ok 

B : C'est là qu'il est et l'autre est à Kinshasa.  

A : C'est le numéro du régiment ?  

B : 3413 

A : 13 ? 

B : Oui 

A : Et à qui appartient le 3412ième régiment ? 

B : Le 3412ième régiment appartient au Colonel Zaïre et est situé à Nyamilima. 

A : N'a-t-il pas d'éléments ici ? 

B : C'est nous 

A : C'est vous ? 

B : Oui 

A : Et c'est donc votre régiment qui est déployé à la frontière avec l'Ouganda ? 

B : Oh oui 

A : Est-il possible de le contacter pour qu'il puisse être recommandé en disant, j'ai un soldat qui est ici 

et il voudrait que je le recommande comme preneur de minéraux d'ici ? 

[...] 

B : Il faut dire tout ça à notre Lieutenant, parce que c'était le chef, il est parti pour aller à Kinshasa.  

A : Il a donc quitté son intérim ?  

B : Oui. 

 

3. Conversation between an FARDC member A (a different person to conversation (1) above) and a mineral trader 

B, May 2021 
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A: I work in this FARDC unit located here  

B: In which unit? 

A: For this commander. But my regiment is in Ishasha, in Bunagana on the border with Uganda.  

B: What do they call your unit from here?  

A: 3412th regiment of Colonel Zaire of Rutshuru. 

B: Ok 

A: Are all the soldiers here in this regiment or not? 

A: We are in a unit called "Special Force".  

B: So this is a selection!  

A: So this unit is formed by soldiers from different companies, different battalions and different regiments. We 

have 285 special “units”. It was Colonel Uzima who shot the FDLR commander Mudachumura. 

B: He is still your commander?  

A: Yes, he is. 

[...] 

A: Yes, we came because of the conflict that exists between COOPERAMMA and SMB. This conflict that is going 

on here! Of these two groups… 

B: So SMB and COOPERAMMA... Who is the commander who controls here?  

A: It's Major Gasore. 

B: Have you already mastered the situation in Rukaza? 

A: Little by little. 

B: Why don't you tell me about the activities of every Saturday and Sunday?  

[....] 

A: I don't control the mine shafts. 

B: What are your responsibilities?  

A: I am in charge of [redacted]. 

B: Don't these diggers that you hire steal some of the tourmaline?  

A: You have to report to us. We work with the concessionaires, the secretaries, and the chiefs and agents of 

COOPERAMMA. 

B: Who is this chief with whom you work?  

A: It is the secretary who is in charge of this task. He is the one who places diggers and police officers and even 

our soldiers.  

B: And Shamamba [ed: of CCOPERAMMA]? 

A: Of course, Shamamba too.  

B: Oh yes 
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A: Do you work with him?  

B: Yes 

A: Did they ask for you or did the state deploy you here?  

B: We are here by order of the government. 

[....] 

A: Who are your mineral buyers?  

B: They [the soldiers] are the ones who sell these minerals and then they share with the “committee”. This is how 

the commander gives the money to his hierarchy in Goma.  

A: In Goma! 

B: Yes 

 

3. Conversation entre un membre des FARDC A (une personne différente de la conversation (1) ci-dessus) et un 

négociant en minéraux B, mai 2021 

 

A : Je travaille dans cette unité des FARDC située ici.  

B : Dans quelle unité ? 

A : Pour ce commandant. Mais mon régiment est à Ishasha, à Bunagana, à la frontière avec l'Ouganda. 

B : Comment appelle-t-on votre unité d'ici ?  

R : 3412ième régiment du Colonel Zaïre de Rutshuru. 

B : Ok 

A : Tous les soldats ici sont dans ce régiment ou pas ? 

A : Nous sommes dans une unité appelée "Force spéciale".  

B : Donc c'est une sélection !  

A : Donc cette unité est formée de soldats de différentes compagnies, différents bataillons et différents régiments. 

Nous avons 285 « unités » spéciales. C'est le Colonel Uzima qui a abattu le commandant des FDLR, Mudachumura. 

B : Il est toujours votre commandant ?  

A : Oui, il l'est. 

[...] 

A : Oui, nous sommes venus à cause du conflit qui existe entre la COOPERAMMA et la SMB. Ce conflit qui est 

en train de se dérouler ici ! De ces deux groupes... 

B : Donc SMB et COOPERAMMA... Qui est le commandant qui contrôle ici ?  

A : C'est le Commandant Gasore. 

B : Avez-vous déjà maîtrisé la situation à Rukaza ? 

A : Petit à petit. 
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B : Pourquoi ne me parlez -vous pas des activités de chaque samedi et dimanche ?  

[....] 

A : Je ne contrôle pas les puits de mine. 

B : Quelles sont vos responsabilités ?  

A : Je suis en charge de [caviardé]. 

B : Les creuseurs que vous embauchez ne volent-ils pas une partie de la tourmaline ?  

R : Vous devez nous faire un rapport. Nous travaillons avec les concessionnaires, les secrétaires, les chefs et les 

agents de COOPERAMMA. 

B : Qui est ce chef avec lequel vous travaillez ?  

R : C'est le secrétaire qui est en charge de cette tâche. C'est lui qui place les creuseurs et les policiers et même nos 

soldats.  

B : Et Shamamba [ndlr : de COOPERAMMA] ? 

A : Bien sûr, Shamamba aussi.  

B : Oh oui 

A : Est-ce que vous travaillez avec lui ?  

B : Oui. 

A : Ils vous ont demandé ou l'État vous a déployé ici ?  

B : Nous sommes ici sur ordre du Gouvernement. 

[....] 

A : Qui sont vos acheteurs de minéraux ?  

B : Ce sont eux [les soldats] qui vendent ces minéraux et ils partagent ensuite avec le "comité". C'est ainsi que le 

commandant donne l'argent à sa hiérarchie à Goma.  

A : À Goma ! 

B : Oui 

 

4. Conversation between an FARDC member (a different person to conversations (1) and (2) above) and a mineral 

trader B, April 2021 

A: So, you see this. 

B: Okay. 

A: What you see, you crush this, to get this material 

B: So, this tourmaline you have, you who are a soldier, you can contact this woman buyer...  

A: It's only 1,000 francs. 

A: Even 1,000 francs is a lot. 

B: You can collaborate and see if she can give you how much. 



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 166/297 

 

B: You always have to search and one day you will find a tourmaline of a big size.  

 

4. Conversation entre un membre des FARDC (une personne différente des conversations (1) et (2) ci-dessus) et un 

négociant en minéraux B, avril 2021 

 

A : Donc vous voyez ceci. 

B : D'accord. 

A : Ce que vous voyez, vous l'écrasez pour obtenir ce matériau. 

B : Donc cette tourmaline que vous avez, vous qui êtes un soldat, vous pouvez contacter cette femme acheteuse....

  

A : C'est seulement 1 000 francs. 

A : Même 1 000 francs, c'est beaucoup. 

B : Vous pouvez collaborer et voir combien elle peut vous donner. 

B : Il faut toujours chercher et un jour tu trouveras une tourmaline de grande taille.  
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Annex/Annexe 42: 

Tourmaline production at Rukaza/Luwowo 

Production de tourmaline à Rukaza/Luwowo 

 

Better Mining sent the Group a fulsome response, which it marked confidential. However, Better Mining told the Group 

that it had engaged with the relevant authorities in September 2021 to resolve the issue of non-mandated FARDC presence 

at Luwowo. Better Mining also temporarily stopped all mineral trading at the site in September 2021, whilst the incident 

was being addressed. 

The Group notes that official tourmaline exports from North Kivu in 2021 were 127,989.7 kilograms, or just over 127 tons. 

 

Better Mining a envoyé au Groupe une réponse complète, qu'elle a qualifiée de confidentielle. Toutefois, Better Mining a 

indiqué au Groupe qu'elle s’était engagée auprès des autorités compétentes en septembre 2021 à résoudre la question de la 

présence non autorisée des FARDC à Luwowo. Better Mining a également cessé temporairement tout commerce de minerais 

sur le site en septembre 2021, jusqu’à ce que l'incident soit traité. 

Le Groupe note que les exportations officielles de tourmaline du Nord-Kivu en 2021 se sont élevées à 127 989,7 

kilogrammes, soit un peu plus de 127 tonnes. 
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Annex/Annexe 43: 

Civil society letter about 10 January 2022 armed attack at coltan mine, Shakubangwa, Masisi territory 

Lettre de la société civile concernant l'attaque armée du 10 janvier 2022 de la mine de coltan de Shakubangwa, dans 

le territoire de Masisi 

 

In the letter below dated 14 January 2022, a Shakubangwa civil society leader claims that armed men attacked mine sites in 

Shakubangwa, stealing minerals worth US$ 17,000 and causing death of unnamed artisanal miners. The Group received 

corroborating information about the attack from a Rubaya-based negociant, two Shakubangwa artisanal miners and two 

mining authorities, although these other sources linked the armed attack and individuals involved in the attack to armed 

COOPERAMMA members and “Shamamba in Rubaya” (see S/2021/560, paras. 61-62), or to “those led by Maachano”. 

The Group notes that Shakubangwa is also spelled Shakubanga or Chakubanga or Chakubanwga by local sources. 

 

 

Dans la lettre ci-dessous, datée du 14 janvier 2022, un dirigeant de la société civile de Shakubangwa affirme que des hommes 

armés ont attaqué des sites miniers à Shakubangwa, volant des minerais pour une valeur de 17 000 dollars américains et 

causant la mort de mineurs artisanaux non nommés. Le Groupe a reçu des informations concordantes sur l'attaque d'un 

négociant basé à Rubaya, de deux mineurs artisanaux de Shakubangwa et de deux autorités minières, bien que ces autres 

sources aient lié l'attaque armée et les individus impliqués dans l'attaque à des membres armés de COOPERAMMA et à des 

« Shamamba à Rubaya » (voir S/2021/560, par. 61-62), ou à « ceux dirigés par Maachano ». Le Groupe note que 

Shakubangwa est également orthographié Shakubanga ou Chakubanga ou Chakubanwga par des sources locales. 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
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Letter provided to the Group by an authority 

Lettre fournie au Groupe par une autorité 
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Annex/Annexe 44: 

Response to the Group by the International Tin Association about increased coltan smuggling from the DRC  

Réponse au Groupe de l'Association internationale de l'étain sur l'augmentation de la contrebande de coltan en 

provenance de la RDC 

In its response to the Group, regarding cross-border coltan smuggling, the International Tin Association (ITA) noted first 

that “notable and significant progress continues to be made” in particular where the iTSCi Programme is operational. The 

ITA went on to note that its “preliminary assessments on recent data” showed there had been “a temporary decrease in 

production of coltan at some sites on PE76.”* 

The ITA added that there had been early indications of an “increase in exports from Rwanda around the same time – for a 

few weeks towards the end of 2021 and in January 2022”. 

Finally, the ITA noted that there was also “some early provisional indication that the aforementioned trends seem to be 

reversing following a range of actions by stakeholders” and that the reverse appeared to be happening during March 2022.  

The ITA also told the Group that the situation in and around Masisi was “one of the most complex and dynamic of mining 

areas influenced by a multiplicity of factors” and that in Masisi there were “vested and multiple interests, deep-rooted intra-

community disputes and tensions” and that it took time and verified data as well as on the ground checks to understand 

motivation for misinformation and draw reasonable conclusions on fraud. 

The Group wrote in detail about the tensions around coltan mines in Masisi territory in its June 2021 final report (see 

S/2021/560, para. 59 and annex 42).  

* PE 76 is a mining concession previously owned by Société Aurifère du Kivu et du Maniema (SAKIMA SA) and, at time 

of drafting, owned by a joint venture between SAKIMA SA and Coopérative des artisanaux miniers du Congo (CDMC), 

called Congo Fair Mining. 

 

Dans sa réponse au Groupe, concernant la contrebande transfrontalière de coltan, l'Association internationale de l’étain 

(ITA) a d'abord noté que « des progrès notables et significatifs continuent d'être réalisés », en particulier là où le programme 

iTSCi est opérationnel. L'ITA a ensuite noté que ses « évaluations préliminaires sur des données récentes » ont montré qu'il 

y avait eu « une diminution temporaire de la production de coltan sur certains sites du PE76 »*. 

L'ITA a ajouté qu'il y avait eu des indications préliminaires d'une « augmentation des exportations du Rwanda à peu près 

au même moment - pendant quelques semaines vers la fin de 2021 et en janvier 2022 ». 

Enfin, l'ITA a noté qu'il y avait également « des indications provisoires préliminaires selon lesquelles les tendances 

susmentionnées semblent s'inverser à la suite d'une série d'actions menées par les parties prenantes » et que cette inversion 

semblait se produire en mars 2022.  

L'ITA a également indiqué au Groupe que la situation à Masisi et dans ses environs était « l'une des zones minières les plus 

complexes et les plus dynamiques, influencée par une multiplicité de facteurs », qu'il existait à Masisi « des intérêts 

particuliers multiples, des conflits et des tensions intracommunautaires profondément enracinés » et que l’ITA avait besoin 

de temps, des données vérifiées et de contrôle sur le terrain pour comprendre les motivations derrière la désinformation et 

pour tirer des conclusions raisonnables sur la fraude. 

Le Groupe a écrit en détail sur les tensions autour des mines de coltan dans le territoire de Masisi dans son rapport final de 

juin 2021 (voir S/2021/560, par. 59 et annexe 42).  

* PE 76 est une concession minière qui appartenait auparavant à la Société Aurifère du Kivu et du Maniema (SAKIMA 

SA) et qui appartenait au moment de la rédaction du rapport à une joint-venture entre SAKIMA SA et la Coopérative des 

artisans mineurs du Congo (CDMC), appelée Congo Fair Mining. 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
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Annex/Annexe 45: 

Changes in buying practises by some export houses in Goma  

Changements dans les pratiques d'achat de certaines maisons d'exportation à Goma 

 

The Group notes that, as it previously reported, the region around Rubaya is rich in tantalite-columbite, commonly known 

as coltan. The richness of the mineral deposit in the Rubaya area provides the backdrop to long-standing and land-based 

tensions between communities, that are affiliated to business interests, on which the Group has previously reported (see 

S/2021/560, para. 59 and annex 42).   

Underlining that the transparent and effective management of the DRC’s natural resources and ending illegal smuggling and 

trafficking of such resources are critical for the DRC’s sustainable peace, stability and security, and concurring with the text 

of paragraph 22 of resolution 2360 (2017), and pursuant to its mandate to evaluate the impact of minerals traceability, 

pursuant to paragraph 6 (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), as reaffirmed by paragraph 5 of resolution 2582 (2021), the Group 

investigated the changing buying practises of coltan exporters in Goma, during 2021. 

Four members of the private sector, representatives of a private sector scheme, a mining authority, a representative from 

civil society, and three coltan transporters described to the Group how cross-border untagged coltan smuggling between the 

DRC and Rwanda had increased towards the end of 2021 due, in part, to changes in the per kilo price being offered by coltan 

buying houses in Goma.  

According to three members of the private sector and an analyst of Rubaya’s coltan sector, these changes were linked to a 

new mining joint-venture called Congo Fair Mining (CFM).110 As of December 2020, CFM assumed the legal title for coltan 

mining concession PE76 (see S/2021/560, paras. 67-69 and annexes 42, 44, 47 and 48).  

The same sources told the Group that the CFM joint-venture had made two significant changes to Goma’s coltan market. 

First, it gave coltan buying rights from the PE76 concession, which had been considered one of Rubaya’s main coltan mining 

areas alongside PE4731, to a small group of companies, who could therefore dictate per kilo prices. Second, the joint venture 

itself did not include COOPERAMMA as a shareholder. 

Some COOPERAMMA members felt that they should have been given shares in CFM, according to three mineral traders. 

The traders further explained that some COOPERAMMA members therefore decided to sell their coltan elsewhere, 

including over the border in Rwanda, where they could also get a higher per kilo price for coltan. 

Three mineral traders from Rubaya underlined to the Group the sensitivities surrounding the coltan mines in Rubaya, and 

noted that changes in the Goma coltan market, including over price, could have significant knock-on impacts on security 

and stability in Rubaya and its surrounding mines. 

In its response to the Group, CDMC, one of the CFM partners, told the Group that “to establish a causal relationship between 

the increase or resurgence of mining fraud and smuggling with the change in the price of coltan by the Goma comptoirs 

[buying houses] and the fact that COOPERAMMA did not obtain shares in CFM reveals that your sources of information 

are making a mix up that cannot be accepted by informed observers.” 

John Crawley (see S/2021/560, para. 70; and S/2009/603, paras. 176-177 and 214-215), who described himself as being 

in a “long term business relationship with CDMC that started long ago in Tanganyika province” told the Group 

that, with regard to increased smuggling “Congo Fair Mining (CFM) is the owner of the PE76 concession and has 

legal title to material produced on PE 76. Smuggling by competitors to CFM likely is a result of competitors to 

CFM not having legal title for export of minerals from PE 76.” John Crawley added that, “Nothing about the 

information supplied by CDMC has given the impression that their supply chain due diligence was less than 

adequate.” 

 

__________________ 

110  Contract available at: https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-3011346508/view#/ (last consulted on 22 April 

2022). 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-3011346508/view#/
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SAKIMA SA, the other partner in the CFM joint venture, had not responded to the Group on this issue by the time of drafting 

this report. 

The Group further notes that changes in market conditions, including price changes that are prompted by new deals and 

business activity, can have deleterious knock-on effects in mining areas like Masisi, where levels of armed activity and local 

tensions around mine sites remain high. As such, the Group notes that companies buying, trading and exporting coltan from 

Rubaya and coltan mines in Masisi territory, and including individuals and entities that provide (a) financing, (b) pre-

financing, (c) funding or (d) monetary or capital input directly or indirectly, via a special purpose vehicle or separate entity, 

have a responsibility to ensure that business is done responsibly. This should be in line with the ICGLR Regional 

Certification Mechanism and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) due diligence and 

traceability recommendations. 

 

Le Groupe note que, comme il l'a déjà signalé, la région autour Rubaya est riche en tantalite-colombite, communément 

appelé coltan. La richesse du gisement minéral dans la région de Rubaya sert de toile de fond à des tensions foncières de 

longue date entre les communautés, qui sont affiliées à des intérêts commerciaux, que le Groupe a déjà constaté (voir 

S/2021/560, par. 59 et annexe 42).   

Soulignant que l’avènement d’une paix et d’une sécurité durables en République démocratique du Congo passe 

nécessairement par une gestion transparente et efficace des ressources naturelles du pays et par la fin de la contrebande et 

du trafic illégal de ces ressources, et souscrivant au texte du paragraphe 22 de la résolution 2360 (2017), et conformément à 

son mandat d'évaluer l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité des minerais, conformément au paragraphe 6 (g) de la résolution 

2360 (2017), réaffirmé par le paragraphe 5 de la résolution 2582 (2021), le Groupe a enquêté sur l'évolution des pratiques 

d'achat des exportateurs de coltan à Goma au cours de l'année 2021. 

Quatre membres du secteur privé, des représentants d’un projet du secteur privé, une autorité minière, un représentant de la 

société civile et trois transporteurs de coltan ont décrit au Groupe comment la contrebande transfrontalière de coltan non 

étiqueté entre la RDC et le Rwanda avait augmenté vers la fin de 2021 en raison, en partie, de changements dans le prix au 

kilo offert par les maisons d'achat de coltan à Goma.  

Selon trois membres du secteur privé et un analyste du secteur du coltan de Rubaya, ces changements étaient liés à une 

nouvelle joint-venture minière appelée Congo Fair Mining (CFM)111.  À partir de décembre 2020, CFM s’est approprié le 

titre légal de la concession minière de coltan PE76 (voir S/2021/560, par. 67-69 et annexes 42, 44, 47 et 48).  

Les mêmes sources ont indiqué au Groupe que la joint-venture CFM avait apporté deux changements importants au marché 

du coltan de Goma. Premièrement, elle a donné les droits d'achat de coltan de la concession PE76, qui avait été considérée 

comme l'une des principales zones d'extraction de coltan de Rubaya avec PE4731, à un petit groupe de sociétés, qui 

pouvaient donc dicter les prix au kilo. Deuxièmement, la joint-venture n'incluait pas COOPERAMMA en tant qu'actionnaire. 

 Certains membres de COOPERAMMA ont estimé qu'ils auraient dû recevoir des actions de CFM, selon trois négociants 

en minéraux. Les négociants ont également expliqué que certains membres de COOPERAMMA ont donc décidé de vendre 

leur coltan ailleurs, y compris de l'autre côté de la frontière, au Rwanda, où ils pouvaient également obtenir un prix au kilo 

plus élevé pour le coltan. 

Trois négociants en minerais de Rubaya ont souligné au Groupe le caractère sensible de la situation des mines de coltan de 

Rubaya et ont fait remarquer que les changements sur le marché du coltan de Goma, notamment en termes de prix, pourraient 

avoir des répercussions importantes sur la sécurité et la stabilité de Rubaya et des mines environnantes. 

Dans sa réponse au Groupe, CDMC, l'un des partenaires de CFM, a déclaré au Groupe que « l'établissement d'un lien de 

causalité entre l'augmentation ou la résurgence de la fraude minière et de la contrebande et le changement du prix du coltan 

par les comptoirs de Goma et le fait que COOPERAMMA n'a pas obtenu de parts dans CFM révèle que vos sources 

d'information font un amalgame qui ne peut être accepté par des observateurs avertis ». 

__________________ 

111 Contrat disponible à : https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-3011346508/view#/ (dernière consultation le 22 

avril 2022). 

http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/fr/SC/RES/2360(2017)
https://www.undocs.org/fr/SC/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/fr/S/RES/2582(2021)
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-3011346508/view#/
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John Crawley (voir S/2021/560, par. 70 ; et S/2009/603, par. 176-177 et 214-215), qui s'est décrit comme étant dans une 

« relation d'affaires à long terme avec CDMC qui a commencé il y a longtemps dans la province du Tanganyika », a déclaré 

au Groupe que, en ce qui concerne l'augmentation de la contrebande « Congo Fair Mining (CFM) est le propriétaire de la 

concession PE76 et détient le titre de propriété légal du minerai produit sur PE 76. La contrebande par les concurrents de 

CFM est probablement le résultat du fait que les concurrents de CFM n'ont pas de titre légal pour l'exportation des minéraux 

du PE 76 ». John Crawley a ajouté que « rien dans les informations fournies par CDMC n'a donné l'impression que la 

diligence raisonnable de leur chaîne d'approvisionnement était moins qu'adéquate. » 

SAKIMA SA, l'autre partenaire de la joint-venture CFM, n'avait pas répondu au Groupe sur cette question au moment de la 

rédaction du présent rapport. 

Le Groupe note également que les changements dans les conditions du marché, y compris les changements de prix provoqués 

par de nouveaux contrats et de nouvelles activités commerciales, peuvent avoir des répercussions négatives dans les régions 

minières comme Masisi, où les niveaux d'activité armée et les tensions locales autour des sites miniers restent élevés. À cet 

égard, le Groupe note que les entreprises qui achètent, négocient et exportent du coltan de Rubaya et des mines de coltan 

sur le territoire de Masisi, y compris les individus et les entités qui fournissent (a) un financement, (b) un préfinancement, 

(c) des fonds ou (d) un apport monétaire ou en capital, directement ou indirectement, par le biais d'un véhicule 

d’investissement spécial ou d'une entité distincte, ont la responsabilité de s'assurer que les affaires sont menées de manière 

responsable. Cela devrait être conforme au Mécanisme de certification régional de la CIRGL et aux recommandations de 

l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques (OCDE) en matière de diligence raisonnable et de 

traçabilité. 

  

http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2009/603
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Annex/Annexe 46: 

Response to the Group by Robert Habinshuti Seninga and further information on coltan smuggling 

Réponse au Groupe de Robert Habinshuti Seninga et informations complémentaires sur la contrebande de coltan 

 

In response to the Group, Robert Habinshuti Seninga explained, regarding his role in financing the purchase of coltan by 

COOPERAMMA, that the coltan purchased by COOPERAMMA or by its members did not receive external financing. He 

stated that these were sales and purchases between miners and traders and between traders and processing entities. Seninga 

stated “it is a self-financing system”. 

However, two coltan smugglers working with Seninga, two authorities and two audio messages from diggers working for 

Seninga authenticated by the Group, all identified Seninga as a coordinator and financier of illicit and untagged mineral 

trafficking and smuggling.  

Further, the Group identified a network of coltan traders, five of whom COOPERAMMA members who were engaged in 

trafficking of untagged coltan from mines in Masisi territory to trading houses in Goma during 2021. A mineral smuggler 

and two authorities identified Matayo Rukirande, a Congolese national and COOPERAMMA member, amongst those 

involved in cross-border mineral smuggling to Rwanda. The Group contacted Matayo Rukirande, who confirmed that he was 

a mineral transporter for coltan between Masisi and Goma and a COOPERAMMA member. However, Matayo Rukirande 

said that he had nothing to do with Rwanda, and that he was unaware of any increase in coltan smuggling between the DRC 

and Rwanda at the end of 2021 and in the first months of 2022. He also said that he was unaware of the Commission nationale 

de lutte contre la fraude minière (CNLFM) and its work in Masisi to combat fraud. Finally, regarding allegations that he was 

involved in coltan trafficking himself, he said that he did not know what to say, that he was a mineral transporter and worked 

in conformity with Congolese law.  

The Group contacted COOPERAMMA but had not received a response by the time of drafting. 

 

En réponse au Groupe, Robert Habinshuti Seninga a expliqué, en ce qui concerne son rôle dans le financement de l'achat de 

coltan par COOPERAMMA, que le coltan acheté par COOPERAMMA ou par ses membres ne recevait pas de financement 

extérieur. Il a déclaré qu'il s'agissait de ventes et d'achats entre mineurs et négociants et entre négociants et entités de 

transformation. Seninga a déclaré que « c'est un système qui s'autofinance ». 

Cependant, deux contrebandiers de coltan travaillant avec Seninga, deux autorités et deux messages audio de creuseurs 

travaillant pour Seninga, authentifiés par le Groupe, ont tous identifié Seninga comme un coordinateur et un financier du 

trafic illicite et de la contrebande de minéraux non étiquetés.  

En outre, le Groupe a identifié un réseau de négociants en coltan, dont cinq membres de COOPERAMMA, qui se livraient 

au trafic de coltan non marqué depuis les mines du territoire de Masisi jusqu'aux maisons de commerce de Goma en 2021. 

Un contrebandier de minerais et deux autorités ont identifié Matayo Rukirande, un ressortissant congolais et membre de 

COOPERAMMA, parmi les personnes impliquées dans la contrebande transfrontalière de minerais vers le Rwanda. Le 

Groupe a contacté Matayo Rukirande, qui a confirmé qu'il était transporteur de coltan entre Masisi et Goma et membre de 

COOPERAMMA. Cependant, Matayo Rukirande a déclaré qu'il n'avait rien à voir avec le Rwanda et qu'il n'avait pas 

connaissance d'une augmentation de la contrebande de coltan entre la RDC et le Rwanda à la fin de 2021 et dans les premiers 

mois de 2022. Il a également déclaré qu'il n'avait pas connaissance de la Commission nationale de lutte contre la fraude 

minière (CNLFM) et de son travail à Masisi pour lutter contre la fraude. Enfin, concernant les allégations selon lesquelles il 

serait lui-même impliqué dans le trafic de coltan, il a déclaré qu'il ne savait pas quoi dire, qu'il était un transporteur de 

minéraux et qu'il travaillait en conformité avec la loi congolaise.  

Le Groupe a contacté COOPERAMMA mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du présent rapport. 
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Annex/Annexe 47: 

Untagged coltan accompanied by an FARDC member  

Coltan non étiqueté accompagné d'un membre des FARDC 

 

On the night of 8 February 2022, a Landcruiser jeep loaded with 34 sacks of an undetermined total weight of untagged coltan 

was intercepted by DRC authorities in Rubaya town. The coltan, which was transported in a private vehicle, was accompanied 

by a FARDC member.  

According to an ANR member, two members of the mining police and two Rubaya-based mineral dealers, the coltan had 

come from the PE76 mining concession, a concession previously reported by the Group where cross-concession mineral 

fraud took place (see  S/2021/560, para. 67).  

 

Dans la nuit du 8 février 2022, une jeep Landcruiser chargée de 34 sacs d'un poids total indéterminé de coltan non étiqueté 

a été interceptée par les autorités de la RDC dans la ville de Rubaya. Le coltan, qui était transporté dans un véhicule privé, 

était accompagné d'un membre des FARDC.  

Selon un membre de l'ANR, deux membres de la police des mines et deux négociants en minerais basés à Rubaya, le coltan 

provenait de la concession minière PE76, une concession au sujet de laquelle le Groupe avait déjà signalé l'existence d'une 

fraude minière entre concessions (voir S/2021/560, par. 67). 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
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Photograph of part of the 34 sacks of untagged coltan intercepted in Rubaya town on 8 February 2022 

Photographie d'une partie des 34 sacs de coltan non étiquetés interceptés dans la ville de Rubaya le 8 

février 2022 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par une source ayant connaissance de l'affaire 
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Annex/Annexe 48: 

Task Force on Peace, Reconciliation, and reconstruction of Ituri 

La Taskforce pour la paix, la réconciliation et la reconstruction de l’Ituri 

 

In December 2021, the Task Force pour la paix, la réconciliation et la reconstruction de l'Ituri (Task Force) was mandated 

by President Tshisekedi to, inter alia, engage with armed groups active in Ituri, sensitize them on the disarmament, 

demobilisation and social/community reintegration process, and lay the foundation for sustainable peace. The Task Force 

was meant to create favourable conditions for the successful implementation of the Disarmament, Demobilization, 

Community Recovery and Stabilization Program (Programme de désarmement, démobilisation, relèvement communautaire 

et stabilization, P-DDRCS), which had been established in July 2021. 

The Task Force was composed of 28 members including former warlords, FARDC officers as well as prominent civilians. 

The Task Force was coordinated by Thomas Lubanga, the former Union des patriotes congolais (UPC) leader who had been 

convicted by the International Criminal Court. Floribert Ngabu Ndjabu, a former leader of the Front des nationalistes et 

intégrationnistes (FNI), was his deputy. Both Lubanga and Ndjabu are sanctioned individuals, (CDi.007) and (CDi.021), 

respectively. Ndjabu was the leader of the presidential delegation which signed unilateral ceasefire agreements with six 

CODECO factions in August and September 2020 (see S/2020/1283, annex 21).   

The Task Force faced several challenges in implementing its mandate, the initiative being constrained by both the credibility 

of some of the Task Force leaders as peace facilitators, and the demands of armed groups. In December 2021, 

URDPC/CODECO issued a statement calling upon the President to allow the Task Force to include other armed groups 

active in North Kivu and Ituri, such as Zaïre, FPIC or ADF, in its negotiations (see below).  

Furthermore, on 16 February 2022, whilst six members of the Task Force, including Lubanga and Ndjabu, were conducting 

a visit in Yalala, near Bambu, CODECO combatants took them hostage. This was done in order to force the DRC Government 

to consider their demands (see S/2021/560, annex 60) and end FARDC operations. Two members of the Task Force were 

liberated by CODECO factions on 2 April 2022, while Thomas Lubanga, his deputy Ndjabu and two other members were 

freed following FARDC intervention on 12 April 2022. Fifty-nine prisoners suspected of affiliation with CODECO factions 

were released by the DRC authorities during the negotiations on the release of the Task Force members. 

The Group notes that the P-DDRCS rejects all forms of conditionalities and excludes amnesty for war crimes, crimes of 

genocide and crimes of aggression. It prioritizes communities and victims as the main beneficiaries of the P-DDRCS. The 

Group notes, however, that the Coordinator of the P-DDRCS, Tommy Tambwe, was one the leaders of the Rassemblement 

congolais pour la démocratie (RCD) armed group, in which capacity in 2002 he served as South Kivu Vice-Governor. In 

2012, Tambwe took over the leadership of the M23 armed group-linked Alliance de Libération de l’Est du Congo (ALEC) 

(see S/2012/843, para. 71). 

 

En décembre 2021, la Taskforce pour la paix, la réconciliation et la reconstruction de l’Ituri (Taskforce) a été mandaté par 

le Président Tshisekedi pour, entre autres, entrer en contact avec les groupes armes actifs en Ituri, les sensibiliser sur le 

processus de désarmement, de démobilisation communautaire et stabilisation, ainsi que pour créer des conditions d’une paix 

durable. La Taskforce visait à créer des conditions favorables pour la mise en œuvre effective du Programme de 

désarmement, démobilisation, relèvement communautaire et stabilisation (PDDRC-S) établi en juillet 2021. 

La Taskforce était composée de 28 membres dont d’anciens seigneurs de guerre, des officiers des FARDC, ainsi que des 

personnalités civiles de haut-niveau. La Taskforce était coordonnée par Thomas Lubanga, l'ancien dirigeant de l'Union des 

patriotes congolais (UPC) qui avait été condamné par la Cour pénale internationale. Floribert Ngabu Ndjabu, un ancien 

dirigeant du Front des nationalistes et intégrationnistes (FNI), était son adjoint. Lubanga et Ndjabu sont tous les deux des 

individus sanctionnés (CDi.007) et (CDi.021). Ndjabu était le chef de la délégation présidentielle qui avait signé des accords 

unilatéraux de cessez-le-feu avec six factions du CODECO en août et septembre 2020 (voir S/2020/1283, annexe 21). 

La Taskforce a fait face à plusieurs défis dans la mise en œuvre de son mandat, l'initiative étant compromise à la fois par la 

crédibilité de certains ses dirigeants en tant que facilitateurs du processus de paix et par les exigences des groupes armés. 

En décembre 2021, URDPC/CODECO a publié une déclaration appelant le Président à autoriser la Taskforce à inclure 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/S/2012/843
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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d'autres groupes armés actifs au Nord-Kivu et en Ituri, tels que Zaïre, le FPIC ou l'ADF, dans ses négociations (voir ci-

dessous). 

Par ailleurs, le 16 février 2022, alors que six membres de la Task-force, dont Lubanga et Ndjabu, effectuaient une visite à 

Yalala, près de Bambu, des combattants de CODECO les ont pris en otage, afin de forcer le Gouvernement de la RDC à 

prendre en considération leurs demandes (voir S/2021/560, annexe 60) et à mettre fin aux opérations des FARDC. Deux 

membres de la Task-force avaient été libérés par les factions CODECO le 2 avril 2022, tandis que Thomas Lubanga, son 

adjoint Ndjabu et deux autres membres avaient été libérés suite à l'intervention des FARDC le 12 avril 2022. Cinquante-

neuf prisonniers soupçonnés d'être affiliés aux factions CODECO avaient été libérés par les autorités de la RDC lors des 

négociations sur la libération des membres de la Task-force. 

Le Groupe note que le P-DDRCS a rejeté toute forme de conditionnalité et exclut l'amnistie pour les crimes de guerre, les 

crimes de génocide et les crimes d'agression. Il donne priorité aux communautés et aux victimes comme principales 

bénéficiaires du P-DDRCS. Le Groupe note toutefois que le Coordonnateur du P-DDRCS, Tommy Tambwe, était l'un des 

dirigeants du groupe armé Rassemblement congolais pour la démocratie (RCD), au sein duquel il a exercé en 2002 les 

fonctions de vice-gouverneur du Sud-Kivu. En 2012, Tambwe a pris la tête de l'Alliance de libération de l'Est du Congo 

(ALEC) liée au groupe armé M23 (voir S/2012/843, par. 71). 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/S/2012/843
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URDPC/CODECO communiqué dated 21 December 2021 to President Tshisekedi to redirect the Task Force Mission 

Communiqué de l’URDPC/CODECO du 21 décembre 2021 adressé au Président Tshisekedi l’invitant à réorienter la 

Mission de la Task-force 
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Annex/Annexe 49: 

Basa Zukpa Guershom, in charge of communication for URDPC/CODECO 

Basa Zukpa Guershom, chargé de communication de l’URDPC/CODECO 

 

 

 

Screenshot of a video consulted by the Group 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo consultée par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 50: 

Map of IDP camps attacked by CODECO factions in Djugu territory between mid-November 2021 and early 

February 2022 

Carte des camps de déplacés attaqués par des factions CODECO dans le territoire de Djugu entre mi-novembre 

2021 et début février 2022 

 

In addition to Tsuya and Jangi-Ivo IDP camps that are both in and around Drodro, and Plaine Savo IDP camp in Bule, 

CODECO factions attacked IDP camps in Tche and Luko, also close to Bule, on 19 and 25 November 2021, respectively.  

 

En plus des camps de déplacés de Tsuya et Jangi-Ivo, qui se trouvaient tous les deux à et autour de Drodro, et le camp de 

déplacés Plaine Savo à Bule, des factions CODECO ont attaqué Tche et Luko, également à côté de Bule, les 19 et 25 

novembre 2021, respectivement. 

 

 

Map provided by MONUSCO, annotated by the Group   

Carte fournie par MONUSCO, annotée par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 51: 

Additional details on URDPC/CODECO attacks of Tsuya and Jangi-Ivo IDP camps in and around Drodro, on 21 

and 28 November 2021 

Détails supplémentaires sur les attaques de URDPC/CODECO contre les camps de déplacés de Tsuya et Jangi-Ivo, 

à et autour de Drodro, les 21 et 28 novembre 2021  

 

While camp shelters were burnt or destroyed (see screenshots below), Drodro itself was not attacked. However, Drodro has 

been almost empty of its population since the attacks, as the Group observed on 8 March 2022.  

Alors que des abris des camps ont été brûlés ou détruits lors des attaques de URDPC/CODECO (voir les captures d’écran 

ci-dessous), Drodro-même n’a pas été attaquée. Cependant, Drodro était restée presque vide de sa population depuis les 

attaques, comme le Groupe l’a constaté le 8 mars 2022.   

 

 

 

 

 

Photograph of Tsuya IDP camp taken on 22 November 2021, provided to the Group by a civil society source 

Photographie du camp de déplacés de Tsuya prise le 22 novembre 2021, fournie au Groupe par une source de la société 

civile 
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Screenshot of video footage of Tsuya IDP camp, recorded on 7 December 2021 and provided to the Group by a civil 

society source 

Capture d’écran d’une séquence vidéo du camp de déplacés de Tsuya, enregistrée le 7 décembre 2021 et fournie au Groupe 

par une source de la société civile 

  

Screenshot of publicly available MSF video comparing Tsuya IDP camp in November 2019 and December 2021, after the 

21 November 2021 URDPC/CODECO attack, available at https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-

laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri (last consulted on 22 April 2022) 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo de MSF disponible publiquement et comparant le camp de déplacés de Tsuya en novembre 

2019 et en décembre 2021, après l’attaque de URDPC/CODECO le 21 novembre 2021 https://www.msf.ch/nos-

actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri (dernière consultation le 22 avril 

2022) 

  

https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
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Screenshots of video footage of Jangi/Ivo IDP camp, recorded on 7 December 2021 and provided to the Group by a civil 

society source 

Captures d’écran d’une séquence vidéo du camp de déplacés de Jangi/Ivo, enregistrée le 7 décembre 2021 et fournie au 

Groupe par une source de la société civile 
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Screenshot of video footage of a mass grave containing 16 persons killed during the attacks on the IDP camps in Drodro, 

according to civil society sources, recorded on 7 December 2021 and provided to the Group by a civil society source 

Capture d’écran d’une séquence vidéo d’une fosse commune contenant les corps de 16 personnes tuées lors des attaques 

contre les camps de déplacés de Drodro, d’après des sources de la société civile, enregistrée le 7 décembre 2021 et fournie 

au Groupe par une source de la société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 52: 

Civil society list of the 32 persons killed by URDPC/CODECO in Tsuya IDP camp near the Catholic mission in 

Drodro, Djugu territory, on 21 November 2021 

Liste de la société civile des 32 personnes tuées par URDPC/CODECO dans le camp de déplacés de Tsuya, à côté de 

la Mission catholique de Drodro, dans le territoire de Djugu, le 21 novembre 2021   
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List provided to the Group by civil society sources 

Liste fournie au Groupe par des sources de la société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 53: 

Photographs and screenshots of video footages of Rhoe IDP camp, Djugu territory 

Photographies et captures d’écran de séquences vidéo du camp de déplacés de Rhoe, dans le territoire de Djugu 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs taken by the Group on 8 March 2022 

Photographies prises par le Groupe le 8 mars 2022 
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Both aerial views below show the massive extension of Rhoe camp located next to a MONUSCO base over the last two 

and half years. 

Les deux vues aériennes ci-dessous montrent l’extension massive du camp de déplacés de Rhoe, situé à côté d’une base 

de la MONUSCO, sur deux ans et demi.  

 

Publicly available aerial view of Rhoe IDP camp in January 2022 - screenshot taken from https://www.msf.ch/nos-

actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri (last consulted on 22 April 2022) / 

Vue aérienne du camp de déplacés de Rhoe en janvier 2022, disponible publiquement – capture d’écran de 

https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri (dernière 

consultation le 22 avril 2022) 

 

Aerial view of Rhoe IDP camp in June 2019, provided to the Group by MONUSCO in October 2019 / vue aérienne du 

camp de déplacés de Rhoe en juin 2019, fournie au Groupe par la MONUSCO en octobre 2019 

  

https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri
https://www.msf.ch/nos-actualites/articles/rdc-malgre-laccalmie-cycle-violence-amene-se-repeter-province-lituri


S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 192/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 54: 

Civil society list of the 62 persons killed by URDPC/CODECO in Plaine Savo IDP camp in Bule, Djugu territory, on 

1 February 2022 

Liste de la société civile des 62 personnes tuées par URDPC/CODECO dans le camp de déplacés Plaine Savo à Bule, 

dans le territoire de Djugu le 1er février 2022 
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List provided to the Group by Plaine Savo IDPs 

Liste fournie au Groupe par des déplacés de Plaine Savo 
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Annex/Annexe 55: 

Additional details on the attack on Plaine Savo IDP camp in Bule  

Détails supplémentaires sur l’attaque contre le camp de déplacés Plaine Savo à Bule 

 

URDPC/CODECO combatants arrived from a southeasterly direction and entered the camp at “Bloc Zéro”, according to 

13 IDPs and MONUSCO sources (see photograph below). However, the evidence is contradictory, with several quite 

formatted narratives, regarding the time the attack started and whether shooting started immediately. MONUSCO 

Peacekeepers’ intervention helped terminating the attack. All sources reported that FARDC arrived after the attack, but all 

acknowledged that there was only a small number of FARDC members deployed in Bule at the time. 

 

Des combattants de URDPC/CODECO sont arrivés de la direction sud-est et sont entrés dans le camp au niveau du « Bloc 

zéro » d’après 13 déplacés et des sources de la MONUSCO (voir la photographie ci-dessous). Les preuves sont cependant 

contradictoires, avec certains récits assez formattés, concernant l’heure à laquelle l’attaque a débuté et si les tirs ont débuté 

immédiatement. L’intervention des casques bleus a contribué à écourter l’attaque. Toutes les sources ont dit que les FARDC 

sont arrivés après l’attaque, mais elles ont aussi toutes reconnu que seul un petit nombre de membres des FARDC était 

déployés à Bule à ce moment-là. 

 

 

Red arrows: main point of entry of URDPC/CODECO combatants in Plaine Savo IDP camp at the beginning of the 1 

February 2022 attack 

Flèches rouges : point d’entrée principal des combattants de URDPC/CODECO dans le camp de déplacés Plaine Savo au 

début de l’attaque du 1er février 2022 
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Shelters damaged during the attack according to IDPs 

Abris endommagés durant l’attaque selon les déplacés 
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Shooting impacts on a shelter according to IDPs 

Impacts de tirs sur un abri d’après des déplacés 

 

 

Mass grave just next to the IDP camp. According to several IDPs, 53 IDPs killed during the attack were buried inside that 

grave and nine others in a neighbouring village. 

Fosse commune juste à côté du camp de déplacés. D’après plusieurs déplacés, 53 déplacés tués durant l’attaque y ont été 

enterrés et neuf autres l’ont été dans un village voisin. 

All photographs above were taken by the Group on 12 March 2022 

Toutes les photographies ci-dessus ont été prises par le Groupe 
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The same mass grave on the day of the burial, on 4 February 2022 

Photograph provided to the Group by civil society sources 

 

La même fosse commune le jour des funérailles, le 4 février 2022 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par des sources de la société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 56: 

Additional rape cases by CODECO combatants in Djugu territory 

Cas supplémentaires de viols par des combattants de CODECO dans le territoire de Djugu 

 

In addition to the acts of conflict-related sexual violence detailed at paras. 94-96, the Group found that combatants of 

CODECO committed the rapes or gang-rapes detailed below. 

In October 2021, CODECO combatants attacked Djugu center. One CODECO combatant, whom she knew from before, 

raped a 30-year-old woman of mixed Lendu and Herma origins, committing the act next to the dead bodies of villagers 

killed during the attack. The combatant said to the rape victim that he would “only rape” her as she was married to a Lendu 

man. At least two other women were raped during the attack. The attackers also burnt houses and looted villagers’ goods.112 

In December 2021, URDPC/CODECO combatants gang-raped and raped at least three women going to the Draman market 

between Kparanganza and Katoto. Although some of the rapists initially said that they would kill the women, another 

responded that they should instead rape them, as they were from the same community. At least two of the women were of 

mixed Lendu and Hema origins and one was Hema. One of the rape victims identified her rapist whom she knew from 

before.113 

In December 2021or January 2022, URDPC/CODECO combatants attacked a group of civilians from Dala on their way to 

their fields around Alagi, killing several Alur and raping several Alur and Hema women. Three combatants gang-raped a 

25-year-old Alur woman, after having fired bullets around her feet to force her to lie on the ground.114 

Before dawn on or around 28 January 2022, URDPC/CODECO combatants attacked Alagi. They abducted an 18-year-old 

woman of mixed Lendu and Alur origins, after having killed her seven-year-old sister. They then forced the woman to carry 

items looted in Alagi. Three combatants, including one aged 16-17, raped her. The combatants then had a dispute as to 

whether they should kill her. They eventually decided to let her go but took her wig for their wives.115   

 

En plus des actes de violence sexuelle liés au conflit détaillés aux paragraphes 94-96, le Groupe a établi que des combattants 

de CODECO ont commis les viols ou les viols collectifs détaillés ci-dessous. 

En octobre 2021, des combattants de CODECO ont attaqué le centre de Djugu. Un combattant de CODECO a violé une 

femme de 30 ans d’origine mixte Lendu-Hema, juste à côté des corps sans vie des villageois tués pendant l’attaque. La 

victime connaissait le combattant d’avant le viol. Le combattant lui a dit qu’il allait « seulement la violer » car elle était 

mariée à un homme Lendu. Au moins deux autres femmes ont été violées pendant l’attaque. Les assaillants ont aussi brûlé 

des maisons et pillé des biens des villageois.116 

En décembre 2021, des combattants de URDPC/CODECO ont violé, pour certaines en réunion, au moins trois femmes allant 

au marché Draman entre Kparanganza et Katoto. Bien que certains des violeurs ont initialement déclaré qu’ils allaient tuer 

les femmes, un autre a répondu qu’ils devraient plutôt les violer, car elles appartenaient à la même communauté qu’eux. Au 

moins deux femmes étaient d’origine mixte Lendu-Hema et une était Hema. Une des victimes a identifié son violeur qu’elle 

connaissait d’avant.117 

En décembre 2021 ou janvier 2022, des combattants de URDPC/CODECO ont attaqué un groupe de civils de Dala qui se 

rendaient à leurs champs autour de Alagi. Ils ont alors tué plusieurs Alur and violé plusieurs femmes Alur et Hema. Trois 

__________________ 

112 One rape victim, MONUSCO and ANR sources. 
113 Three rape victims. 
114 Two rape victims, civil society and ANR sources. 
115 Two rape victims, civil society, MONUSCO and ANR sources. 
116 Une victime de viol, et des sources de la MONUSCO et de l’ANR.  
117 Trois victimes de viol. 
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combattants ont violé en réunion une femme Alur de 25 ans, après avoir tiré autour de ses pieds pour la forcer à s’allonger 

par terre.118 

Avant l’aurore le ou autour du 28 janvier 2022, des combattants de URDPC/CODECO ont attaqué Alagi. Ils ont enlevé une 

femme de 18 ans d’origine mixte Lendu/Alur, après avoir tué sa petite sœur de sept ans. Ils l’ont alors forcée à transporter 

les biens pillés à Alagi. Trois combattants, l’un d’entre eux étant âgé de 16-17 ans, l’ont violée. Les combattants se sont 

alors disputés pour savoir s’ils devaient la tuer. Ils ont finalement décidé de la laisser partir mais ont pris sa perruque pour 

leurs femmes.119   

  

__________________ 

118 Deux victimes de viol, et des sources de la société civile et de l’ANR.  
119 Deux victimes de viol, et des sources de la société civile, de la MONUSCO et de l’ANR.  
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Annex/Annexe 57: 

Photographs of several Zaïre leaders 

Photographies de plusieurs dirigeants de Zaïre 

 

“General” Logo Marine Mugeni 

Some Zaïre leaders had important links with members of the private sector. Marine, for example, was the Fédération des 

entreprises du Congo (FEC) president at Pluto, according to two members of the private sector and a civil society source 

interviewed by the Group. 

“Général” Logo Marine Mugeni 

Certains dirigeants de Zaïre avaient des liens étroits avec des membres du secteur privé. Par exemple, Marine était le 

président de la Fédération des entreprises du Congo (FEC) à Pluto, selon deux membres du secteur privé et une source de 

la société civile interviewés par le Groupe. 
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Photographs provided to the Group by several civil society sources 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par plusieurs sources de la société civile 

 

Babale Ngadjole, alias Pharaon 

Pharaon is the individual with a black T-shirt and a khaki hat, in the middle. Pharaon, like Marine, also had some links to 

the Fédération des entreprises du Congo (FEC). In late 2021 Pharaon established a base at Lodjo in the house of Mugisa 

Lono, a local FEC president.120 The Group contacted Mugisa Lono who said he was not in Lodjo and was not a member of 

the FEC.   

Babale Ngadjole, alias Pharaon 

Pharaon est l'individu au milieu, en T-shirt noir et avec un chapeau kaki. Pharaon, comme Marine, avait également des liens 

avec la Fédération des entreprises du Congo (FEC). Fin 2021, Pharaon a établi une base à Lodjo dans la maison de Mugisa 

Lono, un président local de la FEC.121 Le Groupe a contacté Mugisa Lono qui a dit qu'il n'était pas à Lodjo et qu'il n'était 

pas membre de la FEC. 

  

__________________ 

120 Three residents of Lodjo, two civil society representatives.  
121 Trois résidents de Lodjo, deux representants de la société civile.  
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Screenshot of footage recorded in Lodjo end of 2021 and provided by civil society sources 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo enregistrée à Lodjo en 2021et fournie par des sources de la société civile 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by an individual with knowledge of the matter 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un individu connaissant le sujet  
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Fabrice Maki Jawyambe 

 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by an individual with knowledge of the matter 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un individu connaissant le sujet 
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Annex/Annexe 58: 

Screenshot of video footage showing Zaïre combatants entering and demonstrating in Mongbwalu on 16 February 

2022 

Capture d'écran d'une séquence vidéo montrant des combattants de Zaïre entrant et manifestant à Mongbwalu le 16 

février 2022 

 

Zaïre combatants, carrying AK-type assault rifles and wooden sticks, chanted that Lendu should leave Mongbwalu and shot 

into the air when demonstrating in Mongbwalu on 16 December 2021 (see also annex 62). FARDC members, looking at the 

demonstration passively, are visible at the bottom left of the screenshot. Since at least December 2021 members of the 

13011th and 13012th Battalions of the 1301st FARDC Regiment under the command of Colonel Charles Muhinda Santos 

were stationed at Mongbwalu.  

 

Des combattants de Zaïre, armés de fusils d'assaut de type AK et de bâtons en bois, scandaient que les Lendu devaient quitter 

Mongbwalu et tiraient en l'air lors d'une manifestation à Mongbwalu le 16 décembre 2021 (voir aussi annexe 62). Des 

membres des FARDC, regardant passivement la manifestation, sont visibles en bas à gauche de la capture d'écran. Depuis 

au moins décembre 2021, des membres des 13011ème et 13012ème bataillons du 1301ème régiment des FARDC sous le 

commandement du Colonel Charles Muhinda Santos sont stationnés à Mongbwalu. 

 

Video footage provided to the Group by several sources 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo fournie au Groupe par plusieurs sources 
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Annex/Annexe 59: 

CODECO factions and Zaïre taxation of civilians 

Taxation des civils par des factions CODECO et par Zaïre 

 

Both CODECO factions and Zaïre continued to tax civilians as a way of generating funds (see S/2021/560, paras. 82 and 

97, and annexes 64, 75 and 76).  

CODECO factions continued to forcibly tax the Lendu population, including at checkpoints on secondary roads, at markets, 

from businesses as well as monthly taxes.122 CODECO ex-combatants and MONUSCO sources also indicated that, in 

January 2022, along the Mongbwalu-Kobu-Bambu axis, CODECO combatants were involved in ambushes to loot gold 

transported in passenger vehicles.  

Zaïre also continued to forcibly tax the population living in areas under its control, including at checkpoints and through 

weekly contributions, which varied between 1,000 and 5,000 Congolese Francs and could also be commensurate to 

contributors’ capacity (see below receipts (jetons) given in exchange of payment).123 According to three Zaïre leaders, 

village chiefs collected the money or other forms of contribution from civilians. The resources collected were handed over 

to the Zaïre local leader (président des jeunes) who informed “General” Marine and received instructions as to how to spend 

them. According to three Zaïre leaders and six ex-combatants, resources collected helped to sustain families, treat wounded 

combatants, and pay for weapons. 

 

Les factions CODECO et Zaïre ont continué de taxer les civils pour générer des fonds (voir S/2021/560, par. 82 et 97, et 

annexes 64, 75 et 76). 

Les factions CODECO ont continué à imposer des taxes à la population Lendu, y compris aux points de contrôle sur des 

routes secondaires, aux marchés et auprès des entreprises. Elles ont aussi imposé des taxes mensuelles.124 Des anciens 

combattants de CODECO et des sources de la MONUSCO ont également indiqué qu'en janvier 2022, sur l'axe Mongbwalu-

Kobu-Bambu, des combattants de CODECO ont été impliqués dans des embuscades pour piller l'or transporté dans des 

véhicules. 

Zaïre a également continué à imposer des taxes à la population vivant dans les zones sous son contrôle, y compris aux points 

de contrôle et par le biais de contributions hebdomadaires, qui variaient entre 1000 et 5000 francs congolais et pouvaient 

également être proportionnelles aux ressources des contributeurs (voir ci-dessous les reçus (jetons) donnés en échange de 

paiement).125 Selon trois dirigeants de Zaïre, des chefs de village collectaient l'argent ou d'autres formes de contribution 

auprès des civils. Les ressources collectées étaient remises au chef local de Zaïre (président des jeunes) qui en informait le 

"Général" Marine et recevait des instructions sur les dépenses à effectuer. Selon trois dirigeants de Zaïre et six anciens 

combattants, les ressources collectées ont permis de subvenir aux besoins des familles, de soigner les combattants blessés 

et de payer les armes. 

  

__________________ 

122 Four witnesses, one local chief,  three civil society sources, ANR and MONUSCO source. 
123 Three Zaïre leaders, six Zaïre ex-combatants, one state authority, local residents, ANR and civil society sources.  
124 Quatre témoins, un chef local, trois sources de la société civile, et des sources de l’ANR et de la MONUSCO.  
125 Trois dirigeants de Zaïre, six anciens combattants de Zaïre, une autorité étatique, des résidents locaux, et des sources de l ’ANR 

et de la société civile. 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Provided to the Group by local sources 

Fournis au Groupe par des sources locales 
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Annex/Annexe 60: 

Semi-industrial mining companies and cooperatives working in Ituri   

Sociétés minières semi-industrielles et coopératives travaillant en Ituri 

 

With regards to the situation at Ndikpa, the Group wrote to COMOI but had not received a response by the time of drafting 

this report. 

Concurring with the Preamble and paragraph 23 of resolution 2360 (2017), the Group underlines “that the transparent and 

effective management of its natural resources and ending illegal smuggling and trafficking of such resources are critical for 

the DRC’s sustainable peace and security”, and encourages “the DRC’s government continued support for the establishment 

of traceability and diligence systems to allow for the export of artisanal gold”. Further, implementing its mandate to evaluate 

the impact of minerals traceability, pursuant to paragraph 6 (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), as renewed by resolution 2582 

(2021), the Group documented accounts from six mining authorities, two government authorities, two local authorities, 

seven members of civil society, five members of the private sector, four gold traders and two eyewitnesses in Djugu and 

Mambasa territories, Bunia and Kinshasa with regards to undeclared volumes of gold production by registered gold mining 

cooperatives working with semi-industrial mining companies in Ituri. These sources described how the terms of agreements 

established between the semi-industrial mining companies and Congolese cooperatives were often unclear, or the contracts 

were undisclosed to the mining authorities. 

Artisanal mining, which gold mining cooperatives across Ituri province have historically engaged in, can only be done by 

Congolese nationals, according to the Congolese mining code.126 Some mining companies employing foreign nationals 

established agreements with Congolese mining cooperatives and through so doing, established access to artisanal mining 

areas or gold-rich areas on mining concessions.  

Mining authorities, in particular SAEMAPE, noted that they were not always party to contracts that were established 

between the semi-industrial companies and the mining cooperatives, almost all of which were also guarded by some FARDC 

members, which is against the Congolese military code.  

According to the same official figures, 13 cooperatives were working with unidentified semi-industrial mining companies 

across Djugu, Mambasa and Irumu territories as of July 2021, with FARDC protection. At time of drafting, the authorities 

were taking steps to suspend some of these companies. 

The Group also established that as of July 2021, official figures recorded 188 artisanal gold mining sites across Ituri, of 

which only six were “validated”, meaning that the DRC State had checked the sites for armed presence and other risks, and 

given the sites the go ahead for gold production. The validated sites had an estimated 70,000 artisanal miners according to 

mining authority figures.  

 

 

En ce qui concerne la situation à Ndikpa, le Groupe a écrit à la COMOI mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la 

rédaction du présent rapport. 

S’alignant sur le Préambule et le paragraphe 23 de la résolution 2360 (2017), le Groupe souligne « que l’avènement d’une 

paix et d’une sécurité durables en République démocratique du Congo passe nécessairement par une gestion transparente et 

efficace des ressources naturelles du pays et par la fin de la contrebande et du trafic illégal de ces ressources » et encourage 

« le Gouvernement congolais à continuer d’appuyer la mise en place de dispositifs de traçabilité et de diligence destinés 

à permettre l'exportation d'or artisanal ». En outre, en vertu de son mandat d'évaluer l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité 

des minerais, conformément au paragraphe 6 (g) de la résolution 2360 (2017), tel que renouvelé par la résolution 2582 

__________________ 

126 See article 1 point 19 bis, Loi n°18/001 modifiant et complétant la Loi n° 007/2002 du 11 juillet 2002 portant Code minier, a vailable at: 

https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MI

NIER.PDF.pdf?1523182711 (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 

https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER.PDF.pdf?1523182711
https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER.PDF.pdf?1523182711
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(2021), le Groupe a collecté les témoignages de six autorités minières, de deux autorités gouvernementales, de deux autorités 

locales, de sept membres de la société civile, de cinq membres du secteur privé, de quatre négociants en or et de deux témoins 

oculaires dans les territoires de Djugu et de Mambasa, à Bunia et à Kinshasa, relatifs volumes non déclarés de production 

d'or par des coopératives minières aurifères enregistrées et travaillant avec des sociétés minières semi-industrielles en Ituri. 

Ces sources ont décrit que les termes des accords établis entre les sociétés minières semi-industrielles et les coopératives 

congolaises étaient souvent peu clairs ou que les contrats n'étaient pas divulgués aux autorités minières. 

L'exploitation minière artisanale, à laquelle se livrent traditionnellement les coopératives d'exploitation d'or partout dans la 

province de l'Ituri, ne peut être pratiquée que par des ressortissants congolais, selon le Code minier congolais.127 Certaines 

sociétés minières employant des ressortissants étrangers ont conclu des accords avec des coopératives minières congolaises 

et, ce faisant, ont obtenu l'accès aux zones d'exploitation artisanale ou aux zones riches en or des concessions minières.  

Des autorités minières, en particulier la SAEMAPE, ont noté qu'elles n'étaient pas toujours parties aux contrats établis entre 

les sociétés semi-industrielles et les coopératives minières, dont la quasi-totalité étaient également gardées par certains 

membres des FARDC, ce qui est contraire au Code militaire congolais.  

Selon les mêmes chiffres officiels, 13 coopératives travaillaient avec des sociétés minières semi-industrielles non identifiées 

dans les territoires de Djugu, Mambasa et Irumu dès juillet 2021, sous la protection de certains membres des FARDC. Au 

moment de la rédaction du rapport, les autorités prenaient des mesures pour suspendre certaines de ces sociétés. 

Le groupe a également établi que dès juillet 2021, les chiffres officiels recensaient 188 sites d'exploitation artisanale d'or en 

Ituri, dont six seulement étaient "validés", à savoir que l'État de la RDC avait vérifié la présence d’éléments armés et d'autres 

risques sur ces sites et leur avait donné le feu vert pour la production d'or. Les sites validés comptaient environ 70 000 

mineurs artisanaux, selon les chiffres des autorités minières. 

 

 
Territory in Ituri province / territoire 

de la province de l’Ituri 

Number of mining sites / nombre de sites miniers 

01 ARU 05 

02 MAHAGI 15 

03 MAMBASA 66 

04 DJUGU 58 

05 IRUMU 44 

TOTAL 188 

 

  

__________________ 

127 Voir article 1 point 19 bis, Loi n°18/001 modifiant et complétant la Loi n° 007/2002 du 11 juillet 2002 portant Code minier, disponible à : 

https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINI

ER.PDF.pdf?1523182711 (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022). 

https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER.PDF.pdf?1523182711
https://congomines.org/system/attachments/assets/000/001/467/original/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER.PDF.pdf?1523182711
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Below the Group provides a photograph, representative amongst over 30 similar photographs received during the reporting 

period, that exemplifies the kinds of machinery being used in the semi-industrial mining activities in collaboration with 

cooperatives. This photograph was taken at Shuni II, in Mongbwalu commune. The machinery in this photograph, which 

was intended for use at a site in Mongbwalu, was eventually turned back as it did not have the correct permissions, according 

to a representative of the private sector, a civil society member and a mining authority. 

 

Le Groupe fournit ci-dessous une photographie, représentative parmi plus de 30 photographies similaires reçues au cours 

de la période de référence. Cette photographie illustre les types de machines utilisées dans les activités minières semi-

industrielles en collaboration avec les coopératives. Cette photographie a été prise à Shuni II, dans la commune de 

Mongbwalu. Les machines sur cette photographie, qui étaient destinées à être utilisées sur un site à Mongbwalu, ont 

finalement été renvoyées car elles ne disposaient pas des autorisations nécessaires, d’après un représentant du secteur privé, 

un membre de la société civile et une autorité minière. 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by a civil society source 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par une source de la société civile 
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Annex/Annexe 61: 

Armed groups targeting gold mining operations  

Groupes armés ciblant des exploitations aurifères 

 

Further to its mandate to gather, examine and analyse information regarding perpetrators of serious violations of 

international humanitarian law and human rights violations and abuses in the DRC, and to gather, examine and analyse 

information regarding the regional and international support networks to armed groups and criminal networks in the DRC 

pursuant to paragraphs 6 (f) and (d) of resolution 2360 (2017), respectively, as renewed by resolution 2582 (2021), the 

Group notes that URDPC/CODECO killed two workers and robbed gold during the armed attack.128 This gold was not 

declared to Congolese authorities for official export and was likely smuggled out of the DRC via a criminal network.  

URDPC/CODECO claimed the 24 November 2021 attack and taking hostage of the eight Chinese nationals working for 

the semi-industrial company. One URDPC/CODECO leader told the Group that URDPC/CODECO had attacked, in part, 

because they wanted to know why the semi-industrial company was present at Damblo, which he considered to be within 

his area of control, whether the company had established a profit-sharing and community-support agreement, locally known 

as a “cahier des charges” with the community, and who had given the company permission to operate at the site. The eight 

hostages were released on 25 December 2021. 

SOCOMIDI, the Congolese cooperative working alongside the semi-industrial company129 with an agreement that the 

Congolese mining authorities were unaware of, did not declare any gold to the mining authorities in Ituri. Further the Group 

notes that in this context, mineral traceability, supply chain due diligence and proper use of ICGLR certificates for gold 

production and export, were not being followed. 

The Group attempted to contact the president of SOCOMIDI, without success, by time of drafting.  

This case is another illustration of how armed groups in Ituri have attacked and robbed semi-industrial mining companies, 

and took money and/or gold during these attacks, since at least 2019 (see S/2021/560, para. 126 and annex 91; S/2020/1283, 

paras. 54, 57 and annex 35; S/2019/974, annex 13).  

On 1 December 2021, the Chinese embassy in the DRC called on its nationals to leave North and South Kivu and Ituri 

provinces and move into other areas.130 The Group discussed this issue in a 24 January 2022 meeting with the Chinese 

Ambassador in Kinshasa.  

On 20 December 2021, the Congolese Government issued instructions forbidding foreign nationals and also the use of 

heavy machinery in artisanal mining zones. A copy of the instructions, contained within a directive called a note circulaire, 

is included below. 

 

En vertu de son mandat de réunir, examiner et analyser des informations sur les auteurs de violations graves du droit 

international humanitaire, de violations des droits de l'homme et d’atteintes à ces droits en RDC, et de réunir, examiner et 

analyser des informations sur les réseaux régionaux et internationaux d’appui aux groupes armés et sur réseaux criminels 

opérant en RDC, conformément aux paragraphes 6 (f) et (d) de la résolution 2360 (2017), respectivement, tels que 

renouvelés par la résolution 2582 (2021), le Groupe note que URDPC/CODECO a tué deux travailleurs et a volé de l'or 

lors de l'attaque armée.131 Cet or n'a pas été déclaré aux autorités congolaises en vue d'une exportation officielle et a 

probablement été passé en contrebande hors de la RDC via un réseau criminel.  

__________________ 

128  Three civil society and two private sector sources, two senior FARDC members, one URDPC/CODECO leader, one mining 

authority. 
129 A state authority, a local authority, two mining authorities, two civil society members, MONUSCO sources.  
130 La Chine exhorte ses ressortissants à évacuer trois provinces de l'est de la RDC, Sonia Rolley, RFI, 1 December 2021 

https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20211201-la-chine-exhorte-ses-ressortissants-%C3%A0-%C3%A9vacuer-3-provinces-de-l-est-de-la-rdc 

(last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
131 Trois sources de la société civile et deux du secteur privé, deux hauts -gradés des FARDC, un dirigeant de URDPC/CODECO, une 

autorité minière. 

https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
http://www.undocs.org/S/2019/974
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20211201-la-chine-exhorte-ses-ressortissants-%C3%A0-%C3%A9vacuer-3-provinces-de-l-est-de-la-rdc
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URDPC/CODECO a revendiqué l'attaque du 24 novembre 2021 et avoir pris en otage les huit ressortissants chinois 

travaillant pour la société semi-industrielle. Un dirigeant de URDPC/CODECO a déclaré au Groupe que URDPC/CODECO 

avait attaqué, en partie, parce qu'ils voulaient savoir pourquoi la société semi-industrielle était présente à Damblo (qu'il 

considérait comme étant dans sa zone de contrôle), si la société avait établi un accord de partage des bénéfices et de soutien 

communautaire, connu localement sous le nom de "cahier des charges", avec la communauté, et qui avait donné à la société 

l'autorisation d'opérer sur le site. Les huit otages ont été libérés le 25 décembre 2021. 

SOCOMIDI, la coopérative congolaise travaillant avec la société semi-industrielle132 sur la base d’un accord dont les 

autorités minières congolaises n'avaient pas connaissance, n'a pas déclaré d'or aux autorités minières en Ituri. Par ailleurs, 

le Groupe note que, dans ce contexte, la traçabilité des minéraux, la diligence raisonnable dans la chaîne 

d'approvisionnement et l'utilisation correcte des certificats de la CIRGL pour la production et l'exportation d'or n'ont pas 

été respectées. 

Le Groupe a tenté de contacter le président de la SOCOMIDI, sans succès, au moment de la rédaction du présent rapport.  

Ce cas est une autre illustration de la manière dont les groupes armés en Ituri ont attaqué et volé des sociétés minières semi-

industrielles, et ont pris de l'argent et/ou de l'or lors de ces attaques, depuis au moins 2019 (voir S/2021/560, par. 126 et 

annexe 91 ; S/2020/1283, par. 54, 57 et annexe 35 ; S/2019/974, annexe 13).  

Le 1ier décembre 2021, l'ambassade de Chine en RDC a appelé ses ressortissants à quitter les provinces du Nord et du Sud 

Kivu et de l'Ituri et à s'installer dans d'autres régions.133  Le Groupe a discuté de cette question lors d'une réunion avec 

l'ambassadeur de Chine à Kinshasa le 24 janvier 2022.  

Le 20 décembre 2021, le gouvernement congolais a émis des instructions interdisant les ressortissants étrangers ainsi que 

l'utilisation de machines lourdes dans les zones minières artisanales. Une copie de ces instructions, contenues dans une note 

circulaire, est incluse ci-dessous. 

 

 

Document officially shared with the Group by a Congolese authority 

Document partagé officiellement avec le Groupe par une autorité congolaise 

__________________ 

132 Une autorité étatique, une autorité locale, deux autorités minières, deux membres de la société civile, sources de la MONUSCO. 
133 La Chine exhorte ses ressortissants à évacuer trois provinces de l'est de la RDC, Sonia Rolley, RFI, 1ier décembre 2021 

https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20211201-la-chine-exhorte-ses-ressortissants-%C3%A0-%C3%A9vacuer-3-provinces-de-l-est-de-la-

rdc (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  

http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/1283
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2019/974
https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20211201-la-chine-exhorte-ses-ressortissants-%C3%A0-%C3%A9vacuer-3-provinces-de-l-est-de-la-rdc
https://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20211201-la-chine-exhorte-ses-ressortissants-%C3%A0-%C3%A9vacuer-3-provinces-de-l-est-de-la-rdc
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Annex/Annexe 62:  

Letter dated 22 February 2022 from the LORI cultural association at Mongbwalu representing the Lendu 

community and letter dated December 2021 from the ZUNANA mutuality representing the Bira community in Djugu 

territory 

Lettre datée du 22 février 2022 de l'association culturelle LORI à Mongbwalu, représentant la communauté Lendu, 

et lettre datée de décembre 2021 de la mutualité ZUNANA, représentant la communauté Bira en territoire Djugu 

 

Included in both letters from the community associations to local authorities are details of members of the gold trading and 

mining communities and civilians living in gold trading hubs in Djugu territory, who have been taxed, robbed, taken hostage 

and/or killed by combatants of CODECO factions and Zaïre during 2021, according to LORI and ZUNANA community 

associations. 

 

Les deux lettres adressées par les associations communautaires aux autorités locales contiennent des informations sur les 

négociants en or, les mineurs et les civils, appartenant à ces communautés et vivant dans les centres de négoce d'or du 

territoire de Djugu, qui ont été taxés, volés, pris en otage et/ou tués par des combattants des factions de CODECO et de 

Zaïre au cours de l'année 2021, selon les associations communautaires LORI et ZUNANA. 
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LORI community letter / Lettre de la communauté LORI 
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ZUNANA community letter / Lettre de la communauté ZUNANA 
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Letters provided to the Group by civil society sources 

Lettres fournies au Groupe par des sources de la société civile  
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Annex/Annexe 63:  

Map indicating approximate zones of control over gold mining sites and hubs by CODECO factions and Zaïre around 

Mongbwalu and in surrounding mining areas 

Carte indiquant les zones approximatives de contrôle des sites et des centres d'extraction d'or par les factions 

CODECO et Zaïre autour de Mongbwalu et dans les zones minières environnantes 

 

As described in paras. 108-110 and 119-120, CODECO factions and Zaïre conducted tit-for-tat attacks on gold mines and 

the towns near to them in Djugu territory, throughout the reporting period. In some cases, such as at mines around Andisa, 

consecutive attacks took place.  

CODECO factions, mainly URDPC/CODECO combatants, controlled mines to the west, southwest, south and southeast of 

Mongbwalu, including around Andisa, Mbao, Forêt de Brésil and until at least Digene (see S/2020/1283, para. 53). Zaïre 

control of gold mining areas was concentrated to the north, northwest and east of Mongbwalu, as well as some mines in 

Mongbwalu commune itself, including Desert and Tomate. 

The Group provides below a map of areas of control of mine sites based on information from Zaïre ex-combatants, two 

authorities, a member of the private sector, two civil society representatives, four eyewitnesses, MONUSCO sources and 

documentary evidence. 

The coloured markings below do not represent specific mine sites but rather demarcate rough areas of control, accurate as 

of end March 2022. At mines in the centre of Mongbwalu members of both CODECO factions and Zaïre were present and 

engaged in mining. The orange marks denote CODECO factions. The green areas denote Zaïre. 

 

 

Comme décrit aux paragraphes 108-110 et 119-120, tout au long de la période considérée, les factions CODECO et Zaïre 

ont mené des attaques en représailles à tour de rôle contre des mines d'or et les villes proches de celles-ci dans le territoire 

de Djugu. Dans certains cas, comme dans les mines autour d'Andisa, des attaques consécutives ont eu lieu.  

Les factions CODECO, principalement des combattants de URDPC/CODECO, contrôlaient les mines à l'ouest, au sud-

ouest, au sud et au sud-est de Mongbwalu, notamment autour d'Andisa, de Mbao, de Forêt de Brésil et jusqu'à au moins 

Digene (voir S/2020/1283, par. 53). Le contrôle exercé par Zaïre sur les zones d'exploitation aurifère était concentré au nord, 

au nord-ouest et à l'est de Mongbwalu, ainsi que sur certaines mines de la commune de Mongbwalu elle-même, notamment 

Désert et Tomate. 

Le Groupe fournit ci-dessous une carte des zones de contrôle des sites miniers basée sur les informations fournies par des 

anciens combattants de Zaïre, deux autorités, un membre du secteur privé, deux représentants de la société civile, quatre 

témoins oculaires, des sources de la MONUSCO et des preuves documentaires. 

Les signes de couleur ci-dessous ne représentent pas des sites miniers spécifiques mais délimitent plutôt des zones de 

contrôle approximatives, telles qu’elles l’étaient fin mars 2022. Des membres des factions CODECO et de Zaïre étaient 

présents et travaillaient dans les mines du centre de Mongbwalu. Les signes oranges désignent les factions CODECO et les 

verts désignent Zaïre. 

  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/1283
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Map provided by MONUSCO and colour coding added by the Group 

Carte fournie par la MONUSCO et signes de couleur ajoutés par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 64:  

Presence of some FARDC members in mines at Mongbwalu  

Présence de certains membres des FARDC dans les mines de Mongbwalu 

 

Photograph taken in October 2021 at Plan mining site, on the Mongbwalu Gold Mines (MGM) concession. The Group 

received photographic evidence and an audio recording, which it verified, that showed the daily and continuous involvement 

in gold mining activities of some FARDC members of the 13011th and 13012th Battalions of the 1301st Regiment, under 

command of Colonel Charles Muhinda Santos. Members of the Congolese National Police (PNC) were also present. Armed 

group members of CODECO factions and Zaïre were present as well and digging in the same mining area. 

 

Photographie prise en octobre 2021 sur le site d'exploitation minière de Plan, sur la concession de Mongbwalu Gold Mines 

(MGM). Le Groupe a reçu des preuves photographiques et un enregistrement audio, qu'il a authentifiés, qui montrent 

l'implication quotidienne et continue dans les activités d'extraction d'or de certains membres des FARDC des 13011ème et 

13012ème bataillons du 1301ème régiment, sous le commandement du Colonel Charles Muhinda Santos. Des membres de la 

Police Nationale Congolaise (PNC) étaient également présents. Des membres des groupes armés des factions CODECO et 

Zaïre étaient aussi présents et creusaient dans la même zone minière. 

Photograph provided to the Group by a local eyewitness 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un témoin oculaire local 

 

During the first three months of 2022, the Military Governor of Ituri ordered all FARDC to leave mine sites across Ituri, 

reminding them that all security provided to mining companies must be expressly authorised, according to the Military 

Penal Code. FARDC presence at the sites is a violation of Article 113 of the Military Penal Code.134  

  

__________________ 

134 See Loi nº 024-2002 du 18 novembre 2002 portant Code pénal militaire. 



 
S/2022/479 

 

223/297 22-06591 

 

In February 2022, five FARDC officers (two sergeants, a sergeant major, a captain and an adjutant lieutenant-colonel), were 

arrested by FARDC for involvement in illegal mineral exploitation at Mongbwalu. Two civil society members and two 

mining authorities noted, however, that these arrests targeted the “foot soldiers” and that the higher commanding officers, 

who received part of the gold, continued to operate with impunity. 

In addition, according to two local people, both eyewitnesses, and a mining authority, some FARDC members taxed men 

and women working at mine sites one kilometre from Nizi on the Société des mines d'or de Kilo Moto (SOKIMO) sarl 

PE5110 concession, during at least 2021. The women and men were forced to give fifty percent of their gold production to 

the FARDC members who came to the site.  

Below, a photograph of FARDC members at the gold mining site one kilometre from Nizi, taken in May 2021. 

 

Au cours des trois premiers mois de 2022, le Gouverneur militaire de l'Ituri a ordonné à tous les FARDC de quitter les sites 

miniers dans tout l'Ituri, leur rappelant que toute sécurité fournie aux compagnies minières devait être expressément autorisée, 

en vertu du Code pénal militaire. La présence des FARDC sur les sites constitue une violation de l'article 113 du Code pénal 

militaire.135   

En février 2022, cinq officiers des FARDC (deux sergents, un sergent-major, un capitaine et un lieutenant-colonel adjudant), 

ont été arrêtés par les FARDC pour leur implication dans l'exploitation minière illégale à Mongbwalu. Deux membres de la 

société civile et deux autorités minières ont toutefois souligné que ces arrestations visaient des « fantassins » et que les 

officiers supérieurs, qui recevaient une partie de l'or, continuaient à opérer en toute impunité. 

En outre, selon deux habitants de la région, tous deux témoins oculaires, et une autorité minière, certains membres des 

FARDC ont taxé les hommes et les femmes travaillant sur les sites miniers à un kilomètre de Nizi, sur la concession PE5110 

de la Société des mines d'or de Kilo Moto (SOKIMO) sarl, pendant au moins 2021. Les femmes et les hommes ont été 

contraints de donner cinquante pourcents de leur production d'or aux membres des membres des FARDC qui sont venus sur 

le site.  

Ci-dessous, une photo de membres des FARDC sur le site d'extraction d'or à un kilomètre de Nizi, prise en mai 2021. 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by a local eyewitness 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un témoin oculaire local 

  

__________________ 

135 Voir Loi nº 024-2002 du 18 novembre 2002 portant Code pénal militaire. 
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Below, screenshot of DRC Cadastre minier (CAMI) map of DRC’s mining concessions, which is publicly available,136 

showing PE5110 (blue arrow) owned by SOKIMO sarl, which is next to PE5105 (black arrow) where Mongbwalu is located 

and for which the title is held by MGM.   

Ci-dessous, capture d'écran de la carte du Cadastre minier de la RDC (CAMI) des concessions minières de la RDC, qui est 

disponible publiquement,137 montrant PE5110 (flèche bleue), appartenant à SOKIMO sarl et qui est à côté de PE5105 

(flèche noire) où Mongbwalu est situé et pour lequel le titre est détenu par MGM. 

 

 

Map annotated by the Group 

Carte annotée par le Groupe 

 

On the same PE5110 concession, Congolese cooperative COOMISARA (see S/2021/560, para. 112), working at Wili Wili, 

a mining site on that concession, contributed 30 percent of their gold production to SOKIMO sarl during 2021 in an 

agreement with the company. COOMISARA, who provided the Group with a copy of its supply chain due diligence report 

for 2020 and 2021, declared 3.836 kilograms of gold production for 2021, according to official mining authority statistics. 

However, SOKIMO sarl did not report any gold received or exported by COOMISARA for 2021. 

SOKIMO sarl is owned by the Congolese State and was represented by GLM & Associates, based in Kinshasa. The Group 

was unable to contact SOKIMO sarl or GLM & Associates, despite multiple attempts, by time of drafting.  

 

Sur cette même concession PE5110, la coopérative congolaise COOMISARA (voir S/2021/560, par. 112), travaillant à Wili 

Wili, un site minier sur cette concession, a contribué à 30 pourcents de leur production d'or à SOKIMO sarl au cours de 2021 

dans le cadre d'un accord avec la société. COOMISARA, qui a fourni au Groupe une copie de son rapport de diligence 

raisonnable de la chaîne d'approvisionnement pour 2020 et 2021, a déclaré 3,836 kilogrammes de production d'or pour 2021, 

selon les statistiques officielles des autorités minières. Cependant, SOKIMO sarl n'a pas déclaré d'or reçu de ou exporté par 

COOMISARA pour 2021. 

SOKIMO sarl est détenue par l'État congolais et était représentée par le cabinet GLM & Associates, basé à Kinshasa. Le 

Groupe n'a pas pu entrer en contact avec SOKIMO sarl ou GLM & Associates, malgré de multiples tentatives, au moment 

de la rédaction du rapport. 

__________________ 

136 Available at http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/?_ga=2.117878537.1268928898.1650604554-1066691000.1650604554 (last consulted 

22 April 2022). 
137  Disponible sur http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/?_ga=2.117878537.1268928898.1650604554-1066691000.1650604554 (dernière 

consultation le 22 avril 2022). 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/?_ga=2.117878537.1268928898.1650604554-1066691000.1650604554
http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/?_ga=2.117878537.1268928898.1650604554-1066691000.1650604554
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Annex/Annexe 65 

Looting by some FARDC members in Bambu and Kobu area 

Pillage par certains membres des FARDC dans la zone de Bambu et de Kobu 

 

As consistently reported by the Group’s sources, some FARDC members deployed during the state of siege looted civilian 

belongings in Bambu and Kobu area during the second half of 2021 (see para. 131) and sold these in nearby markets in Nizi 

and Iga-Barrière. Several FARDC members were arrested for such acts.  

 

Ainsi que les sources du Groupe l’ont rapporté de façon consistante, certains membres des FARDC déployés pendant l’état 

de siège ont pillé des biens civils dans la zone de Bambu et de Kobu pendant la deuxième moitié de 2021 (voir par. 131) et 

les ont vendus aux marchés voisins de Nizi et d’Iga-Barrière. Plusieurs membres des FARDC ont été arrêtés pour de tels 

actes. 
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Below is an 18 September 2021 letter confirming restitution by some FARDC members of some of the looted goods to 

civilians in Bambu 

Ci-dessous une lettre du 18 septembre 2021 confirmant la restitution par certains membres des FARDC de certains 

biens pillés à des civils à Bambu 

 

 

 

Letter provided to the Group by civil society sources (name redacted by the Group) 

Lettre fournie au Groupe par des sources de la société civile (nom caviardé par le Groupe) 
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Annex/Annexe 66: 

Damage to the Catholic Mission school of Bambu by FARDC aerial bombardment on or around 31 July 2021 

Dommages sur l’école de la Mission catholique de Bambu par un bombardement aérien des FARDC le ou autour du 

31 juillet 2021   

 

One of the bombs dropped by FARDC Mi-24 attack helicopters on or around 31 July 2021 near the Catholic Mission school 

damaged the school, according to the Group’s sources, some of whom were eyewitnesses.138   

 

Une des bombes lancées par les hélicoptères d’attaque Mi-24 des FARDC le ou autour du 31 juillet 2021 à côté de l’école 

de la Mission catholique a endommagé l’école, d’après les sources du Groupe, dont certaines étaient des témoins 

oculaires139.   

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

138 Three local authorities, two civil society sources, a high-ranking FARDC officer, additional photographs and video recording.  
139 Trois autorités locales, deux sources de la société civile, un officier haut -gradé des FARDC, des photographies supplémentaires 

et un enregistrement vidéo. 
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Photographs provided to the Group by civil society sources and redacted by the Group 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par des sources de la société civile et caviardées par le Groupe 

 

A local authority of Bambu was threatened for having spread photographs of the damage caused to the school by the 

bombardment. Below is the translation of an anonymous audio message 140  he received just a few days after the 

bombardment: 

“You are a witch and for sure, you are a Lendu. So, the army hurts when dropping bombs on the enemy. So, you are also a 

rebel. You publish images of the school destroyed by bombs. Did your grandfather build the school building? …. We will 

come for you and arrest you. You must know that we are under state of siege! You risk feeling the heat. Be careful! Just 

dare to publish these images again and we will come for you. You are crazy!” 

 

Une autorité locale de Bambu a été menacée pour avoir diffusé des photographies des dommages causés à l’école par le 

bombardement. Ci-dessous, la traduction du message audio anonyme141 qu’elle a reçu seulement quelques jours après le 

bombardement :  

« Tu es un sorcier. C’est sûr que tu es Lendu. Donc, l’armée fait du mal quand elle bombarde l’ennemi. Donc, tu es aussi 

un rebelle. Tu publies des images de l’école détruite par des bombes. Est-ce que ton grand-père a construit le bâtiment de 

l’école ? …. Nous allons venir te chercher et t’arrêter. Tu dois savoir que nous sommes sous état de siège. Tu risques de 

sentir chaud sur tes fesses. Fais attention ! Oses encore publier ces images et nous viendrons te chercher. Tu es fou ! » 

  

__________________ 

140 The audio message is in possession of the Group. Translation by the Group. 
141 Le message audio est en possession du Groupe. Traduction par le Groupe. 
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Annex/Annexe 67: 

FARDC aerial bombardment of Ndr’li village on 11 January 2022 

Bombardement aérien du village de Ndr’li par les FARDC le 11 janvier 2022 

 

Rockets used during the FARDC aerial bombardment 

Roquettes utilisées lors du bombardement aérien par les FARDC  

 

An analysis of the below photographs of the fragments of the rockets thrown on Ndr’li village, close to URDPC/CODECO 

Ndalo headquarters, on 11 January 2022 show that C-8KO (also known as S-8KO) rockets were used for the bombardment. 

C-8KO rockets are designed to destroy armored vehicles, non-armored vehicles and personnel. The penetrating power of 

the shaped charge is 400 mm. The blast of the explosion causes the projection of 400 fragments weighing three grams. 

 

Une analyse des photographies ci-dessous des fragments des roquettes lancées sur le village Ndr’li, près du quartier général 

de URDPC/CODECO à Ndalo, le 11 janvier 2022 montre que des roquettes C-8KO (connues aussi comme S-8KO) ont été 

utilisées lors du bombardement. Les roquettes C-8KO sont conçues pour détruire des véhicules blindés, des véhicules non-

blindés et du personnel. La puissance de pénétration de la charge creuse est de 400mm. Le souffle de l’explosion cause la 

projection de 400 fragments pesant trois grammes. 
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Damage to Ndr’li village dwellings caused by the bombardment 

 

Dommages causés aux habitations du village de Ndr’li par le bombardement 

 

 
  



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 232/297 

 

 
 

  

 
  

All photographs in this annex were provided to the Group by civil society sources. 

Toutes les photographies de cette annexe ont été fournies au Groupe par des sources de la société civile. 
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Annex/Annexe 68: 

Additional rape cases by some FARDC members deployed in Djugu territory, including during the state of siege 

Autres cas de viols par certains membres des FARDC déployés dans le territoire de Djugu, y compris pendant l’état 

de siège 

 

In addition to the acts of conflict-related sexual violence detailed in paras. 134-139, the Group found that some FARDC 

members committed the rapes or gangrapes detailed below. 

In February 2021, a group of members of the Lendu community escaping violence in Mongbwalu was stopped at an FARDC 

checkpoint in Loga on their way to Ezekere. Four FARDC members gangraped a 62-year-old woman who was within the 

group. When the FARDC members tore her clothes, they found her identity card and saw that she was Lendu. The FARDC 

members then said that they did not want to see any Lendu, because Lendus are CODECO. The woman witnessed that four 

FARDC members gangraped a 12-year-old girl during the same incident. 

In February 2021, one FARDC member raped a 30-year-old woman of mixed Lendu and Hema origins in fields near Djugu 

town. He told her that he would search her house if she were to denounce him. 

Around August 2021, some FARDC “Commando” members stopped a group of five Ndo Okebo and Hema women on their 

way to pick up food, between Tchele and Lopa, in a place called Dzudda. Two “Commando” members gangraped one 29-

year-old Ndo Okebo woman. The “Commando” members also raped the other four women. Some of the “Commando” 

members tried to prevent the gangrape and rapes, including by telling the other “Commando” members that they had been 

deployed to work, not to rape.142  

In October 2021, an FARDC “Commando” member raped a 23-years-old Hema woman on her way from the water source 

near Niapala. He told her that he needed to “relieve his needs” and threatened to kill her.  

In November 2021, two FARDC members gangraped a 45-year-old Hema woman who was on her way to the Draman 

market near Katoto. Before the gangrape, they told her that Hemas had been prohibited to come to that market because it 

was dangerous and asked her what she was doing there. 

 

 

En plus des actes de violence sexuelle liés au conflit détaillés aux paragraphes 134-139, le Groupe a établi que certains 

membres des FARDC avaient commis les viols ou les viols collectifs détaillés ci-dessous. 

En février 2021, un groupe de membres de la communauté Lendu, fuyant la violence à Mongbwalu et se dirigeant vers 

Ezekere, a été stoppé à une barrière des FARDC à Loga. Quatre membres des FARDC ont violé en réunion une femme âgée 

de 62 ans qui était au sein du groupe. Quand les membres des FARDC ont déchiré ses vêtements, ils ont trouvé sa carte 

d’électeur et ont vu qu’elle était Lendu. Les membres des FARDC ont alors dit qu’ils ne voulaient voir aucun Lendu, car 

les Lendu sont des CODECO. La femme a vu que quatre membres des FARDC ont violé une fille de 12 ans au cours du 

même incident. 

En février 2021, un membre des FARDC a violé une femme de 30 ans d’origine mixte Lendu/Hema dans des champs près 

de la ville de Djugu. Il lui a dit qu’il chercherait sa maison si elle le dénonçait. 

Autour du mois d’août 2021, dans un endroit appelé Dzudda, entre Tchele et Lopa, certains membres « Commando » des 

FARDC ont stoppé un groupe de cinq femmes Ndo Okebo et Hema qui allaient chercher de la nourriture. Deux membres 

des « Commando » ont violé en réunion une femme Ndo Okebo de 29 ans. Les membres des « Commando » ont aussi violé 

__________________ 

142 One rape victim and her husband. 
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les quatre autres femmes. Certains des membres des « Commando » ont essayé d’empêcher le viol collectif et les viols, y 

compris en disant aux autres membres des « Commando » qu’ils avaient été déployés pour travailler, pas pour violer143.    

En octobre 2021, un membre « Commando » des FARDC a violé une femme Hema de 23 ans qui revenait d’une source 

d’eau près de Niapala. Il lui a dit qu’il avait besoin de « soulager ses besoins » et a menacé de la tuer. 

En novembre 2021, deux membres des FARDC ont violé en réunion une femme de 45 ans qui allait au marché de Draman 

près de Katoto. Avant le viol collectif, ils lui ont dit qu’on avait interdit aux Hema d’aller à ce marché car c’était 

dangereux et lui ont demandé ce qu’elle faisait là. 

  

__________________ 

143 Une victime de viol et son mari.  
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Annex/Annexe 69: 

Contested boundaries of the Okapi Wildlife Reserve 

Limites contestées de la Réserve de faune à Okapis 

 

Concurring with the Preamble of resolution 2360 (2017), the Group underlines “that the transparent and effective 

management of its natural resources and ending illegal smuggling and trafficking of such resources are critical for the DRC’s 

sustainable peace and security”. Implementing its mandate to gather, examine and analyse information regarding the 

regional and international support networks to armed groups and criminal networks in the DRC and to evaluate the impact 

of minerals traceability pursuant to paragraphs 6 (d) and (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), as renewed by resolution 2582 

(2021), the Group further investigated the boundaries of the Okapi Wildlife Reserve (Okapi Reserve) which, as previously 

reported by the Group, remained contested (see S/2021/560, annex 91). UNESCO has designated Okapi Reserve as a World 

Heritage Site.144  

The boundaries outlined in the 1992 Ministerial Decree145 that established the Okapi Reserve place Muchacha gold mine (see 

para. 143) and other gold mining sites in its vicinity, inside the Reserve boundaries. According to the rules accompanying the 

Congolese mining code, mining activity is prohibited in protected areas, of which the Okapi Reserve is one.146  

The Congolese Mining Cadastre (CAMI) told the Group that a 15 May 2003 letter (RFO.854/ICCN/DT/DG/2003) had 

changed the Reserve boundaries, but it did not provide the Group with a copy of the letter despite multiple requests.  

KGOR sarl,147 a holding company which represents Kimia Mining Investment sarl (see annex 73), told the Group that it 

owned nine mining research permits and two mining exploration permits in Ituri. This included 80 percent of the PE7657 

mining concession on which Muchacha gold mine is located. KGOR sarl said that 2021 court documents from the military 

court in Bunia, recognised the same perimeter for the Okapi Reserve as that outlined by the CAMI. 

However, three mining authorities in Ituri, two local authorities, a senior FARDC official, and three entities involved in the 

Reserve’s management told the Group that they considered the Reserve’s boundaries to be those of the 1992 Ministerial 

Decree.  

The Group notes that 12 individuals involved in the Reserve’s management or living in the Reserve said that a Ministerial-

level decision was needed to clarify the issue. The Group further highlights the need to respect the legal boundaries of the 

Reserve once agreement is reached. 

The Group noted in particular that five national authorities, three local authorities in Mambasa territory, an FARDC member, 

two local civil society representatives in Mambasa territory and two individuals involved in managing Okapi Reserve said 

that the issue of the Reserve’s boundaries was a point of significant local tension and some insecurity. The civil society 

members and two mining authorities told the Group that the CAMI boundaries were unlikely to be changed, because of 

political links to gold mining interests in mines around the Okapi Reserve borders. Two artisanal gold miners and a local 

chief said that artisanal miners, of whose estimated numbers reached the tens of thousands in the mines on the borderlands 

of Okapi Reserve, would be left jobless if they could no longer mine in those areas. 

 

 

Souscrivant au Préambule de la résolution 2360 (2017), le Groupe souligne « que l’avènement d’une paix et d’une sécurité 

durables en République démocratique du Congo passe nécessairement par une gestion transparente et efficace des ressources 

__________________ 

144 See https://whc.unesco.org/fr/list/718/ (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
145 Arrêté ministériel n° 045/CM/ECN/92 du 2 mai 1992 portant création et délimitation d’une réserve naturelle dénommée « Réserve de 

faune à okapis » The full legal text is available at: http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/cng70224.pdf (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
146 See Article 3, Décret n° 038/2003 du 26 mars 2003 portant règlement minier tel que modifié et complété par le Décret n°18/024 

du 8 juin 2018 https ://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-

RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
147 See https://rccm.cd/rccm/ (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 

https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://whc.unesco.org/fr/list/718/
http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/cng70224.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf
https://rccm.cd/rccm/
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naturelles du pays et par la fin de la contrebande et du trafic illégal de ces ressources ». En vertu de son mandat de réunir, 

examiner et analyser des informations sur les réseaux régionaux et internationaux d’appui aux groupes armés et sur réseaux 

criminels opérant en RDC et d'évaluer l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité des minerais, conformément aux paragraphes 

6 (d) et (g) de la résolution 2360 (2017), tel que renouvelés par la résolution 2582 (2021), le Groupe a continué d’enquêter 

sur les limites de la Réserve de faune à okapis (Réserve à okapis) qui restent contestées, comme le Groupe l’a indiqué 

précédemment (voir S/2021/560, annexe 91). L'UNESCO a désigné la Réserve à okapis comme un site du patrimoine 

mondial.148   

Les limites définies dans le Décret ministériel de 1992149 qui a établi la Réserve à okapis placent la mine d'or de Muchacha 

(voir par. 143) et d'autres sites d'extraction d'or à proximité, à l'intérieur des limites de la Réserve. Selon les règles 

accompagnant le Code minier congolais, l'activité minière est interdite dans les aires protégées, dont la Réserve à okapis fait 

partie.150   

Le Cadastre minier de la RDC (CAMI) a déclaré au Groupe qu'une lettre du 15 mai 2003 (RFO.854/ICCN/DT/DG/2003) 

avait modifié les limites de la Réserve, mais le CAMI n'a pas fourni au Groupe une copie de cette lettre malgré de multiples 

demandes. 

KGOR sarl,151 une société holding qui représente Kimia Mining Investment sarl (voir annexe 73), a déclaré au Groupe 

qu'elle possédait neuf permis de recherche minière et deux permis d'exploration minière en Ituri. Cela incluait 80 pourcents 

de la concession minière PE7657 sur laquelle se trouve la mine d'or de Muchacha. KGOR sarl a déclaré que des documents 

judiciaires du tribunal militaire de Bunia, qui dataient de 2021, avaient reconnu le même périmètre pour la Réserve à okapis 

que celui retenu par le CAMI. 

Cependant, trois autorités minières de l'Ituri, deux autorités locales, un haut responsable des FARDC et trois entités 

impliquées dans la gestion de la Réserve ont déclaré au Groupe qu'ils considéraient que les limites de la Réserve étaient 

celles du Décret ministériel de 1992.  

Le Groupe note que 12 personnes impliquées dans la gestion de la Réserve ou vivant dans la Réserve ont déclaré qu'une 

décision au niveau ministériel était nécessaire pour clarifier cette question. Le Groupe souligne, à cet égard, la nécessité de 

respecter les limites légales de la Réserve une fois qu'un accord aura été trouvé. 

En particulier, le Groupe a constaté que cinq autorités nationales, trois autorités locales du territoire de Mambasa, un membre 

des FARDC, deux représentants locaux de la société civile du territoire de Mambasa et deux personnes impliquées dans la 

gestion de Réserve à okapis ont déclaré que la question des limites de la Réserve était un point de tension locale important 

et générait une certaine insécurité. Les membres de la société civile et deux autorités minières ont dit au Groupe qu'il était 

peu probable que les limites du CAMI soient modifiées, en raison de liens politiques avec les intérêts de l'exploitation 

aurifère dans les mines situées autour des limites de la Réserve à okapis. Deux mineurs d'or artisanaux et un chef local ont 

déclaré que les mineurs artisanaux, dont le nombre était estimé à plusieurs dizaines de milliers dans les mines situées autour 

des limites de la Réserve à okapis, se retrouveraient sans emploi s'ils ne pouvaient plus exploiter dans ces zones. 

__________________ 

148 Voir https://whc.unesco.org/fr/list/718/ (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  
149 Arrêté ministériel n° 045/CM/ECN/92 du 2 mai 1992 portant création et délimitation d’une réserve naturelle dénommée « Réserve  

de faune à okapis ». Le texte juridique complet est disponible à l'adresse suivante : http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/cng70224.pdf  

(dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  
150 Voir l’article 3, Décret n° 038/2003 du 26 mars 2003 portant règlement minier tel que modifié et complété par le Décret n°18/ 024 

du 8 juin 2018 : https ://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-

RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  
151 Voir https://rccm.cd/rccm/ (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
https://whc.unesco.org/fr/list/718/
http://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/cng70224.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/simple-file-list/reglement_minier/REGLEMENT-MINIER-DE-LA-RDC-REVISE-AU-08-jJUIN-2018.pdf
https://rccm.cd/rccm/
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Annex/Annexe: 70 

Responses by Colonel Kapelo and Captain Chiza 

Réponses du Colonel Kapelo et du Capitaine Chiza 

Colonel Kapelo told the Group that there were FARDC involved across the zone (around Muchacha), that their mission was 

to track armed men, and that FARDC did not interfere with the civilian population. He said that diggers died sometimes at 

Muchacha but that this had nothing to do with FARDC. He also told the Group that there was no FARDC-manned barrier 

at Penge, that he travelled to Muchacha regularly, sometimes every week, and had not heard of any problems. Colonal 

Kapelo said that he could not tell the Group how many military officers were stationed at Muchacha as this was a military 

secret. He confirmed that Captain Chiza was under his command and stationed at Muchacha. 

Captain Chiza confirmed that he was under the command of Colonel Kapelo but told the Group that he had not been 

stationed at Muchacha for over two years, and so he had nothing else to add about the situation at Muchacha. 

A high-ranking FARDC officer told the Group that he had ordered FARDC members to leave the mines around Muchacha 

and noted that there were “problems” with the boundaries of the Okapi Reserve. He added that, at the end of April 2022, he 

had sent an FARDC delegation to investigate the situation.  

Colonel Kapelo a déclaré au Groupe que les FARDC étaient impliquées dans toute la zone (autour de Muchacha), que leur 

mission était de traquer les hommes armés et que les FARDC n'interféraient pas avec la population civile. Il a déclaré que 

des creuseurs mouraient parfois à Muchacha mais que cela n'avait rien à voir avec les FARDC. Il a également dit au Groupe 

qu'il n'y avait pas de barrière gardée par les FARDC à Penge, qu'il se rendait régulièrement à Muchacha, parfois chaque 

semaine, et qu'il n'avait entendu parler d'aucun problème. Colonel Kapelo a déclaré qu'il ne pouvait pas dire au Groupe 

combien d'officiers militaires étaient stationnés à Muchacha car il s'agissait d'un secret militaire. Il a confirmé que Capitaine 

Chiza était sous son commandement et était stationné à Muchacha. 

Capitaine Chiza a confirmé qu'il était sous le commandement du Colonel Kapelo, mais a dit au Groupe qu'il n'avait pas été 

stationné à Muchacha depuis plus de deux ans et qu'il n'avait donc rien d'autre à ajouter sur la situation à Muchacha. 

Un officier de haut rang des FARDC a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait ordonné aux membres des FARDC de quitter les 

mines autour de Muchacha et qu’il a noté qu'il y avait des "problèmes" s’agissant des limites de la Réserve à okapis. Il a 

ajouté qu'à la fin du mois d'avril 2022, il avait envoyé une délégation des FARDC pour enquêter sur la situation. 
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Annex/Annexe 71: 

Amounts taxed by some FARDC members of the 31st Brigade at Penge mining town, and map of Muchacha and 

other mining zones 

Montants taxés par certains membres des FARDC de la 31ème Brigade dans la ville minière de Penge, et carte de 

Muchacha et d'autres zones minières 

 

A daily average of 100 foot passengers entering and leaving Muchacha gold mine152 paid up to 6,000 Congolese Francs, or 

around US$ 10,153 per entry and again per exit to a barrier manned by some FARDC members at Penge mining town, less 

than two kilometres distance along the road from Muchacha. Civilians transporting goods into the site paid up to 30,000 

Congolese Francs, or around US$ 50, per passage. The barrier generated upwards of US$ 1,000 daily for the FARDC 

members involved in the taxation 

Mining authorities in Mambasa and Bunia noted that some FARDC members had become powerful brokers in mines and 

that they controlled mining sites under the protection of powerful business and political interests. Three authorities who 

tried to enter Muchacha during 2021 were either denied entry by some FARDC members, or received threats from some 

FARDC members at mines, or in one case by an anonymous telephone call, warning them not to try to enter the mine sites.  

 

Une moyenne quotidienne de 100 piétons entrant et sortant de la mine d'or de Muchacha154 ont payé jusqu'à 6000 francs 

congolais, soit environ 10 dollars américains,155 à chaque entrée puis de nouveau à chaque sortie, à une barrière guardée par 

certains membres des FARDC dans la ville minière de Penge, à moins de deux kilomètres de Muchacha. Des civils 

transportant des marchandises sur le site payaient jusqu'à 30 000 francs congolais, soit environ 50 dollars américains, par 

passage. La barrière générait plus de 1000 dollars par jour pour les membres des FARDC impliqués dans la taxation.  

Les autorités minières de Mambasa et de Bunia ont constaté que certains membres des FARDC étaient devenus de puissants 

courtiers dans les mines et qu'ils contrôlaient les sites miniers sous la protection de puissants intérêts commerciaux et 

politiques. Trois autorités qui ont tenté de pénétrer dans la région de Muchacha en 2021 se sont vu refuser l'entrée par certains 

membres des FARDC, ou ont reçu des menaces les avertissant de ne pas essayer de pénétrer dans les sites miniers de la part 

de certains membres des FARDC dans les mines, ou dans un cas, lors d’un appel téléphonique anonyme. 

 

Maps situating Muchacha and other mining zones 

Gold mining sites along the Ituri river (Bandaka chefferie), Mambasa territory, showing Muchacha in relation to Penge 

mining town and mines at Congo Ya Sika and Gbaka. Below, a Google Earth view to situate Muchacha and Penge in 

Mambasa territory.   

Cartes indiquant Muchacha et d'autres zones minières 

Sites d'extraction d'or le long de la rivière Ituri (chefferie Bandaka), territoire de Mambasa, montrant Muchacha par rapport 

à la ville minière de Penge et aux mines de Congo Ya Sika et Gbaka. Ci-dessous, une vue de Google Earth indiquant 

Muchacha et Penge dans le territoire de Mambasa. 

  

__________________ 

152 Five eyewitnesses, two senior FARDC sources, three mining authorities, a civil society representative and six reports consulted 

by the Group.  
153 As at 31 March 2022, US$ 1 was equivalent to CGF 590.79. See, https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-reporting-rates-

exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange (last consulted on 20 April 2022).   
154 Cinq témoins oculaires, deux hauts gradés des FARDC, trois autorités minières, un représentant de la société civile et six ra pports 

consultés par le Groupe. 
155 Au 31 mars 2022, 1 dollar américain équivalait à 590,79 francs congolais. Voir, https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-

reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).   

 

https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange
https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange
https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange
https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange
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Map provided to the Group by a civil society source 

Carte fournie au Groupe par une source de la société civile 

 

 

Google Earth view of Penge, screen capture by the Group 

Vue de Google Earth de Penge, capture d'écran réalisée par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 72: 

Abuses against diggers by some FARDC members in Muchacha during 2020 and 2021 

Abus contre les creuseurs par certains membres des FARDC à Muchacha en 2020 et 2021  

According to four diggers, two civil society representatives and an intelligence report viewed by the Group, some FARDC 

members present at Muchacha mining site physically harmed diggers, including whipping and beating them during incidents 

throughout 2020 and 2021, and caused the death by bullet of at least one individual at Muchacha, in May 2021.  

Three diggers and two small shop owners who had shops at Mavovo, a “village” that has been built up on the Muchacha 

site, described how in September 2020, for example, hundreds of artisanal diggers were forced to leave Muchacha when 

some FARDC members rounded them up from mines across Muchacha, and from their habitations including at Mavovo, 

carolled them in circles and whipped them, telling them to leave and saying “Congolese leave”. The diggers noted that 

individuals engaged in semi-industrial mining activity, including use of excavator digging machines and bulldozer trucks, 

were not forced to leave. These semi-industrial miners were protected by some FARDC members of 31st Brigade. 

Some FARDC members and eco-guards also forcibly removed thousands of diggers from Gbaka gold mine in June 2021 

(see map in annex 71 above). According to two authorities and a civil society source, the removals were conducted on the 

grounds that artisanal mining was not permitted in the Okapi Reserve, and prompted significant tensions amongst 

community members, who perceived that semi-industrial mining companies, accompanied by some FARDC members 

protecting them, were allowed to continue producing gold, whilst local people and other artisanal miners were forced to 

leave.     

Some FARDC members of the 311st Battalion also taxed, dug and protected at other gold mining sites in Mambasa territory. 

During 2021, according to four eyewitnesses, a DRC official and an intelligence report reviewed by the Group, some 

FARDC members were also present and provided “private” security to semi-industrial mining companies at least at Camp 

Biondo, Camp Butembo and Mane gold mines, Mambasa territory. According to three individuals who had worked at or 

visited the sites for work, and a mining authority, these companies operated in conjunction with Congolese cooperatives at 

all of these sites. The local mining authorities were unable to provide the Group with the names of these semi-industrial 

mining companies, which they said simply “turned up” and started mining, without going via the usual official channels. 

The authorities could only give partial information about their ownership.   

 

Selon quatre creuseurs, deux représentants de la société civile et un rapport des services de renseignement consulté par le 

Groupe, certains membres des FARDC présents sur le site minier de Muchacha ont blessé physiquement des creuseurs, 

notamment en les fouettant et en les battant au cours d'incidents survenus en 2020 et 2021, et ont causé la mort par balle 

d'au moins une personne à Muchacha en mai 2021.  

Trois creuseurs et deux petits commerçants qui avaient des magasins à Mavovo, un "village" qui a été construit sur le site 

de Muchacha, ont décrit comment, en septembre 2020, par exemple, des centaines de creuseurs artisanaux ont été forcés de 

quitter Muchacha lorsque certains membres des FARDC les ont pris des mines de Muchacha et de leurs habitations, y 

compris à Mavovo, et rassemblés, les ont fait tourner en rond et les ont fouettés, leur disant de partir. Ils leur disaient "partez 

les Congolais". Les creuseurs ont constaté que les individus engagés dans l'activité minière semi-industrielle, y compris en 

utilisant des excavatrices et des camions bulldozers, n'ont pas été forcés de partir. Ces mineurs semi-industriels étaient 

protégés par certains membres des FARDC de la 31ème Brigade. 

Certains membres des FARDC et des éco-gardes ont également expulsé de force des milliers de creuseurs de la mine d'or 

de Gbaka en juin 2021 (voir la carte de l'annexe 71 ci-dessus). Selon deux autorités et une source de la société civile, les 

déménagements ont été effectués au motif que l'exploitation minière artisanale n'était pas autorisée dans la réserve à okapis, 

et ont suscité des tensions importantes parmi les membres de la communauté, qui avaient l'impression que les sociétés 
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minières semi-industrielles, accompagnées de quelques membres des FARDC les protégeant, étaient autorisées à continuer 

à produire de l'or, tandis que la population locale et les autres mineurs artisanaux étaient contraints de partir.     

Certains membres des FARDC du 311ème bataillon ont également taxé, creusé et protégé dans d'autres sites d'extraction d'or 

dans le territoire de Mambasa. Au cours de l'année 2021, selon quatre témoins oculaires, un fonctionnaire de la RDC et un 

rapport des renseignements examiné par le Groupe, certains membres des FARDC étaient également présents et assuraient 

la sécurité "à titre privé" de sociétés minières semi-industrielles, au moins dans les mines d'or de Camp Biondo, Camp 

Butembo et Mane, dans le territoire de Mambasa. Selon trois personnes ayant travaillé sur ces sites ou s'y étant rendues pour 

y travailler, ainsi qu'une autorité minière, ces sociétés opéraient en collaboration avec des coopératives congolaises sur tous 

ces sites. Les autorités minières locales n'ont pas été en mesure de fournir au Groupe les noms de ces sociétés minières semi-

industrielles qui, selon elles, sont simplement "arrivées" et ont commencé à exploiter, sans passer par les canaux officiels 

habituels. Les autorités n'ont pu donner que des informations partielles sur leur propriété 



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 242/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 73: 

Response from KGOR sarl and additional information about the presence of some FARDC members at mines  

Réponse de KGOR sarl et informations supplémentaires sur la présence de certains membres des FARDC dans les 

mines 

KGOR sarl,* the holding company representing Kimia, told the Group it had never asked FARDC members to intervene on 

its perimeters. KGOR sarl also said they had no control over isolated acts of FARDC members setting up roadblocks on 

access roads there. KGOR added that information it had obtained from FARDC military command led it to believe that 

FARDC members had a mission to patrol and secure the entire area of activity, which “is subject to targeted attacks by 

negative elements, wishing to prevent the installation of legitimate operators and the development that follows.” 

The Group notes however that it received consistent accounts from two local authorities who were also eyewitnesses, four 

diggers, four civil society, and three mining authorities as well as three reports independently verified by the Group that 

some FARDC members of the 31st Brigade guarded Kimia Mining Investment sarl mining areas and machinery, of up to 60 

industrial digging machines, between at least 2018 and the end of 2021. 

The Group also notes that in its reply to the Group, KGOR sarl expressed its concerns regarding “the illegal and extremely 

harmful activities of certain companies in the [Muchacha] area” but did not name the companies.  

*KGOR sarl is a DRC-registered holding company established in November 2021. KGOR sarl told the Group that it was 

created to respond to the needs of several small mining companies. The word “KGOR” stands for Kimia Mining Investment 

sarl, Golin Resources sarl and Oriental Resources sarl. The Group notes that Kimia Mining Investment sarl, established an 

80 percent shareholding in MCC Resources as of March 2021, which is a change in ownership from that reported by the 

Group previously (see S/2021/560, para. 126). 

KGOR sarl*, la société holding représentant Kimia, a déclaré au Groupe qu'elle n'avait jamais demandé à des membres des 

FARDC d'intervenir sur ses périmètres miniers. KGOR sarl a également déclaré qu'elle n'avait aucun contrôle sur les actes 

isolés de membres des FARDC établissant des barrages sur les routes d'accès à cet endroit. KGOR a ajouté que les 

informations qu'elle a obtenues du commandement militaire des FARDC l'ont amené à penser que les membres des FARDC 

avaient pour mission de patrouiller et de sécuriser l'ensemble de la zone d'activité, qui "fait l'objet d'attaques ciblées par des 

éléments négatifs, désireux d'empêcher l'installation d'opérateurs légitimes et le développement qui s'ensuit." 

Le Groupe note cependant qu'il a reçu des récits concordants de deux autorités locales qui étaient également des témoins 

oculaires, de quatre creuseurs, de quatre membres de la société civile et de trois autorités minières ainsi que trois rapports 

vérifiés de manière indépendante par le Groupe, selon lesquels, entre au moins 2018 et fin 2021, certains membres des 

FARDC de la 31ème brigade gardaient les zones minières et les machines de Kimia Mining Investment sarl, et ce jusqu'à 60 

machines de creusement industrielles. 

Le Groupe note également que dans sa réponse au Groupe, KGOR sarl a exprimé ses préoccupations concernant « les 

activités illégales et extrêmement nuisibles de certaines entreprises dans la zone [de Muchacha] » mais n'a pas nommé les 

entreprises en question. 

*KGOR sarl est une société holding enregistrée en RDC et créée en novembre 2021. KGOR sarl a déclaré au Groupe qu'elle 

avait été créée pour répondre aux besoins de plusieurs petites sociétés minières. Le terme "KGOR" désigne Kimia Mining 

Investment sarl, Golin Resources sarl et Oriental Resources sarl. Le Groupe note que Kimia Mining Investment sarl a acquis 

une participation de 80 pourcents dans MCC Resources en mars 2021, ce qui constitue un changement de propriété par 

rapport à ce que le Groupe avait signalé précédemment (voir S/2021/560, par. 126). 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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Annex/Annexe 74: 

Mai-Mai Simba led by Mangaribi’s involvement in gold during 2021 

Maï-Maï Simba de Mangaribi et son implication dans l'or en 2021 

 

Mai-Mai Simba of Mangaribi was led by Mangaribi Sadala, brother of the late Morgan Sadala. Around November 2021 

Mai-Mai Alaise, a Mai-Mai armed group that also targeted gold mines around the Okapi Reserve since at least 2020, joined 

forces with Mai-Mai Simba of Mangaribi (see also S/2016/466, fn. 23). 

Mai-Mai Simba of Mangaribi looted gold mines and demanded taxes from diggers at sites west and south-west of Muchacha 

during 2021. The taxes were of between US$ 300 and US$ 500 per month and were team and production dependent. The 

Mai-Mai kidnapped individuals from amongst the local population, some of whom then forcibly dug gold for the Mai-Mai 

group while held hostage during 2021, at sites under their control in the Enjewa forest, according to a local chief, two 

individuals who were taken hostage and a member of civil society.  One man who was taken hostage described how he was 

captured at Nia-Nia Riche mining site, where he was digging gold artisanally. He was held for three weeks, during which 

time he dug for the Mai-Mai at gold mining sites in “the bush”, alongside several hundred other diggers. The man was 

released upon payment of a ransom of over US$ 2,000. 

Muchacha gold mine, which produced up to 2 kilograms of gold daily,156 was subject to Mai-Mai attacks targeting gold, in 

November 2020 and July 2021 at least, according to two eyewitnesses and a civil society representative. 

 

 

Maï-Maï Simba de Mangaribi était dirigé par Mangaribi Sadala, frère de feu Morgan Sadala. Vers novembre 2021, Maï-

Maï Alaise, un groupe armé maï-maï qui ciblait également les mines d'or autour de la Réserve d'okapis depuis au moins 

2020, a uni ses forces à celles de Maï-Maï Simba de Mangaribi (voir également S/2016/466, fn. 23). 

 

Les Maï-Maï Simba de Mangaribi ont pillé des mines d'or et exigé des taxes des creuseurs sur des sites à l'ouest et au sud-

ouest de Muchacha en 2021. Les taxes s'élevaient entre 300 et 500 dollars par mois et dépendaient de l'équipe et de la 

production. Les Maï-Maï ont kidnappé des individus parmi la population locale en 2021. Certains ont ensuite été forcés à 

creuser de l'or pour le compte du groupe Maï-Maï tout en étant retenus en otage dans des sites sous le contrôle des Maï-Maï 

dans la forêt d'Enjewa, selon un chef local, deux individus qui avaient été pris en otage et un membre de la société civile.  

Un homme qui a été pris en otage a décrit comment il a été capturé sur le site minier de Nia-Nia Riche, où il exploitait l'or 

de manière artisanale. Il a été détenu pendant trois semaines, au cours desquelles il a creusé pour les Maï-Maï dans des sites 

d'extraction d'or dans la "brousse", aux côtés de plusieurs centaines d'autres creuseurs. L'homme a été libéré contre le 

paiement d'une rançon de plus de 2 000 dollars américains. 

 

La mine d'or de Muchacha, qui produisait jusqu'à 2 kilogrammes d'or par jour157, a fait l'objet d'attaques de Maï-Maï qui 

ciblait l'or, au moins en novembre 2020 et juillet 2021, selon deux témoins oculaires et un représentant de la société civile. 

__________________ 

156 Two mining authorities, two diggers. 
157 Deux autorités minières, deux creuseurs.  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/226811.058819294.html
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Annex/Annexe 75: 

Mambasa territory’s missing gold 

L'or disparu du territoire de Mambasa 

Based on production information shared by gold diggers and three individuals who spent time in Muchacha during 2021, 

and two mining authorities, the Group estimates that production at mines across that site alone would be over one ton of gold 

for 2021 at conservative estimates.  

The Group spoke to three artisanal diggers who said that they usually produced between one and two grams of gold per week 

at Muchacha, that the mines were open day and night and that there were over 5,000 artisanal diggers working in the area 

(some estimates of the numbers of diggers were considerably higher). The mechanised production of gold was much higher. 

The Group spoke to four diggers, two shopkeepers, two local chiefs, three civil society members and reviewed over forty 

images and ten videos showing that artisanal and semi-industrial gold mining activity at the site was significant during 2021. 

As previously reported (see S/2021/560, annex 91), the Group documented tens of excavators, tractors and other semi-

industrial material at the mine site and at neighbouring sites along the Ituri river in Muchacha mining site. 

Volumes of gold produced at Muchacha mine site went largely undocumented. State authorities in charge of conducting 

routine checks at mines, or documenting production or gold exports, were regularly denied either access to the mines, or 

were denied production and export information.158 

Official mining division figures for 2021 recorded only 57 kilograms of gold purchases by gold buying houses in Mambasa 

territory. Official production of gold by artisanal miners in Mambasa territory was only 1,496.7 grams for 2021 while eight 

mining cooperatives and Kimia Mining Investment sarl159 officially produced just over 15.3 kilograms of gold for the same 

year, according to SAEMAPE production figures.  

Sur la base des informations de production communiquées par des orpailleurs et trois personnes ayant passé du temps à 

Muchacha en 2021, ainsi que par deux autorités minières, le Groupe estime que la production des mines de ce seul site serait 

supérieure à une tonne d'or pour 2021, selon une estimation prudente.  

Le Groupe a parlé à trois creuseurs artisanaux qui ont déclaré qu'ils produisaient habituellement entre un et deux grammes 

d'or par semaine à Muchacha, que les mines étaient ouvertes jour et nuit et que plus de 5 000 creuseurs artisanaux travaillaient 

dans la région (certaines estimations du nombre de creuseurs étaient considérablement plus élevées). La production 

mécanisée d'or était beaucoup plus importante. 

Le Groupe s'est entretenu avec quatre creuseurs, deux commerçants, deux chefs locaux et trois membres de la société civile 

et a examiné plus de quarante photographies et dix vidéos montrant que l'activité d'exploitation artisanale et semi-industrielle 

de l'or sur le site était importante en 2021. Comme indiqué précédemment (voir S/2021/560, annexe 91), le Groupe a 

documenté des dizaines d'excavateurs, de tracteurs et d'autres matériels semi-industriels sur le site minier et sur les sites 

voisins le long de la rivière Ituri dans le site minier de Muchacha. 

Les volumes d'or produits sur le site minier de Muchacha sont restés largement non documentés. Les autorités publiques 

chargées d'effectuer des contrôles de routine dans les mines, ou de documenter la production ou les exportations d'or, se sont 

régulièrement vu refuser l'accès aux mines, ou se sont vu refuser les informations sur la production et les exportations160.  

Les chiffres officiels de la Division des mines pour 2021 n'ont enregistré que 57 kilogrammes d'or achetés par des maisons 

d'achat d'or sur le territoire de Mambasa. La production officielle d'or par les mineurs artisanaux du territoire de Mambasa 

__________________ 

158 Five mining authorities, including one who received telephone threats from a withheld number when he tried to access a site, and 

had to immediately leave the area. 
159 The Group notes that the 32 kilograms of gold exported by Kimia Mining Investment sarl in  November 2021 does not appear to have 

been recorded in SAEMAPE production figures. 

 
160 Cinq autorités minières, dont l'une a reçu des menaces téléphoniques d'un numéro masqué lorsqu'elle a tenté d'accéder à un si te, 

et a dû quitter immédiatement la zone. 

 

 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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n'était que de 1496,7 grammes pour 2021, tandis que huit coopératives minières et Kimia Mining Investment sarl161 ont 

officiellement produit un peu plus de 15,3 kilogrammes d'or pour la même année, selon les chiffres de production de 

SAEMAPE. 

__________________ 

161 Le Groupe note que les 32 kilogrammes d'or exportés par Kimia Mining Investment sar l en novembre 2021 ne semblent pas 

avoir été enregistrés dans les chiffres de production de SAEMAPE.  
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Annex/Annexe 76:  

32 kilos of gold exported by MCC Resources/Kimia Mining Investment sarl 

32 kilos d'or exportés par MCC Resources/Kimia Mining Investment sarl 

Concurring with the Preamble of resolution 2360 (2017), the Group underlines “that the transparent and effective 

management of its natural resources and ending illegal smuggling and trafficking of such resources are critical for the DRC’s 

sustainable peace and security”. Implementing its mandate to gather, examine and analyse information regarding the 

regional and international support networks to armed groups and criminal networks in the DRC and to evaluate the impact 

of minerals traceability pursuant to paragraphs 6 (d) and (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), as renewed by resolution 2582 

(2021), the Group found that on 19 June 2021, 31 briquettes of gold weighing around 32 kilograms were intercepted, initially 

by ICCN eco-guards, at Zungaluka control post on the eastern border of the Okapi Rererve.162 Three mining authorities and 

an FARDC member told the Group that the gold was being transported without paperwork. 

The three Congolese individuals transporting the gold, which belonged to Kimia Mining Investment sarl/MCC Resources, 

were detained and subsequently released from Bunia prison in December 2021 without trial or charges. Kimia Mining 

Investment sarl is an 80 percent shareholder in MCC Resources.  

KGOR sarl, a holding company representing Kimia Mining Investment sarl, said that "it was not to mix things up, because 

a mining company is not allowed to export on behalf of another company” and that a company “can only export if the export 

product is derived from an exploitation permit it owns, and that the gold in this case was produced on PE7651, which MCC 

Resources holds by ministerial order”. 

KGOR sarl also told the Group that the export procedure suffered from an administrative failure in the transport of the gold 

and from a dispute when the mining administration made a mix-up by adding the name of Kimia Mining Investment sarl, 

instead of MCC Resources, on the export documents. KGOR sarl added that the case was settled by a decision of the Ituri 

military tribunal under reference RP1499/21 and RMP517/MSD/21, and by the payment of a fine following an investigation 

by the competent national authorities, in particular the Centre d’évaluation, d’expertise et de certification (CEEC). The 

investigation led to the restitution of the gold and an export in due form subject to payment of the required taxes and 

obtaining of ICGLR certificates. 

Souscrivant au Préambule de la résolution 2360 (2017), le Groupe souligne « que l’avènement d’une paix et d’une sécurité 

durables en République démocratique du Congo passe nécessairement par une gestion transparente et efficace des ressources 

naturelles du pays et par la fin de la contrebande et du trafic illégal de ces ressources » et rappelle que « les liens entre 

l'exploitation illégale des ressources naturelles ». En vertu de son mandat de réunir, examiner et analyser des informations 

sur les réseaux régionaux et internationaux d’appui aux groupes armés et sur réseaux criminels opérant en RDC et d'évaluer 

l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité des minerais, conformément aux paragraphes 6 (d) et (g) de la résolution 2360 (2017), 

tel que renouvelés par la résolution 2582 (2021), le Groupe a établi que le 19 juin 2021, 31 briquettes d'or pesant environ 32 

kilogrammes ont été interceptées, initialement par des éco-gardes de l'ICCN, au poste de contrôle de Zungaluka163, à la 

limite orientale de la Réserve à okapis.  Trois exploitants miniers et un membre des FARDC ont déclaré au Groupe que l'or 

était transporté sans papiers. 

Les trois Congolais qui transportaient l'or, qui appartenait à Kimia Mining Investment sarl/MCC Resources, ont été arrêtés 

puis libérés de la prison de Bunia en décembre 2021 sans procès ni pousuites. Kimia Mining Investment sarl est actionnaire 

à 80 pourcents de MCC Resources. 

KGOR sarl, une société holding représentant Kimia Mining Investment sarl, a dit qu’ « il ne fallait pas mélanger les choses, 

car une société minière n’a pas le droit d’exporter pour le compte d’une autre société » et qu’une société « peut seulement 

exporter si le produit d’exportation est issu d'un permis d'exploitation dont elle est propriétaire, et que l'or dans ce cas avait 

été produit sur PE7651, que MCC Resources détient par arrêté ministériel ». 

__________________ 

162 Zungaluka control post is along the road between Epulu town and Mambasa town, Mambasa territory.  
163 Le poste de contrôle de Zungaluka se trouve sur la route entre la ville d'Epulu et la ville de Mambasa, dans le territoire de 

Mambasa. 

 

https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/en/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/171/45/PDF/N2117145.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
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KGOR sarl également dit au Groupe que la procédure d'exportation a pâti d'une défaillance administrative dans le transport 

de l'or et d'un litige lorsque l'administration minière a fait une confusion en ajoutant le nom de Kimia Mining Investment 

sarl, au lieu de MCC Resources, sur les documents d'exportation. KGOR sarl a ajouté que l'affaire a été réglée par une 

décision du tribunal militaire de l'Ituri sous les références RP1499/21 et RMP517/MSD/21, et par le paiement d'une amende 

suite à une enquête des autorités nationales compétentes, notamment le Centre d'évaluation, d'expertise et de certification 

(CEEC). L'enquête a abouti à la restitution de l'or et à une exportation en bonne et due forme sous réserve du paiement des 

taxes exigibles et de l'obtention des certificats de la CIRGL. 
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Annex/Annexe 77:  

Ugandan imports of DRC gold  

Importations ougandaises d'or de la RDC 

In addition to the response provided to the Group that was noted in para. 150, the Group notes that the Association did not 

provide a copy of the due diligence reports for its members and said that as private entities, its members “did not file public 

reports”.  

The Group requested from the Ugandan authorities a copy of import data for gold imports from the DRC to Uganda for 2021, 

but they did not receive the information. 

Publicly available information available on the website of the Bank of Uganda164 provides data for “all mineral imports” 

from the DRC to Uganda. “All mineral imports” include gold and do not include petrol.  

The Group compared imports of “all minerals” from the DRC with publicly available export data for gold from Uganda, 

which is also available on the Bank of Uganda website.  

The Group observed a close correlation between “all mineral imports” from the DRC and gold exports from Uganda, as 

shown in Graph 1 below. The Group also observed a spike in “all mineral imports” from the DRC in June 2021. This coincided 

with new legislation in Uganda that introduced taxes on gold exports.165  

As the graph shows, imports of “all minerals” from the DRC dropped significantly after this legislation was introduced, and 

gold exports from Uganda ceased almost completely between July and December 2021, with the exception of 57 kilograms 

exported to the United Arab Emirates in September 2021. Uganda exported 19.15 tons of gold in total in 2021. 

In January and February 2022, India imported 1,320.20 kilograms of gold from Uganda, according to information reviewed 

by the Group. 

Outre la réponse fournie au Groupe mentionnée au paragraphe 150, le Groupe note que l'Association n'a pas fourni de copie 

des rapports de diligence raisonnable pour ses membres et a déclaré qu'en tant qu'entités privées, ses membres "ne déposaient 

pas de rapports publics".  

Le Groupe a demandé aux autorités ougandaises une copie des données relatives aux importations d'or de la RDC vers 

l'Ouganda pour 2021, mais il n'a pas reçu ces informations. 

Les informations publiquement disponibles sur le site web de la Banque de l'Ouganda166 fournissent des données pour "toutes 

les importations minérales" de la RDC vers l'Ouganda. La catégorie "toutes les importations de minéraux" comprend l'or et 

n'inclut pas l'essence.  

Le Groupe a comparé les importations de "tous les minerais" en provenance de la RDC avec les données publiquement 

disponibles sur les exportations d'or de l'Ouganda, qui sont également disponibles sur le site web de la Banque de l'Ouganda.  

Le groupe a observé une corrélation étroite entre les "importations de tous les minéraux" en provenance de la RDC et les 

exportations d'or de l'Ouganda, comme le montre le graphique 1 ci-dessous. Le Groupe a également observé un pic des 

"importations de tous les minéraux" en provenance de la RDC en juin 2021. Cela a coïncidé avec une nouvelle législation 

ougandaise qui a introduit des taxes sur les exportations d'or.167   

  

__________________ 

164 Available at: http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/rates_statistics/statistics.html. (last consulted on 8 March 2022). 
165 The Mining Amendment Act was tabled in April 2021 and adopted in June 2021. It introduced a US$ 200 per kilogram levy on 

export of refined gold and a 15 percent levy on exports of unprocessed gold. 
166 Disponible à : http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/rates_statistics/statistics.html. (dernière consultation le 8 mars 2022).  
167 La loi d'amendement sur les mines a été déposée en avril 2021 et adoptée en juin 2021. Elle a introduit une taxe de 200 dollars 

américains par kilogramme sur les exportations d'or raffiné et une taxe de 15 pourcents sur les exportations d'or non transfo rmé. 

http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/rates_statistics/statistics.html
http://www.bou.or.ug/bou/rates_statistics/statistics.html
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Comme le montre le graphique, les importations de "tous les minéraux" en provenance de la RDC ont considérablement 

diminué après l'introduction de cette législation, et les exportations d'or de l'Ouganda ont presque totalement cessé entre 

juillet et décembre 2021, à l'exception de 57 kilogrammes exportés vers les Émirats arabes unis en septembre 2021. 

L'Ouganda a exporté 19,15 tonnes d'or au total en 2021. 

En janvier et février 2022, l'Inde a importé 1320,20 kilogrammes d'or de l'Ouganda, selon les informations examinées par le 

Groupe. 

 

 

Graph 1 made by the Group 

Graphique 1 réalisé par le Groupe 

 

The Group notes in addition that Uganda was not yet issuing ICGLR certificates for its gold exports at time of drafting, 

despite 2017 legislation introduced in Uganda that made this a legal requirement. Section 2 of the International Conference 

on the Great Lakes Region (Implementation of the Pact on Security, Stability and Development in the Great Lakes Region) 

Act, 2017, provides that the Pact will enter into force in Uganda, and especially its protocol Against the Illegal Exploitation 

of Natural Resources. 

Gold production in Uganda 

In its response to the Group, the newly created Gold Refiners, Exporters and Dealers Association Uganda Limited noted that 

Uganda is a gold producing country, and that Uganda has mines in Karamoja, Bugisu, Buhweju, Mubende and Busia, 

amongst others, and that a recent license issued by the Ugandan Government to Wagagai Gold Mining Construction company 

“was expected to produce 25 tons of pure gold annually”.  

The Association told the Group that its main objective was to “organise all players in the gold industry to support actions in 

the gold industry through knowledge transfer, capacity building, and resource mobilisation for artisanal mines. The 

Association is intended to ensure that they are well coordinated, organised and promoting responsible sourcing of gold in 

Uganda.”  

The association also noted that its members would be bound by ICGLR regulations, submitted by the Ministry of Energy 

and Mineral Development to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, once these were approved.   
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The Group also met with five individuals engaged in artisanal gold mining in Uganda. They independently noted that some 

of Uganda’s most productive gold mines around Mubende, Central District, could produce up to 10 kilograms of gold daily 

but that the majority of this and other gold production in Uganda was not officially declared, in large part because of legal 

difficulties related to the status of artisanal miners in Uganda. They, four members of civil society and one gold trader told 

the Group that gold traders operating on Kanjokya Street in Kampala would buy gold from Ugandan mines and from 

“anywhere else”, including from the DRC. 

 

Le Groupe note en outre que l'Ouganda ne délivrait pas encore de certificats de la CIRGL pour ses exportations d'or au 

moment de la rédaction du présent document, malgré une législation de 2017 introduite en Ouganda qui en fait une obligation 

légale. La section 2 de la Loi de 2017 sur la Conférence internationale sur la région des Grands Lacs (mise en œuvre du Pacte 

sur la sécurité, la stabilité et le développement dans la région des Grands Lacs) prévoit l'entrée en vigueur du Pacte en 

Ouganda, et notamment de son protocole contre l'exploitation illégale des ressources naturelles. 

Production d'or en Ouganda 

Dans sa réponse au Groupe, l’association Gold Refiners, Exporters and Dealers Association Uganda Limited, nouvellement 

créée, a noté que l'Ouganda est un pays producteur d'or, qu'il possède des mines à Karamoja, Bugisu, Buhweju, Mubende et 

Busia, entre autres, et qu'une licence récemment délivrée par le Gouvernement ougandais à la société Wagagai Gold Mining 

Construction "devrait produire 25 tonnes d'or pur par an".  

L'Association a déclaré au Groupe que son principal objectif était "d'organiser tous les acteurs de l'industrie aurifère afin de 

soutenir les actions de l'industrie aurifère par le transfert de connaissances, le renforcement des capacités et la mobilisation 

des ressources pour les mines artisanales. L'association a pour but de s'assurer qu'ils sont bien coordonnés, organisés et qu'ils 

encouragent un approvisionnement responsable en or en Ouganda."  

L'association a également noté que ses membres seront liés par les règles de la CIRGL, soumises par le Ministère de l'énergie 

et du développement minéral au Ministère des affaires étrangères, une fois celles-ci approuvées.   

Le Groupe a également rencontré cinq personnes impliquées dans l'exploitation artisanale d'or en Ouganda. Elles ont noté 

de manière indépendante que certaines des mines d'or les plus productives d'Ouganda, autour de Mubende, dans Central 

District, pouvaient produire jusqu'à 10 kilogrammes d'or par jour, mais que la majorité de cette production d'or et d'autres 

productions en Ouganda n'étaient pas officiellement déclarées, en grande partie à cause des difficultés juridiques liées au 

statut des mineurs artisanaux en Ouganda. Ces personnes, quatre membres de la société civile et un négociant en or ont 

déclaré au Groupe que les négociants en or opérant dans la rue Kanjokya à Kampala achetaient de l'or provenant de mines 

ougandaises et de "n'importe où ailleurs", y compris de la RDC. 
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Annex/Annexe 78: 

Background on Colonel Joseph Mitabo 

Éléments de contexte sur le Colonel Joseph Mitabo 

 

FARDC Colonel Joseph Mitabo joined Twirwaneho in mid-March 2022. He was previously a combatant under Makanika’s 

command in the Forces républicaines fédéralistes (FRF), a Banyamulenge-affiliated armed group in the Hauts-Plateaux 

created in the early 2000’s, which was then commonly called Gumino. In 2009, the Group had established that Makanika 

had ordered several executions of FRF combatants who had tried to escape from the armed group, and which were carried 

out by Mitabo.168 Shortly after, still in 2009, Mitabo was integrated in the FARDC.169 In 2016, as he was posted with the 

FARDC in North Kivu, he was arrested for raping a minor. In 2018, he escaped from Muzenze prison in Goma and fled to 

Kenya.170 In a media interview, he explained that he had joined Twirwaneho to protect the Banyamulenge community and 

called for other officers and Banyamulenge youth to join their fight.171   

 

Le Colonel FARDC Joseph Mitabo a rejoint les Twirwaneho à la mi-mars 2022. Il avait été auparavant combattant sous le 

commandement de Makanika dans les Forces républicaines fédéralistes (FRF), un groupe armé affilié aux Banyamulenge 

dans les Hauts-Plateaux créé au début des années 2000, qui était alors communément appelé Gumino. En 2009, le Groupe 

avait établi que Makanika avait ordonné plusieurs exécutions de combattants FRF qui avaient tenté de s'échapper du groupe 

armé, et qui ont été exécutées par Mitabo172. Peu de temps après, toujours en 2009, Mitabo a été intégré dans les FARDC173. 

En 2016, alors qu'il était posté avec les FARDC au Nord-Kivu, il a été arrêté pour viol sur mineur. En 2018, il s'est évadé 

de la prison de Muzenze à Goma et s'est enfui au Kenya174. Dans une interview à la presse, il a expliqué qu'il avait rejoint 

les Twirwaneho pour protéger la communauté Banyamulenge et a appelé d'autres officiers et des jeunes Banyamulenge à se 

joindre à leur combat175. 

  

__________________ 

168 See S/2009/603, paras. 374-376. 
169 See S/2009/603, para. 55. 
170 Civil society, researchers, FARDC, MONUSCO and local sources.  
171 See https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VqKRVlBcc (last accessed on 21 April 2022). 
172 Voir S/2009/603, par. 374-376. 
173 Voir S/2009/603, par. 55. 
174 Société civile, chercheurs, FARDC, sources locales et de la MONUSCO.  
175 Voir https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VqKRVlBcc (dernière consultation le 21 avril 2022).  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VqKRVlBcc
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N09/601/44/PDF/N0960144.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N09/601/44/PDF/N0960144.pdf?OpenElement
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VqKRVlBcc
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Photograph of Colonel Joseph Mitabo 

Photographie du Colonel Joseph Mitabo 

 

Screenshot of a Youtube video176 

Capture d’écran d’une video Youtube177 

 

 

__________________ 

176 Idem.  
177 Idem.  
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Annex/Annexe 79: 

Map area of operations, temporary positions and transit bases of FDN and Imbonerakure 

Cartographie de la zone d’opérations, des positions temporaires et des camps de transit des FDN et des 

Imbonerakure 

Since December 2021, most armed clashes between FDN 

and Imbonerakure members, on one side, and RED-

Tabara, on the other, took place in the area around Kitoga 

and Masango (red circles). 

 

FDN established temporary positions and transit bases 

including in Kabere, Mubere and Rukobero, west of 

Sange, from where FDN and Imbonerakure transited to 

the Kitoga and Masango areas. 

 

MONUSCO maps annotated by the Group 

 

 

 

Depuis décembre 2021, la plupart des affrontements 

armés entre les membres des FDN et des Imbonerakure, 

d'un côté, et les RED-Tabara, de l'autre, ont eu lieu dans 

la zone autour de Kitoga et Masango (cercles rouges). 

 

Les FDN ont établi des positions temporaires et des 

camps de transit, notamment à Kabere, Mubere et 

Rukobero, à l'ouest de Sange, d'où les FDN et les 

Imbonerakure ont transité vers les zones de Kitoga et 

Masango. 

 

Cartes de la MONUSCO annotées par le Groupe 
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Annex/Annexe 80:  

Non-exhaustive list of recent FDN and Imbonerakure incursions and operations in the DRC 

Liste non exhaustive des incursions et opérations récentes des FDN et des Imbonerakure en RDC 

 

The Group collected information on the presence and/or operations of FDN and/or Imbonerakure on the following dates and 

in the following locations and areas, all in Uvira territory: 

• On 13 September 2021, in Munywena; 

• On 27 and 28 September 2021, in Rwenena; 

• On 29 September 2021, in Rukobero; 

• On 11 November 2021, along the Ruzizi River heading towards Bwegera; 

• On 2 December 2021, in Kabere; 

• On 4 December 2021, on the Kirombe Mount, close to Kanga; 

• On 20 December 2021, heading towards Mahungubwe; 

• On 2 and 3 January 2022, in Kitoga; 

• On 6 January 2022, in Masango; 

• From 15 to 20 January 2022, in Kitoga, Bibangwa, Kitembe and Kyandunda; 

• On 16 January 2022, in Kitoga; 

• On 20 January 2022, in Rwenena; 

• From 24 to 26 January 2022, in Kitoga and Masango; 

• On 7 February 2022, in Kikonde; 

• On 9 February 2022, in Kabere; 

• From 14 to 20 February 2022, in Kyanunda and Runingo; 

• From 22 to 25 February 2022, in the area around Sange and in Kabere and Kimuka; 

• On 3 March 2022, in Kabere. 

 

Sources: Local sources, civil society, FARDC, MONUSCO, researchers and armed groups sources. 

 

The Group communicated this list to the Burundian authorities and requested additional information. The Burundian 

authorities denied, however, any presence or incursions in the DRC (see also para. 168). 

 

 

Le Groupe a recueilli des informations sur la présence et/ou les opérations des FDN et/ou des Imbonerakure aux dates 

suivantes et dans les lieux et zones suivants, tous situés sur le territoire d'Uvira : 

• Le 13 septembre 2021, à Munywena ; 

• Les 27 et 28 septembre 2021, à Rwenena ; 

• Le 29 septembre 2021, à Rukobero ; 

• Le 11 novembre 2021, le long de la rivière Ruzizi en direction de Bwegera ; 

• Le 2 décembre 2021, à Kabere ; 

• Le 4 décembre 2021, sur le Mont Kirombe, près de Kanga ; 

• Le 20 décembre 2021, en direction de Mahungubwe ; 

• Les 2 et 3 janvier 2022, à Kitoga ; 

• Le 6 janvier 2022, à Masango ; 

• Du 15 au 20 janvier 2022, à Kitoga, Bibangwa, Kitembe et Kyandunda ; 

• Le 16 janvier 2022, à Kitoga ; 

• Le 20 janvier 2022, à Rwenena ; 

• Du 24 au 26 janvier 2022, à Kitoga et Masango ; 
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• Le 7 février 2022, à Kikonde ; 

• Le 9 février 2022, à Kabere ; 

• Du 14 au 20 février 2022, à Kyanunda et Runingo ; 

• Du 22 au 25 février 2022, dans la zone de Sange et à Kabere et Kimuka ; 

• Le 3 mars 2022, à Kabere. 

 

Sources : Sources locales, de la société civile, des FARDC et de la MONUSCO, chercheurs et sources au sein des groupes 

armés. 

Le Groupe a communiqué cette liste aux autorités burundaises et a demandé des informations supplémentaires. Les autorités 

burundaises ont cependant nié toute présence ou incursion en RDC (voir aussi par. 168). 
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Annex/Annexe 81: 

RED-Tabara and FNL fluid alliances with Congolese armed groups 

RED-Tabara et FNL : des alliances fluides avec des groupes armés congolais 

 

RED-Tabara and FNL also operated alongside Maï-Maï groups, including Maï-Maï Ilunga, Kashumba, Mushombe and 

Makanaki, operating together as a coalition, in clashes with FDN, Imbonerakure and their allies, and also when targeting 

Banyamulenge and their cattle (see paras. 164-166).178  

Local armed groups’ fluid alliances with either FDN/Imbonerakure or RED-Tabara were opportunistic as these were often 

driven by financial and/or material interests. To illustrate, Maï-Maï Kijangala, besides scouting FDN and Imbonerakure in 

exchange for money, also occasionally guided RED-Tabara for money.179  FPDC and Gumino also fought against each 

other both after and before their collaboration with FDN early 2021. FPDC used weapons and ammunition, provided by 

FDN, during combat with Gumino.180 Likewise, Maï-Maï Kijangala was part of the broader ad hoc coalition with inter alia 

Maï-Maï Ilunga and Makanaki, while Maï-Maï Kashumba and Mushombe, who had closely been allied with Maï-Maï 

Ilunga and fighting together with RED-Tabara, recently switched sides.   

 

RED-Tabara et les FNL ont également opéré aux côtés de groupes Maï-Maï, notamment Maï-Maï Ilunga, Kashumba, 

Mushombe et Makanaki, opérant ensemble en tant que coalition, lors d'affrontements avec les FDN, les Imbonerakure et 

leurs alliés, et également lorsqu'ils ont pris pour cible les Banyamulenge et leur bétail (voir paragraphes 164-166)181.  

Les alliances fluides des groupes armés locaux avec les FDN/Imbonerakure ou les RED-Tabara étaient opportunistes car 

elles étaient souvent motivées par des intérêts financiers et/ou matériels. Par exemple, Maï-Maï Kijangala, en plus de faire 

des repérages pour les FDN et Imbonerakure contre paiement, guidaient aussi occasionnellement les RED-Tabara 

également contre paiement182.  Le FPDC et Gumino se sont également affrontés après et avant leur collaboration avec les 

FDN début 2021. Le FPDC a utilisé des armes et des munitions, fournies par les FDN, lors de combats avec Gumino183.  

De même, Maï-Maï Kijangala faisait partie de la coalition ad hoc plus large avec, entre autres, Maï-Maï Ilunga et Makanaki, 

tandis que Maï-Maï Kashumba et Mushombe, qui avaient été étroitement alliés à Maï-Maï Ilunga et avaient combattu avec 

les RED-Tabara, ont récemment changé de camp.   

 

__________________ 

178 Maï-Maï leadership, FARDC, researchers, MONUSCO and local sources.  
179 FARDC, researchers, local sources. 
180 Maï-Maï leadership and combatants, FARDC. 
181 Dirigeants Maï-Maï, FARDC, chercheurs, MONUSCO et sources locales.  
182 FARDC, chercheurs, sources locales. 
183 Dirigeants et combattants Maï-Maï, FARDC. 
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Annex/Annexe 82: 

Local and international support to armed groups operating in the Moyens and Hauts-Plateaux 

Soutien local et international aux groupes armés opérant dans les Moyens et Hauts-Plateaux 

Mai-Mai coalition 

The Group documented substantial financial support from outside of the DRC during 2020 and 2021 received by FABB and, 

to a lesser extent, groups in the ad hoc Mai-Mai coalition. The majority of funds reviewed by the Group were used to purchase 

supplies and goods for FABB operations such as Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya Congo.184 These included food, shoes, batteries, 

medical supplies as well as ammunition185 (see below for examples of purchases). 

Individuals in Australia, the United Kingdom186 and the United States of America were amongst those who sent international 

money transfers in support of coalition group members. Eraston Bikumbanya, based in Australia,187 and Emmanuel Rumonge 

Rukeba based in the United States of America188 were amongst those who sent funds during 2020 and 2021. 

Eraston Bikumbanya told the Group that he sent money to the DRC, but only to his family members in Uvira and for family 

reasons. This included sending money to Mutula Samadare (see below for more information on this individual) who was his 

elder brother’s son. Eraston Bikumbanya told the Group he did not know Alexis Nwega Mulemera (see below), had never 

heard of Biloze Bishambuke (FABB) and that he knew nothing about the political situation in the Hauts-Plateaux. The Group 

was unable to contact Emmanuel Rumonge Rukeba, despite many efforts, by the time of drafting this report. 

Alexis Nwega Mulemera, based in Burundi, personally received and deposited part of the international funding to FABB in 

the DRC.189 Between at least April 2019 and early 2022, he transmitted funds mainly through Kakira Makira Lebon, alias 

Naluvumbu Kibambala, and Mutula Obedi, alias Samadare190 (see below for more information on these two individuals) and 

Kimwanga Kangeta, President of the Bafuliiru “mutualité” in Uvira.191 The Group contacted Alexis Nwega Mulemera and 

tried to contact the other three individuals but did not receive a reply by time of drafting.  

These individuals, who also occasionally directly collected funds, mainly from the Bafuliiru diaspora and community in the 

DRC, then purchased supplies, usually in Uvira, and transported them either directly or through intermediaries to various 

FABB positions and commanders, such as FABB President Bernard Saidi Rwengeka.192 In audio recordings reviewed by the 

Group, Naluvumbu and Samadare acknowledged this support. Bernard Saidi also directly received and used some of the 

funds sent by the diaspora. 

Kiruga Muchepe, a prominent Uvira-based businessman, also collected funds mainly from the Bafuliiru community and 

provided supplies to FABB and its allies, usually through Naluvumbu and Mutulare.193 This coordination was done during 

regular meetings held at Muchepe’s hotel, in Uvira involving key Mai-Mai supporters, such as former Provincial Deputy 

Mbabaro Ombeni194 and FABB representatives.195 Along with Mbabaro and Ngunge Shuli Kyabi alias Bwijabwija, an Uvira-

based businessman,196 Muchepe, claiming to be a FEC member, also used his hotel and prominent position in Uvira’s 

business community to mobilise and collect contributions from businessmen and local authorities in Fizi territory to support 

__________________ 

184 See S/2021/560, annex 101. 
185 Mai-Mai leadership and (ex-)combatants, researchers, local sources and authorities.  
186 Civil society members, local authority, Mai-Mai leadership. 
187 Local authorities, Mubembe and Munyindu community members, a Mai-Mai ex-combatant. 
188 Local authorities, Mai-Mai combatants, Munyindu community member.  
189 MONUSCO, ex-FARDC, members of Babembe, Bafuliiru and Bashi community members.  
190 Mai-Mai leadership and (ex)-combatants, individuals close to them, civil society, researchers, local authorities.  
191 Mai-Mai leadership and (ex)-combatant, researchers, civil society, local sources and authorities.   
192 Mai-Mai leadership and (ex)-combatant, local authority and sources.  
193  Mai-Mai and Twirwaneho leadership and (ex)-combatants, individuals close to these groups, civil society, researchers, local 

authorities and sources.  
194 He died in August 2021.  
195  Mai-Mai and Twirwaneho leadership and (ex)-combatants, individuals close to these groups, civil society, researchers, local 

authorities and sources.  
196 Twirwaneho leadership, civil society, local sources.  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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the Mai-Mai coalition.197 Muchepe and Naluvumbu also benefitted from cattle looting by the Mai-Mai coalition against the 

Banyamulenge community,198 which they helped resell.199 

Laurent Amisi Apata, a former president of Emo ya M’Mbondo200 based in the USA, also visited South Kivu several times 

since at least 2015 to meet with Yakutumba and deliver funds.201 In early 2021 he travelled to the Hauts-Plateaux, notably to 

support operation Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya Congo (see below for more information on him and his support to the 

operation).202 In an audio recording from around the same time reviewed by the Group, Amisi claimed that he had provided 

US$2,700 to Yakutumba and his then deputy Alonda Bita, alias Alida203 and US$1,500 to Ebuela.  

Similarly, Aristote Bwenge, also based in the USA, traveled to North Kivu, South Kivu and Tanganyika between 2021 and 

2022, where he met with several armed groups, such as FPDC, FABB and Raïa Mutomboki, and transferred funds to some 

of them in efforts to bring them into his own group Action populaire pour la libération totale (APLT) (see below for fore 

more information on one of these meeetings).204 He had previously provided funds to Yakutumba205 and acknowledged in an 

audio recording from October/November 2021 to the FPDC president, Samuel Ba’Asane Mwenemwenyi, alias Samy 

Bakasane, that he had given money to several armed groups, including to Yakutumba and FDPC.  

 
Twirwaneho and Gumino  

 

Twirwaneho continued to receive substantial financial support from certain Banyamulenge individuals, both inside and 

outside the DRC, in support of their community and the group’s activities (see S/2021/560, para. 133).206  

Gumino also received financial support from sources outside of the DRC, as well as material and financial support from 

individuals in the region (see notably para. 165).207 

 

Coalition Maï-Maï  

Le Groupe a documenté un soutien financier substantiel de l'extérieur de la RDC en 2020 et 2021 reçu par les FABB et, dans 

une moindre mesure, par des groupes de la coalition ad hoc Maï-Maï. La majorité des fonds examinés par le Groupe ont été 

utilisés pour acheter du matériel et des biens pour les opérations des FABB telles que Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya Congo.208 

Ceux-ci comprenaient de la nourriture, des chaussures, des piles, des fournitures médicales ainsi que des munitions209 (voir 

ci-dessous pour des exemples d'achats).  

Des individus en Australie, au Royaume-Uni210 et aux États-Unis d'Amérique figuraient parmi ceux qui ont envoyé des 

transferts d'argent internationaux pour soutenir les membres de la coalition. Eraston Bikumbanya, basé en Australie,211 et 

Emmanuel Rumonge Rukeba, basé aux États-Unis d'Amérique212, faisaient partie de ceux qui ont envoyé des fonds en 2020 

et en 2021.  

 

__________________ 

197 Mai-Mai groups and Twirwaneho leadership and (ex)-combatants, individuals close to these groups, civil society, researchers, local 

authorities and sources.  
198 See S/2021/560, annex 93.  
199 Mai-Mai leadership and (ex)-combatants, local authorities and sources.  
200 Emo ya M’Mbondo is a grouping (mutualité) of the Babembe diaspora with branches in several countries, including the USA. 

Amisi stepped down as president of the US branch in 2020 and became an advisor to the organization.  
201 Mai-Mai leadership, researcher and local authorities.  
202 Mai-Mai leadership and combatants, individual close to these groups, researcher.  
203 See S/2021/560, paras. 128 and 165. 
204 Mai-Mai leadership and individual close to them. 
205 Mai-Mai leadership.  
206  Local authorities, FARDC, researcher, civil society, MONUSCO sources, Banyamulenge community members, Twirwaneho 

leadership.    
207 Autorités locales, personnes proches de Gumino, société civile et membres de  la communauté Banyamulenge. 
208 Voir S/2021/560, annexe 101. 
209 Dirigeants Maï-Maï et (ex)-combattants, autorités et sources locales. 
210 Membres de la société civile, une autorité locale et des dirigeants Maï-Maï. 
211 Autorités locales, membres de la communauté Mubembe et Muvindu et un ex-combattant Maï-Maï. 
212 Autorités locales, combattants Maï-Maï et un membre de la communauté Muvindu. 

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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Eraston Bikumbanya a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait envoyé de l'argent en RDC, mais uniquement aux membres de sa famille 

à Uvira et pour des raisons familiales. Cela comprenait l'envoi d'argent à Mutula Samadare (voir ci-dessous pour plus 

d'informations sur cette personne) qui est le fils de son frère aîné. Eraston Bikumbanya a déclaré au Groupe qu'il  ne 

connaissait pas Alexis Nwega Mulemera (voir ci-dessous), qu'il n'avait jamais entendu parler de Biloze Bishambuke (FABB) 

et qu'il ne savait rien de la situation politique dans les Hauts-Plateaux. Le Groupe n'a pas pu contacter Emmanuel Rumonge 

Rukeba au moment de la rédaction de ce rapport, malgré de nombreuses tentatives.  

Alexis Nwega Mulemera, basé au Burundi, a personnellement reçu et déposé une partie du financement international des 

FABB en RDC213. Entre avril 2019 au moins et début 2022, il a transmis des fonds principalement via Kakira Makira Lebon, 

alias Naluvumbu Kibambala, et Mutula Obedi, alias Samadare214 (voir ci-dessous pour plus d'informations sur ces deux 

individus) et Kimwanga Kangeta, président de la « mutualité » Bafuliiru à Uvira215. Le Groupe a contacté Alexis Nwega 

Mulemera et a essayé de contacter les trois autres individus mais n'a pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du 

rapport.  

Ces individus, qui collectaient aussi occasionnellement directement des fonds, principalement auprès de la diaspora et de la 

communauté Bafuliiru en RDC, achetaient ensuite des fournitures, généralement à Uvira, et les acheminaient directement 

ou par des intermédiaires vers diverses positions et commandants des FABB, tels que le président des FABB, Bernard Saidi 

Rwengeka216. Dans des enregistrements audios examinés par le Groupe, Naluvumbu et Samadare ont reconnu ce soutien. 

Bernard Saidi a également directement reçu et utilisé une partie des fonds envoyés par la diaspora.  

Kiruga Muchepe, un éminent homme d'affaires basé à Uvira, a également collecté des fonds principalement auprès de la 

communauté Bafuliiru et fourni du matériel aux FABB et à ses alliés, généralement via Naluvumbu et Mutulare217. Cette 

coordination a été effectuée lors de réunions régulières tenues à l'hôtel de Muchepe, à Uvira, impliquant des soutiens clés 

des Maï-Maï, tels que l'ancien député provincial Mbabaro Ombeni218 et des représentants des FABB219. En effet, avec 

Mbabaro et Ngunge Shuli Kyabi, alias Bwijabwija, un homme d'affaires basé à Uvira220, Muchepe, prétendant être membre 

de la FEC, a également utilisé son hôtel et sa position de premier plan dans le milieu des affaires d'Uvira pour mobiliser et 

collecter des contributions auprès des hommes d'affaires et des autorités locales du territoire de Fizi pour soutenir la coalition 

Maï-Maï221. Muchepe et Naluvumbu ont également bénéficié du pillage du bétail par la coalition Maï-Maï contre la 

communauté Banyamulenge222, qu'ils ont aidé à revendre223.  

Laurent Amisi Apata, ancien président d'Emo ya M'Mbondo224 basé aux États-Unis, s'est également rendu au Sud-Kivu à 

plusieurs reprises depuis au moins 2015 pour rencontrer Yakutumba et lui remettre des fonds225. Début 2021, il s’est rendu 

dans les Hauts-Plateaux, notamment pour soutenir l'opération Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya Congo (voir ci-dessous pour plus 

d'informations sur lui et son soutien à l'opération)226. Dans un enregistrement audio datant d’environ la même époque et 

examiné par le Groupe, Amisi a affirmé qu'il avait fourni 2700 dollars américains à Yakutumba et à son adjoint de l'époque, 

Alonda Bita, alias Alida227, et 1500 dollars américains à Ebuela.  

__________________ 

213 MONUSCO, membres de la communauté Babembe, Bafuliiru et Bashi.  
214 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï, individus proches de ces groupes, membres de la société civile, chercheurs et autorités locales. 
215 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï, membres de la société civile, chercheurs et autorités et sources locales. 
216 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï, autorités et sources locales. 
217 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï et des Twirwaneho, individus proches de ces groupes, membres de la société civile, 

chercheurs et autorités et sources locales. 
218 Il est décédé en août 2021.  
219 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï et des Twirwaneho, individus proches de ces groupes, membres de la société civile, 

chercheurs et autorités et sources locales. 
220 Dirigeants des Twirwaneho, membfes de la société civile, et sources  locales. 
221 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï et des Twirwaneho, individus proches de ces groupes, membres de la société civile, 

chercheurs et autorités et sources locales. 
222 Voir S/2021/560, annexe 93. 
223 Dirigeants et (ex)-combattants Maï-Maï, et autorités et sources locales. 
224  Emo ya M'Mbondo est une mutualité de la diaspora Babembe avec des antennes dans plusieurs pays, dont les Etats-Unis 

d’Amérique. Amisi a démissionné de son poste de président de la branche américaine en 2020 et est devenu conseiller de l'organisation.  
225 Dirigeants Maï-Maï, chercheur et autorités locales. 
226 Dirigeants et combattants Maï-Maï, individus proches de ces groupes et un chercheur.  
227 Voir S/2021/560, par. 128 et 165. 

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/47/PDF/N2111347.pdf?OpenElement
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De même, Aristote Bwenge, également basé aux États-Unis, s'est rendu au Nord-Kivu, au Sud-Kivu et au Tanganyika entre 

2021 et 2022, où il a rencontré plusieurs groupes armés, tels que le FPDC, les FABB et les Raïa Mutomboki, et a transféré 

des fonds à certains d'entre eux afin de les encourager à intégrer son propre groupe l’Action populaire pour la libération 

totale (APLT) (voir ci-dessous pour plus d'informations sur l'une de ces réunions)228. Il avait auparavant fourni des fonds à 

Yakutumba229 et a reconnu dans un enregistrement audio d'octobre/novembre 2021 au président du FPDC, Samuel Ba’Asane 

Mwenemwenyi, alias Samy Bakasane, qu'il avait donné de l'argent à plusieurs groupes armés, y compris à Yakutumba et au 

FDPC. 

Twirwaneho et Gumino  

Les Twirwaneho ont continué à recevoir un soutien financier substantiel de certains individus Banyamulenge, tant 

à l'intérieur qu'à l'extérieur de la RDC, pour soutenir leur communauté et les activités du groupe armé (voir 

S/2021/560, par. 133)230.  

Les Gumino ont également reçu un soutien financier de sources extérieures à la RDC, ainsi qu'un soutien matériel 

et financier d’individus de la région (voir notamment le paragraphe 165) 231. 

  

__________________ 

228 Leadership Maï-Maï et individus proches de ces groupes. 
229 Leadership Maï-Maï. 
230 Autorités locales, FARDC, chercheurs, société civile, MONUSCO, membres de la communauté Banyamulenge, leadership des 

Twirwaneho. 
231 Autorités locales, individus proches des Gumino, membres de la communauté Banyamulenge.  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
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Examples of purchases of supplies for FABB and other Mai-Mai groups 

Exemples d'achats de fournitures pour FABB et d’autres groupes Maï-Maï 

 

Photograph of a receipt amounting to US$ 72.301 of goods bought by Mutula Samadara in Uvira on 20 April 2019: shoes, 

vests, sugar, flour, beans and rice. These goods were transmitted to FABB and Maï-Maï Ilunga.  

Photographie d'un reçu d'un montant de 72 301 dollars américains pour des marchandises achetées par Mutula Samadara à 

Uvira le 20 avril 2019 : chaussures, vestes, sucre, farine, haricots et riz. Ces biens ont été transmis aux FABB et aux Maï-

Maï Ilunga. 

 

 

Photograph of a receipt for 400kg of flour amounting to US$ 8.000 bought by Bernard Saidi Rwengeka, FABB President, 

intended for FABB based in Kivumu. 

Photographie d'un reçu de 400kg de farine d'un montant de 8 000 dollars américains achetés par Bernard Saidi Rwengeka, 

Président des FABB, destiné aux FABB basés à Kivumu. 
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Photographs of receipts for medical supplies intended to care for wounded FABB combatants following clashes with 

Twirwaneho in July and December 2021. Supplies respectively bought by Mutula Samadare and Bernard Saidi Rwengeka 

in Uvira at Titho-Pharma Pharmacy. 

 

Photographies de reçus de fournitures médicales destinées à soigner les combattants des FABB blessés suite aux 

affrontements avec les Twirwaneho en juillet et décembre 2021. Fournitures respectivement achetées par Mutula Samadare 

et Bernard Saidi Rwengeka à Uvira à la pharmacie Titho-Pharma. 

 

   
 

Photograph of a receipt amounting to US$10.760 for supplies bought by Mutula Samadare on 12 January 2022 in Uvira: 

sugar, flour, tarps, salt and communication equipment. The supplies were destined to Maï-Maï Ilunga conducting operations 

against FDN and Imbonerakure. 

Photographie d'un reçu d'un montant de 10 760 dollars américains pour des fournitures achetées par Mutula Samadare le 12 

janvier 2022 à Uvira : sucre, farine, bâches, sel et matériel de communication. Les fournitures étaient destinées aux Maï-

Maï Ilunga menant des opérations contre les FDN et les Imbonerakure. 
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Photographs of receipts amounting to 2.422.100 and 1.940.000 Burundian francs for supplies bought by Naluvumbu 

Kibambala in Burundi on 9 January 2021 and on 7 May 2021 for tarps, batteries, solar panels, shoes, and vests. These 

supplies were directly transmitted by Naluvumbu to FABB units operating in Rugezi. 

Photographies de reçus s'élevant à 2 422 100 et 1 940 000 francs burundais pour des fournitures achetées par Naluvumbu 

Kibambala au Burundi le 9 janvier 2021 et le 7 mai 2021 pour des bâches, des batteries, des panneaux solaires, des 

chaussures et des gilets. Ces fournitures ont été directement transmises par Naluvumbu aux unités des FABB opérant à 

Rugezi. 
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Photographs of Naluvumbu Kibambala and Mutula Samadare 

Photographies de Naluvumbu Kibambala et de Mutula Samadare 

 

 

Naluvumbu Kibambala 

 

 

Mutula Samadare 

 

All photographs above provided to the Group by local sources 

Toutes les photographies ci-dessus ont été fournies au Groupe par des sources locales 
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Further information on Laurent Amisi Apata 

Éléments d’information supplémentaires concernant Laurent Amisi Apata 

 

Photograph of Laurent Amisi Apata around 2021 in Kwisumu, Maï-Maï Yatukumba’s headquarters at the time 

 

Photographie de Laurent Amisi Apata vers 2021 à Kwisumu, quartier-général de Maï-Maï Yatukumba à l’époque 

 

 

 
 

Laurent Amisi Apata, second on the left, is wearing an FARDC uniform and standing with at least one identified Maï-

Maï Yakutumba combatant (on the right). 

 

Laurent Amisi Apata, deuxième à gauche, portant un uniforme des FARDC et se tenant debout avec au moins un 

combattant Maï-Maï Yakutumba identifié (à droite). 

 

 

 

As mentionned above, according to several sources, Amisi financially supported Operation Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya Congo, 

including through Emo ya M’Mbondo based in the United States of America. 

 

Comme mentionné ci-dessus, selon plusieurs sources, Amisi a soutenu financièrement l'opération Kimbunga Fieka Adui Ya 

Congo, notamment par le biais d'Emo ya M'Mbondo basé aux États-Unis d'Amérique. 
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Photographs provided by local sources  

 

Photographies fournies par des sources locales  
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Further information on Aristote Bwenge 

Éléments d’information supplémentaires concernant Aristote Bwenge 

 

Invitation to Ebuela, FPDC leader, to the Idunga meeting sent on behalf of Aristote Bwenge by Gaston Lukisa, leader of 

the Forces d’union pour la paix (FUP) and commander of a Raïa Mutomboki faction 

 

Invitation adressée à Ebuela, dirigeant du FPDC, pour la réunion d'Idunga envoyée de la part d'Aristote Bwenge 

par Gaston Lukisa, chef des Forces d'union pour la paix (FUP) et commandant d’une des factions des Raïa 

Mutomboki 
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Photographs of the Idunga meeting with Aristote Bwenge and other armed group leaders 

 

Photographies de la réunion d’Idunga avec Aristote Bwenge et d’autres leaders de groupes armés 

 

 
 

Aristote Bwenge standing in the middle with a blue shirt during a meeting in Idunga, Shabunda territory, South Kivu, in 

July 2021. 

Then from left to right: 

White shirt: an FPDC commander 

Black leather jacket: Ibanda wa Benga, Force Populaire du Congo (FPC) leader 

Purple shirt: FUP officer 

Striped white and red shirt: an APCLS commander 

Kneeling with a brown vest: Lewis Kibuti, former Raïa Mutomboki factions coordinator, now with FPDC. 

 

Aristote Bwenge debout au milieu avec une chemise bleue lors d'une réunion à Idunga, territoire de Shabunda, Sud-Kivu, 

en juillet 2021. 

Puis de gauche à droite : 

Chemise blanche : un commandant du FPDC 

Blouson en cuir noir : Ibanda wa Benga, dirigeant de la Force Populaire du Congo (FPC) 

Chemise violette : commandant de FUP 

Chemise rayée blanche et rouge : un commandant de l’APCLS 

Agenouillé avec une veste de couleur marron : Lewis Kibuti, ancien coordinateur de factions Raïa Mutomboki, désormais 

au FPDC. 
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From left to right: 

White shirt: an FPDC commander 

Blue shirt: Aristote Bwenge 

Black and colourful jacket: “Colonel" Clément, Conseil national pour le renouveau et la démocratie (CNRD) 

Kneeling with a brown vest: Lewis Kibuti, former Raïa Mutomboki factions coordinator, now with FPDC 

Kneeling with striped white and red shirt: an APCLS commander 

 

De gauche à droite : 

Chemise blanche : un commandant du FPDC  

Chemise bleue : Aristote Bwenge  

Veste noire et colorée : "Colonel" Clément, Conseil national pour le renouveau et la démocratie (CNRD)  

Agenouillé avec un gilet marron : Lewis Kibuti, ancien coordinateur de factions Raïa Mutomboki, désormais 

au FPDC  

Agenouillé avec chemise rayée blanche et rouge : un commandant de l'APCLS 
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From left to right: 

With the colourful shirt: Lewis Kibuti, former Raïa Mutomboki factions coordinator, now with FPDC. 

Next to him with the denim shirt: Samy Bakasane, FPDC President 

Kaki shirt and black cap: Justin Munga, FPDC Vice-President 

Green hoodie and sunglasses: “Colonel” Clément, CNRD 

Green vest and brown/black hat: Ibanda wa Benga, FPC leader 

 

De gauche à droite : 

Avec la chemise colorée : Lewis Kibuti, ancien coordinateur de factions Raïa Mutomboki, désormais au 

FPDC.  

À ses côtés avec la chemise en jean : Samy Bakasane, président du FPFC  

Chemise kaki et casquette noire : Justin Munga, vice-président du FPDC  

Sweat à capuche vert et lunettes de soleil : "Colonel" Clément, CNRD  

Veste vert et chapeau marron/noir : Ibanda wa Benga, leader du FPC 
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From left to right: 

Colourful shirt: Lewis Kibuti, former Raïa Mutomboki factions coordinator, now with FPDC 

On the motorbike with striped shirt: Olivier Bolingo, FPDC commander 

Denim shirt: Samy Bakasane, FPDC President 

Green hoodie and sunglasses: “Colonel” Clément, CNRD 

 

De gauche à droite:  

Chemise colorée : Lewis Kibuti, ancien coordinateur de factions Raïa Mutomboki, désormais au FPDC 

Sur la moto en chemise rayée : Olivier Bolingo, commandant du FPDC  

Chemise en jean : Samy Bakasane, Président FPDC  

Sweat à capuche vert et lunettes de soleil : "Colonel" Clément, CNRD 

 

 

All photographs above provided by local sources 

Toutes les photographies ci-dessus ont été fournies par des sources locales 
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Annex/Annexe 83: 

How smuggled gold originating from armed groups entered legal supply chains 

Comment l'or de contrebande des groupes armés est entré dans les chaînes d'approvisionnement légales 

 

Once gold that was trafficked from mines controlled by Mai-Mai Yakutumba reached Uvira, the negociants could decide to 

obtain a “bon d’achat”, which is a mineral trading document, from Lwano Maze, the sole distributor of these documents in 

Uvira and who also owns a gold buying house. Alternatively, they could decide to smuggle the gold out of the DRC, as 

described in paras. 175 and 186, to Bujumbura (Burundi) and Kigoma (Tanzania).  

If the negociants opted to obtain a bon d’achat for their smuggled gold, then the gold entered the legal supply chain from 

this point onwards and was eventually exported using the ICGLR certification process. Lwano Maze informed the Group 

that from at least 2017 until December 2021, he issued local bon d’achats to other gold traders who did not have offices or 

trading paperwork, and who wanted to introduce their gold into the formal supply chain. He said, however, that from 

December 2021, the mining authorities required every negociant in Uvira to obtain the official bon d’achat from Bukavu, 

and since then he had ceased to distribute bon d’achats in Uvira. 

Lwano Maze further stated that authorities in Bukavu asked him about the origin of his gold and that, as he had been in the 

gold trade for decades, he could determine if gold was from Mulongwe, Kimbi, Misisi, Nyange or other mines simply by 

looking at its colour.  

Because of the absence of both State authorities and concomitant documentation at gold mine sites in areas controlled by 

Maï-Maï Yakutumba and their allies, the origin of the gold from these areas could not be traced, once transported. Uvira and 

Baraka-based gold smugglers described to the Group how they traded gold purchased in areas controlled by Mai-Mai 

Yakutumba combatants, with registered buying houses in Bukavu, as previously documented by the Group (see S/2021/560, 

paras. 166-168). From Bukavu, the gold was exported downstream, sometimes with ICGLR certificates. 

 

Une fois l'or trafiqué des mines contrôlées par les Mai-Mai Yakutumba parvenu à Uvira, les négociants pouvaient décider 

d’obtenir un bon d'achat (un document commercial minier) auprès de Lwano Maze, l’unique distributeur de ces documents 

à Uvira et qui possède également une maison d'achat d'or. Alternativement, ils pouvaient décider de paser l'or en contrebande 

hors de la RDC, comme décrit aux paragraphes 175 et 186, à Bujumbura (Burundi) et Kigoma (Tanzanie). 

Si les négociants optaient pour d'obtention un bon d’achat pour leur or de contrebande, l'or entrait alors dans la chaîne 

d'approvisionnement légale et était finalement exporté en utilisant le processus de certification de la CIRGL. Lwano Maze 

a informé le Groupe qu'entre au moins 2017 et décembre 2021, il avait délivré des bons d’achats à d'autres négociants en or 

qui n'avaient pas de bureaux ou de documents commerciaux et qui souhaitaient introduire leur or dans la chaîne 

d'approvisionnement officielle. Il a cependant déclaré qu'à partir de décembre 2021, les autorités minières ont exigé que 

chaque commerçant d’Uvira obtienne leur bon d’achat officiel à Bukavu, et depuis lors, il avait cessé de distribuer des bons 

d’achats à Uvira. 

Lwano Maze a en outre déclaré que les autorités de Bukavu l’avaient interrogé sur l'origine de son or et que, puisqu’il 

travaillait dans le commerce d’or depuis des décennies, il pouvait déterminer si l’or provenait de Mulongwe, Kimbi, Misisi, 

Nyange ou d'autres mines juste en regardant sa couleur. 

En raison de l’absence des deux autorités étatiques, et donc de toute documentation de ces autorités, sur les sites d'extraction 

d'or dans les zones contrôlées par les Mai-Mai Yakutumba et leurs alliés, l’origine de l’or issu de ces zones n'a pas pu être 

retracée une fois l’or transporté. Des trafiquants d'or basés à Uvira et Baraka ont décrit au Groupe comment ils vendaient de 

l'or acheté dans des zones contrôlées par les combattants Mai-Mai Yakutumba, à des maisons d'achat enregistrées à Bukavu, 

comme l'a rapporté le Groupe précédemment (voir S/2021/560, par. 166 à 168). De Bukavu, l'or était exporté plus loin, 

parfois avec des certificats de la CIRGL.  

https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/46/PDF/N2111346.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/113/46/PDF/N2111346.pdf?OpenElement
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Annex/Annexe 84: 

SAEMAPE September 2021 risk analysis report for Fizi territory 

Rapport de SAEMAPE de septembre 2021 sur l’analyse des risques pour le territoire de Fizi 

 

The risks identified in the SAEMAPE September 2021 report below include armed group presence at mines, children 

presence at mines, involvement of FARDC members at mines, and pregnant women working at mines, which is against DRC 

law. Although the excerpt below reflects the situation at COOMIKI-CA Cooperative, the situation was similar to all the other 

cooperatives analysed in the report. 

 

Les risques identifiés dans le rapport SAEMAPE de septembre 2021 ci-dessous incluent la présence de groupes armés dans 

les mines, la présence d’enfants dans les mines, l’implication de membres des FARDC dans les mines et de femmes enceintes 

travaillant dans les mines, ce qui est contraire à la loi de la RDC. Bien que l’extrait ci-dessous reflète la situation pour la 

Coopérative COOMIKI-CA, la situation était similaire pour toutes les autres coopératives analysées dans le rapport. 
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Document provided to the Group by the Congolese mining authorities 

 

Document remis au Groupe par les autorités minières congolaises 
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Annex/Annexe 85: 

Congolese gold exports from South Kivu to international destinations  

Exportations d'or congolais du Sud Kivu vers des destinations internationales 

 

The Group underlines that, as stated in the Preamble to resolution 2360 (2017), smuggling of “gold remains a serious 

challenge” for the DRC. The Group also recalls the 2010 ICGLR Lusaka Declaration of the Special Session to Fight Illegal 

Exploitation of Natural Resources in the Great Lakes Region and its call for industry due diligence, also stated in the 

Preamble.  

Based on its mandate to evaluate the impact of minerals traceability, pursuant to paragraph 6 (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), 

as reaffirmed by resolution 2582 (2021),the Group underscores that it is critical for regional governments and trading centres, 

particularly those involved in gold refining and gold trading, to intensify efforts to increase vigilance against smuggling and 

reduce practices that could undermine the DRC and ICGLR’s regional efforts. 

As such, and in light of South Kivu’s gold exports during 2021,232 the Group contacted the Republic of Burundi,233 the 

Republic of Rwanda and the United Arab Emirates regarding their gold imports from the DRC in 2021, in particular with a 

view to assessing use of ICGLR export certificates. 

 

Le Groupe souligne que, comme indiqué dans le préambule de la résolution 2360 (2017), la contrebande d' « or demeure un 

grave problème » pour la RDC. Le Groupe rappelle également la Déclaration de Lusaka du Sommet spécial de la CIRGL 

de 2010 sur la lutte contre l'exploitation illégale des ressources naturelles dans la région des Grands Lacs et son appel à la 

diligence raisonnable de l'industrie, également énoncé dans le Préambule.  

Sur la base de son mandat d'évaluer l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité des minerais, conformément au paragraphe 6 (g) 

de la résolution 2360 (2017), tel que renouvelé par la résolution 2582 (2021), le Groupe souligne qu'il est essentiel que les 

gouvernements régionaux et les centres de négoce, en particulier ceux qui sont impliqués dans le raffinage et le commerce 

d'or, intensifient leurs efforts pour accroître leur vigilance contre la contrebande et réduire les pratiques qui pourraient 

compromettre les efforts régionaux de la RDC et de la CIRGL. 

À ce titre, et compte tenu des exportations d'or du Sud Kivu en 2021234, le Groupe a contacté la République du Burundi235, 

la République du Rwanda et les Émirats arabes unis au sujet de leurs importations d'or en provenance de la RDC en 2021, 

notamment en vue d'évaluer l'utilisation des certificats d'exportation de la CIRGL. 

Republic of Burundi 

République du Burundi 

The Republic of Burundi did not respond to the Group’s letter. 

La République du Burundi n'a pas répondu à la lettre du Groupe. 

  

__________________ 

232 Ituri province also exported gold to Uganda and the United Arab Emirates during 2021.  
233 As part of its request to visit, the Group requested to meet with the Minister of Mines, the Revenue office and the na tional Bank 

of Burundi. 
234 La province de l'Ituri a également exporté de l'Ouganda et les Émirats arabes unis en 2021.  
235 Dans le cadre de sa demande de visite, le Groupe avait demandé à rencontrer le Ministre des mines, le Bureau des recettes et la 

Banque nationale de Burundi. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/6683580.87539673.html
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Republic of Rwanda 

République du Rwanda 

The Republic of Rwanda told the Group that “[g]old is imported in Rwanda from Central Africa, South Africa, Cameroon, 

Tanzania, Kenya and Burkina Faso and exported to United Arab Emirates”. The Republic of Rwanda further stated that “all 

gold is exported from Rwanda by air cargo”. 

The Republic of Rwanda also informed the Group that Rwanda’s gold exports between 2017 and 2021 were as follows: 

 

La République du Rwanda a déclaré au Groupe que « l'or est importé au Rwanda d'Afrique centrale, d'Afrique du Sud, du 

Cameroun, de Tanzanie, du Kenya et du Burkina Faso et est exporté vers les Émirats arabes unis ». La République du 

Rwanda a également déclaré que « tout l'or est exporté du Rwanda par fret aérien ». 

La République du Rwanda a également informé le Groupe que les exportations d'or du Rwanda entre 2017 et 2021 étaient 

les suivantes : 

 

  2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Gold exports 

(tons)/exportations 

d’or (en tonnes) 2.4 2.2 5.9 11.4 6.3 

 

Source: NISR data, provided to the Group by the Republic of Rwanda 

Source : Données du NISR, fournies au Groupe par la République du Rwanda 

 

Further, the Republic of Rwanda confirmed that as of the time of the Group’s request in March 2022, the country had two 

active gold traders. They also said that gold exports had dropped “significantly from 11.4 tons in 2020 to 6.3 tons in 2021 

due to closure of Aldango gold refinery resulting from tax dispute with Rwanda Revenue Authority”. The Group spoke to 

legal representatives of Aldango gold refinery, who contested the tax dispute. See also S/2020/482, para. 90. 

En outre, la République du Rwanda a confirmé qu'au moment de la demande du Groupe en mars 2022, le pays comptait 

deux négociants en or actifs. Ils ont également déclaré que les exportations d'or avaient chuté « de manière significative de 

11,4 tonnes en 2020 à 6,3 tonnes en 2021 en raison de la fermeture de la raffinerie d'or d'Aldango résultant d'un différend 

fiscal avec le Rwanda Revenue Authority ». Le Groupe s'est entretenu avec les représentants légaux de la raffinerie d'or 

d'Aldango, qui ont contesté le différend fiscal. Voir également S/2020/482, par. 90. 

 

United Arab Emirates  

Émirats arabes unis 

The Group noted that, according to United Nations Comtrade figures,236 in 2020 (the last year that data was available) the 

United Arab Emirates imported gold from the DRC and its neighbouring countries as laid out in the table below. The Group 

wrote to the United Arab Emirates to ask for copies of the ICGLR or equivalent import documents accompanying the gold 

imports, but had not received a response by time of drafting.  

__________________ 

236 https://comtrade.un.org/ (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
https://comtrade.un.org/
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Le groupe a noté que, selon les chiffres de Comtrade des Nations unies237, les Émirats arabes unis ont importé de l'or de la 

RDC et des pays voisins en 2020 (dernière année pour laquelle des données sont disponibles), comme indiqué dans le tableau 

ci-dessous. Le groupe a écrit aux Émirats arabes unis pour leur demander des copies des documents d'importation de la 

CIRGL ou de documents équivalents accompagnant les importations d'or, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de 

la rédaction du présent rapport. 

 

2020 Comtrade data (the last year when a full set of records was available) showing United Arab Emirates 

imports of gold (7108)*/ Données de Comtrade (la dernière année où des statistiques complètes étaient 

disponibles) montrant les importations d'or par les Émirats arabes unis (7108)* 

  Value/Valeur (US$) Net weight/Poid net (kg) 

Burundi US$ 72,610,625  1,436 

DRC/RDC US$ 17,259,213  294 

Rwanda US$ 590,454,219  10,792 

Uganda/Ouganda US$ 1,650,190,341  31,660 

   
* 7108 (Gold (including gold plated with platinum) unwrought or in semi-manufactured forms, or in powder  

form) / 7108 (Or (y compris l'or plaqué de platine) sous forme brute ou sous formes mi-ouvrées, ou en poudre) 

 

 

__________________ 

237 https://comtrade.un.org/ (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  

https://comtrade.un.org/
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Annex/Annexe 86: 

Congo Gold Raffinerie  

 

Underlining the need to fully implement the ICGLR regional certification scheme and report mineral trade statistics in 

accordance with paragraph 19 of resolution 1952 (2010), as reaffirmed in paragraph 22 of resolution 2360 (2017), and 

further to its mandate to evaluate the impact of minerals traceability, pursuant to paragraph 6 (g) of resolution 2360 (2017), 

renewed by resolution 2582 (2021), the Group contacted Congo Gold Raffinerie (CGR) with regard to its intended supply 

chain due diligence and use of the ICGLR certification mechanism. 

In addition to buying from “green” mine sites,238 and regarding traceability, CGR told the Group it would only buy gold 

from “credible” cooperatives when it would open for gold refining, which was planned for mid-2022. CGR said that it hoped 

to refine around two tons of gold monthly. 

CGR also informed the Group that its shareholdings had changed since the Group’s last reporting (see S/2021/560, annex 

125) and that its new shareholder, alongside the owner of the refinery, Karim Somji (see S/2020/482, para. 89 and 

S/2013/433, annex 70), was a Congolese national.239 

Karim Somji also informed the Group that Golden Gold Limited (see S/2020/482, para. 482), a Rwandan-listed company 

which he had represented, had ceased operations in 2018. He further informed the Group that Golden Gold sarl (see 

S/2016/466, fn. 27), a DRC-registered company, had last officially exported gold from South Kivu in April 2016.  

The Group notes that, given the high-risk environment in which CGR will operate, it is critical that the refinery conduct 

operations with the utmost transparency and fully comply with DRC law regarding supply chain due diligence on gold,240 

which is also in line with the ICGLR Regional Certification Mechanism and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation 

and Development (OECD) due diligence and traceability recommendations.241 

As outlined in this report, the Group notes that individuals and entities that provide (a) financing, (b) pre-financing, (c) 

funding or (d) monetary or capital input directly or indirectly, via a special purpose vehicle or separate entity, to companies 

refining or trading minerals, including gold, have a responsibility to ensure that business is done responsibly. By responsibly, 

the Group considers that this should be at a minimum in line with the ICGLR Regional Certification Mechanism and the 

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development due diligence guidance. 

 

Soulignant la nécessité de mettre pleinement en œuvre le système de certification régional de la CIRGL et de communiquer 

des statistiques sur le commerce des minerais conformément au paragraphe 19 de la résolution 1952 (2010), réaffirmé au 

paragraphe 22 de la résolution 2360 (2017), et conformément à son mandat d'évaluer l’efficacité des mesures de traçabilité 

des minerais, conformément au paragraphe 6 (g) de la résolution 2360 (2017), tel que renouvelé par la résolution 2582 

(2021), le Groupe a contacté Congo Gold Raffinerie (CGR) au sujet de la diligence raisonnable qu'elle entendait exercer 

pour sa chaîne d'approvisionnement et de l'utilisation du mécanisme de certification de la CIRGL. 

En plus d'acheter de l'or auprès de sites miniers "verts"242  et en ce qui concerne la traçabilité, CGR a indiqué au Groupe 

qu'elle n'achèterait de l'or qu'auprès de coopératives "crédibles" lorsqu'elle ouvrirait pour affiner de l'or, ce qui était prévu 

pour la mi-2022. CGR a déclaré qu'elle espérait affiner environ deux tonnes d'or par mois. 

__________________ 

238 The figure for “green” mines that is cited in para. 178 is based on the summation of the validated mine sites contained in ministerial decrees 

for Fizi, Mwenga, Walungu, Shabunda and Masisi territories of South Kivu.  
239 See full shareholding information at: https://rccm.cd/rccm/index.html (last consulted on 21 April 2022). 
240 Arrêté ministériel N° 0057.CAB.MIN/ MINES/01/2012 du 29 février 2012 portant mise en œuvre du mécanisme régional de certification de 

la Conférence Internationale sur la Région des Grands-Lacs « CIRGL » en République Démocratique du Congo, Article 8. 
241 The Group further notes that, in line with Extractives Industry and Transparency Intiative (EITI), of which DRC has been a member since 

2007, CGR should publicly disclose the full texts of any contracts, licenses, concessions or other agreements related to its activities as well as 

disclose complete and updated beneficial ownership information. See  https://www.itierdc.net/new_itie-rdc/ (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
242 Le nombre des mines « vertes » mentionné au paragraphe 178 est basé sur l’addition des sites miniers validés tels que contenus 

https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/1952%20(2010)
https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://www.undocs.org/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2582(2021)
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/S/2013/433
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/RES/1952%20(2010)
https://www.undocs.org/fr/SC/RES/2360(2017)
https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N17/260/66/PDF/N1726066.pdf?OpenElement
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/6683580.87539673.html
https://daccess-ods.un.org/tmp/6683580.87539673.html
https://rccm.cd/rccm/index.html
https://www.itierdc.net/new_itie-rdc/
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CGR a également informé le Groupe que ses actionnaires avaient changé depuis le dernier rapport du Groupe (voir 

S/2021/560, annexe 125) et que son nouvel actionnaire, aux côtés du propriétaire de la raffinerie, Karim Somji (voir 

S/2020/482, par. 89 et S/2013/433, annexe 70), était de nationalité congolaise243.  

Karim Somji a également informé le Groupe que Golden Gold Limited (voir S/2020/482, par. 482), une société cotée au 

Rwanda qu'il avait représentée, avait cessé ses activités en 2018. Il a en outre informé le Groupe que Golden Gold sarl (voir 

S/2016/466, note 27), une société enregistrée en RDC, avait exporté officiellement de l'or du Sud-Kivu pour la dernière fois 

en avril 2016.  

Le Groupe note que, compte tenu de l'environnement à haut risque dans lequel CGR va opérer, il est essentiel que la raffinerie 

mène ses opérations dans la plus grande transparence et se conforme pleinement à la législation de la RDC en matière de 

diligence raisonnable de la chaîne d'approvisionnement en or244, qui est également conforme au mécanisme de certification 

régional de la CIRGL et aux recommandations de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques (OCDE) 

en matière de diligence raisonnable et de traçabilité245.  

Comme indiqué dans le présent rapport, le groupe note que les personnes et les entités qui fournissent (a) un financement, 

(b) un préfinancement, (c) des fonds ou (d) un apport monétaire ou en capital, directement ou indirectement, par 

l'intermédiaire d'un véhicule à d’investissement spécial ou d'une entité distincte, à des sociétés de raffinage ou de commerce 

de minéraux, y compris d'or, ont la responsabilité de veiller à ce que les activités soient menées de manière responsable. Par 

responsable, le Groupe considère que cela devrait être au minimum conforme au Mécanisme de certification régional de la 

CIRGL et aux directives de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques en matière de diligence 

raisonnable. 

  

__________________ 

dans les arrêtés ministériels pour les territoires de Fizi, Mwenga, Walungu, Shabunda et Masisi au Sud -Kivu.  
243 Voir pour des informations sur l’actionnariat complet : https://rccm.cd/rccm/index.html (dernière consultation le 21 avril 2022).  
244 Arrêté ministériel N° 0057.CAB.MIN/ MINES/01/2012 du 29 février 2012 portant mise en œuvre du mécanisme régional de 

certification de la Conférence Internationale sur la Région des Grands-Lacs « CIRGL » en République Démocratique du Congo, 

Article 8. 
245 Le Groupe note, en outre, que conformément à l'Initiative sur les industries extractives et la transparence (ITIE), dont la RDC est 

membre depuis 2007, CGR devrait divulguer publiquement le texte intégral de tous les contrats, licences, concessions ou autre s 

accords liés à ses activités ainsi que des informations complètes et mises à jour sur les bénéficiaires effectifs . Voir  

https://www.itierdc.net/new_itie-rdc/ (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022).  

http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2021/560
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2013/433
http://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2016/466
https://rccm.cd/rccm/index.html
https://www.itierdc.net/new_itie-rdc/
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Letter dated 5 April 2022 from Karim Somji confirming that all activities by Golden Gold Limited in Rwanda ceased 

as of 2018 

Lettre du 5 avril 2022 de Karim Somji confirmant que toutes les activités de Golden Gold Limited au Rwanda ont 

cessé à partir de 2018. 

  

 

Letter provided to the Group by Karim Somji 

Lettre fournie au Groupe par Karim Somji 
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Annex/Annexe 87: 

Dragline SARL 

 

The Group notes that the transparent and effective management of the DRC’s natural resources, as well as ending illegal 

smuggling and trafficking of such resources, are critical for the DRC’s sustainable peace, stability and security, and notes 

in addition that publication by the DRC authorities of mining contracts and information about the real shareholders of 

mining companies is a requirement of the DRC mining code. In particular, information about mining contracts, annexes for 

contracts and any riders should be published in the Congolese Journal Officiel, as well as on the website of the Ministry of 

Mines within 60 days of their signature.246 The Group also notes that EITI implementing countries, of which DRC is one, 

should after 1 January 2021 publish contracts or licenses awarded.247 

The Group received a full copy of the Dragline joint-venture, signed between Dither Limited and SAKIMA SA, from 

Macefield Ventures Limited. Macefield Ventures Limited noted, in its 6 April 2022 letter to the Group, that the joint venture 

was cancelled. The fourth page of the joint venture is provided below. 

SAKIMA SA248 told the Group however that the joint venture had not been cancelled.  

 

Le Groupe note que l’avènement d’une paix et d’une sécurité durables en République démocratique du Congo passe 

nécessairement par une gestion transparente et efficace des ressources naturelles du pays et par la fin de la contrebande et 

du trafic illégal de ces ressources. Il note, en outre, que le la publication par les autorités de la RDC des contrats miniers et 

des informations sur les actionnaires réels des sociétés minières est une exigence du Code des miniers de la RDC. En 

particulier, les informations sur les contrats miniers, les annexes aux contrats et leurs éventuels avenants doivent être publiés 

au Journal Officiel congolais, ainsi que sur le site Internet du Ministère des Mines dans les 60 jours de leur signature.249 Le 

Groupe note également que les pays mettant en œuvre l'ITIE, dont la RDC fait partie, devraient après le 1er janvier 2021 

publier les contrats ou licences attribués.250 

Le Groupe a reçu une copie in intégrale de la joint-venture Dragline, signée entre Dither Limited et SAKIMA SA, de 

Macefield Ventures Limited. Macefield Ventures Limited a indiqué dans sa lettre du 6 avril 2022 au Groupe que la joint-

venture avait été annulée. La quatrième page de la joint-venture est fournie ci-dessous. 

SAKIMA SA251 a toutefois informé le Groupe que la joint-venture n'avait pas été annulée. 

  

__________________ 

246 Article 7 quater, Loi n°18/001 du 09 mars 2018 modifiant et complétant la Loi n° 007/2002 du 11 juillet 2002 portant Code minier. 

Accessed at: 

https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20

DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40  (last consulted on 22 April 2022). 
247 See EITI, https://eiti.org/contract-transparency#requirements-for-eiti-implementing-countries (last consulted on 20 April 2022). 
248 As noted above, SAKIMA SA also signed a joint-venture with Dott Services, the Ugandan company also awarded a road building contract in 

eastern DRC, see https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-8416818143/view#/ (last consulted 27 April 2022). 
249 Article 7 quater, Loi n°18/001 du 09 mars 2018 modifiant et complétant la Loi n° 007/2002 du 11 juillet 2002 portant Code minier. 

Accessed at: 

https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20

DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40  (dernière consultation le 22 avril 2022). 
250 Voir EITI, https://eiti.org/contract-transparency#requirements-for-eiti-implementing-countries (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022). 
251 Comme mentioné ci-dessus, SAKIMA SA a également signé une joint-venture avec Dott Services, la société Ougandaise qui a reçu le contrat 

de construction à l’est de la RDC, voir https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-8416818143/view#/ (dernière consultation le 27 

avril 2022). 

https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40
https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40
https://eiti.org/contract-transparency#requirements-for-eiti-implementing-countries
https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-8416818143/view#/
https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40
https://www.minesrdc.cd/fr/wpcontent/uploads/Code%20minier/J.O._n%C2%B0_spe%C3%ACcial_du_28_mars_2018_CODE_MINIER%20DE%20LA%20RDC.PDF#page=40
https://eiti.org/contract-transparency#requirements-for-eiti-implementing-countries
https://www.resourcecontracts.org/contract/ocds-591adf-8416818143/view#/
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Annex/Annexe 88: 

Map of Kalemie territory showing the location of gold mine sites (marked in yellow) 

Carte du territoire de Kalemie montrant l'emplacement des sites de mines d'or (marqués en jaune) 

 

 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by MONUSCO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map provided to the Group by MONUSCO 

Carte fournie au Groupe par la MONUSCO 
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Annex/Annexe 89: 

Copy of the ICGLR certificate dated 20 January 2021 that Densahal SARL used to export 1,099.600 grams of gold 

to AU Jewellery  

Copie du certificat de la CIRGL daté du 20 janvier 2021 que Densahal SARL a utilisé pour exporter 1099,600 

grammes d'or à AU Jewellery 

 

The DRC mining authorities issue ICGLR certificates in line with the requirements of the ICGLR Regional Certification 

Mechanism (RCM), which are supposed to confirm the origin and proper trading of gold. In principle, Member States of 

the ICGLR committed to issuing such a certificate for their gold exports. 

Les autorités minières de la RDC délivrent des certificats de la CIRGL conformément aux exigences du Mécanisme régional 

de certification (RCM) de la CIRGL. Ces certificats visent à confirmer l'origine et le bon commerce de l'or. En principe, 

les États membres de la CIRGL se sont engagés à délivrer un tel certificat pour leurs exportations d'or. 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by Densahal SARL 

Document fourni au Groupe par Densahal SARL 
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Annex/Annexe 90: 

SAEMAPE statistics for gold production from Tanganyika province for 2019, 2020 and 2021 

Statistiques du SAEMAPE de production d'or pour la province du Tanganyika pour 2019, 2020 et 2021 

 

The data shows no gold production from Kalemie territory, where Maibaridi mine sites are located, between 2019 and 2021. 

This information contradicts information provided by Densahal SARL that it purchased 1.099.600 grams of gold from 

Maibaridi in 2020. The Group notes that it is therefore possible that the source of the gold was criminal networks comprised 

of gold smugglers buying from Maï-Maï Apa Na Pale. 

 

Les données ne montrent aucune production d'or du territoire de Kalemie, où se trouvent les sites miniers de Maibaridi, 

entre 2019 et 2021. Cette information contredit les informations fournies par Densahal SARL selon lesquelles elle a acheté 

1 099,600 grammes d'or à Maibaridi en 2020. Le Groupe note qu'il est donc possible que la source de l'or soit des réseaux 

criminels composés de contrebandiers d'or achetant aux Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale. 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by SAEMAPE, Tanganyika 

Document fourni au Groupe par SAEMAPE, Tanganyika 
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Annex/Annexe 91: 

The source of the 1,099.600 grams of Densahal SARL gold 

Source des 1 099,600 grammes d'or de Densahal SARL 

Densahal SARL confirmed to the Group that the export of 1,099.600 grams of gold had taken place and that the gold had 

been sourced in December 2020 from Maibaridi sector, Kalemie territory. The DRC mining authorities informed the Group 

that this was also the last official gold export from Kalemie territory, as Densahal SARL closed its operations thereafter. 

However, the official declaration form completed by Densahal SARL for the sourcing and sale of the gold does not mention 

the name of the mine site and its location (see below). Further, although Maibaridi was a validated site at the time, Maï-

Maï Apa Na Pale has taxed the artisanal miners there since September 2020.252  

Densahal SARL a confirmé au Groupe que l'exportation de 1 099,600 grammes d'or avait bien eu lieu et que l'or avait été 

extrait en décembre 2020 dans le secteur de Maibaridi, territoire de Kalemie. Les autorités minières de la RDC ont informé 

le Groupe qu'il s'agissait également de la dernière exportation officielle d'or depuis le territoire de Kalemie, Densahal SARL 

ayant par la suite clos ses opérations. Cependant, le formulaire de déclaration officielle rempli par Densahal SARL pour 

l’approvisionnement et la vente d'or ne mentionne pas le nom du site minier et sa localisation (voir ci-dessous). De plus, 

bien que Maibaridi ait été un site validé à l'époque, les Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale y taxaient les mineurs artisanaux depuis 

septembre 2020253. 

Document provided to the Group by Densahal SARL 

Document fourni au Groupe par Densahal SARL 

__________________ 

252 Two Bendera-based negociants, a mining police officer and two mining officials in Kalemie.  
253 Deux négociants basés à Bendera, un officier de la police des mines et deux officiels des mines de Kalemie.  
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Annex/Annexe 92: 

SAEMAPE gold project at Mulowa 

Projet aurifère du SAEMAPE à Mulowa 

Below is a photograph of SAEMAPE launching the artisanal gold processing project in Mulolwa, Kalemie territory, in June 

2021. Soon after the launch, Maï-Maï Apa Na Pale attacked the SAEMAPE team, forcing them to relocate the project to 

Toya, Moba territory. 

Ci-dessous, une photographie du SAEMAPE lançant le projet de traitement artisanal de l'or à Mulolwa, territoire de 

Kalemie, en juin 2021. Peu de temps après le lancement, les Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale ont attaqué l'équipe du SAEMAPE, les 

forçant à déplacer le projet à Toya, territoire de Moba. 

 

 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by mining authorities, Tanganyika 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par des autorités minières, Tanganyika 
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Annex/Annexe 93: 

An export authorization document issued to Ngandu Mining SARLU in August 2020 for export of 300 tons of coal 

to Burundi 

Formulaire portant autorisation d'exportation délivré à Ngandu Mining SARLU en août 2020 pour l'exportation de 

300 tonnes de charbon vers le Burundi 

The document indicates that the coal had no market value. 

Le document indique que le charbon n'avait aucune valeur marchande. 

 

Document provided to the Group by Congolese mining authorities 

Document fourni au Groupe par les autorités minières congolaises 



S/2022/479 
 

 

22-06591 292/297 

 

Annex/Annexe 94: 

Targeted attack on MSF in Boku on 28 October 2021 

Attaque ciblée contre MSF à Boku le 28 octobre 2021 

The 28 October 2021 attack targeting MSF occurred in Boku, on the winding road between Bambu and Kobu (see maps 

below). The area had been, since end of July 2021, the theatre of violent combat between CODECO factions and FARDC 

and was classified as a “red” operational zone. On the day of the attack, the road was under FARDC control, although 

CODECO factions still carried out attacks along the road. The attackers’ modus operandi differed, however, from habitual 

CODECO attacks on the road, as the attackers shot at the MSF vehicles without trying to stop them first. CODECO factions 

usual modu operandi on that road was to first attempt to stop travelling vehicles in order to loot them, and then to fire on 

vehicles which did not stop. 

The MSF vehicles were attacked after they had passed Kobu and on their way to Bambu. After Kobu, the MSF vehicles 

passed a manned FARDC checkpoint around 300-500 metres before the site of the attack. Another FARDC checkpoint 

about 300 meters after the site of the attack was empty at the time of the attack (around 15:50), although it was manned by 

FARDC members when MSF vehicles had first passed in the morning. The latter checkpoint used to be an important 

CODECO roadblock before FARDC removed CODECO factions from the road at the end of July 2021. URDPC/CODECO 

leadership denied any involvement in the attack. 

L’attaque du 28 octobre 2021 qui a ciblé MSF s’est déroulée à Boku, sur la route sinueuse entre Bambu et Kobu (voir les 

cartes ci-dessous). Depuis juillet 2021, la zone avait été le théâtre de violents combats entre des factions CODECO et les 

FARDC et était classifiée zone opérationnelle « rouge ». Le jour de l’attaque, la route était sous le contrôle des FARDC, 

même si des factions CODECO y conduisaient toujours des attaques. Le mode opératoire des attaquants a cependant différé 

des attaques habituelles de CODECO sur la route, en ce que les attaquants ont tiré sur les véhicules de MSF sans même 

tenter de d’abord les stopper. Le mode opératoire habituel des factions CODECO sur cette route consistait à d’abord tenter 

de stopper les véhicules qui y circulaient pour les piller et de tirer s’ils ne s’arrêtaient pas. 

Les véhicules de MSF ont été attaqués après qu’ils ont eu passé Kobu et alors qu’ils allaient en direction de Bambu. Après 

Kobu, les véhicules MSF ont passé une barrière FARDC gardée et placée à environ 300-500 mètres du lieu de l’attaque. 

Une autre barrière FARDC localisée à environ 300 mètres du lieu de l’attaque n’était pas gardée au moment de l’attaque (à 

environ 15H50), mais cette barrière était gardée par des membres des FARDC quand les véhicules de MSF y étaient passés 

une première fois le matin. Cette dernière barrière avait été une barrière importante des factions CODECO avant que les 

FARDC ne les en délogent fin juillet 2021. Les dirigeants de URDPC/CODECO ont nié toute implication dans l’attaque. 
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Map provided by MONUSCO and annotated by the Group 

Carte fournie par la MONUSCO et annotée par le Groupe 

 

The red pin indicates the approximate location of the attack. Map from Google Maps. 

Le point rouge indique la location approximative de l’attaque. Carte de Google Maps.  
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Annex/Annexe 95: 

Closure of MSF project in Bambu area following the 28 October 2021 attack and reactions 

Fermeture du projet de MSF dans la zone de Bambu suite à l’attaque du 28 octobre 2021 et réactions 

 

The 28 October 2021 attack led MSF to immediately suspend its activities in the area of Bambu and Nizi and to eventually 

close its project in this area on 22 March 2022, because of the insecurity and impunity of those who had carried out the 

attack. MSF was providing medical care for over 400,000 persons and was one of the only humanitarian actor operating in 

that zone (see https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-

nizi-et-bambu (last consulted on 20 April 2022)). 

The Military Governor of Ituri strongly deplored the closure of the MSF project publicly and also during meetings with the 

Group (see https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-dit-surpris-et-

parle-dun (last consulted on 20 April 2022)). He told the Group that FARDC had conducted an internal investigation and 

had concluded that CODECO factions had carried out the attack, which targeted MSF. As mentioned in para. 194, the 

Group could not confirm at time of drafting whether CODECO factions or some FARDC members conducted the attack. 

Military prosecution authorities and MONUSCO told the Group that a criminal investigation had been initiated. 

 

L’attaque du 28 octobre 2021 a conduit MSF à suspendre immédiatement ses activités dans la zone de Bambu et Nizi et, 

finalement, à fermer son projet dans cette zone le 22 mars 2022, en raison de l’insécurité et de l’impunité de ceux qui 

avaient conduit l’attaque. MSF fournissait une assistance médicale à plus de 400 000 personnes et était l’un des seuls acteurs 

humanitaires opérant dans cette zone (voir https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-

des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022)). 

Publiquement et aussi lors de réunions avec le Groupe, le Gouverneur militaire de l’Ituri a fortement déploré la fermeture 

du projet de MSF (voir https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-

dit-surpris-et-parle-dun (dernière consultation le 20 avril 2022)). Il a dit au Groupe que les FARDC avaient diligenté une 

enquête interne et avaient conclu que les factions CODECO avaient mené l’attaque qui a ciblé MSF. Ainsi que mentionné 

au paragraphe 194, le Groupe n’avait pu confirmer au moment de la rédaction du rapport si des factions CODECO ou des 

membres des FARDC avaient conduit l’attaque. L’Auditorat militaire et la MONUSCO ont dit au Groupe qu’une enquête 

criminelle avait été initiée. 

  

https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-dit-surpris-et-parle-dun
https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-dit-surpris-et-parle-dun
https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
https://www.msf.fr/actualites/rdc-insecurite-et-impunite-obligent-msf-a-fermer-des-projets-essentiels-a-nizi-et-bambu
https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-dit-surpris-et-parle-dun
https://www.7sur7.cd/2022/03/23/fermeture-des-projets-msf-en-ituri-le-gouverneur-militaire-se-dit-surpris-et-parle-dun


 
S/2022/479 

 

295/297 22-06591 

 

Below is a letter dated 1 November 2021 from the population of Bambu area pleading for the continuation of MSF 

activities 

Ci-dessous une lettre datée du 1 novembre 2021 de la population de la zone de Bambu plaidant pour la continuation 

des activités de MSF 

 

 

The letter was signed by 40 persons, whose name the Group omitted for protection purposes.  

The full letter is in the possession of the Group. Provided to the Group by a civil society source 

La lettre a été signée par 40 personnes, dont le Groupe a omis les noms afin de les protéger.  

La lettre intégrale est en possession du Groupe. Fournie au Groupe par une source de la société civile. 
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Annex/Annexe 96: 

 

List and location of kidnappings or attempted kidnappings of humanitarian personnel on the Goma-Sake-Kingi and 

Goma-Kibumba-Rutshuru roads since the 22 February 2021 attack on WFP 

Liste et localisation des kidnappings ou tentatives de kidnappings de personnel humanitaire sur les routes Goma-

Sake-Kingi et Goma-Kibumba-Rutshuru depuis l’attaque du 22 février 2021 contre le PAM 

  

Date/date Location/localisation INGO/IO victims / 

ONGI/OI 

victimes* 

Description/description 

June/juin 2021 Sake town / ville de Sake INGO/ONGI Aborted kidnapping attempt / tentative de 

kidnapping avortée 

6 July/juillet 

2021 

Near Kasengesi, on the Goma-

Sake road / près de Kasengesi 

sur la route Goma-Sake 

Heal Africa Suspected kidnapping attempt. Shots hit the 

speeding vehicle, causing no injuries. / 

Tentative de kidnapping suspectée. Des tirs 

ont touché le véhicule qui a accéléré, ne 

causant aucune blessure.  

19 July/juillet 

2021 

Three antennas area, on the 

Goma-Kibumba-Rutshuru road 

/ zone des Trois antennes sur la 

route Goma-Kibumba-

Rutshuru 

Heks Eper Kidnapping for five days of two national 

humanitarian personnel travelling in the 

second vehicle. Shots hit the first vehicle 

which managed to escape. One Congolese 

policeman was shot and killed during the 

incident. / 

Kidnapping pendant cinq jours de deux 

membres nationaux du personnel humanitaire 

voyageant dans le second véhicule. Des tirs 

ont touché le premier véhicule qui a réussi à 

s’échapper. Un policier congolais a été touché 

et tué pendant l’incident.  

13 August/août 

2021 

Near Kasengesi, on the Goma-

Sake road / près de Kasengesi 

sur la route Goma-Sake 

WFP /PAM Suspected kidnapping attempt. Shots hit the 

reversing vehicles, causing no injuries. / 

Tentative de kidnapping suspectée. Des tirs 

ont touché les véhicules qui ont fait demi-

tour, ne causant aucune blessure. 

30 November/ 

novembre 2021 

Near Kasengesi, on the Goma-

Sake road / près de Kasengesi 

sur la route Goma-Sake 

ICRC / CICR Kidnapping of one international and one 

national humanitarian personnel for 10-11 

days / kidnapping d’un membre international 

et d’un membre national du personnel 

humanitaire pendant 10-11 jours 

7 January/ 

janvier 2021 

Near Luhonga, on the Goma-

Sake-Kingi road / près de 

Luhonga sur la route Goma-

Sake-Kingi 

Concern Kidnapping of two national and one 

international humanitarian personnel for five 

days / kidnapping de deux membres nationaux 

et d’un membre international du personnel 

humanitaire pour cinq jours  

* The Group only mentions the names of the INGOs or IOs when the incidents were reported in the press / Le Groupe 

mentionne seulement les noms des NGOI ou OI quand ces incidents ont été rapportés dans la presse.  
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The kidnapping of Heks Eper humanitarian personnel occurred at almost the same location, known as the Three antennas 

area, as the 22 February 2021 attack on WFP, during which the Italian Ambassador, his bodyguard and one WPF staff had 

been killed. A Congolese businessman was kidnapped on 12 May 2021, near Luhonga on the Goma-Sake-Kingi road close 

to the location of the kidnapping of Concern humanitarian personnel (see map below).  

Kidnappers more easily mistreated men than women, as well as national personnel compared with international personnel, 

and simulated an execution in at least one case 

The information in this annex is based on the evidence of witnesses, one local chief, one researcher, one CMC ex-combatant, 

civil society, diplomatic, ANR and UN sources, and medias. 

 

Le kidnapping du personnel humanitaire de Heks Eper s’est produit presqu’au même endroit, connu sous le nom des Trois 

antennes, que l’attaque du 22 février 2021 contre le PAM, durant laquelle l’Ambassadeur Italien, son garde du corps et un 

membre du personnel du PAM avaient été tués. Un homme d’affaires congolais a été kidnappé le 12 mai 2021, près de 

Luhonga sur la route Goma-Sake-Kingi près du lieu du kidnapping du personnel humanitaire de Concern (voir la carte ci-

dessous).  

Les kidnappeurs ont plus facilement maltraité les hommes que les femmes, ainsi que le personnel national que le personnel 

international. Ils ont simulé une exécution dans au moins un des cas. 

Les informations dans cette annexe sont basées sur les preuves fournies par des témoins, un chef local, un chercheur, un 

ancien combattant de CMC, des sources de la société civile, diplomatiques, de l’ANR et des Nations unies, ainsi que des 

médias. 

 

 

Map from Google Earth, annotated by the Group / Carte de Google Earth, annotée par le Groupe 

 

 


